
 

 

 

 

TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY 

SEPTEMBER 8, 2022 

AGENDA 

1. Call meeting to order 

2. Approval of minutes from the July 26, 2022, and August 10, 2022, meetings  

3. Update on revisions to TSSBA Revolving Credit Facility 

4. Consideration and approval of the Resolution to Approve the Borrowing of Money by Another Method 

for the Tennessee Board of Regents on behalf of Tennessee College of Applied Technology Shelbyville 

at Winchester 

5. Consideration and approval of the Resolution to Approve the Borrowing of Money by Another Method 

for the University of Tennessee - Knoxville 

6. Consideration and approval of the Resolution to Approve the Borrowing of Money by Another Method 

for the University of Tennessee – Martin  

7. Approval of Projects for:  

The University of Tennessee  

• University of Tennessee Knoxville – Neyland Stadium South Renovations (A94); Increase in cost of 

$108,000,000 for total funding of $288,000,000 of which $232,600,000 (includes an increase of 

($123,600,000) will be financed by TSSBA; Term of Financing: $133,100,000 to be financed for 30 

years as long-term financing at an assumed taxable rate and $99,500,000 to be financed over 10 years as 

short-term financing at an assumed taxable rate  

8. Approval of the “Supplemental Resolution Authorizing and Providing for the Issuance and Sale of 

Higher Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds” for the 2022 Series Bonds and delegate the 

Authority to sell and fix the details of the bonds 

9. Adjourn 



TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY 

July 26, 2022 

The Tennessee State School Bond Authority (“TSSBA”, or the “Authority”) met on Wednesday, July 26, 

2022, at 2:00 p.m. in the Volunteer Conference Center, Cordell Hull Building, Nashville, Tennessee. The 

Honorable Jason Mumpower, Comptroller of the Treasury, was present and presided over the meeting. 

The following members were also present: 

The Honorable Tre Hargett, Secretary of State 

The Honorable David Lillard, State Treasurer 

Commissioner Jim Bryson, Department of Finance and Administration 

Alicia Fox, proxy for Dr. Flora Tydings, Chancellor, Tennessee Board of Regents 

The following member participated electronically as authorized by Tennessee Code Annotated § 8-44-108: 

Luke Lybrand, proxy for Randy Boyd, President, University of Tennessee 

The following member was absent: 

The Honorable Bill Lee, Governor 

Recognizing a physical quorum present, Mr. Mumpower called the meeting to order. Mr. Mumpower 

welcomed everyone to the first meeting of the Authority in the Volunteer Conference Center in the Cordell 

Hull Building. Mr. Mumpower stated that the meeting was live-video broadcasted and recorded to be posted 

on the Comptroller’s website. Mr. Mumpower noted electronic participation in the meeting and asked Sandi 

Thompson, Director of the Division of State Government Finance (“SGF”) to call the roll. Ms. Thompson 

called the roll: 

 

Mr. Lybrand – Present 

Ms. Fox – Present 

Mr. Bryson – Present 

Mr. Mumpower – Present 

Mr. Hargett – Present 

Mr. Lillard – Present 

 

Mr. Mumpower welcomed Ms. Fox to her first meeting of the Authority and asked her if she would like to 

introduce herself. Ms. Fox stated that she was the new Vice Chancellor of Business and Finance for the 

Tennessee Board of Regents (“TBR”) and was previously in a similar role at Cleveland State Community 

College. 

 

Mr. Mumpower then stated that last year during a performance audit of the Comptroller’s Office the 

auditors inquired as to whether the assumed interest rates that were used in the TSSBA feasibility analysis 

were reviewed periodically for appropriateness. (The assumed interest rates are used to calculate the 

maximum annual debt service on a given project.  Revenues are required to be pledged for the given project 

in an amount not less than the maximum annual debt service to ensure sufficient debt service coverage.) 

Mr. Mumpower explained that there had been discussions regarding the interest rates used given the current 

interest rate environment. Mr. Mumpower stated that the rates used to calculate the maximum annual debt 

service would remain the same for now. Mr. Mumpower stated that the rates would be evaluated on a 

periodic basis as the Authority monitors for interest rate changes in the capital markets. 

 

Mr. Mumpower stated that the first official item of business on the agenda was the approval of the minutes 

of the TSSBA Meeting held on June 15, 2022. Mr. Hargett made a motion to approve the minutes and Mr. 

Bryson seconded the motion. Mr. Mumpower asked if there were any questions or discussion. Hearing 

none, Ms. Thompson called the roll: 

 

Mr. Lybrand – Aye 

Ms. Fox – Aye 

 



Mr. Bryson – Aye 

Mr. Mumpower – Aye 

Mr. Hargett – Aye 

Mr. Lillard – Aye 

 

The minutes were unanimously approved. 

 

Mr. Mumpower stated that the next item of business on the agenda was the annual review of the TSSBA 

debt management policy. Mr. Mumpower recognized Ms. Thompson to present the item. Ms. Thompson 

stated that SGF had reviewed the debt management policy and circulated the policy to TSSBA staff and the 

Attorney General’s office for review. Ms. Thompson stated that staff had no revisions to the debt 

management policy and were asking the board to acknowledge that an annual review had been conducted. 

Mr. Mumpower acknowledged the review on behalf of the Authority and thanked Ms. Thompson for it. 

 

Mr. Mumpower stated that the next item on the agenda was the consideration and approval of the resolution 

to approve the borrowing of money by another method by the University of Memphis (“UoM”). Mr. 

Mumpower recognized Mr. Tony Poteet, Chief University Planning Officer at UoM, to present the request.  

 

Mr. Poteet stated that UoM was requesting approval of a lease amendment for an additional 92 beds for 

student housing at the Gather apartment complex adjacent to UoM’s campus. Mr. Poteet stated that the term 

of the lease was three years with the option to extend the contract for two additional years. Mr. Poteet stated 

that this request aligned with UoM’s February Executive Subcommittee (“ESC”) waiver of advertisement 

of 300 total beds, and subsequent lease approval for 208 beds with the Gather. Mr. Poteet explained that 

this request would give UoM additional apartment-style rooms in which to house the increasing out-of-

state enrollment. Mr. Poteet explained that the lease cost was less than what UoM currently charged for 

similar student housing accommodations. Mr. Poteet stated that UoM did not foresee any difficulty in filling 

the beds. 

 

Mr. Bryson made a motion to approve the request and Mr. Lillard seconded the motion. Mr. Mumpower 

asked if there were any questions or items to discuss. Mr. Lillard asked Mr. Poteet to explain the economics 

of the lease. Mr. Poteet explained that students would make their housing fee payments to UoM at the 

beginning of the semester which would in turn be used by UoM to make the monthly lease  payment. Mr. 

Poteet explained that UoM would charge students a small surcharge above the cost of the lease to cover 

student housing administrative expenses. Mr. Poteet explained that this lease would be beneficial for UoM 

student enrollment and would grant UoM control over 70% of the beds in the apartment complex.  

 

Mr. Lillard asked if UoM would be using any plant funds or other university funds to pay for the leases. 

Mr. Poteet responded that UoM would not be using university funds to pay for the lease and that student 

housing revenues would cover the lease. Mr. Poteet explained that UoM could terminate the lease at the 

end of the Spring semester and could also stop payment on a bed due to a student’s withdrawal or infraction. 

Mr. Lillard asked if the Gather was one unitary building. Mr. Poteet responded that the Gather apartment 

complex consisted of two buildings, one of which UoM has leased in full, and one of which UoM would 

control a majority of. 

 

Mr. Bryson asked if the Gather was close to the UoM campus. Mr. Poteet responded that the Gather was 

next to UoM’s campus. Mr. Poteet explained that the complex was directly across the railroad tracks from 

UoM’s main administration and academic buildings. Mr. Poteet stated that the Gather apartment buildings 

were in between two UoM parking lots. Mr. Poteet explained that students who lived in the Gather buildings 

park in UoM parking lots and were in walking distance of amenities on campus. 

 

Hearing no further discussion Mr. Mumpower asked Ms. Thompson to call the roll. Ms. Thompson called 

the roll: 

 

Mr. Lybrand – Aye 

Ms. Fox – Aye 



Mr. Bryson – Aye 

Mr. Mumpower – Aye 

Mr. Hargett – Aye 

Mr. Lillard – Aye 

 

The motion was unanimously approved. 

 

Mr. Mumpower stated that the next 12 items on the agenda, 11 (eleven) lease agreements and one use 

agreement, all pertained to Tennessee State University (“TSU”). Mr. Mumpower stated that without 

objection all twelve items would be taken at once for the purpose of discussion. Mr. Mumpower made a 

motion to take up the items for discussion, and Mr. Bryson seconded the motion. Mr. Mumpower 

recognized the following staff from TSU for discussion of the requests: 

 

Dr. Glenda Glover, President 

Laurence Pendleton, General Counsel 

Alison Letcher, Associate General Counsel 

Douglas Allen II, Vice President for Business and Finance 

Dr. Curtis Johnson, Chief of Staff & Associate Vice President of Administration 

Frank Stevenson, Associate Vice President of Student Affairs and Dean of Students 

Terrence Izzard, Associate Vice President for Admissions & Recruitment 

 

Mr. Mumpower asked the staff from TSU to summarize the request. Dr. Glover stated that TSU faced an 

unprecedented housing challenge Dr. Glover explained that TSU was attracting national attention and good 

publicity and explained the various reasons.. Dr. Glover also stated that TSU had been able to develop 

strategic corporate partnerships. Dr. Glover explained that the result  was a dramatic increase in student 

enrollment with additional demand from students to live on campus. 

 

Dr. Glover pointed out the challenges for students seeking housing such as an increase in housing prices 

and apartment rent in the Nashville metropolitan area and cited the average rent increase in the past year in 

Nashville was considerably higher as compared to the Memphis and Knoxville rental housing markets. She 

continued by providing examples for comparison purposes. Dr. Glover stated that TSU did not want to tell 

any student they were on their own to find housing. Dr. Glover stated that students in this population were 

likely to return home if TSU was unable to provide housing. Dr. Glover stated that students who stayed 

home and missed the first semester of school were unlikely to return to TSU. Dr. Glover stated that losing 

these students was inconsistent with the mission of TSU, the State of Tennessee, and the Drive to 55 

Initiative. Dr. Glover stated that TSU was seeking support from the state to support the students. 

 

Dr. Glover stated that the original information provided to Authority staff had been based on initial 

discussions and was now in the process of being revised by continuing to look for ways to cut costs and 

recurring expenses. Dr. Glover explained that TSU was seeking to reduce the number of hotel being leased  

to house students by offering online classes to some students and triple occupancy in certain rooms in the 

on-campus dormitories which  provided for a lower cost option for the student for the semester 

 

Dr. Glover asked Mr. Allen to provide the Authority with the details of the request. Mr. Allen stated that 

the amount of the request brought to the Authority was approximately $40 million including hotel leases, 

security, transportation, and food service. Mr. Allen stated that this amount was the worst-case scenario 

that was under consideration. Mr. Allen stated that TSU staff had fielded questions and worked on the 

request through several discussions with TSSBA staff prior to the meeting. 

 

Mr. Allen stated that gross plant funds at TSU were $51,131,425 as of July 26, 2022. Mr. Allen explained 

that these funds consisted of unexpended plant funds in the amount of $37,421,653 and Renewal and 

Replacement (“R&R”) plant funds of $13,709,771. Mr. Allen stated that TSU did have commitments 

against the unexpended portion of the plant funds on 12 active projects in the amount of $8,652,818. Mr. 

Allen stated that TSU had worked with staff at TBR to confirm the amount of plant funds obligated. Mr. 



Allen stated that after accounting for funds obligated to open projects, the amount of TSU’s unexpended 

plant fund balance was $28,768,836. 

 

Mr. Allen stated that revenues for this request would be generated by students living in the hotels. Mr. Allen 

stated that housing fees from leasing approximately 2,000 hotel beds (11 hotels and the House of God) to 

students would generate a little more than $16 million. Mr. Allen stated that the remaining deficit would be 

covered by unexpended plant funds. Mr. Mumpower asked what amount of money would be needed from 

the plant funds to cover the deficit. Mr. Allen stated that a little over $21 million would be needed from 

plant funds. Mr. Bryson asked if that would leave $7 million in unexpended plant funds, and Mr. Allen 

responded affirmatively. 

 

Mr. Mumpower stated that it was good to see surging enrollment at TSU while enrollment was declining at 

other universities. Mr. Mumpower asked the following questions: 1) why was the request just being brought 

to the Authority in late July when school would be starting in only a few weeks, 2) when did TSU realize 

they were running out of housing space for students, 3) what has TSU’s  enrollment management plan been, 

4) what had student enrollment strategy been, and, 5) is enrollment closed for Fall 2022 or is it still open? 

 

Mr. Izzard stated that enrollment for Fall 2022 was closed. Mr. Izzard stated that prospective students who 

had applied and were interested in attending TSU were being advised to attend in Spring or Fall 2023. Mr. 

Izzard also stated that TSU had provided students  the option of taking classes online. Mr. Izzard stated that 

in regard to strategy, TSU had a very simple process for student enrollment. Mr. Izzard stated that students 

that applied, would be admitted, and would then be enrolled once they confirmed their intent. Mr. Izzard 

stated that students then completed a housing application, were advised for classes, and paid a housing 

deposit. Mr. Izzard stated that application numbers began to grow, but they would not have really known 

about the housing situation since students do not begin to make their housing deposits until  the first of 

March. Mr. Izzard stated that housing applications were closed at this point in time. 

 

Dr. Glover responded to the question of when TSU would have been aware of the off-campus housing 

needs. Dr. Glover stated that in looking at past trends, 26-27% of students who applied and were accepted 

actually attended TSU. Dr. Glover stated that this year that number was in the 40% range. Dr. Glover said 

the increase in the number of students who will attend TSU has contributed to the need for off campus 

housing. Dr. Glover stated that TSU had anticipated this number being higher this year but had not estimated 

it would be 10% higher.  

 

Mr. Mumpower stated that it was appropriate to also acknowledge that some of the proposed hotels to be 

leased  by TSU were located in areas of higher crime. Mr. Mumpower asked how this would affect students 

who were placed in these locations away from the TSU campus. Mr. Stevenson stated that TSU was hoping 

to eliminate several of these proposed hotel leases. Mr. Stevenson also stated that TSU would not be placing 

freshmen students in off-campus housing. 

 

Mr. Stevenson stated that TSU had some experience in leasing hotels off campus last year in the 2021-2022 

school year. Mr. Stevenson stated that TSU’s police department had evaluated security on the building. Mr. 

Stevenson stated that TSU was leasing the entire buildings which gave them more security and control. Mr. 

Stevenson stated that last year TSU had installed a fence around an entire hotel, with the property owner’s 

permission, to restrict access. Mr. Stevenson stated that TSU took security very seriously and would have 

armed staff at the leased hotel locations. Mr. Stevenson said the costs of the security provisions were 

included in the request. 

 

Mr. Allen stated that the Authority was provided with a priority list of the 12 properties. Mr. Allen stated 

that TSU had worked on reducing the list by possibly using triple occupancy rooms on campus and offering 

100% online enrollment. Mr. Allen stated that these reductions would hopefully reduce the number of beds 

needed off campus from 2,090 to 1,350. Mr. Allen stated that TSU hoped to remove the last five (5) hotels 

from the priority list which would result in  seven (7) hotels in a future request. 

 



Mr. Mumpower stated that he was concerned that approving these 12 off-campus housing leases to house 

the burgeoning enrollment this fall could create a budgetary issue in future years. Mr. Mumpower stated 

that next year, would TSU possibly see  these students returning and not have any new dorm space to house 

all of them. He pointed out that with the suggested depletion of plant fund reserves this year, TSU could be 

creating a situation where the school would need to request funding from the legislature next year to fund 

the housing leases. Mr. Mumpower stated that it was not for him to decide to create future expenditures for 

the legislature. 

 

Mr. Stevenson responded that TSU did not want to house students in leased hotels, but that it was a quick 

solution for this school year. Mr. Stevenson stated that TSU was looking at solutions to bring students back 

on campus so that some of the hotel leases could be canceled for the Spring 2023 semester. Mr. Mumpower 

asked where TSU was planning to house these students in six (6) months’ time. Mr. Stevenson stated that 

TSU was in discussions with a vendor that manufactures modular homes. Mr. Stevenson said that modular 

homes were an affordable option that the University hoped to use as a short-term solution while new 

dormitories were under construction. 

 

Mr. Bryson congratulated TSU on its record enrollment numbers and stated that he also had concerns 

regarding the finances of the request. Mr. Bryson asked if the leases could be terminated without penalty if 

students were moved out of the hotels in January. Mr. Stevenson stated that TSU could terminate the leases 

with 30 days’ notice. Mr. Bryson asked what funding would be used to purchase the modular homes. Mr. 

Stevenson stated that some of the funding would come from the reduction in expenditures on hotel leases. 

Dr. Glover stated that TSU’s foundation would assist with funding some of the modular homes. Mr. Bryson 

asked what the cost would be for the modular homes. Mr. Allen responded that the cost for the modular 

homes would be $12 million for 800 beds. 

 

Mr. Mumpower asked if the modular homes would be placed on land owned by TSU. Mr. Allen stated that 

the land would be owned by TSU. Mr. Bryson asked if the land was adjacent to campus. Dr. Glover stated 

that there were several locations on campus being considered for modular homes. Dr. Johnson stated that 

TSU had several green spaces on campus they could modify to accommodate modular housing and external 

parking lots. Mr. Bryson asked if TSU had started the process of the modular units. Dr. Johnson stated that 

TSU had not begun the process yet. 

 

Mr. Bryson asked how many out-of-state students would be housed in hotels off campus using state funds. 

Dr. Glover stated that approximately 30% of students were from out-of-state. Dr. Glover explained that 

TSU’s out of state enrollment increased during the pandemic due to more online enrollments. Dr. Glover 

stated that TSU marketed heavily to in-state Tennessee students. 

 

Mr. Mumpower asked if the plant funds being discussed were entirely auxiliary plant funds. Mr. Allen 

stated that the plant funds discussed were not exclusively auxiliary, but auxiliary was the major source of 

the plant funds. Mr. Mumpower asked if TSU was sure the plant funds were unobligated and could be used 

in this manner. Mr. Allen responded affirmatively. 

 

Mr. Bryson stated that construction, especially in Nashville, was difficult to get started, much less 

completed, in 6 months and expressed concern that the deadline to complete the project would be 

challenging. Dr. Johnson explained that the modular units considered by TSU would not need much site 

preparation to construct. Mr. Bryson discussed the expenditure of plant funds on the project. Mr. Allen 

stated that the foundation would cover some of the funding and that the modular home units would be 

university-owned assets. Mr. Bryson asked if the new housing was needed in addition to the new 700 bed 

dormitory opening on campus this fall. Mr. Allen responded that the new dormitory was opening in the fall 

and that new housing would be needed in addition to the new dormitory. 

 

Mr. Mumpower asked who at TBR had verified the amount of unobligated plant funds. Mr. Allen stated 

that Tammy Grizzle at TBR had verified the amount of unobligated plant funds. Mr. Mumpower asked Ms. 

Thompson if SGF was comfortable that the expenditure of $21 million would not impact funds allocated to 

other projects. Ms. Thompson stated that SGF would need to see a further breakdown of the plant funds. 



 

Mr. Mumpower recognized Mr. Lou Hanemann, Chief of Staff, and Ms. Patti Miller, Chief of Facilities 

Planning at the Tennessee Higher Education Commission (“THEC”). Mr. Mumpower stated that he 

understood these leases would require THEC notification and/or involvement. Mr. Mumpower asked if 

THEC had been involved in the requests and what thoughts they had on it. Mr. Hanemann stated that THEC 

was first aware of TSU’s plan to meet the housing demand during the staff call for this meeting, one week 

prior. Mr. Hanemann stated that was the first opportunity THEC had to review the lease documents and the 

hotels proposed, so THEC was in the beginning stages of reviewing the request. 

 

Mr. Hanemann stated that as to the appropriateness of the response, the State of Tennessee was placed in a 

difficult position. Mr. Hanemann stated that Tennessee wanted students to come to TSU and be successful, 

but there were also realities about the housing capacity at TSU. Mr. Hanemann stated that putting students 

in a position where they are 45 minutes away from campus is a difficult proposition. Mr. Hanemann stated 

that a THEC staff member went out and drove the routes and viewed some of the properties suggested. Mr. 

Hanemann stated that THEC had concerns about security, transportation, and meal delivery at some of the 

sites proposed. 

 

Mr. Hanemann stated that THEC had heard anecdotally of recruitment efforts around the state that housing 

would be provided to students attending TSU as part of a financial aid package. Mr. Hanemann stated that 

there were multiple factors playing into the decision. Ms. Miller stated that TSU was requesting an update 

of the 2016 master plan along with a detailed housing study. Ms. Miller stated that THEC was pleased to 

hear that TSU was working to address the housing needs, however the timeline to accomplish this was an 

issue. 

 

Mr. Pendleton stated that he recognized the challenges facing TSU in future years. Mr. Pendleton stated 

that he believed Mr. Stevenson and Mr. Allen had laid out plans regarding the transportation, security, and 

meal delivery issues facing students living off campus, and that the needs could be met. Mr. Pendleton 

stated that TSU’s student profile of first generation, Pell grant eligible, college students could be lost 

forever, which would be inconsistent with TSU’s mission and with the State of Tennessee’s Drive-to-55 

Initiative. Mr. Pendleton stated that TSU’s goal was to enroll and matriculate more students while 

recognizing the financial impact of the request. 

 

Mr. Mumpower stated that it was a positive thing that so many students wanted to come to TSU. Mr. 

Mumpower asked if there were any other questions or discussion from the members. Mr. Lillard 

congratulated TSU on the increase in enrollment and asked for TSU to provide a written proposal of the 

modular housing units. Mr. Lillard stated that he agreed with Mr. Mumpower’s concerns of what would 

happen in future years if the request was approved. Mr. Lillard stated that TSU had demonstrated how they 

could manage the housing demand this year but not next school year. 

 

Mr. Allen stated that he thought the modular homes would be a great opportunity for the students. Mr. Allen 

stated that the modular homes would allow TSU to house approximately 800 more students on campus 

where they were covered by campus security. Mr. Allen stated that the vendors ensured TSU the units could 

be constructed quickly and agreed to submit a proposal to the State. Mr. Allen stated that TSU’s plan was 

to reduce the number of hotel leases by half during the school year. Ms. Letcher stated that TSU had the 

option to terminate the hotel leases immediately should TSU suspend student housing operations 

completely due to COVID-19. 

 

Mr. Mumpower asked if there were any further questions or discussion. Hearing none, Mr. Mumpower 

made a motion to defer the 12 lease agreements to a future special called meeting to occur not before the 

week of August 8th. Mr. Hargett seconded the motion. Mr. Mumpower urged TSU staff to consider the 

questions asked during the meeting. Mr. Mumpower stated that as Comptroller, given his fiduciary duty to 

the State of Tennessee, from a financial perspective he could not support the request as it had been 

presented. Mr. Bryson also asked for a financial statement showing what the TSU foundation might be able 

to contribute towards the modular housing proposal. Mr. Mumpower urged TSU to reach out to both the 

Lieutenant Governor and the Speaker of the House of Representatives, who are members of the State 



Building Commission (“SBC”). Mr. Mumpower asked Ms. Thompson to call the roll on the motion to 

defer. Ms. Thompson called the roll: 

 

Mr. Lybrand – Aye 

Ms. Fox – Aye 

Mr. Bryson – Aye 

Mr. Mumpower – Aye 

Mr. Hargett – Aye 

Mr. Lillard – Aye 

 

The motion was unanimously approved. 

 

Mr. Mumpower stated that concluded the business on the agenda and that he would entertain a motion to 

adjourn. Mr. Hargett made a motion to adjourn, Mr. Bryson seconded the motion, and Ms. Thompson called 

the roll: 

 

Mr. Lybrand – Aye 

Ms. Fox – Aye 

Mr. Bryson – Aye 

Mr. Mumpower – Aye 

Mr. Hargett – Aye 

Mr. Lillard – Aye 

 

The motion was unanimously approved. 

 

The meeting was adjourned. 

 

 

 

Approved on this _____ day of __________, 2022.   

Respectfully submitted, 

 

 Sandra Thompson 

 Assistant Secretary 



TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY 

August 10, 2022 

The Tennessee State School Bond Authority (“TSSBA”, or the “Authority”) met on Wednesday, August 

10, 2022, at 2:00 p.m. in the Volunteer Conference Center, 2nd Floor, Cordell Hull Building, Nashville, 

Tennessee. The Honorable Jason Mumpower, Comptroller of the Treasury, was present and presided over 

the meeting. 

The following members were also present: 

The Honorable David Lillard, State Treasurer 

The Honorable Tre Hargett, Secretary of State 

Eugene Neubert, proxy for Commissioner Jim Bryson, Department of Finance and 

Administration 

Alicia Fox, proxy for Dr. Flora Tydings, Chancellor, Tennessee Board of Regents 

Austin Oakes, proxy for Randy Boyd, President, University of Tennessee 

The following member was absent: 

The Honorable Bill Lee, Governor 

Recognizing a physical quorum present, Mr. Mumpower called the meeting to order. Mr. Mumpower 

reminded those participating in the meeting that the meeting would be broadcasted and posted online. Mr. 

Mumpower stated that all items on the agenda were Resolutions to Approve the Borrowing of Money by 

Another Method by Tennessee State University (“TSU”). Mr. Mumpower stated that, without objection, 

items 2-6 would be taken up as one item. Mr. Mumpower recognized the following staff from TSU for 

discussion of the requests: 

 

Dr. Glenda Glover, President 

Douglas Allen II, Vice President for Business and Finance 

Frank Stevenson, Associate Vice President of Student Affairs and Dean of Students 

Alison Letcher, Associate General Counsel 

 

Mr. Mumpower recognized Dr. Glover and Mr. Allen to present the requests. Mr. Allen stated that there 

were five (5) hotels and the House of God to be presented by TSU. Mr. Allen explained that TSU had 

modified the request they had originally presented  to the TSSBA on July 26, 2022. Mr. Allen stated that 

the total cost of the leases for the Fall 2022 and Spring 2023 academic year was $7,195,163. Mr. Allen 

explained that TSU had provided additional documentation showing sufficient auxiliary plant fund reserves 

to pay for the leases. Mr. Allen stated that TSU had total plant funds of $51.1 million, of which $8.6 million 

was committed to ongoing projects, $10.7 million was committed to debt service, with encumbrances of 

$2.2 million, which brought total commitments to $21.6 million. 

 

Mr. Allen stated that as of June 30, 2022, TSU had $18.025 million to support the total request of $7.2 

million, which included the House of God request. Mr. Allen stated that the residence halls on campus 

would generate approximately $830,000 in surplus revenue during the Fall 2022 semester which would be 

applied to the lease cost. Mr. Allen asked if there were any questions related to the financial data presented. 

Mr. Stevenson added that the requests included a full range of transportation services and a complete safety 

plan for the off-campus locations. 

 

Mr. Mumpower stated that he appreciated the work that TSU had put in to reduce the amount of the request 

from what was previously presented to the Authority. Mr. Mumpower stated that the school had provided 

unaudited information regarding the plant funds as the audit for the year ended June 30, 2021, was not yet 

complete. Mr. Mumpower stated that normally the Comptroller’s office would rely on audited financial 

statement information and asked Mr. Allen to personally certify that the funds were available for the uses 

described. Mr. Allen personally certified that the auxiliary plant funds were available for the payment of 

the leases. 

 

 



Mr. Hargett asked what the plan was for the Spring 2023 semester. Mr. Allen stated that TSU was requesting 

to lease two hotels and the House of God for the Spring 2023 semester. Mr. Hargett asked if TSU still 

planned to proceed with the modular housing proposal they had discussed at the previous meeting. Mr. 

Allen stated that TSU would not be proceeding with the modular housing proposal. Mr. Allen stated that 

TSU had been working closely with officials at the Tennessee Board of Regents (“TBR”) to fast track the 

development of two new residence halls to begin construction in the Spring of 2023. Mr. Allen stated that 

the new residence halls were TSU’s plan for housing future student enrollment growth. Mr. Hargett asked 

if TSU planned to place a cap on applications for TSU housing in 2023. Mr. Allen stated that TSU would 

be implementing a waiting list for students who applied for housing when all available space had been 

filled. 

 

Mr. Mumpower asked if there was any further discussion. Hearing none, Mr. Lillard made a motion to 

approve the requests, Mr. Hargett seconded the motion, and Mr. Mumpower took the vote. 

 

The motion was unanimously approved. 

 

Mr. Mumpower stated that the last item on the agenda was a Resolution to Approve the Borrowing of 

Money by Another Method with the House of God. Mr. Mumpower stated that he wanted to take this item 

up separately as it was a three-year use agreement, and not a lease agreement. Mr. Mumpower stated that 

the Authority had a responsibility as a lender to require information to protect its bondholders. Mr. 

Mumpower asked TSU’s legal counsel to address whether the use agreement was being utilized to keep 

debt off the balance sheet, and if the use agreement was attempting to circumvent the landlord tenant act. 

 

Ms. Letcher responded that the form of the use agreement had been used by TSU and the House of God for 

a number of years. Ms. Letcher explained that TSU had used the House of God property for overflow 

housing at the beginning of semesters in a limited capacity that had not required state approval. Ms. Letcher 

explained that TSU had a longstanding relationship with TSU that had been negotiated several years ago. 

Ms. Letcher stated that the House of God had insisted on the use agreement terminology during 

negotiations. Ms. Letcher stated that TSU was confident in their risk. Ms. Letcher stated that the state 

Attorney General’s (“AG”) office had looked at the agreement and did not have concerns about the risks 

involving the use of the terminology. 

 

Mr. Allen stated that with regard to the first question, that the House of God agreement would show on 

TSU’s balance sheet and income statement. Mr. Allen stated that the agreement would not be an off-balance 

sheet transaction. Dr. Glover stated that TSU had no intent to circumvent the landlord tenant act or to create 

an off-balance sheet transaction. Mr. Stevenson stated that the uniqueness of the House of God property 

was its close proximity to the TSU campus. 

 

Mr. Mumpower asked if there were any other questions or discussion regarding the request. Hearing none, 

Mr. Neubert made a motion to approve the request, Mr. Mumpower seconded the request, and Mr. 

Mumpower took the vote. 

 

The motion was unanimously approved. 

 

Mr. Mumpower asked TSU staff to attend the upcoming State Building Commission meeting. Mr. 

Mumpower stated that with the agenda concluded, he would entertain a motion to adjourn. Mr. Lillard made 

a motion to adjourn, Mr. Neubert seconded the motion, and Mr. Mumpower took the vote: 

 

The motion was unanimously approved. 

 

The meeting was adjourned. 

 

 

 

 



Approved on this _____ day of __________, 2022.   

Respectfully submitted, 

 

 Sandra Thompson 

 Assistant Secretary 



 

RESOLUTION TO APPROVE THE  

BORROWING OF MONEY BY ANOTHER METHOD BY 

THE TENNESSEE BOARD OF REGENTS 

 

Recitals 

 

Whereas, the Tennessee Board of Regents (“TBR”), on behalf of the Tennessee College of 

Applied Technology Shelbyville (“TCAT”), is asking that TCAT be allowed to enter into an 

agreement (the “Lease”) to lease a new airport hangar (the “Facility”) from Winchester Airport 

Authority, Inc. (“WAA”); and 

 

Whereas, WAA and Franklin County approached TCAT with a request to bring an 

Aviation Maintenance Technology (“AMT”) training program to the area; and  

 

Whereas, workforce data supports the need to locate an AMT training program in the 

southern tier of the state; and  

 

Whereas, WAA was awarded a Tennessee Aeronautics Economic Development Grant that 

fully funded the building of the Facility which is required by the Federal Aviation Administration 

for the AMT training; and 

 

Whereas, the Facility provides two classrooms, office space, storage, access to the airport 

runway, and large hangar space needed for lab work by students; and  

 

Whereas, funding has been provided for the majority of the training equipment needed for 

the AMT training program through an Appalachian Regional Commission grant and matching 

funds from Franklin County; and   

 

Whereas, entering into the Lease assists TCAT with meeting the goals of its institution 

strategic plan as well as the goals contained in Tennessee’s Drive to 55, and allows TCAT to 

provide additional technical education opportunities for its region; and   

 

Whereas, the initial term of the Lease is for a period of ten (10) years beginning on August 

1, 2022, with the option to extend the initial term of the Lease for four (4) additional periods of 

five (5) years; and  

 

Whereas, annual rent for the first year of the Lease will be $11,536.50, annual rent for the 

second year of the Lease will be $23,073.00, annual rent for the third through tenth years of the 

Lease will be $38,455.00, and any increase in the annual rent for each extension shall not exceed 

ten percent (10%) of the then current annual rent; and  

 

Whereas, TCAT shall be responsible for all utility costs, janitorial costs, and maintenance 

costs at the Facility during the term of the Lease; and  



 

 

Whereas, TCAT may terminate the Lease for convenience on or after August 1, 2023 by 

giving written notice of at least one hundred eighty (180) days prior to the effective termination 

date, and may terminate the Lease for cause, as defined in the Lease, at any time; and 

 

Whereas, the cost of entering into the Lease will be funded by TCAT through Plant Funds 

(Non-Aux)(A).   

 

            BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY: 

 

     1. In accordance with the authority provided by Tennessee Code Annotated Section 49-3-

1205(11), the Tennessee State School Bond Authority (the “Authority”) gives its approval for 

TCAT to enter into the Lease. 

  

 BE IF FURTHER RESOLVED that all resolutions or parts of resolutions in conflict are 

repealed, and the resolution shall be effective as of September 8, 2022. 

 

 Adopted by the Authority at its meeting on September 8, 2022. 

 

 

 

 ____________________________________________ 

    JASON E. MUMPOWER, SECRETARY 

                                    TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY 



SBC Executive Subcommittee – August 23, 2021 Page 1 of 1 

 
TENNESSEE BOARD OF REGENTS 

 
 

Acquisition – Lease (Space) 
 

Requested Action: Approval of a lease  
 

Transaction Description: Transaction No.  22-58-001  

•  Proposed Lease  

o  Location: TCAT Shelbyville 
420 Aviation Drive, Winchester, TN 

o  Landlord: Winchester Airport Authority, Inc. (WAA) 

o  Term: 10 years, plus four options of 5 years each 

o  Area / Costs:  15,382 Square Feet 
First Year Contract Rent $0.75/sf $11,536.50 
Average Annual Contract Rent $2.23/sf $34,224.95 
Estimated Annual Utility Cost $1.75/sf $26,918,50 
Estimated Annual Janitorial Cost $1.10/sf $16,920.20 

Total Annual Effective Cost $5.08/sf $78,062.70 
 

•  Source of Funding:  Plant Funds     (Non-Aux) (A) 

•  Procurement Method: Negotiated 

 
Comment: The WAA approached the TCAT with a request to bring an Aviation Maintenance 

Technology (AMT) training program to the area.  The WAA was awarded a grand that 
funded the construction of the airport hangar required by the FAA for the AMT training.  
Franklin County agreed to a 50% match for a $250,000 Appalachian Regional Commission 
(ARC) grant that will fund a majority of the training equipment needed for the AMT training. 
 
The TCAT can terminate the lease at any time after August 1, 2023 on 180 days’ written 
notice.   
 
The TCAT is responsible for all utility and maintenance costs associated with the facility.  
Rent for any renewal term will be negotiated, but not exceed 110% of the rent for the then 
current term.   

 
SSC Report: 09/12/2021 [Action taken at Staff Sub meeting] 

 



 
 
 
 
 

Executive Summary 
 
The Tennessee Board of Regents proposes entering into a ten (10) year lease at the 
Winchester Airport Authority in Winchester, TN for use by the Tennessee College of Applied 
Technology (TCAT) Shelbyville.  This new 15,382 sf facility was built using funds from a 
Tennessee Aeronautics Economic Development grant and the Winchester Airport Authority. It 
will be used for an aviation maintenance training facility. This new training program has 
significant investments in the purchase of training equipment from an Appalachian Regional 
Commission grant and Franklin County.  Since this is a new program to the region, the lease 
considers the institution’s need to have lower lease payments the first couple of years with 
increased enrollment in subsequent years funding the lease payments and facility 
maintenance. 
 



 

 

August 12, 2022 

 

Mr. Dick Tracy 
Executive Director of Facilities Development 
Office of Facilities Development 
Tennessee Board of Regents 
1 Bridgestone Park 
Nashville, TN 
 
Dear Mr. Tracy, 
 
In 2019, the Winchester Airport Authority and Franklin County approached the Tennessee College of Applied 
Technology (TCAT) Shelbyville with a request to bring an Aviation Maintenance Technology (AMT) training 
program to the area. Workforce data was provided that supported the need to locate a program in the southern tier of 
the state. The closest AMT training program is Nashville (80 miles one way), Memphis (275 miles one way), or 
Morristown, TN (220 miles one way) for residents of Franklin County. 
 
Also in 2019, the Winchester Airport Authority was awarded a $2.1 Tennessee Aeronautics Economic Development 
Grant that fully funded the building of the airport hangar required by the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) for 
the AMT training. This airport hanger provides two classrooms, office space, storage, and access to the airport 
runway in addition to the large hanger space needed for lab work by students. 
 
Due to the COVID pandemic, the completion of the airport hanger was delayed. However, the airport hanger is now 
complete and passed all inspections as of April 2022.  
 
Franklin County came with their support once again when they agreed to provide a fifty percent match for a 
$250,000 Appalachian Regional Commission (ARC) grant that funds a majority of the training equipment needed 
for the AMT training program.  
 
The Tennessee College of Applied Technology Shelbyville agreed to be part of this initiative because it assists us 
with meeting the goals of our institutional strategic plan as well as the goals contained in Tennessee’s Drive to 55. 
This aviation campus will be a third extension campus for TCAT Shelbyville and allows us to provide additional 
technical education opportunities for our region. We cannot provide the training with an airport hangar. 
 
Please consider this letter as justification to accept the lease for the Winchester Airport Authority airport hangar for 
the purpose of providing a TCAT Shelbyville Aviation Maintenance Technology program.  Please feel free to 
contact me if you have questions or need additional information. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
President 



 
1 

 

Prepared by and Return After Recording to: 
Tennessee Board of Regents 
1 Bridgestone Park, 
Nashville, TN 37214 

LEASE AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN 

TENNESSEE BOARD OF REGENTS ON BEHALF OF TENNESSEE COLLEGE 
OF APPLIED TECHNOLOGY SHELBYVILLE (TCAT) AND 

WINCHESTER AIRPORT AUTHORITY, INC. (WAA) 
 

THIS LEASE AGREEMENT (“Lease”) is made by and between the Winchester 
Airport Authority, Inc. (“WAA”) hereinafter called the Lessor, and the Tennessee Board of 
Regents on behalf of Tennessee College of Applied Technology Shelbyville (“TCAT” or 
“Lessee”) at Winchester, hereinafter called the Lessee: 

 
WITNESSETH 

 
1. LOCATION: The Lessor hereby leases unto the Lessee those certain premises with the 

appurtenances situated in the County of Franklin, City of Winchester, located at the 
Winchester Municipal Airport (the “Airport”). 

 
2. DESCRIPTION: The premises above (the “Premises”) are more particularly described as a 

15,382 square foot facility that includes hangar space, classrooms, administrative space, and a 
storage addition (the “Facility”), along with appurtenant auto parking spaces on the Northwest 
corner of the Airport.  The Premises are depicted on Exhibit A attached hereto.    

 
3. PURPOSE: The Premises shall be utilized by the Lessee for the purpose of housing an 

approved Aviation Maintenance Technology program (“AMT Program”) being offered by the 
TCAT for Aeronautical related uses and activities   conducted pursuant to the applicable FAA 
guidelines and regulations (the “Permitted Use”). 

 
4. TERM: 

 
4.1 The initial term for this Lease shall be for a period of ten (10) years, commencing 

___________, 2022, and expiring ________ (the “Initial Term”), subject to earlier 
termination in accordance with the terms of this Lease. If the date of occupancy is 
other than the commencement date, then the rental period shall begin with the date of 
occupancy, provided that the rental period shall begin no later than the latter of (a) the 
commencement date or (b) 30 days after the Premises is made available to the Lessee 
in accordance with the conditions of this Lease. This provision     shall not relieve the 
Lessor of the liability to the Lessee for damages in the event that the Premises is not 
made available to the Lessee in accordance with the condition of this Lease on the 
commencement date specified above. 

 
 

 



 
2 

 

4.2 Extension Term. Provided Lessee is not in default in the performance of any term or 
condition of this Lease beyond applicable cure periods, Lessee shall have the option to 
extend the Initial Term of this Lease (each a “Renewal Option”) for four (4) additional 
periods of five (5) years, commencing with the expiration of the Initial Term and each 
additional five-year term thereafter, upon the following conditions: 

 
a. Each Renewal Option may be exercised at any time between 360 and 60 days prior 

to the expiration of the then current term, with written notice given to Lessor by the 
Lessee. If not exercised within such period and in such manner, the Renewal Option 
shall be void. Even if exercised timely, the granting of the option is conditional 
upon the provisions in this Paragraph 4 and Paragraph 5. 

 
b. Within sixty (60) days after receipt of Lessee’s notice of exercise of the Renewal 

Option, Lessor shall cause the Facility to be inspected by the Building Inspector. 
The inspection shall be for the purpose of determining the condition of the Facility. 

 
c. Following the inspection, Lessor shall notify Lessee of the inspection results, 

including a list of any necessary repairs to meet applicable building codes. The 
exercise of the Renewal Option shall be contingent upon Lessee’s completion of 
any necessary repairs and/or resolution of code compliance issues within a 
reasonable period of time after receipt of the inspection results. 

 
d. Additionally, Lessor may require as a further condition to Lessee’s right to exercise  

the Renewal Option, that Lessee make such alterations, improvements, or repairs 
to the Premises Lessor deems necessary or appropriate for the good of the Airport, 
taking into consideration the state of repair and condition of other similar and newer 
improvements located at the Airport, and the overriding desire to maintain clean, 
safe, and attractive facilities for other users of the Airport. Items considered for 
improvement shall include, but shall not be limited to, structural integrity of the 
hangar, exterior finish, condition and operation of doors, and condition of the roof.   
If Lessee agrees to effectuate any such additional conditions, Lessee’s right to 
continue the Lease during the extension term shall be subject to a supplemental 
document between Lessor and Lessee, setting forth a reasonable time, determined 
by Lessor, in which such alterations and repairs will be made, and providing that 
upon Lessee’s failure to make such alterations and repairs within that period, the 
extension term shall immediately terminate, in which event the provisions of 
Paragraphs 6 & 24 shall apply. 

 
e. As used herein, the “Building Inspector” is the individual occupying that position 

or similar position at the time the inspection is made, or that person’s designee or 
agent, or the individual occupying a similar position in a successor agency or 
governmental unit having building code jurisdiction over the Airport facilities. 

 
f. In addition to above conditions, the parties shall reach a negotiated agreement as to 

the amount of rent for any extension term entered into by the parties; provided, 
however, that in no event shall the rent for any extension term exceed 110% of the 



 
3 

 

rent for the then current term. 
 

g. If the parties cannot agree on the terms for the exercise of a Renewal Option with 
in thirty (30) days after the end of the then current term, then this Lease shall 
automatically terminate on the date that is one hundred twenty (120) days after the 
end of the then current term and the provisions of Paragraph 24 shall apply. 

5. RENTAL: 
 

5.1 Initial Term Rent. Rent for the Initial Term shall be as follows, payable in two (2) equal 
installments each December 1 and June 1: 
 August 1, 2022- July 31, 2023: $11,536.50/year (15,382 sq. ft. @ $.75 per sq. ft.) 
 August 1, 2023- July 31, 2024: $23,073.00/year (15,382 sq. ft. @ $1.50 per sq. ft.) 
 August 1, 2024- July 31, 2032: $38,455.00/year (15,382 sq. ft. @ $2.50 per sq. ft.) 
Rent payable hereunder for any period of time less than one month shall be determined 
by prorating the monthly rental, based on the actual number of days in the month.   Rental 
shall be paid to Lessor at the address specified in Paragraph 7, or other address as the Lessor 
may designate by a notice in writing. 

 
Any payments or partial payment not made under this Lease within thirty (30) days of the 
date due shall bear interest at the lesser of the statutory rate or twelve percent (12%) per 
annum until paid. 

 
5.2 Extension Term Rent. Any increase in the annual rental amount for each five- year 

extension term negotiated by the parties under this Lease shall not exceed 10% of the then 
current rental amount for the expiring term from which an extension is sought. The rent 
during each extension term shall be due and payable in the manner as specified in 
Paragraph 5.1. 

 
5.3 In addition to the Lessee complying with all notice requirements stated in Paragraph 4, in 

order to properly exercise a Renewal Option, the Lessee shall also negotiate in good faith 
as to the rental amount for each Renewal Option. Failure of the parties to reach an 
agreement as to the rental amount for any extension term under this Lease prior to the 
expiration of the then current term shall result in the Lessee’s exercise of the Renewal 
Option to be declared void and the Lessor shall be at liberty to rent the property to other 
parties after providing Lessee 120 days to wind down its use of the Premises and surrender 
the Premises in accordance with Paragraph 24. 

 
6. TERMINATION: 

 
a. FOR CONVENIENCE: 

The Lessee may terminate this Lease at any time effective on or after August 1, 2023, by 
giving written notice to the Lessor at least one hundred eighty (180) days prior to the date 
when such termination becomes effective. Further, the Lessor may terminate this Lease at 
any time effective on or after August 1, 2023 by giving written notice to the Lessee at least 
one hundred eighty (180) days prior to the date when such termination shall become 



 
4 

 

effective, provided that such termination shall not be effective prior to the end of any 
academic term during which Lessee is using the Premises for the Permitted Use. Said notice 
shall commence on the day after the date of the mailing. 

 
b. FOR CAUSE: 

The Lessee may in its sole discretion terminate this Lease at any time for any of the following 
causes: 

i. Failure of the Lessor to provide any of the services required under the terms of 
this Lease; 

 

ii. The unreasonable withholding of permission granted by the Lessor allowing the 
Lessee to make such modifications, alterations or improvements as may be 
necessary to ensure that the Premises are brought up to, and maintained at, codes 
for building construction, health, fire and life safety, and handicapped 
accessibility (ADA compliance), applicable to the Premises; 

iii. Failure to disclose any conflict or potential conflict of interest existing at the date 
of this Lease or hereafter created; 

iv. Termination or consolidation of Lessee operations or programs housed in the 
Premises because of loss of funding or otherwise; 

v. Lack of funding by the appropriate Legislative Body for obligations required of 
the State under this Lease; (See paragraph 27) 

vi. The availability of space in Lessee-owned property, provided that no cancellation 
for this reason may take place until the Lease has been in effect for one year; and 

vii. Any other breach of the terms of this Lease by Lessor which is not adequately 
remedied within twenty (20) days of the mailing of written notices thereof to 
Lessor. 

 
7. NOTICES: All Notices herein provided to be given, or which may be given, by either party to 

the other, shall be deemed to have been fully given when made in writing and deposited in the 
United States Mail, certified and postage prepaid, and addressed as follows: 

 
To the Lessor at: To the Lessee at: 
Winchester Airport Authority, Inc. TCAT Shelbyville  
420 Aviation Drive 1405 Madison Street 
Winchester, TN 37298      Shelbyville, TN 37160 

 
With copy to: 
Tennessee Board of Regents 
1 Bridgestone Park 
Nashville, TN 37214 
Attn: Director of Facilities 
 
 



 
5 

 

 
8. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING: The Lessee shall not assign this Lease or sublet the 

Premises without the written consent of the Lessor, not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned 
or delayed. 

 
9. INSPECTION: The Lessor reserves the right to enter and inspect the Premises, at reasonable 

times, and to render services and make any necessary repairs to the Premises.  The parties 
acknowledge that Lessor’s Airport Manager will inspect the condition of Premises on each 
anniversary of the commencement of this Lease and provide a copy of any report to Lessee 
promptly.  Such inspection shall take into consideration the appearance, condition, and character 
of similar improvements at the Airport.    

 
10. CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS: Lessee shall obtain the written approval of Lessor prior to 

commencing any construction project on the Premises and shall also obtain all necessary federal, 
state, and local permits and approvals before commencement of any construction. 

11. ALTERATIONS: The Lessee shall have the right during the existence of this Lease to make 
alterations, attach fixtures and erect signs in or upon the Premises. Such fixtures or signs so placed 
in or upon or attached to the Premises under this Lease and any subsequent extension agreements 
of this Lease shall be governed by the provisions stated in Paragraphs 23 & 26(c) of this Lease. 

 

12. Intentionally Deleted. 
 

13. Intentionally Deleted. 
 

14. INSURANCE: The Lessee shall maintain all applicable insurance coverages including, but not 
limited to, general liability, automobile liability, property liability, professional liability, and 
workers’ compensation pursuant to the statutory limits as required by T.C.A. § 9-8-307 et. seq.  
Lessee may self-insure for all required coverages. 

 
15. Intentionally Deleted.   
16. NON-LIABILITY OF LANDLORD: Lessor shall not be liable for any injury or damage to 

any property or to any person happening on, in, or about the Premises, or structures or 
improvements on the Premises, unless resulting from Lessor’s negligence or intentional 
misconduct. This non-liability of Lessor shall include, but not be limited to, injury or damage to 
any property or persons which may be caused by the acts or omissions of other Airport tenants 
of Lessor, or members of the public who are using the Airport. 

 
17. Intentionally Deleted. 

 
18. OBSTRUCTION LIGHTS: Lessee agrees to permit Lessor to install, maintain and operate 

proper obstruction lights on the tops of all buildings or structures to be placed on the Premises at 
no cost to the Lessee. 

 
 



 
6 

 

 
19. SECURITY: Lessee recognizes its obligations to comply with Federal Airport Security 

Regulations. Lessee agrees to be responsible in full for any fines or penalties levied for violation 
of the Federal Airport Security Regulations as a result of any actions on the part of Lessee, its 
agents, suppliers, guests, customers or employees or any violation occurring at any field access 
point under the exclusive control of Lessee. 

 
20. CONSIDERATION FOR OTHER TENANTS: Lessee shall conduct itself and require its 

officers, employees, agents, and invitees to conduct themselves with full regard for the rights, 
convenience, and welfare of all other tenants of the Airport. 

 
21. SAFETY: Lessee shall conduct its activities and duties under this Lease in a safe manner, and 

shall comply with all safety standards imposed by applicable federal, state and local laws and 
regulations. Lessee shall require the observance of the foregoing by all subcontractors and all other 
persons transacting business with or from Lessee in any way connected with the conduct of Lessee 
pursuant to this Lease. Lessee shall exercise due and reasonable care and caution to prevent and 
control fire on the Premises and to that end shall provide and maintain such fire suppression and 
other fire protection equipment as may be required pursuant to applicable governmental laws, rules 
and regulations for the purpose of protecting the Facility adequately and restricting the spread of 
any fire from the Premises to any property adjacent to the Premises. 

 
22. EQUIPMENT PROVIDED: The Lessor shall furnish to the Lessee, during the term of this 

Lease, at Lessor’s sole cost but to be maintained by Lessee, the following equipment: 
 

a. Drinking fountain 
b. Hot and cold water equipment 
c. Heat equipment 
d. Air conditioning equipment 
e. Bathroom fixtures for two separate bathrooms on the Premises 

 
In the event of the failure by the Lessor to furnish any equipment in a satisfactory manner, 
the Lessee may furnish the same at its own cost, and, in addition to any other remedy the 
Lessee may have, may deduct the amount thereof from the rent that may then be or thereafter 
become due hereunder.  It is expressly understood and agreed to by the parties that any and 
all equipment provided under the “Equipment Provided” section of this Lease shall be 
maintained and repaired at the sole cost and obligation of the Lessee per the provisions in 
paragraph 26.2.    

23. SPECIFIC OBLIGATIONS OF LESSEE: In connection with Lessee's occupancy and use of 
the Premises, the following specific conditions shall apply: 

 
23.1 Utilities. Lessee shall be responsible for all utility service charges to the Premises that are 
incurred after taking possession of the Premises under this Lease.  Lessor shall not be obligated to 
furnish any additional utilities or utility services to the Premises other than those that are currently 
installed upon the Premises upon the Lessee taking possession of the Premises and those items 



 
7 

 

outlined in Paragraph 22 of this Lease. If, upon Lessee's request, Lessor agrees to provide utility 
services to the Premises, as a condition of providing service, Lessee shall be responsible for all 
costs of installation of such service, including transmission lines, connection fees and utility 
service charges. Prior to construction, a payment agreement in a form acceptable to the Lessor 
shall be entered into between the parties. If payment includes costs of any transmission lines that 
have the potential for use by other lessees, there would be included a repayment schedule to the 
original paying Lessee as other parties apply for service. Such payment agreement shall not exceed 
ten (10) years in length. 

 
23.2 Intentionally Deleted. 

 
23.3 Access Road and Taxilane Access. In addition to providing an access road of 
approximately 1,400 linear feet affording the Lessee ingress and egress to the Premises comprising 
its campus on the northwest corner of the Winchester Municipal Airport (See Exhibit One), the 
Lessee shall also be provided by the Lessor the right to use all areas of the Airport necessary or 
desirable for the Permitted Use, including access roads, drive aisles and taxilanes. 

 
23.4 Compliance with Laws. Lessee shall comply with all applicable laws, ordinances, rules, and 
regulations of any governmental bodies having jurisdiction over the Airport with respect to 
Lessee's activity in relation to the use and occupancy of the Premises, and of the Airport in general.  
Furthermore, Lessee shall maintain the Premises in accordance with all applicable codes.   Any 
act or failure to act by Lessee or by any subtenant, employee, invitee, or agent of Lessee in violation 
of any such laws, ordinances, rules, and regulations shall be deemed a violation of this Lease. 

 
23.5 Airport Rules and Regulations. Lessee's obligation under Paragraph 23.4 shall include, but 
not be limited to, the rules and regulations of the Airport. Lessor reserves the right to adopt 
additional rules and regulations and amend existing and future rules and regulations which 
govern the Premises and the facilities at the Airport used by the Lessee in connection with the 
Premises. Lessee agrees to observe, obey, and abide by all such rules and regulations currently 
existing or hereafter adopted or amended. Any action or failure to act by Lessee or by any 
subtenant, employee, invitee, or agent of Lessee which is in violation of such rules and regulations 
shall be deemed a violation by Lessee of this Lease.  Notwithstanding anything in this Lease to the 
contrary, Lessor shall not adopt any rules that unreasonably interfere with Lessee’s ability to use 
the Premises for the Permitted Use. 

 
23.6 Environmental Laws. Lessee's obligations under this Lease specifically include, but are not 
limited to, strict and timely compliance with all applicable environmental laws. Lessee shall ensure 
that all operations on the Premises comply with all environmental laws and orders of any 
governmental authorities having jurisdiction under any environmental laws. Lessee shall exercise 
reasonable care in handling hazardous substances and shall undertake any and all preventive, 
investigatory, or remedial action (including emergency response, removal, containment, and other 
remedial action) which is either required by any applicable environmental laws or orders of any 
governmental authority having jurisdiction under such laws, or necessary to prevent or minimize 
property damage, personal injury or damage to the environment or threat of any such damage or 
injury, by releases of, or exposure to, hazardous materials in connection with the Premises or 



 
8 

 

operations thereon ad determined by governmental authority having jurisdiction under 
environmental laws. 

 
23.6.1 Hazardous Substances, Spills and Releases. Lessee shall immediately notify Lessor upon 
becoming aware of: (i) any leak, spill, release or disposal of a Hazardous Substance, as defined 
in Section 23.6.4 of this Lease, on, under, or adjacent to the premises or threat of or reasonable 
suspicion of any of the same; and/or (ii) any notice or communication from a governmental agency 
or any other person directed to Lessee or any other person relating to such Hazardous Substances 
on, under, or adjacent to the Premises or any violation of any federal, state or local laws, regulations 
or ordinances with respect to the Premises or activities on the Premises.  In the event of a leak, 
spill, or release of a Hazardous Substance on the Premises or the threat of or reasonable suspicion 
of the same, Lessee shall immediately undertake all emergency response necessary to contain, 
clean-up, and remove the Hazardous Substance and shall undertake within a reasonable time all 
investigatory, remedial and/or removal action necessary or appropriate to ensure that any 
contamination by the Hazardous Substance is addressed as required by federal, state, or local law 
or regulations.   Except in the case of an emergency, Lessor shall have the right to approve all 
investigatory, remedial, and removal procedures and the company(ies) and/or individual(s) 
conducting said procedures, but that approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or 
delayed. Within 30 days following completion of such investigatory, remedial and/or removal 
action, Lessee shall provide Lessor with a certificate acceptable to Lessor that all such 
contamination has been addressed as required by federal, state, or local law or regulations. 

 
23.6.2 Environmental Inspection. Within sixty (60) days after the commencement date of this 
Lease, Lessee shall have the right to order a Phase I environmental study and other additional 
environmental, geological, or soil testing of the Premises. If such studies or tests disclose the 
presence of Hazardous Substances or other environmental, geological, or soil conditions that are 
unacceptable to the Lessee, the Lessee shall be entitled to terminate this Lease upon written notice 
to Lessor. Neither the Lessor nor its agents, officers, staff, councilors shall have any liability for 
ascertaining the environmental condition of the Premises, but represent as of the date hereof that 
they have no knowledge of the presence of Hazardous Substances or other environmental, 
geological, or soil conditions that would negatively impact Lessee’s operations on the Premises or 
cause Lessee to incur expenses to address. 

 
In addition to any other inspection rights granted herein, Lessor reserves the right to inspect 
Lessee’s management of hazardous materials and/or hazardous substances, as defined in Section 
23.6.4 of this Lease, on the Premises at any time and from time-to-time upon reasonable notice to 
Lessee. If Lessor any time during the term of this Lease or any extension or renewal thereof has 
reason to believe that Lessee is managing hazardous substances in a manner that may allow 
contamination of any portion of the Premises or any other property, Lessor may request Lessee to 
furnish to Lessor, at Lessee’s sole expense, an environmental audit or an environmental assessment 
with respect to the matters of concern to Lessor. Lessor shall have the right to approve the 
company or individual conducting said audit and the audit procedures and shall be given an 



 
9 

 

original copy of the results. If said audit or assessment results demonstrate that Lessee was in 
compliance with regulatory standards for the management of hazardous substances, and audit or 
assessment demonstrate that there is not any contamination, Lessor shall reimburse Lessee for the 
amount Lessee paid for audit or assessment. Lessor shall have the right to request and receive 
information with respect to use of the hazardous substances on the Premises in writing from 
any subtenants and other occupants of the Premises. Lessee shall fully cooperate with all such 
requests. 

 
23.6.3 Environmental Laws Defined. As used in this Lease, the term "environmental laws" means 
all state, federal, and local statutes, regulations, and ordinances relating to the protection of 
human health and the environment. 

 
23.6.4 Hazardous Materials/Substances. In this Lease, the terms "hazardous materials" and/or 
“hazardous substances” are used in its very broadest sense and refers to materials that, because of 
their quantity, concentration or physical, chemical, or infectious characteristics, may cause or pose 
a present or potential hazard to human health and to the environment when improperly used, 
treated, stored, disposed of, generated, manufactured, transported, or otherwise handled on the 
Premises. The term includes, without limitation, petroleum products or crude oil or any fraction 
thereof, and any and all hazardous or toxic substances, materials, or wastes as defined by or listed 
under the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, the Toxic Substances Control Act, the 
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act, and any other 
environmental laws. 

 
23.7 Intentionally Deleted. 

 
23.8 Signs. In addition to complying with any rule(s) or regulation(s) of Lessor pertaining to signs, 
Lessee shall not permit to be maintained any sign on the Premises or at the Airport without the 
prior written approval of the Airport Manager. This approval and rules and regulations are in 
addition to any rules or regulations that would apply to this site by any applicable governmental 
jurisdiction. 

 
23.9 Aviation Easement. Lessee acknowledges that its rights to use the Airport property shall be 
secondary and subordinate to the operation of the Airport. Lessor reserves a right of flight for the 
passage of aircraft in the airspace above the Premises together with the right to cause noise inherent 
in the operation of aircraft. Lessee shall not take any action or construct any improvements that 
interfere with the navigational aids of flight operations of the Airport. Furthermore, Lessee 
expressly agrees for itself, its successors and assigns, to restrict the height of structures, objects 
of natural growth and other obstructions on the Premises to such height so as to comply with 
Federal Aviation Regulations Part 77. 

 

23.10 Security. Lessee recognizes its obligation to comply with federal airport security 
regulations. Lessee shall be responsible in full for any fines or penalties levied against Lessor for 
security violations as a result of any actions on the part of Lessee, its agents, guests, or employees. 

 
 



 
10 

 

 
24. SURRENDER OF POSSESSION: Upon termination or expiration of this Lease, the Lessee 

will peaceably surrender to the Lessor the Premises in as good order and condition as when 
received, reasonable use and wear thereof and damage by earthquake, fire, public calamity, 
the elements, acts of God, or circumstances over which the Lessee has no control or for which 
Lessor is responsible pursuant to this Lease, excepted. The Lessee shall have no duty to 
remove any improvements or fixtures placed by it on the Premises or to restore any portion 
of the Premises altered by it, save and except in the event the Lessee elects to remove any 
such improvement or fixture upon the express consent of the Lessor and such removal causes 
damages or injury to the Premises and then only to the extent of any such damage or injury. 

 
25. QUIET POSSESSION: The Lessor agrees that the Lessee, keeping and performing 

covenants contained herein on the part of the Lessee to be kept and performed, shall at all 
times during the existence of this Lease peaceably and quietly have, hold and enjoy the 
Premises, without suit, trouble or hindrance from the Lessor, or any person claiming under 
Lessor. 

 
26. REPAIR AND MAINTENANCE:  
 

26.1 Lessor Responsibility.  Lessor shall keep the Airport in a good, clean and safe condition 
and in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations so that the property may be used 
for its intended purpose.  During the term of this Lease, the Lessor assigns to Lessee the non-
exclusive right to enforce any and all warranties provided to Lessor in connection with the 
construction or repair of the improvements on the Premises, or any equipment or furnishing 
therein, and otherwise assigns to Lessee any benefits it may have in and to said warranties as 
may be necessary to allow Lessee to pursue claims under the warranties. The Lessor shall 
cooperate with Lessee in enforcing any of such warranties. 

 
26.2 Lessee Responsibility.  During the term of this Lease, the Lessee shall maintain the 
Premises and appurtenances in good repair and tenantable condition in addition to complying 
with the following Repair and Maintenance stipulations: 

 
a. Lessee stipulates undertaking an examination and inspection of Premises, including 

the grounds, and all building and improvements, and that they are, at the time of this 
Lease, accepted “as is” and Lessee specifically affirms and agrees that as additional 
consideration for the lease terms specified herein that Lessee is solely responsible 
for cleaning, painting and making all necessary repairs to render the Premises 
habitable and in compliance with all federal, state and local codes, regulations, 
laws, and/or ordinances.   

 
b. Lessee shall maintain the Facility and the Premises and improvements of any kind, 

which may be erected, installed or made thereon by Lessee or Lessor in good order 
and condition and make repairs as necessary.  The parties shall meet promptly to 
discuss matters identified after any inspection of the Premises in accordance with 



 
11 

 

Section 9 of the Lease. Lessee shall provide proper containers for trash and garbage 
and shall keep the Premises free and clear of rubbish, debris, and litter at all times.   
Lessee shall not store parts, equipment or other materials improperly outside on the 
Premises.   

 
c. All alterations, changes and improvements built, constructed, or placed on the 

Premises by Lessee, including but not limited to plumbing, shower and bath 
fixtures, electrical equipment/apparatus, hot water heater, doors, windows, 
molding, woodwork, light fixtures and heating and cooling systems, shall, unless 
otherwise provided by written agreement between the Lessor and Lessee, be the 
property of Lessor and remain on the Premises at the expiration or sooner 
termination of this Lease. 

 
d. Any and all alterations, changes and improvements built, constructed, or placed 

on the Premises by the Lessee shall be pre-approved by the Winchester Municipal 
Airport Manager in compliance with the provisions stated in Paragraphs 10 & 11 
of this Lease. 

 
27. APPROPRIATIONS: All terms and conditions of this Lease are made subject to the 

continued appropriations to Lessee by the appropriate Legislative Body. 
 

28. DESTRUCTION: If the Premises are totally destroyed by fire or other casualty, this Lease 
shall terminate. If such casualty shall render ten percent (10%) or less of the floor space of 
the Premises unusable for the purpose intended, Lessor shall effect restoration of the 
Premises as quickly as is reasonably possible, but in any event within thirty (30) days. In the 
event such casualty shall render more than ten percent (10%) of such floor space unusable 
but not constitute total destruction, Lessor shall forthwith give notice to Lessee of the specific 
number of days required to repair the same. If Lessor under such circumstances shall not 
give such notice within fifteen (15) calendar days after such destruction, or if such notice 
shall specify that such repairs will require more than ninety (90) days to complete from date 
such notice is given, Lessee, in either such event, at is option, may terminate this Lease or, 
upon notice to Lessor, may elect to undertake the repairs itself, deducting the cost thereof 
from the rental due or to become due under this Lease and any other lease between Lessor 
and Lessee. 

 
In the event of any such destruction other than total, where the Lessee has not terminated the 
lease as herein provided, or pursuant to the terms hereof has not elected to make the repairs 
itself, Lessor shall diligently prosecute the repair of the Premises and, in any event, if said 
repairs are not completed within the period of thirty (30) days for destruction aggregating 
ten percent (10%) or less of the floor space, or within the period specified in Lessor's notice 
in connection with partial destruction aggregating more than ten percent (10%), the Lessee 
shall have the option to terminate this Lease or complete the repairs itself, deducting the cost 
thereof from the rental due or to become due under this Lease and any other lease between 
Lessor and Lessee. 
 



 
12 

 

 
In the event the Lessee remains in possession of the Premises though partially destroyed, the 
rental as herein provided shall be reduced by the same ratio as the net square feet the Lessee 
is thus precluded from occupying bears to the total net square feet in the Premises. "Net 
square feet" shall mean actual inside dimensions and shall not include public corridors, 
stairwells, elevators, and restrooms. 

 
29. Intentionally Deleted. 

 
30. VENUE; LAW. All proceedings shall be governed by the laws of the State of Tennessee. Any 

monetary claims against Lessee under this Lease must be brought in the Tennessee Claims 
Commission. 

 
31. DISCRIMINATION PROHIBITED: In connection with Lessee's use and occupancy of the 

Premises and the conduct of its operations at the Airport, Lessee shall be bound by the following 
non-discrimination requirements: 

 
31.1. GENERAL: Lessee will not discriminate against any person or class of persons by 
reason of race, color, national origin, sex, ancestry, creed, or on any other grounds 
prohibited by law. 

 
31.2. FAA REQUIRED TERMS: As required by the FAA, the following clauses are 
made part of Lessee's obligations under this Lease: 

 
I. Lessee for itself, and its heirs, personal representatives, successors in interest, and 

assigns, as a part of the consideration hereof, does hereby covenant and agree as 
a covenant running with the land that in the event facilities are constructed, 
maintained, or otherwise operated on the said property described in this Lease 
for a purpose for which a US Department of Transportation program or activity is 
extended or for another purpose involving the provision of similar services or 
benefits, the Lessee shall maintain and operate such facilities and services in 
compliance with all other requirements imposed pursuant to 49 CFR Part 21, 
Nondiscrimination in Federally Assisted Programs of the Department of 
Transportation, and as said Regulations may be amended. 

 
II. TITLE VI, CIVIL RIGHTS ASSURANCES. The Lessee, for itself, and its heirs, 

personal representatives, successors in interest, and assigns, as a part of the 
consideration hereof does hereby covenant and agree that (1) no person on the 
grounds of race, color, or national origin shall be excluded from participation in, 
denied the benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to discrimination in the use of 
said facilities, (2) that in the construction of any improvements on, over, or under 
such land and the furnishing of services thereon, no person on the grounds 
of race, color, or national origin shall be excluded from participation in, denied 
the benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to discrimination, (3) that the Lessee 
shall use the premises in compliance with all other requirements imposed by or 
pursuant to Title 49, Code of Federal Regulation, Department of Transportation, 



 
13 

 

Subtitle A, Office of the Secretary, Part 21, Nondiscrimination, in Federally 
Assisted Programs of the Department of Transportation-Effectuation of Title VI 
of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, and as the Regulations may be amended. 
Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Lessee agrees not to discriminate 
against any employees or applicants for employment because of race, creed, 
color, national origin or on any other prohibited grounds. 

 
32. NON-WAIVER: Waiver by either party of strict performances of any provisions of this Lease 

shall not be a waiver of or prejudice the party's right to require strict performance of the same 
provisions in the future or of any other provision. No act or omission shall constitute a waiver of 
this non-waiver clause. 

 
33. SEVERABILITY: In the event that any provision of the Lease is determined to be invalid, 

illegal, or unenforceable for any reason, then the parties shall negotiate in good faith and agree 
on such amendments or modifications to the Lease, or such other appropriate actions, that will to 
the maximum extent practicable in light of such determination, give effect to the intentions of the 
parties as reflected in the Lease, and all other provisions of the Lease, as amended, modified, or 
otherwise, shall remain in full force and effect, but if after good faith negotiations, the parties fail 
to reach an agreement regarding the invalid, illegal, or unenforceable provisions, then the parties 
agree that such provisions shall be severed from the Lease and such severance shall not invalidate 
any other provisions of the Lease or the Lease itself. 

 
34. RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES: Lessee shall never at any time during the term of the 

Lease become the agent of Lessor, and Lessor shall not be responsible for the acts or omissions 
of Lessee or Lessee’s agents. Nothing in the Lease shall be deemed or construed to create the 
relationship of principal and agent or of partnership or of joint venture of any association between 
the parties other than the relationship of Lessor and Lessee. 

 
35. MATTERS OF RECORD: At the request of either Lessor or Lessee, the parties hereto shall 

execute a short form memorandum of this Lease in recordable form setting forth a description of 
the Premises, the term hereof, and such other provisions hereof as Lessor and Lessee agree upon. 
The party requesting such short form memorandum of this Lease may record same, and after 
recording, a photocopy of the recorded document shall be delivered to the other party. In the 
event this Lease or Lessee's interest in this Lease or in the Premises becomes a matter of record 
by any means, directly or indirectly, then at any time after termination of this Lease or termination 
of Lessee's interest in this Lease, upon request by Lessor, Lessee shall execute documents, in 
recordable form, as Lessor may reasonably require evidencing the termination of Lessee's 
interest. This obligation shall survive termination of this Lease and termination of Lessee's 
interest in this Lease. 

 
36. INCONVENIENCES DURING CONSTRUCTION: Lessee recognizes that from time to time 

during the term of this Lease, it will be necessary for Lessor to initiate and carry forward programs 
of construction, reconstruction, expansion, relocation, maintenance, and repair in order that the 
Airport and its facilities may be suitable for the volume and character of air traffic and flight 
activity requiring accommodation, and that such construction, reconstruction, expansion, 
relocation, maintenance, and repair may inconvenience or temporarily interrupt Lessee's 



 
14 

 

operations at the Airport. Lessee agrees that no liability shall attach to Lessor, its officers, agents, 
employees, contractors, and representatives by reason of such inconveniences or interruptions 
and, for and in further consideration of this Lease, Lessee shall have no claim for damages or 
other considerations therefore, except that rent payable under this Lease shall be abated 
proportionately during and for such period of that access to the Premises is denied by reason of 
such interruptions. 

 
37. RIGHTS NOT EXCLUSIVE: Notwithstanding anything contained in the Lease that may be, or 

may appear to be, to the contrary, it is expressly understood and agreed that the rights granted 
under the Lease to areas outside the Premises are nonexclusive, and Lessor reserves the right to 
grant similar privileges to another tenant or other tenants on other parts of the Airport. Nothing 
in the Lease shall be construed as granting an exclusive right or privilege other than the right of 
Lessee to possess and to peacefully enjoy the use of the Premises in accordance with the Lease. 

 
38. ENTIRE AGREEMENT: This Lease contains the entire Lease between the parties concerning 

the Premises and supersedes all prior agreements, oral and written. This Lease may be modified 
only in writing and signed by the parties. The individuals executing this Lease warrant that they 
have full authority to execute this Lease and that they have thoroughly read this Lease and 
received legal advice regarding this Lease. 

 
39. HOLDING OVER: In the event the Lessee remains in possession of the Premises after the 

expiration of the lease term, or any extension thereof, this Lease shall be automatically 
extended on a month-to-month basis, subject to thirty (30) days termination by either party, 
and otherwise on the terms and conditions herein specified, so far as applicable. 

 
40. TIME OF THE ESSENCE: Time is of the essence of this Lease, and the terms and provisions 

of this Lease shall extend to and be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors, 
administrators, successors and assigns of the respective parties hereto. 

 
41. Intentionally Deleted. 

 
42. SPACE AUDIT: The Lessor certifies that the amount of space, as described in Paragraph 2 

above, is accurate to the best of his knowledge. The Lessee reserves the right to perform physical 
measurements of said space and adjust the rental amount based upon the amount of space as 
measured. If the measured amount is less than the amount of space indicated in Paragraph 2 
above, the adjustment in rent shall be a percentage reduction equal to the percentage difference 
between the space reported by the Lessor and that actually measured by the Lessee. In all cases, 
the Lessee shall use the current Building Owners and Managers Association (BOMA) standards 
of measurements for either single or multi-tenant occupancy, whichever is applicable. 

 

43. PEST CONTROL: The Lessee shall maintain the Premises in a condition that is free of pests, 
rodents, and other vermin. 

 
44. Prior to the execution of this Lease, the special provisions which are described below and/or 

attached, were agreed upon: 
 



 
15 

 

• Records Retention:  Lessor shall maintain documentation for all charges against Lessee 
under the Lease.  The books, records and documentation of Lessor, insofar as they relate 
to reimbursement by Lessee for costs incurred, whether in whole or in part, shall be 
maintained in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles for a period of 
thee (3) years after the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease and shall be subject 
to audit at any reasonable time and upon reasonable notice by the Comptroller of the 
Treasury or his duly appointed representative or a licensed independent public accountant. 

• Iran Divestment Act.   The requirements of Tenn. Code Ann. § 12-12-101 et. seq., 
addressing contracting with persons with investment activities in Iran, shall be a material 
provision of this Contract.  The Lessor agrees, under penalty of perjury, that to the best 
of its knowledge and belief that it is not on the list created pursuant to Tenn. Code Ann. 
§ 12-12-106. 

• Financial Interest.  Prior to execution of this Lease, Lessor shall have provided to Lessee 
a list of names and addresses of persons, associations, or corporations who hold any 
financial interest in the Premises.  Such list shall be immediately revised and provided by 
the Lessor to Lessee in the event of a transfer of any such interest. 

• Conflict of Interest.  Lessor warrants that no part of the total payment from Lessee under 
the Lease shall be paid directly or indirectly to an employee or official of the State of 
Tennessee as wages, compensation, or gifts in exchange for acting as an officer, agent, or 
employee of the Lessor in connection with any work contemplated or performed relative 
to the Lease. Lessor acknowledges, understands, and agrees that the Lease shall be null 
and void if the Lessor is, or within the past six months has been, an employee of the State 
of Tennessee or if the Lessor is an entity in which a controlling interest is held by an 
individual who is, or within the past six months has been, an employee of the State of 
Tennessee.  Lessor acknowledges, understands, and agrees that it and its performance 
under the Lease are subject to State Building Commission Policy and Procedure Item 12, 
and that Lessee has read and understands all of the provisions and requirements of same. 

• Approvals.  Neither the Lease nor any amendment or modification hereto shall be 
effective or legally binding upon Lessee, unless and until a fully executed, original Lease 
has been returned to Lessee and the review and approval by all appropriate State officials 
and the State Building Commission, if applicable has been obtained. 

 

 
 
 
 

{SIGNATURES OF THE PARTIES FOLLOW ON THE NEXT PAGE} 



 
16 

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Lease has been executed by the parties hereto: 
 
 

LESSOR 
Winchester Airport Authority 

 
 
 
 

Name: Date  
Title: 

 
 

LESSEE 
Tennessee Board of Regents on behalf of TCAT Shelbyville 

 
 
 

  

President, Technology College 
of Applied Technology 
Shelbyville 

Date 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Chancellor, Tennessee 
Board of Regents  
 
 
Approved as to form and 
legality: 
 
 
____________________ 
Herbert H. Slatery III 
Attorney General 

 

Date  



 
17 

 

Exhibit A 
Depiction of Premises  





 

RESOLUTION TO APPROVE THE  

BORROWING OF MONEY BY ANOTHER METHOD BY 

THE UNIVERSITY OF TENNESSEE 

 

Recitals 

 

Whereas, the University of Tennessee (“UT”), on behalf of its Knoxville campus (“UTK”) 

proposes to lease (the “Lease”) up to three (3) hotel rooms (the “Rooms”) at the Courtyard by 

Marriott – Downtown Knoxville (“Courtyard by Marriott”) for use by international scholars who 

are part of UTK’s Center of Global Engagement; and 

 

Whereas, the scholars would typically stay in UTK Housing but there is no available space 

due to increased demand for housing on and around UTK’s campus; and  

 

Whereas, the Courtyard by Marriott is in the same building as and is affiliated with the 

Residence Inn Marriott – Downtown where UT currently leases several rooms for Fulbright 

Scholars and for visiting fellows who are part of the United States Department of Agriculture 

exchange programs; and  

 

Whereas, the Courtyard by Marriott was selected because of its location and cost; and  

 

Whereas, the term of the Lease is from October 1, 2022 through March 31, 2023 (one 

hundred eight-two (182) nights); and  

 

Whereas, the rate for each hotel room is one hundred two dollars and no cents ($102.00) 

per night and the total estimated cost of entering into the Lease is fifty-five thousand six hundred 

ninety-two dollars and no cents ($55,692.00); and 

 

Whereas, each Room includes a mini refrigerator and microwave and the scholars will have 

access to complimentary parking; and 

 

Whereas, an individual Room reservation may be cancelled forty-eight (48) hours prior to 

the start of the Lease at no charge, and if a Room reservation is cancelled later than this, UT will 

be charged one (1) full night’s room rate for each Room cancelled with no credits or refunds; and   

 

Whereas, the Lease will be funded through grants and Plant Funds (Non-Aux) (R).  

 

            BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY: 

 

     1. In accordance with the authority provided by Tennessee Code Annotated Section 49-3-

1205(11), the Tennessee State School Bond Authority (the “Authority”) gives its approval for UT 

to enter into the Lease. 

  



 

 BE IF FURTHER RESOLVED that all resolutions or parts of resolutions in conflict are 

repealed, and the resolution shall be effective as of September 8, 2022. 

 

 Adopted by the Authority at its meeting on September 8, 2022. 

 

 

 

 ____________________________________________ 

    JASON E. MUMPOWER, SECRETARY 

                                    TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY 



 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

 

 

BACKGROUND: 

The University of Tennessee, on behalf of its Knoxville campus (UTK), proposes to lease up to 
three (3) hotel rooms in Knoxville, TN for use by international scholars who are part of UTK’s 
Center of Global Engagement. 
 
In May 2022, ESC approved a lease for 16 one- bedroom suites for the USDA Fellows.  In June 
2022, ESC approved a lease for five (5) additional hotel rooms for additional international 
scholars.   
 
The scholars would typically stay in UTK Housing but there’s no availability.  There has been a 
significant increase in demand for apartments both on and around campus.  In December 
2021, ESC approved a waiver of advertisement to seek off-campus apartments to meet 
housing needs.  The University seeks approval to lease up to 3 hotel rooms at Courtyard by 
Marriott, which is in the same building and affiliated with the Residence Inn Marriott – 
Downtown to meet this need. 
 
TERMS: 
The University proposes to lease the following – 
 
Up to three rooms from October 1, 2022 through April 1, 2023.  The rate is $102 per night.  
The total cost for all three rooms, if used, is $55,692.  Grants will cover a portion of the cost 
and the remainder will be funded via operating reserves. 
 
This hotel was selected because of the location and cost.  The rooms come with a mini 
refrigerator and microwave. 
 
The need for one room has been confirmed to date, the other two will be utilized if needed but 
the University has no obligation to pay for those rooms unless we occupy them. 
 
FUNDING: 
Funding for the lease payments will be funded through grants and UTK operating reserves. 
 
 
REQUEST: 
Request for approval to enter into a lease agreement. 



SBC Executive Subcommittee – June 20, 2022 Page 1 of 1 

 

UNIVERSITY OF TENNESSEE 
 

 

Acquisition – Lease (Space) 
 

Requested Action: Approval of a lease 
 

Transaction Description: Transaction No. 21-12-010 

•  Proposed Lease  

o  Location: University of Tennessee – Knoxville (UTK) 
Knox County – 210 W Church Avenue, Knoxville, TN 

o  Landlord: Courtyard by Marriott – Downtown Knoxville 

o  Term: October 1, 2022 – April 1, 2023 

o  Area / Costs:  Up to 3 studio hotel rooms 
 $/room Estimated Total Cost 

Cost per room $102.00/night $55,692.00 
 

•  Source of Funding:  Grants and Plant Funds (Non-Aux) (R) 

•  Procurement Method: Negotiated 

•  FRF Rate: $18.00/sf (for reference only) 

 

Comment: These rooms will be used by visiting international students coming to UT through UTK’s 
Center for Global Engagement.  Previously, accommodations for these students were 
provided but UTK Housing but there is no availability.  
 
This hotel was selected because of the location and price. 

 

Previous Action: 12/20/2021 Approved waiver of advertisement 
 01/24/2022 Approved a lease 
 02/28/2022 

05/23/2022 
0620.2022 

Approved a lease 
Approved a lease 
Approved a lease 

 

 



 

 
 

  210 West Church Ave, Knoxville, TN 37902 Phone 865-566-9100         

 

 

 GROUP INFORMATION 
 

Group Name 
University of Tennessee 

CVM 
Phone Number 865-974-3757 

Contact Name Barbara Giorgini Email bgiorgin@utk.edu 

Address 
Center for Global 

Engagement 
City, State & Zip Knoxville, TN  37996 

 
DATES & SERVICES 

 
CHECK-IN TIME: 3pm 
CHECK-OUT TIME: 12 Noon 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
**Guests who wish to book outside contracted dates will not receive the special group rate. 
** Rates are exclusive of tax.  Tax rate at 17.25% will be added to guest room rate.  The University of 
Tennessee is tax exempt and will not be charged taxes. 
 
 
 
 

INDIVIDUAL CALL-IN AND PAYMENTS 

Reservation Method Rooming List  

Form of Payment Direct Bill Room Charges, Every Week 

Deposit Due None  

Room Release Date 30 days prior to the group arrival date. Group rate will not be offered after this 
date. 

Individual Cancellation 
Policy 

48 hours prior to day of arrival. Any cancellations made after 11:59PM EST, 2 
DAY’S BEFORE arrival, will result in a charge of (1) full night room + tax per room 
cancelled. No credits or refunds. 

Parking Complimentary   

 
 

CONTRACTS TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

In order to guarantee the rates and availability listed above, please read, sign and return this original copy 
By: September 9, 2022 This rate offer will be void if contract is not returned by this date. Seasonal 

 
 Check In Check Out Total Room 

Nights 

 Rate 10/1/2022 4/1/23  

 King Room  

 Current CONUS 
Rate 2022/2023 

 
(2021/2022 

rate$102.00) 

   

Rooms Per 
Night 

 1 1 night 
per room 

182 

mailto:bgiorgin@utk.edu


 

 
 

  210 West Church Ave, Knoxville, TN 37902 Phone 865-566-9100         

 

 

discounts, Advanced Purchase rates, AAA, AARP, and other discounted reservations made outside the 
block will not count towards the block. Additional discounts cannot be added to the group’s negotiated 
rate. Any changes to the above “Individual Call-In and Payments” will change terms and deadlines per 
Hotel’s best discretion. 
  
 

1. GROUP BEHAVIOR:  There will be other guests in the hotel and equal consideration must be 
given to their safety, comfort and pleasure. Disturbances caused by the group (such as: noise, 
shouting, banging of doors, etc.) may cause lost revenue.  By signing this contract, you agree 
that you will let your guests know that any documented revenue lost due to disturbances 
caused by individuals within your group will the responsibility of that paying guest.  

2. ROOMS RATES:  All rates quoted are based upon seasonality, demand, and the terms of the 
hotel.  If the rooms within the block are not filled, there will be no fees or penalty.  There are no 
minimum number of reservations required in the block.  The rooms will simply be released back 
into the market for the public at base rate, by the room release date. 

3. The specific guarantee and payment terms are outlined in the contract.  It is understood that all 
payments must be made in U.S. Dollars (USD). If any portions of the hotel charges are to be 
billed, prior credit approval must be obtained. 

4. All incidental charges (telephone/premium/market) not applicable to master billing must be 
paid by each group member prior to departure from the hotel. 

5. CANCELLATION POLICY:  Individual guest room cancellation (for up to 4 guest rooms) is 48 
hours prior to the day of arrival.  Should cancellation of the rooms become necessary the hotel 
must receive cancellation notification prior to 11:59pm EST 2 days prior to arrival.  If a 
cancellation occurs after this day, one full night’s room and tax will be charged with no credits or 
refunds.   

6. GROUP CANCELLATION: Group may be cancelled by giving written notice 30 days prior to the 
first group block date.  If group cancels block within 30 days of first arrival date, group will pay 
for one night’s room and tax for the number of rooms reserved on the peak night.  However, all 
non-refundable deposits will be retained by hotel.   

7. HOTEL ARRIVALS AND DEPARTURES:  Hotel check in time is 3pm and check out time is 12 noon.  
However, during periods of high occupancy, group rooms will not be available until after 3pm.   

8. CRIBS:  Cribs are based on availability.   
9. ROOM LOCATIONS & OCCUPANCY:  The hotel will take special requests; however, room 

locations are NOT guaranteed. There are guests already in house that have been here day, 
weeks, or even months as well a guest who may have been scheduled to check out but who 
have had to stay over.  Only 4 persons are permitted to sleep in each guest room based on fire 
code and safety standards. 

10. IMPOSIBILITY: The hotel shall not be liable for non-performance of this contract when such 
nonperformance is attributable but not limited to labor troubles, disputes, or strikes, accidents, 
government (Federal, State & Municipal) regulations, or restrictions upon travel, or 
transportation, non-availability of food, beverage, or supplies, riots, national emergencies, acts 
of God and other cause whether enumerated herein or not, which are beyond the reasonable 
control of the hotel. 

11. The contract shall terminate if the hotel is transferred or sold; provided, however that at least 
60 days written notice of the transfer or sale shall be given to the customer/organization and all 
advance payments and deposits received by the hotel shall be returned and both parties shall be 
relieved of any further obligation under this contract. 

GROUP BOOKINGS POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 



 

 
 

  210 West Church Ave, Knoxville, TN 37902 Phone 865-566-9100         

 

 

12. COVID-19 Clause: The parties acknowledge and agree that as of the time of signing this 
Agreement, there is a pandemic taking place involving COVID-19, as announced by the World 
Health Organization in March 2020. Given the evolving nature of COVID-19, there is no reliable 
information or data available to provide any reasonable expectation as to when the COVID-19 
pandemic will likely subside in and around the Hotel’s location (or elsewhere), therefore the 
hotel may suspend services and amenities.   

13. The hotel property is a licensed premise.  Consumption of alcoholic beverages is restricted to 
beverages purchased directly from the hotel.  Groups are not allowed to supply and consume 
their own alcohol in common areas of the hotel.  This includes the restaurant, meeting space 
and all common lobby areas of the hotel.  

 
 
Responsibility: University is only responsible for the acts of its employees.  Hotel acknowledges that 
University is not liable for the acts of the fellows or their invitees.   
 
Governing Law: The laws of the state of Tennessee, without giving effect to its principles of conflicts of 
law, govern this agreement.  The University’s liability will be governed by the Tennessee Claims 
Commission Act.  
 
Self-Insurance: The University is self-insured under the Tennessee Claims Commission Act, Tenn. Code 
Ann. §§ 9-8-301 et seq., which covers certain tort liability for actual damages of up to $300,000 per 
claimant and $1,000,000 per occurrence. 
 
Force Majeure:  

i. If a Force Majeure Event prevents a party from complying with any one or more obligations 
under this agreement, that inability to comply will not constitute breach if (1) that party uses 
reasonable efforts to perform those obligations, (2) that party’s inability to perform those 
obligations is not due to its failure to (A) take reasonable measures to protect itself against 
events or circumstances of the same type as that Force Majeure Event or (B) develop and 
maintain a reasonable contingency plan to respond to events or circumstances of the same type 
as that Force Majeure Event, and (3) that party complies with its obligations under section this 
section.  

ii. For purposes of this agreement, “Force Majeure Event” means, with respect to a party, any 
event or circumstance, whether or not foreseeable, that was not caused by that party and any 
consequences of that event or circumstance. 

iii. If a Force Majeure Event occurs, the noncomplying party shall promptly notify the other party of 
occurrence of that Force Majeure Event, its effect on performance, and how long the 
noncomplying party expects it to last. Thereafter the noncomplying party shall update that 
information as reasonably necessary. During a Force Majeure Event, the noncomplying party 
shall use reasonable efforts to limit damages to the other party and to resume its performance 
under this agreement. 

 
Conflicts of Interest:  

i. Hotel states that no part of the Hotel’s compensation will be paid directly or indirectly to an 
employee or official of the State of Tennessee as wages, compensation, or gifts in exchange for 
acting as an officer, agent, employee, subcontractor, or consultant to the Hotel in connection 
with any work contemplated or performed under this agreement. 

 



 

 
 

  210 West Church Ave, Knoxville, TN 37902 Phone 865-566-9100         

 

 

ii. Hotel states that this agreement is immediately void if the Hotel is, or within the past 6 months 
has been, an employee of the State of Tennessee or if the Hotel is an entity in which a 
controlling interest is held by an individual who is, or within the past 6 months has been, an 
employee of the State of Tennessee.   

 
Iran Divestment Act:  The requirements of Tenn. Code Ann. § 12-12-101 et. seq., addressing contracting 

with persons as defined at T.C.A. §12-12-103(5) that engage in investment activities in Iran, are a 
material provision of this agreement.  Hotel hereby certifies, under penalty of perjury, that to the best of 
its knowledge and belief that it is not on the list created pursuant to Tenn. Code Ann. § 12-12-106.   

 
Illegal Immigrants:  In compliance with the requirements of Tenn. Code Ann. § 12-3-309, Hotel hereby 

attests that it shall not knowingly utilize the services of an illegal immigrant in the United States in the 
performance of this agreement and shall not knowingly utilize the services of any subcontractor who will 
utilize the services of an illegal immigrant in the United States in the performance of this agreement.  

 
Tennessee Department of Revenue: In compliance with the requirements of Tenn. Code Ann. § 12-3-306, 

the Hotel hereby attests that it has registered with the State of Tennessee’s Department of Revenue for 
the collection of Tennessee sales and use tax.  This registration requirement is a material requirement of 
this agreement.  

 
Debarment:  Hotel hereby attests that the following are true statements: 

i. Hotel is not currently debarred by the U.S. federal government. 
ii. Hotel is not currently suspended by the U.S. federal government.  

iii. Hotel is not currently named as an “excluded” Hotel by the U.S. federal government.  
 

Records Audit: 
Records: Hotel shall maintain records for all expenses for which Hotel invoices the University under this 
agreement.  Hotel shall maintain its records for at least 5 years, and shall maintain its records in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles. 

 
Audit: During the term of this agreement and for 5 years after the last payment from the University to Hotel 
under this agreement, the State of Tennessee Comptroller or the University’s internal audit, or both, may 
audit Hotel’s records that relate to this agreement. 

 
Assistance: Hotel shall provide the University with any documentation, access to information, or other 
assistance necessary for the University to ensure that Hotel complies with its obligations under this 
agreement. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS 
 



 

 
 

  210 West Church Ave, Knoxville, TN 37902 Phone 865-566-9100         

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

The University of Tennessee    Courtyard Marriott 
     
Signature:__________________   Signature:____________________ 
 
Name:_____________________   Name:_______________________ 
 
Title:______________________    Title:________________________ 
 
 
 
State of Tennessee 
 
Approved as to form and legality: 
 
_________________________ 
Herbert H. Slatery III, Attorney General and Reporter    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 

 
 

  210 West Church Ave, Knoxville, TN 37902 Phone 865-566-9100         

 

 

COURTYARD MARRIOTT NOTARY 
 
STATE OF TENNESSEE 
COUNTY OF ________________            
 

Before me, the undersigned notary of the State and County aforesaid, personally appeared                            
__________________, with whom I am personally acquainted (or proved to me on the basis of 
satisfactory evidence), and who, upon oath, swore to and acknowledged himself/herself to be                   
____________ of _______________________, the within-named bargainor, a limited liability company, 
and that he/she as such officer, executed the foregoing instrument for the purpose therein contained, 
by signing the name of the company by himself/herself as such officer. 

WITNESS my hand and seal at office in                      , this       day of                  , 2020. 
                          ____________________          

  Notary Public 
My Commission Expires:  ________________________ 
 
 
 

 

UNIVERSITY OF TENNESSEE NOTARY 

 

STATE OF TENNESSEE  
COUNTY OF KNOX 

 

Personally appeared before me, the undersigned Notary Public for Knox County, _________________, 
with whom I am personally acquainted or proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence, and who, 
upon oath, acknowledged that he/she is the _______________________ of the University of Tennessee 
and that he/she as officer, being authorized so to do, executed the foregoing instrument for the purpose 
therein contained by signing the name of the University of Tennessee by himself as officer. 

 

Witness my hand and seal, at office in, this   day of     , 2020. 
            
      Notary Public. 
 
My Commission Expires:     
 
 
 



 

RESOLUTION TO APPROVE THE BORRROWING OF 

MONEY BY ANOTHER METHOD BY THE UNIVERSITY 

OF TENNESSEE AT MARTIN 
 

Recitals 

 

 Whereas the University of Tennessee at Martin (“UTM”) desires to enter into a five year lease 

(the “Lease”) for the rental of fifteen thousand (15,000) square feet of space in the building located 

at 343 Vann Drive, Jackson, Tennessee (the “Building”); and 

 

             Whereas UTM has been offering classes and programs in the Jackson, Tennessee area (the 

“Jackson Center”) since 1992; and  

 

              Whereas the Jackson Center offers bachelor’s degrees in agriculture, business management, 

criminal justice, education, history, interdisciplinary studies, political science, psychology, social 

work, and an MBA program; and 

             

            Whereas the Jackson Center has offered various general-education lower-division 

undergraduate courses such as Biology, Communication, Math, and Spanish in the past; however, the 

current agreement between Jackson State Community College (“JSCC”) and UTM allows UTM to 

offer only 300-400 level courses on the campus of JSCC; and 

 

            Whereas in addition, the Jackson Center also offers non-degree youth programs and 

continuing education courses; and 

 

             Whereas the Jackson Center also offers courses in different distance learning formats using 

interactive compressed video and other mediums of delivery to and from UTM’s main campus and 

other UTM Regional Centers as well as offering classes in a traditional classroom format; and 

 

            Whereas the Jackson Center is currently located on the campus of JSCC and there is a need 

to find alternate space and an RFP was issued March 6, 202 with one response to the RFP received 

but the space and location did not meet the needs of the Jackson Center; and 

 

            Whereas a market survey was subsequently completed and the Building was identified as a 

possible suitable location with waiver of advertisement approved by the Executive Subcommittee of 

the State Building Commission on July 25, 2022; and 

 

            Whereas the terms of the Lease are a length of five years (the “Term”) with a five year option 

to extend with a rate of sixteen dollars and seventy cents ($16.70) per square foot with no increase 

over the Term and the landlord being responsible for maintenance of the Building and systems 

including the roof; mechanical electrical and plumbing systems; and the parking lot; and 

 

           Whereas, the total annual estimated effective costs are as follows: 

 

15,000 Square Feet 



 

Average Annual Contract Rent 

$16.70/sf 

$250,500.00 

Estimated Annual Utility Cost 

$1.75/sf 

$26,250.00 

Estimated Annual Janitorial Cost 

$1.10/sf 

$16,500.00 

Total Annual Effective Cost 

$19.55/sf 

$293,250.00             

 

Whereas UTM will reimburse the landlord for any repairs that cost two thousand five hundred dollars 

and no cents ($2,500.00) or less and UTM will be responsible for the interior finishes (e.g., painting), 

minor maintenance such as unstopping commodes/sinks and changing light bulbs and lawn cutting as 

well as payment of utilities and providing janitorial service; and 

 

         Whereas the landlord will provide a one hundred and twenty-five thousand dollar and no cents 

($125,000.00) tenant improvement (“TI”) allowance; and 

 

         Whereas the Lease can be terminated for convenience with 120-days’ notice and if terminated 

by UTM, UTM would reimburse the landlord for the unamortized balance of the TI allowance; and 

 

             Whereas the Lease will be funded with Plant Funds Non-Auxiliary (A).  

 

            BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY: 

 

     1. In accordance with the authority provided by Tennessee Code Annotated Section 49-3-

1205(11), the Tennessee State School Bond Authority (the “Authority”) gives its approval to the 

UTM to enter into the Lease.  

  

 BE IF FURTHER RESOLVED that all resolutions or parts of resolutions in conflict are 

repealed, and the resolution shall be effective as of September 8, 2022. 

 

 Adopted by the Authority at its meeting on September 8, 2022. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

                                                       

 



 

                                                      _______________________________________ 

                                    JASON E. MUMPOWER, SECRETARY 

                                    TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY 



BACKGROUND: 

 

The University of Tennessee at Martin Jackson Center has been offering classes and programs in the 

Jackson area since 1992. The center offers bachelor’s degrees in agriculture, business management, 

criminal justice, education, history, interdisciplinary studies, political science, psychology, social work, 

and an MBA program. The center has offered various general-education lower-division undergraduate 

courses such as Biology, Communication, Math, and Spanish in the past; however, the current articulation 

between JSCC and UTM allows only 300-400 level courses to be offered on the campus of JSCC. In 

addition, the Jackson center also offers non-degree youth programs and continuing education courses.  

The Jackson Center also offers courses in different distance learning formats using interactive compressed 

video and other mediums of delivery to and from Martin and the other UT Martin Regional Centers. 

Classes are also offered in a traditional classroom format. 

The Jackson Center is currently located on the campus of Jackson State Community College. There is a 

need to find alternate space and an RFP was issued March 6, 2022.  One response to the RFP was 

received but the space and location did not meet the needs of the center.  

Subsequently, a market survey was completed and the building at 343 Vann Drive, Jackson, TN was 

found as a possible suitable location. Waiver of advertisement was approved by SBC ESC on July 25, 

2022. 

 

TERMS: 

 

The University proposes to lease the building which includes 15,000 square feet. The lease term would be 

five years with a five-year option to extend.  The lease rate is $16.70 per square foot with no increase over 

the five-year term.  The landlord is responsible for maintenance of the building and systems including the 

roof; mechanical electrical and plumbing systems; and the parking lot.   UTM will reimburse landlord for 

any repairs that cost $2,500 or less.  UTM is responsible for the interior finishes (e.g., painting); minor 

maintenance such as unstopping commodes/sinks and changing light bulbs; and lawn cutting.  UTM is 

also responsible for payment of utilities and providing janitorial service. 

 

The landlord will provide a $125,000 TI allowance.  The lease can be terminated for convenience with 

120-days notice.  If terminated by the University, the University would reimburse the landlord for the 

unamortized balance of the TI Allowance. 

 

The space is mostly open with some enclosed offices/meeting rooms.  The University would enclose three 

classrooms, upgrade existing rooms for classrooms, study rooms and an office, and make other 

improvements such as painting and carpet replacement. 

 

REQUEST: 

 

Request for APPROVAL of a LEASE for the acquisition of leased space. 



 
UNIVERSITY OF TENNESSEE 

 
 

Acquisition – Lease (Space) 
 

Requested Action: Approval of a lease 
 

Transaction Description: Transaction No.  22-07-002  

•  Proposed Lease  
o  Location: University of Tennessee-Martin (UTM), Jackson Center 

Madison County – 343 Vann Drive, Jackson, TN 
o  Landlord: Town and Country Realtors 
o  Term: December 1, 2022 – November 30, 2027 with a five year option to extend 
o  Area / Costs:  15,000 Square Feet 

[First Year Contract Rent:] $16.70/sf $250,500.00 
Average Annual Contract Rent $16.70/sf $250,500.00 
Estimated Annual Utility Cost $1.75/sf $26,250.00 
Estimated Annual Janitorial Cost $1.10/sf $16,500.00 

Total Annual Effective Cost $19.55/sf $293,250.00 
•  Current Lease  
o  Location: Madison County - 2046 North Parkway, Jackson, TN 
o  Landlord: Jackson State Community College 
o  Term: January 1, 2018 – June 30, 2022 
o  Area / Costs: Approx 4,578 Square Feet plus use of library, 

auditorium, computer labs, conference rooms, 
breakrooms/restrooms 

  

Annual Contract Rent NA $50,000.00/yr 

Total Annual Effective Cost NA $50,000.00/yr 
   

•  Source of Funding:  Plant Non-Auxiliary (A) 

•  Procurement Method: Negotiated 

•  FRF Rate: $18.00 (for reference only) 

 
Comment: The UTM Jackson Center offers bachelor and master’s degree programs and continuing 

education courses.  The existing lease has expired an no suitable locations were found 
under an RFP.  This location provides excellent visibility and has parking to accommodate 
students.   
 
Landlord will provide a $125,000 Tenant Improvement Allowance.  The University may 
terminate the lease may with 120-days’ notice; however the unamortized balance of the TI 
allowance must be reimbursed to landlord.  The tenant is responsible for minor repairs and 
will reimburse landlord for any major repairs with a cost of $2,500 or less. 

 
Prior Action: 
 
SSC Report: 

07/25/2022 
 
09/12/2022 

Approval of waiver of advertisement. 

 
 



 

AGENCY:     This Instrument Prepared By: 

  COST CENTER:   University of Tennessee 

Real Property & Space Administration 

UT Tower – 9th Floor 

Knoxville, TN 37996 

 
 

 

LE NO. 

 
 
 

 
NOTE:  No hand written or interlineated               This lease document is not effective 
changes to this Lease will override the                 or binding unless approved in 
printed text of this Lease.                  accordance with all applicable laws. 

LEASE 
 

1.  Date of this Lease: ______________________ 
 
Name and Address of Building: 
Unnamed__________________ 
343 Vann Drive______________ 
Jackson, TN________________ 
______________________________ 
 

 2.  Tenant:  University of Tennessee  
 
Landlord Name and Address:  
University of Tennessee__________  
UT Tower 9th Floor    
400 W Summit Hill Drive   
Knoxville, TN 37996    

   

3.  Leased Premises: space in the Building as identified herein and 
more particularly described on Exhibit B together with all Common 
Areas, including, without limitation, parking. 

 4.  Rentable Square Feet:  15,000   

   

5.  Term of Lease: _5_____year(s) and  __0____ month(s) 
Commencement Date of Lease Term 

(and of the obligations hereunder): __December 1, 2022___ 
Expiration Date of Lease Term: _____November 30, 2027_ 

Tenant shall have the right to extend this Lease for one (1) additional 
five (5) year period.   

 6.  Termination for Convenience:  Tenant may terminate this Lease at any time by 
giving written notice to Landlord at least _120__ days prior to the date the 
termination becomes effective; provided, however, that Tenant will reimburse 
Landlord for unamortized balance of the Tenant Improvement Allowance. 
 
 

 

Monthly Rental Installments Table 

7.  Lease Year(s) Annual Rental  Monthly Rental Installments Rental Rate Per Rentable Square Foot 
1-5 $250,500.00 $20,875.00 $16.70 

    
    

 

8.  Utilities & Services:   
 All utilities are included in the Monthly Rental Installments.        
 The following utilities are not included in the Monthly Rental Installments:     
 Tenant is solely responsible for payment of the following separately metered utilities:   electric   gas   water/sewer 
 Janitorial services are not included in the Monthly Rental Installments.   

 

9.  Improvements (check any that apply): Leasehold Improvement Allowance: $_125,000.00______. 
 A.  Existing Space (New Tenant or Renewal)    B.  Landlord to build out space pursuant to Exhibit __  

 
10.   This Lease is a sublease pursuant to that certain       dated effective       by and between     , as landlord, and Landlord, as tenant. If not 
checked, this paragraph is not applicable. 

 

11.  Attached hereto and incorporated herein for all purposes are the following additional exhibits:     
Exhibit A -- Lease Standard Terms and Conditions; Exhibit B – Floor Plan; 

 Other – Exhibit C – Build-Out Terms;  Other – Exhibit D – ________________________ 

 

LANDLORD:  
 
 
 
By: _________________________________________________________ 
 
 
Date: _______________________________________________________ 
 
 
Name: ______________________________________________________ 
 
 
Title: _____________________________________________________ 
 
 

TENANT: UNIVERSITY OF TENNESSEE 
 
 
 
By: _______________________________________________________ 
      Austin Oakes, Assistant Vice President                                
 
Date: _______________________________________________________ 
       
 
 
 
By: _______________________________________________________ 
     Herbert H. Slatery III, Attorney General & Reporter                                
      (For Form and Legality) 
 
Date: _______________________________________________________ 
 

 
(Notary Acknowledgements Attached) 



 

 

 

 

 

 

LANDLORD NOTARY 

 
 

STATE OF TENNESSEE  
COUNTY OF _______________  
 
Before me, ___________________________, Notary Public in and for the County and State aforesaid, personally appeared 

____________________________, with whom I am personally acquainted (or proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence), and who upon oath 

acknowledged himself/herself to be the _________________ of _______________________, the within named Landlord, and that he/she as such 
___________________________ executed the within instrument for the purposes therein contained by signing the name of the entity by himself/herself as such 
___________________________________. 

Witness my hand and seal at office in _________________, Tennessee, on this the _____ day _______________, 202___. 

 

 

Notary Public 
My Commission Expires: 
 

 

 

 

 

 

TENANT NOTARY 

 

STATE OF TENNESSEE   
COUNTY OF KNOX  

Before me, _________________________, Notary Public in and for the County and State aforesaid, personally appeared Austin Oakes, with whom I am 

personally acquainted (or proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence), and who upon oath acknowledged himself to be Assistant Vice President of the 
University of Tennessee, the within named Tenant, and that he as such representative, executed the foregoing instrument for the purposes therein contained 
and signed the name of the University of Tennessee, by himself as Assistant Vice President of the University of Tennessee. 

 

Witness my hand and seal, at office in Knoxville, Tennessee, this the ____ day of ____________________, 202____. 

 

   

 Notary Public 
 
My Commission Expires: 

 

 
[ seal ] 



 

 

EXHIBIT A 
NOTE: No hand written or interlineated 

                                                                                                                                                                                   changes to this Lease will override the 
                                                                                                                                                                                                         printed text of this lease. 

In consideration of the mutual covenants and representations set forth in the Lease (the "Lease") and other good and 
valuable consideration, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties do hereby agree as follows.  The 
capitalized terms used in this Exhibit A shall have the meaning assigned to such terms in the Lease, unless another 
meaning is assigned to such terms in this Exhibit A. 
 
1. DEMISE.  Upon the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth and as set forth in the Lease, Landlord does 
hereby lease to Tenant, and Tenant does hereby lease from Landlord, the Leased Premises for the Term of the 
Lease.  Landlord represents and warrants to Tenant that Landlord is the fee simple owner of the Leased Premises 
and has the right to lease the Leased Premises to Tenant pursuant to the terms of the Lease.  Landlord further 
represents and warrants to Tenant that there are no easements, covenants, restrictions or other agreements or 
instruments encumbering the Leased Premises that (i) contain any pre-approval rights relating to this Lease 
(including any lender approval rights) which have not been secured by Landlord, or (ii) would interfere with or restrict 
Tenant’s ability to use the Leased Premises for office, classroom storage and any other purpose permissible under 
applicable law (the “Permitted Use”).  Landlord further represents and warrants to Tenant that (x) the use of the 
Leased Premises for the various purposes for which it is presently being used is permitted under all applicable zoning 
legal requirements and (y) all utilities necessary for the use of the Leased Premises for the various purposes for 
which it is presently being used are being supplied to the Building via publicly dedicated utility easement areas. 
 
2. RENT.  The Monthly Rental Installments for the Lease of the Leased Premises shall be payable in arrears 
on the last day of each and every month during the term hereof to Landlord at Landlord’s address as set forth on the 
Lease, provided Landlord has submitted a completed the ACH Form (as defined below) to Tenant.  Landlord shall not 
invoice Tenant for services until Landlord has completed this form and submitted it to Tenant.  The Monthly Rental 
Installments shall be prorated for any partial calendar month during the Term. 
 
 No payment shall be made by Tenant under this Lease until Tenant has received the following 
documentation properly completed: 
 
 1. Landlord shall complete, sign and present to Tenant an “Authorization Agreement for Automatic 
Deposit (ACH Credits) Form” provided by Tenant.  By doing so, Landlord acknowledges and agrees that, once said 
form is received by Tenant, all payments to Landlord, under this or any other contract Landlord has with Tenant shall 
be made by Automated Clearing House (ACH). 
 
 2. Landlord shall complete, sign and present to Tenant a “Substitute W-9 Form” provided by Tenant.  
The taxpayer identification number detailed by said form must agree with Landlord’s Federal Employer Identification 
Number or Tennessee Edison Registration ID referenced in this Lease. 
 
 Landlord agrees that the Rent provided under the terms of this Section 2 is based in part upon the costs of 
the services and supplies to be furnished by Landlord pursuant to Section 3 hereof and that should Tenant vacate the 
Leased Premises prior to the end of the term of this Lease, or, if after notice in writing from Tenant, all or any part of 
such services or supplies for any reason are not used by Tenant, then, in such event, the Monthly Rental Installments 
as to each month or portion thereof as to which such services, utilities or supplies are not used by Tenant shall be 
reduced by an amount equal to the average monthly costs of such unused services, utilities or supplies during the 
six-month period immediately preceding the first month in which such services, utilities or supplies are not used. 
 
3. LANDLORD’S OBLIGATIONS.   
 

A. Utilities:  
Intentionally deleted. of the Treasury or his duly appointed representative or a licensed independent 
public accountant. 

 
B. Maintenance  

Landlord shall, at Landlord’s expense, and as required to keep the Building and the Leased Premises in 
a good, attractive and safe condition, maintain and repair, in a good and workmanlike manner and in 
compliance with all replacement and maintenance schedules followed by prudent landlords of 
commercial buildings, (i) the Building, including, but not limited to, the repair, maintenance and 
replacement of the roof, foundation and exterior and load-bearing walls; (ii) the mechanical, plumbing 
and electrical systems, including, but not limited to, air conditioning, heating, plumbing, wiring and 
piping and all filters, valves and other components; (iii) elevators, and (iv) the parking areas and 
driveways.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant shall reimburse landlord for any repairs with a total 
cost of $2,500.000 or less.  Tenant’s reimbursement to Landlord shall be for actual expenses only with 
no mark-up or administrative charge by Landlord. 
 

C. Insurance  
Landlord shall, at Landlord’s expense, maintain fire and extended coverage insurance on Leased 
Premises, in an amount not less than the full replacement cost of the Building, and comprehensive 
general liability insurance coverage in the sum of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) per occurrence and 
Three Million Dollars ($3,000,000) per annual aggregate against any and all liability, loss or damage 
arising from any injury or damage to any person or property occurring in or about the Leased Premises 
or the Building resulting from Landlord’s negligence or matters arising for reasons beyond Tenant’s 
control.  The policies described in this Section shall name Tenant as an additional insured.  Annually, 
Landlord shall furnish Tenant with a certificate of such coverage which shall provide that thirty (30) 
days’ advance written notice shall be given to Tenant in the event of cancellation or material change in 
the insurance policies maintained as required herein. 

 
D. Taxes 

Landlord shall be responsible for payment of all real estate taxes assessed against the Building or land 
on which the Building is located, as well as all applicable local, state and federal income taxes which 
are or may be payable by Landlord.  Landlord, by virtue of leasing property to Tenant, does not become 
a State of Tennessee agency, entity, or employee and is not entitled to any rights, privileges or 
immunities pertaining to the State or its agencies and instrumentalities.   



 

 

 
E. Janitorial 

Intentionally deleted. 
 

F. Pest Control 
Landlord shall, at Landlord’s expense, provide monthly interior and quarterly exterior pest extermination 
services. All such services shall be performed after normal business hours. 

 
4. TENANT’S OBLIGATIONS.  In addition to the said rent to be paid, Tenant also agrees to pay directly during 
the term of the Lease, commencing on the Commencement Date, the following items of expense as the same 
become due and payable: 
 

A. The cost and expense to keep the interior clean, maintaining suitable receptacles for trash and refuse, 
and removing from the interior all accumulations of trash and refuse.  
 

B. Lawn cutting during the growing season, debris pick-up, leaf removal, and snow and ice removal from 
parking areas and entrances to the Leased Premises 

 
C. The interior of the Building and the Leased Premises, including but not limited to (i) repair, maintenance, 

and painting of the walls, floors, ceilings, carpet and other surfaces; (ii) furnishing and replacement of 
electrical light bulbs, fluorescent tubes, ballasts and starters; and (iii) minor repairs such as unstopping 
commodes and sink drains.  Tenant shall be permitted to maintain, inspect, repair and replace any 
equipment or fixtures installed by Tenant on the Leased Premises (the “Tenant Maintenance”), and 
Landlord shall hold Tenant harmless for any damage to the Leased Premises caused by the Tenant 
Maintenance. 

 

D. The cost of all separately metered utilities supplied to the Leased Premises.  
 

E. All service costs and installations of all telephone or data services. 
 

5. IMPROVEMENTS.  Tenant shall have the right during the existence of the Lease to make alterations, attach 
fixtures and erect additions, structures or signs in or upon the Leased Premises.  Tenant shall also have the right to 
paint a mural on the exterior of the building.  Such fixtures, additions, structures or signs so placed in or upon or 
attached to the Leased Premises under the Lease or any prior lease of the Leased Premises by Tenant shall be and 
remain the property of Tenant and may be removed therefrom by Tenant prior to the termination or expiration of this 
Lease or any renewal or extension thereof, or within a reasonable time thereafter.  Landlord shall install and maintain 
exterior building signage that identifies Tenant as the sole occupant of the building.  Such signage shall be installed 
by December 16, 2022 and must be consistent with Tenant signage standards. 
 
6. TERMINATION FOR CAUSE.  Tenant may in its sole discretion terminate this Lease at any time for any of 
the following causes:  (a) Landlord’s failure to disclose any conflict or potential conflict of interest existing at the date 
of this Lease or hereafter created; (b) termination or consolidation of Tenant’s operations or programs housed in the 
Leased Premises because of loss of funding; (c) lack of funding by the appropriate Legislative Body for obligations 
required of Tenant under this Lease; (f) the availability of space in State owned property, provided that no 
cancellation for this reason may take place until the Lease has been in effect for one year; and (g) any default by 
Landlord which is not adequately remedied in accordance with Section 8 hereof.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, all 
terms and conditions of the Lease are made subject to the continued appropriations by the appropriate Legislative 
Body. 
 
7. ENVIRONMENTAL PROVISIONS.   Following due inquiry, Landlord represents that there are no hazardous 
substances or hazardous wastes as defined by the Comprehensive Environmental Response and Liability Act or any 
hazardous wastes as defined by the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, or any mold, PCB’s, radon or 
asbestos containing materials, located on, in or about the Leased Premises to be occupied by Tenant.  Landlord 
agrees that should any hazardous wastes, hazardous substances, mold, PCB’s, radon or asbestos containing 
materials be determined to be present as a result of the acts or omissions or negligence of any person or legal entity, 
other than Tenant, Landlord shall indemnify, hold harmless and defend Tenant from all claims, damages, expenses 
or litigation resulting from the presence of such materials. If Tenant reasonably believes that hazardous substances 
may be present in the Leased Premises or the Building, Landlord will engage, at its expense, a qualified third party 
engineer to conduct an appropriate environmental survey.  If hazardous substances are found or such survey 
indicates a risk of such hazardous substances being present in the Leased Premises or Building, then Landlord, at its 
expense, will make all necessary changes and/or corrections so that the Building and/or the Leased Premises are in 
compliance with all environmental laws and regulations.  In the event Landlord discovers hazardous materials on the 
Leased Premises during the Term of this Lease, Landlord shall promptly notify Tenant. 
 
8. DEFAULT.  Tenant shall be in default of the terms of the Lease if Tenant shall fail to make a payment of any 
rent or additional rent, and such rent or additional rent is not paid within ten (10) days of written notice by Landlord to 
Tenant of non-payment of same, or in the event that Tenant shall otherwise commit an act of default under the terms 
hereof, and shall not cure such default within thirty (30) days of written notice by Landlord to Tenant of such default, 
or, if it is not possible to complete the cure by such time, Tenant has not commenced the cure within such 30 day 
period and does not thereafter diligently pursue the same to completion within a reasonable time thereafter.  In the 
event of default by Tenant hereunder: 
 

A. Landlord may continue the Lease in full force and effect and shall have the right to collect rent when 
due.  During the term Tenant is in default, Landlord may re-enter the Leased Premises with legal 
process and relet same, or any part thereof, to third parties for Tenant’s account.  Tenant shall pay to 
Landlord the rent due under the Lease on the date such rent is due, less the rent Landlord receives 
from any reletting.  Landlord shall make its best efforts to relet the Leased Premises at a reasonable 
price.  Under this paragraph, Tenant’s obligations shall not exceed the total rent due for the remainder 
of the term. 

 
B. Landlord may terminate the Lease pursuant to the terms of this Section. Upon termination, Landlord 

shall have the right to collect an amount equal to all expenses, if any, not including attorneys’ fees, 



 

 

incurred by Landlord in recovering possession of the Leased Premises and all reasonable costs and 
charges for the care of the Leased Premises while vacated by Tenant.   

 
 Except as specifically set forth herein, Landlord shall be in default of the terms of the Lease if Landlord shall 
commit an act of default under the terms hereof, and shall not cure such default within twenty (20) days of written 
notice by Tenant to Landlord of such default, or, if it is not possible to complete the cure by such time, Landlord has 
not commenced the cure within such 20 day period and does not thereafter diligently pursue the same to completion 
within a reasonable time thereafter.  In the event of a default by Landlord hereunder, Tenant may, in addition to all 
rights and remedies available at law or in equity, (i) cure such default and deduct any reasonable and necessary 
amounts incurred by Tenant in connection therewith from the rent next due by Tenant hereunder with the 
presentment of receipts for such reasonable and necessary actions, or (ii) terminate the Lease.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, in the event that Tenant is unable, in its reasonable judgment, to operate in the Leased Premises as a 
result of the failure by Landlord to satisfy its obligations pursuant to Section 3 hereof (A) for a period of more than 
forty eight (48) consecutive hours, then the rent shall abate during the entire period of the disruption and Tenant shall 
have the right to terminate the Lease in the event Landlord remains unable to satisfy its obligations pursuant to 
Section 3 hereof for a period of more than ten (10) consecutive days; or (B) more than ten (10) days during any 
twelve (12) month period, then Tenant shall have the right to terminate the Lease.   
 
9. END OF TERM.  At the termination of this Lease, Tenant shall surrender its interest in the Leased Premises 
to Landlord in as good condition and repair as reasonable use thereof will permit, ordinary wear and tear excepted, 
and will leave the Leased Premises broom clean.  Tenant shall have the right, prior to said termination, to remove any 
equipment, furniture, trade fixtures or other personal property in the Leased Premises owned by Tenant, provided 
that Tenant promptly repairs any damage to the Leased Premises caused by such removal. In the event of holding 
over by Tenant after the expiration or termination of the Term of this Lease, Tenant shall pay rent at the then-current 
rate for rent as set forth in the Lease, on a monthly basis and the Term of this Lease shall be automatically extended 
for successive periods of one (1) year each; provided that during any automatically extended period following the 
expiration of the Term of this Lease, Landlord and Tenant shall each have the right to terminate this Lease by 
delivering written notice to the other at least ninety (90) days prior to the desired expiration date. 
 
10. MISCELLANEOUS.  The article captions contained in the Lease are for the convenience of the parties only 
and shall not be considered in the construction or interpretation of any provision hereof.  Landlord and its agents shall 
have reasonable access to the Leased Premises during all reasonable business hours for the purpose of examining 
same to ascertain if they are in good repair and to make reasonable repairs which Landlord may be required to make 
hereunder. The making of repairs by Landlord or its agents shall be coordinated with Tenant to minimize disruptions 
of Tenant’s conduct of business in the Leased Premises.  The Lease contains the entire agreement between the 
parties and supersedes any and all other prior oral and written agreements between the parties regarding the subject 
matter contained herein and may not be changed or terminated orally but only by agreement in writing and signed by 
all parties.  Landlord and Tenant acknowledge and agree that (i) all exhibits referenced in the Lease (or in any of its 
exhibits) are incorporated into the Lease by reference, and (ii) any reference to “the Lease,” “this Lease,” “hereunder,” 
“herein” or words of like import shall mean and be a reference to the Lease including such exhibits.  No waiver by 
either party shall be deemed to be a waiver of any other provision hereof or of any subsequent breach by either party 
of the same or any other provision.  The Lease shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto, 
their heirs, successors, assigns, executors and administrators.  Landlord has provided to Tenant a list of names and 
addresses of persons, associations, or corporations who hold any financial interest in the Leased Premises; such list 
shall be immediately revised in the event of a transfer of any such interest.  The Lease Proposal Package from which 
this lease originated and the Landlord’s response to the Lease Proposal Package (collectively, the “Proposal 
Package”) is hereby incorporated in the Lease; provided, however, that in the event of any conflict between the terms 
of the Proposal Package and the Lease, the terms of the Lease shall control.  
 
11. DAMAGE OR DESTRUCTION.  If the Leased Premises are damaged by fire or other casualty, the damage 
shall be repaired by and at the expense of Landlord (excluding any personal property which is owned by Tenant), 
provided that such repairs can, in Landlord’s opinion, be made within sixty (60) days after the occurrence of such 
damage.  Landlord shall notify Tenant within fifteen (15) days of the event of casualty of its determination.  Until such 
repairs are completed, the rent shall be abated in proportion to the part of the Leased Premises rendered unusable, 
but there shall be no abatement of rent for a period equal to one (1) day or less.  If such repairs cannot, in Landlord’s 
opinion, be made within sixty (60) days and Landlord nonetheless chooses to repair, then Tenant may, at its option, 
continue as Tenant under the Lease until such repairs are completed, during which time all rent shall abate, or 
Tenant may terminate the Lease. A total destruction of the Building in which the Leased Premises are located shall 
automatically terminate the Lease.  Total destruction of the Building shall be defined as damage greater than fifty 
percent (50%) of the then replacement value thereof. 
 
12. NOTICES.  Any notice required or permitted to be given hereunder shall be sufficiently given if personally 
served, sent by registered or certified mail, or by reputable overnight courier, addressed to the relevant party at the 
addresses specified in the Lease, for Landlord, _____________________________________________________ 
and for Tenant to: Real Property and Space Administration, UT Tower 9th Floor, Knoxville, TN 37996. 
 
13. QUIET ENJOYMENT.  Landlord warrants and shall defend Tenant in the quiet enjoyment and possession of 
the Leased Premises during the term and any extension or renewal thereof. 
 
14. SUBORDINATION, ATTORNMENT AND NON-DISTURBANCE.  Tenant agrees that the Lease and all 
rights of Tenant hereunder are and shall be subject and subordinate to any ground or underlying lease which may 
now or hereafter be in effect regarding the Building or any component thereof, to any mortgage now or hereafter 
encumbering the Leased Premises or the Building or any component thereof, to all advances made or hereafter to be 
made upon the security of such mortgage, to all amendments, modifications, renewals, consolidations, extensions 
and restatements of such mortgage, and to any replacements and substitutions for such mortgage (collectively, 
“Mortgages”); provided as a condition to such subordination, any holder of the Mortgage must enter into a 
Subordination, Non-Disturbance and Attornment Agreement with Tenant in form reasonably acceptable to Tenant. In 
the event any proceedings are brought for the foreclosure of, or in the event of exercise of the power of sale under, or 
in the event of a deed in lieu of foreclosure with respect to any Mortgage covering the Leased Premises or the 
Building, or in the event of termination of any Lease under which Landlord may hold title, Tenant shall, at the option of 
transferee, attorn to such transferee and shall recognize and be bound and obligated hereunder to such person as 
Landlord under the Lease, unless the Lease is terminated.  Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the 
contrary, so long as Tenant is not in default in the payment of rent, or in the performance of any of the other terms, 



 

 

covenants or conditions of the Lease beyond any applicable cure periods, no mortgagee or similar person shall 
disturb Tenant in its occupancy of the Leased Premises during the original or any renewal term of the Lease 
notwithstanding any event or proceedings described in this section. 
 
15. APPROVALS.  Neither this Lease nor any amendment or modification hereto shall be effective or legally 
binding upon Tenant, unless and until a fully executed, original Lease has been returned to Tenant and the review 
and approval by all appropriate State officials and the State Building Commission, if applicable has been obtained. 
 
16. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS.  Landlord represents and warrants to Tenant that as of the date of execution of 
this Lease, the Building complies with the provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) in all material 
respects.  Landlord hereby indemnifies and holds harmless Tenant from and against all costs, liabilities, and causes 
of action occurring or arising as a result of Landlord’s failure to comply with any of the requirements of the ADA or 
similar laws or as a result of any violation of any of the requirements of the ADA or similar laws by Landlord or its 
agents.  Landlord shall provide all life safety equipment, including but not limited to, fire extinguishers and smoke 
alarms, in compliance with applicable municipal building codes.    
 
17. FORCE MAJEURE.   With the exception of the obligation of Tenant to pay rent and all other amounts that 
may be due from time to time under this Lease, if either party shall be delayed or hindered in or prevented from doing 
or performing any act or thing required hereunder by reason of any matters beyond the reasonable control of such 
party, then such party shall not be liable or responsible for any such delays and the doing or performing of such act or 
thing shall be extended for a period equivalent to the period of such delay.  In such event, this Lease and the 
obligations of both parties to perform and comply with all of the other terms and provisions of this Lease shall in no 
way be affected, impaired, or excused. 
 
18. RECORDS RETENTION.  Landlord shall maintain documentation for all charges against Tenant under the 
Lease.  The books, records and documentation of Landlord, insofar as they relate to reimbursement by Tenant for 
costs incurred, whether in whole or in part, shall be maintained in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles for a period of three (3) full years from the date of what amounts to the final payment under this Lease, and 
shall be subject to audit, at any reasonable time and upon reasonable notice by the Comptroller of the Treasury or his 
duly appointed representative or a licensed independent public accountant. 
 
19. SPACE AUDIT.  Landlord certifies that the rentable square feet set forth in the Lease is accurate to the best 
of its knowledge.  Tenant reserves the right to perform physical measurements of the Leased Premises and adjust 
the Monthly Rental Installments proportionally based upon such measurements.  Tenant shall use the current 
Building Owner's and Manager's Association standards of measurements for either single or multi-tenant occupancy, 
whichever is applicable. 
 
20. COMMON AREAS.  During the Term of the Lease, Landlord agrees that Tenant and its employees, agents, 
invitees and visitors shall have the non-exclusive right to use the Common Areas for their intended purpose.  Except 
for repairs, maintenance and replacements required under this Lease, Landlord shall not materially alter (or permit 
the material alteration of) any entrances, exits, corridors, sidewalks or hallways providing access to or from the 
Leased Premises.  Landlord represents and warrants to Tenant that the Common Areas include all areas which are 
necessary for the use of the Leased Premises for its current use.  As used herein, “Common Areas” means all 
portions of the Building intended for the general use or benefit of tenants or owners of the Building, and their 
employees, agents, and visitors, including, without limitation, all entrances, common corridors, parking areas, loading 
and unloading areas, trash areas, roadways, walkways, sidewalks and driveways. 
 
 



 

 

EXHIBIT B 
FLOOR PLAN 

 



 

 

EXHIBIT C 
BUILD OUT TERMS 

 
 

1. Tenant’s space needs and conceptual renovations are attached to this Exhibit C.  Landlord’s architect will 
meet with Tenant to refine these conceptual renovations. Landlord will provide a schedule for all work within 
fifteen (15) days of execution of this Lease. 

2. Landlord shall cause to be prepared by Landlord’s architect or engineer the following:  

(a) Detailed working drawings and specifications, including mechanical and electrical plans 
and specifications where necessary for the installation of air conditioning system and ductwork, heating, 
electrical, plumbing and other engineering plans (collectively, the “Plans”), for Landlord’s build-out of the 
Leased Premises (the “Landlord’s Work”); and 

(b) Any subsequent modifications to the construction documents and specifications required 
by Landlord or requested by Tenant and agreed to by Landlord. 

2. Landlord shall submit for Tenant’s approval the Plans within thirty (30) days of the execution of this Lease.  If 
Tenant has not approved the Plans within ten (10) business days of receipt, then the Plans shall be deemed 
disapproved.  If Tenant disapproves the Plans, Landlord shall revise and resubmit the same to Tenant for 
approval within ten (10) business days following receipt of Tenant’s disapproval, which process shall 
continue until the Plans are approved.  A copy of the Plans shall be attached to the Lease as Exhibit D. 

3. Any approval by Tenant of or consent by Tenant to any plans, specifications or other items to be submitted 
to and/or reviewed by Tenant pursuant to this Lease shall be deemed to be strictly limited to an 
acknowledgment of approval or consent by Tenant thereto and such approval or consent shall not constitute 
the assumption by Tenant of any responsibility for the accuracy, sufficiency or feasibility of any plans, 
specifications or other such items and shall not imply any acknowledgment, representation or warranty by 
Tenant that the design is safe, feasible, structurally sound or will comply with any legal or governmental 
requirements, and Landlord shall be responsible for all of the same. 

4. Landlord will provide a Tenant Improvement Allowance of $125,000.00 for Landlord’s Work.  Tenant is 
responsible for the cost of Landlord’s Work that exceeds this amount.   

5. Landlord’s Work requested by Tenant and approved by Landlord shall be performed (i) by Landlord’s 
contractor or another contractor approved by Landlord, (ii) in a good and workmanlike manner, and (iii) in 
accordance with all applicable laws, ordinances, rules and regulations of governmental authorities having 
jurisdiction over the Leased Premises.  Landlord agrees to request three bids from qualified contractors for 
the Landlord's work. Preference will be given to the lowest cost option unless this contractor is unable to 
meet the delivery date, has not demonstrated the ability to meet applicable codes and laws, or other reasons 
deemed significant by Landlord or Tenant. Prior to executing the construction contract, Landlord will seek 
approval from Tenant in writing. Once executed, any changes to the scope of work, schedule or budget must 
be approved by Tenant.  Tenant assumes no liability for change orders that were not approved by Tenant 
prior to the work being completed. 

 
6. During Landlord’s work and on a monthly basis, Landlord will provide to Tenant copies of invoices indicating 

the work that was completed, the percent completion of the work, the amount paid and the remaining 
balance in the construction contract.  

. 
7. Landlord will allow Tenant’s contractor to install telecommunications, fiber optic, and other cabling to support 

Tenant’s audio and video needs while Landlord’s Work is occurring. 
 

 



 

 

 

 
EXHIBIT D 

 
Plans 



Tennessee State School Bond Authority Feasibility Study

UTK Neyland Stadium South Renovations - Project Number A94

Individual Project Summary

Revenue Source: capital campaign donations $11,500,000

Total Revenue Source: $11,500,000

Assumptions:

TSSBA Funding Requested $133,100,000

Interest Rate 7.85%

Tax Status Taxable

Term of Financing 30-Years

Cost of Issuance $1,996,500

Feasibility Test
May Principal

(No DSRF)
November Principal

(no DSRF)

Pledged Revenues $11,500,000 $11,500,000

New Max Annual Debt Service $11,400,291 $11,305,181

Feasible Yes Yes

Prepared on July 26, 2022 by Jacqueline Felland

Project Disclosed in Budget

*TSSBA staff conducts a feasibility test on a project-by-project basis to ensure that each individual project has sufficient revenue pledged to cover the projected 

maximum annual debt service charged to the project.  On an annual basis, and prior to the issuance of long-term debt, an assessment is performed pursuant to  

Article 2.01 (b) which requires that the aggregate amount of the Fees and Charges collected by an Institution in the preceding Fiscal Year is not less than two

 times the amount required for the payment of the aggregate of the maximum amount of Annual Financing Charges.



Tennessee State School Bond Authority Feasibility Study

A94 - UTK Neyland Stadium South Renovations
Individual Project Summary

Revenue Source: Capital campaign donations 16,900,000.00$               

Total Revenue Source: 16,900,000.00$               

Assumptions: TSSBA Funding Requested 99,500,000.00$               

Interest Rate 4.00% FALSE

Status Taxable

Term of Financing 10

Feasibility Test
Annual 

Short-Term Pmt

Pledged Revenue $16,900,000

New Max Annual DS $12,267,449

Feasible Yes

*TSSBA staff conducts a feasibility test on a project-by-project basis to ensure that each individual project has sufficient revenue pledged to cover the projected maximum 

annual debt service charged to the project.  On an annual basis, and prior to the issuance of long-term debt, an assessment is performed pursuant to  Article 2.01 (b) 

which requires that the aggregate amount of the Fees and Charges collected by an Institution in the preceding Fiscal Year is not less than two times the amount 

required for the payment of the aggregate of the maximum amount of Annual Financing Charges.



 Page 1 of 4 3/29/2011 

Tennessee State School Bond Authority 
UTK Neyland Stadium South Renovations REVISED Project Application 

 
 
DEPARTMENT:  University of Tennessee   
 
INSTITUTION/LOCATION:   Knoxville 
 
SBC PROJECT #:   540/009-02-2017 
 
PROJECT BUDGET: 

  

Funding 
Sources: TSSBA  $109,000,000 

 
$123,600,000 

 
$232,600,000 

 Other: Plant Aux-Athletics  $  37,400,000 $(25,800,000) $  11,600,000 

 Gifts/Donations  $  33,600,000 $10,200,000 $  43,800,000 

  Total  $180,000,000 $108,000,000 $288,000,000 
 
 

PROJECT REVENUES:  (Describe sources and projected levels) 
 
The project funding plan is supported by a series of pledged revenue sources including capital campaign 
donations, event-related ticket and fee income, and other external revenue sources (e.g., corporate 
sponsorships, facility rent, etc.).  Over the initial 10-year period, pledged revenue sources are projected to 
average a total of $28.4 million per annum and $11.5 million per annum thereafter.  Capital campaign 
donations are projected to average a total of $16.9 million per annum and service the 10-year debt and 
projected-related net revenues are projected to average a total of $11.5 million per annum and service the 
30-year debt. 

 
PROJECT LIFE:     

Anticipated Useful Life of Project:    30+ years   

Desired Term for Financing (if less than useful life): 
   10 years - $  99.5M 
   30 years - $133.1M 

       

ESTIMATED ANNUAL FINANCING CHARGE: 
10 Yrs - $11,516,104 
30 Yrs - $11,400,296 

      
PROJECT APPROVAL DATES:    

BOARD:   10/2016     
THEC:   11/2016    
SBC:   08/2017    

      
  

Disclosed in the Governor’s Budget:  X   Yes        No If yes, what year?   2017 
 
                 
  



 Page 2 of 4 3/29/2011 

 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION:  Physical description, including land, buildings and equipment with 
approximate dollar value.  (If a renovation or repair project, please provide information with respect to the 
renovated or improved portion as well as the entire structure).  
 

This project will provide premium seating enhancements, renovations of the south ground and concourse 

levels and includes addressing life safety issues, improvements to the west bowl seating, and demolition of 

south hall, along with updating utilities. New amenities will include gates, videoboards, and specialty 

patron features. This is a phased project with planning for the total project included in the first phase. 

           
REAL ESTATE:         

Owner of real property   The University of Tennessee   

     To be acquired      To be leased or other arrangement  
           

******************************************** 

The purpose of the following questions are to determine the tax status of this project to be financed with the 
proceeds of Tennessee State School Bond Authority Bonds and/or Bond Anticipation Notes and the amount of 
private use associated with this project.  Private use means the direct or indirect use of the project by any entity 
other than a state or local government entity, including use by the Federal Government (including its agencies and 
instrumentalities) or a Section 501(c)(3), (c)(4), or (c)(6) organization.  When the project consists of an 
improvement that does not involve space that is being used directly by governmental or private users (for 
example, a re-roofing, air conditioning or energy efficiency improvement), all questions involving uses and users 
of the project should be answered by reference to all portions of the facility or facilities benefited by the 
improvement. 
 
The questions below relate to the project referenced above.  Attach additional sheets as required.  Please make a 
copy of this document for your files. 

1. Project Status: (If the project has already been completed, and the proceeds are being used to reimburse the  
  department, please so indicate and include date of project completion.)    Construction 

   
2
. Project completion estimated to be:   2026 

3
. Project Owner:   University of Tennessee 

4
. Project Operator (see also item 8 below):   University of Tennessee 

5
.  Intended Use of the Project:   Athletic Football Stadium 

   

   
 
 

6. Intended Users of the Project (excluding use by the general public):   Students, Faculty, Staff, and Public 

                   



 Page 3 of 4 3/29/2011 

 
7. Indicate whether any of the following activities will take place at the project.  Indicate whether the activities 

are operated by a private entity or will indirectly benefit a private entity.  Include all incidental private uses.  
For each direct or indirect private use of the project, indicate the total amount of space the private use occupies 
in relation to the entire project.  (For example, if an area of vending machines operated by a private contractor 
occupies 50 square feet of a 5,000 square foot area financed, indicate the relationship in terms of the ratio of 
square footage used.) 

 

Gross Square Footage of Building  288,160  (See Supporting Data Sheet if more than one  
building is involved.)       

 
A. Vending Machines:    

 Square Footage N/A 

 Operator    

 Are any vending areas separated by walls, night gates, etc. so that they are under the control of 
  the service provider/operator?     

B. Wholesalers or retailers (e.g., Newsstand, Book Store, Pharmacy, etc.):   

 Square Footage  N/A – no change to existing team apparel shop (self-operated)  

 Type    

 Operator    

C. Pay Telephones:    

 Square Footage  N/A 

D. Laundry Services:         

 Square Footage N/A             

 Operator    

 Are any laundry service areas separated by walls, night gates, etc. so that they are under the  

 control of the service provider/operator?     

E. Cafeteria or other food services areas:      

 Square Footage TBD 

 Operator  Aramark concessions per most recently provided and reviewed agreement.  

F. Provision of health care services:        

 Square Footage  N/A 

 Operator    

G. Laboratory research performed on behalf of or for the benefit of a private entity or pursuant to a  
 cooperative research agreement:        

 Square Footage  N/A 

 Recipient    
 

H. Office space utilized by or on behalf of private entities:     

 Square Footage  N/A 





DEBT SERVICE

SECTION DEBT

WEST CLUB A26

EAST CLUB A26

TERRACE A63

LOWER WEST NEW

NORTH DECK NEW

FOUNDERS SUITES NEW



Neyland Stadium Renovations (SBC Project #540/009-02-2017)
Project Finance Summary

1 Total Project Budget 180,000,000$    

2 Estimated Expenditures through 2022 Scope (73,000,000) 

3 Estimated Project Budget Remaining 107,000,000$    

4

5 Approved Budget Funding Plan (2017) 80,000,000$    20-year bonds

6 TSSBA Bonds 109,000,000$    

7 Plant Auxiliary Funds 37,400,000 29,000,000$    10-year bonds

8 Gifts/Donations 33,600,000 

9 Total Funding 180,000,000$    

10

11 Anticipated Funding Sources Utilized (for Scope through 2022)

12 TSSBA Bonds 51,000,000$    $2.9M drawn down to date

13 Plant Auxiliary Funds 9,100,000 $5.0M transferred to date; $3.0M Learfield, $1.1M painting

14 Gifts/Donations 12,900,000 $12.9M transferred to date

15 Total Funding Sources for 2022 Scope 73,000,000$    Line 2

16

17 Total Project Budget 180,000,000$    

18 less: Plant Auxiliary Funds (Cash/AR) (9,100,000) per above

19 less: Gift/Donations Transferred to Project to Date (12,900,000) per above

20 less: Gift/Donations Cash on Hand (20,200,000) cash collected from Centennial Campaign

21 less: Gift/Donations Rec'd during Project (10,700,000) Exhibit A; projected collections through ~2024

22 Total Bond Financing Required 127,100,000$    Line 48

23

24 Bond Application Approved / Debt Summary

25 20-year bonds 80,000,000$    $51M bond capacity utlized per above; Line 12

26 10-year bonds 29,000,000 

32 Total Bonds Approved 109,000,000$    Line 6

33

40 Needed Bond Capacity Increase 18,100,000$    due to changes from 2017 to 2022 funding plans

41

42 Bond Application Adjustment Request

43 30-year bonds

44 Borrowing for work through 2022 Scope 51,000,000$    funded by new Lower West Seating/Upper North Plaza concepts

45 Borrowing for work after 2022 Scope 67,100,000 118,100,000$                              total 30-year bonds

46 10-year bonds

47 Borrowing to Cash Flow Donor Pledge Schedule 9,000,000 9,000,000 

48 Total Revised Bond Application 127,100,000$    127,100,000$    Line 87

49
50

51

52

53 Total Project Budget / Requested Increase 108,000,000$    

54

55 Bond Funding Sources / Revenue Pledges PV of Future Net CFs

56 30-year bond

57 36,768,000$    Exhibit B

58 5,582,000 Exhibit C

59 9,782,000 Exhibit D

60

Lower West Seating/Club Net Revenue

Upper North Plaza Net Revenue

Suites Net Revenue

Neyland Stadium Enhancement Gift (per ticket) 31,338,000 Exhibit E

61 Total 30-year Bond Support 83,470,000$    

62

63 10-year bond

64 51,900,000$    Exhibit F

65 19,293,000 Exhibit G

66

Suites Capital Gifts

East & West Skybox Capital Improvement Commitments 
Capital Campaign 29,600,000 Exhibit H

67 Total 10-year Bond Support 100,793,000$    

68

69 Project Funding Sources

70 TSSBA Bonds (30-year bonds) 83,470,000$    Line 61; project revenue pledge

71 TSSBA Bonds/Loan (10-year term) 100,793,000 Line 67; cash flow suites, donor gifts

72 3rd Party Investment (Concessions) 2,500,000 payment received during construction; not related to bonds

73 Total Funding Sources 186,763,000$    

74

75 less: Funding Sources Needed for Scope in $180M Project (67,100,000)$     cover 30-year borrowing on post-2022 scope in $180M; Line 45

76

77 Remaining Funding Available for $108M Request: Request Below Excess Pledge

78 TSSBA Bonds (30-year bonds) 16,370,000$    15,000,000$    1,370,000$    

79 TSSBA Bonds/Loan (10-year term) 100,793,000 90,500,000$    10,293,000$    

80 3rd Party Investment (Concessions) 2,500,000 

81 Total Funding Sources 119,663,000$    105,500,000$    11,663,000$    

82 * use for future scope
83

84

85

86 Project 10-year bond 30-year bond Total

87 Current $180M Budget (update 2017 Bond Application) 9,000,000$    118,100,000$    127,100,000$    

88 Requested $108M Increase to Budget (new Bond Application) 90,500,000 15,000,000 105,500,000 

89 99,500,000$    133,100,000$    232,600,000$    

Current SBC Project #540/009-02-2017

Requested Increase SBC Project #540/009-02-2017

Bond Application Summary

5/30/2022



Neyland Stadium Renovations
Funding Plan - $180M Project

Exhibit A - Donor Gifts - Centennial Campaign

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9

Donor FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24 FY25 FY26 FY27 FY28 FY29 FY30 FY31 FY32 FY33 Total P/R

Gift Agreement

1 250,000$           250,000$           250,000$           250,000$           250,000$           167,000$           1,417,000$        

2 -$                         

3 1,000,000$        1,000,000$        1,000,000$        1,000,000$        1,000,000$        1,000,000$        1,000,000$        1,000,000$        1,000,000$        1,000,000$        1,000,000$        1,000,000$        12,000,000$      

4 -$                         

5 200,000$           200,000$           400,000$           

6 200,000$           200,000$           400,000$           

7 1,000,000$        1,000,000$        1,000,000$        3,000,000$        

8 375,000$           375,000$           

9 200,000$           200,000$           400,000$           

10 100,000$           100,000$           100,000$           100,000$           100,000$           100,000$           600,000$           

11 100,000$           100,000$           100,000$           100,000$           100,000$           500,000$           

12 25,000$              25,000$              

13 400,000$           200,000$           200,000$           200,000$           1,000,000$        

14 30,000$              30,000$              30,000$              90,000$              

15 75,000$              75,000$              75,000$              75,000$              75,000$              75,000$              75,000$              75,000$              600,000$           

16 200,000$           200,000$           200,000$           200,000$           800,000$           

17 1,700,000$        1,700,000$        

400,000$           1,400,000$        2,775,000$        3,955,000$        2,155,000$        1,555,000$        1,525,000$        1,425,000$        1,342,000$        1,075,000$        1,000,000$        1,000,000$        1,000,000$        2,700,000$        23,307,000$      

Collectability Rate: 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

400,000$           1,400,000$        2,775,000$        3,955,000$        2,155,000$        1,555,000$        1,525,000$        1,425,000$        1,342,000$        1,075,000$        1,000,000$        1,000,000$        1,000,000$        2,700,000$        23,307,000$      

8,530,000$        2,155,000$        

Discount Rate 7.35%

PV Factor 0.93                    0.87                    0.81                    0.75                    0.70                    0.65                    0.61                    0.57                    0.53                    

PV Amount 1,448,533$        1,323,323$        1,151,884$        1,010,519$        754,047$           653,413$           608,675$           567,001$           1,426,085$        

Subtotal post-bond: 8,943,478$        

Cash Balances:

S010021353 18,562,000$      

S010020010 1,620,000$        

Total Cash Balances: 20,182,000$      

Add: CF pre-bond 8,530,000$        10,685,000$      cash to be collected during project

2,155,000$        

Add: CF PV post-bond 8,943,478$        cash to be collected after project

Total Project Funding: 39,810,478$     

PV Period



University of Tennessee

Neyland Stadium Renovations
Exhibit B - Premium Seating Concepts & Financial Modeling

PROJECT COST ESTIMATE & SEAT LOSS/ADD

Bid Target (MACC) 27,400,000$             

Soft Costs Factor 5,480,000$               20.0%

FFE / Other 700,000$                  

Total Project Costs 33,580,000$             

Seats Removed (3,912)

Seat Added 2,208

Net Gain/(Loss) (1,704)

PREMIUM SEAT INVENTORY & REVENUE

Inventory - Seating Concept #1 1,332 4 middle sections (V U T S)

Percentage Sold ("Sell Through Rate") 95%

Projected Number Sold 1,265

Annual Price - Primary Seating Concept:

Tennessee Fund Donation $3,000

Season Ticket $450

Licensing $150

Total Annual Price $3,600 does not include $1,000 capital (below)

Total Annual Gross Revenue $4,555,440

Inventory - Seating Concept #2 728 2 outside sections (R W)

Percentage Sold ("Sell Through Rate") 95% (does not include 36 wheelchair)

Projected Number Sold 692 see note

Annual Price - Primary Seating Concept:

Tennessee Fund Donation $1,500

Season Ticket $450

Licensing $150

Total Annual Price $2,100

Total Annual Gross Revenue $1,452,360

Inventory - Seating Concept #3 16 Loge V S

Percentage Sold ("Sell Through Rate") 0% see note

Projected Number Sold 0

Annual Price - Primary Seating Concept:

Tennessee Fund Donation $3,000

Season Ticket $450

Licensing $150

Total Annual Price $3,600

Total Annual Gross Revenue $0

Inventory - Seating Concept #4 60 SRO / tbd

Percentage Sold ("Sell Through Rate") 50%

Projected Number Sold 30

Annual Price - Primary Seating Concept:

Tennessee Fund Donation $600

Season Ticket $450

Licensing $150

Total Annual Price $1,200

Total Annual Gross Revenue $36,000

Total Potential Annual Seat Revenue $6,043,800

Other Revenues:

Per Cap Split (~54% of Gross) $11.88 $22.00

Number of Games 7

Food & Beverage Revenue, net $165,239

Non-Game Day Club Lounge Rentals, net revenue $60,000 12 x $5,000

Club Naming Rights / Donor Recognition $100,000

Total Other Revenues $325,239

Total Gross Annual Revenue $6,369,039

West Lower Bowl 

Chairbacks/Club



University of Tennessee

Neyland Stadium Renovations
Exhibit B - Premium Seating Concepts & Financial Modeling

West Lower Bowl 

Chairbacks/Club

Ticket Taxes:

Sales Tax 9.25%

Amusement Tax 4.50%

Total Ticket Tax 13.75%

Ticket Taxes and Licensing Deductions

Tickets Taxes ($108,084)

Licensing Value ($298,050) passthrough parking revenue to UTK

Other Operating Costs (Maintenance, Custodial, etc.) ($70,000) $10k per game

Total Taxes & Deductions ($476,134)

Total Potential Annual Net Revenue $5,892,905

SEAT LOSS REVENUE ESTIMATE

Percentage Not Relocating within Stadium 30%

Current Total Donation Revenue $2,500,000 per detailed review

Current Total Gross Season Ticket Revenue $1,600,000 per detailed review

Estimated Lost Donation Revenue ($750,000) NOTE: discussed migration from

Estimated Lost Gross Season Ticket Revenue ($480,000) other sections moving to this concept

Add back: Ticket Taxes $58,022 "not all new incremental money"

Remove Seat Loss F&B ($140,480) 80% of current seats @ $10 per cap w/ split at 54%

Total Estimated Annual Revenue Loss ($1,312,458)

UPFRONT CAPITAL GIFT REVENUE

Total One-Time Capital Gift Requirement - Primary Seating Concept #1 $0

Years Payable 0

Annual Revenue $1,000

Total One-Time Capital Gift Revenue $0

NET INCREMENTAL REVENUE

Ave. Net Incremental Annual Premium Seat Revenue (Years 1 to 5) $5,845,847 includes capital payments

Net Incremental Annual Premium Seat Revenue (Years 6+) $6,489,068 includes capital payments

NPV of Project (factors Capital Cost) $36,767,252

PV of Net Revenue (Bond Capacity 30 Years) $70,347,252

Payback Period (years) 5.7

Internal Rate of Return 17.7%



Discount Rate: 7.85% Present Value of

Rev Growth Rate: 3.5% Annual Net Revenue Net Revenue

New Net Less: Rev Capital Available Available

Year Revenue Displacement Gifts For Debt For Debt Investment: ($33,580,000) 1.0

1 $5,892,905 ($1,312,458) $1,265,400 $5,845,847 $5,420,349 Year 1 $5,845,847 ($27,734,153) 1.0

2 $5,892,905 ($1,312,458) $1,265,400 $5,845,847 $5,025,822 Year 2 $5,845,847 ($21,888,306) 1.0

3 $5,892,905 ($1,312,458) $1,265,400 $5,845,847 $4,660,012 Year 3 $5,845,847 ($16,042,459) 1.0

4 $5,892,905 ($1,312,458) $1,265,400 $5,845,847 $4,320,827 Year 4 $5,845,847 ($10,196,612) 1.0

5 $5,892,905 ($1,312,458) $1,265,400 $5,845,847 $4,006,330 Year 5 $5,845,847 ($4,350,765) 0.7

6 $6,099,157 ($1,358,394) $1,309,689 $6,050,452 $3,844,739 Year 6 $6,050,452 $1,699,686 0.0

7 $6,099,157 ($1,358,394) $1,309,689 $6,050,452 $3,564,895 Year 7 $6,050,452 $7,750,138 0.0

8 $6,099,157 ($1,358,394) $1,309,689 $6,050,452 $3,305,420 Year 8 $6,050,452 $13,800,589 0.0

9 $6,099,157 ($1,358,394) $1,309,689 $6,050,452 $3,064,830 Year 9 $6,050,452 $19,851,041 0.0

10 $6,099,157 ($1,358,394) $1,309,689 $6,050,452 $2,841,753 Year 10 $6,050,452 $25,901,492 0.0

11 $6,312,627 ($1,405,938) $1,355,528 $6,262,217 $2,727,134 Year 11 $6,262,217 $32,163,710 0.0

12 $6,312,627 ($1,405,938) $1,355,528 $6,262,217 $2,528,636 Year 12 $6,262,217 $38,425,927 0.0

13 $6,312,627 ($1,405,938) $1,355,528 $6,262,217 $2,344,586 Year 13 $6,262,217 $44,688,144 0.0

14 $6,312,627 ($1,405,938) $1,355,528 $6,262,217 $2,173,932 Year 14 $6,262,217 $50,950,362 0.0

15 $6,312,627 ($1,405,938) $1,355,528 $6,262,217 $2,015,700 Year 15 $6,262,217 $57,212,579 0.0

16 $6,533,569 ($1,455,146) $1,402,972 $6,481,395 $1,934,399 Year 16 $6,481,395 $63,693,974 0.0

17 $6,533,569 ($1,455,146) $1,402,972 $6,481,395 $1,793,601 Year 17 $6,481,395 $70,175,369 0.0

18 $6,533,569 ($1,455,146) $1,402,972 $6,481,395 $1,663,052 Year 18 $6,481,395 $76,656,764 0.0

19 $6,533,569 ($1,455,146) $1,402,972 $6,481,395 $1,542,005 Year 19 $6,481,395 $83,138,159 0.0

20 $6,533,569 ($1,455,146) $1,402,972 $6,481,395 $1,429,768 Year 20 $6,481,395 $89,619,554 0.0

21 $6,762,244 ($1,506,076) $1,452,076 $6,708,244 $1,372,100 Year 21 $6,708,244 $96,327,798 0.0

22 $6,762,244 ($1,506,076) $1,452,076 $6,708,244 $1,272,230 Year 22 $6,708,244 $103,036,042 0.0

23 $6,762,244 ($1,506,076) $1,452,076 $6,708,244 $1,179,629 Year 23 $6,708,244 $109,744,285 0.0

24 $6,762,244 ($1,506,076) $1,452,076 $6,708,244 $1,093,768 Year 24 $6,708,244 $116,452,529 0.0

25 $6,762,244 ($1,506,076) $1,452,076 $6,708,244 $1,014,157 Year 25 $6,708,244 $123,160,773 0.0

26 $6,998,922 ($1,558,788) $1,502,898 $6,943,032 $973,252 Year 26 $6,943,032 $130,103,805 0.0

27 $6,998,922 ($1,558,788) $1,502,898 $6,943,032 $902,413 Year 27 $6,943,032 $137,046,838 0.0

28 $6,998,922 ($1,558,788) $1,502,898 $6,943,032 $836,729 Year 28 $6,943,032 $143,989,870 0.0

29 $6,998,922 ($1,558,788) $1,502,898 $6,943,032 $775,827 Year 29 $6,943,032 $150,932,902 0.0

30 $6,998,922 ($1,558,788) $1,502,898 $6,943,032 $719,357 Year 30 $6,943,032 $157,875,935 0.0

Total $192,997,118 ($42,983,996) $41,442,813 $191,455,935 $70,347,252 IRR 17.7% 5.7

3,796,200$          

1,037,400$          

-$                         

18,000$               

(750,000)$            

4,101,600$          Net Total Annual Increase in Donations (non-Capital)

569,430$             

311,220$             

-$                         

13,500$               

(108,084)$            

(480,000)$            

58,022$               

364,088$             Net Total Annual Increase in Ticket Revenue

West Lower Bowl Chairbacks

NPV ANALYSIS

Running Balance



University of Tennessee

Neyland Stadium Renovations
Exhibit C - Premium Seating Concepts & Financial Modeling

PROJECT COST ESTIMATE & SEAT LOSS/ADD

Bid Target (MACC) 3,400,000$     

Soft Costs Factor 680,000$     20.0%

FFE / Other 200,000$     

Total Project Costs 4,280,000$     

Seats Removed (425) below cross aisle/estimate

Seat Added

Net Gain/(Loss) (425)

PREMIUM SEAT INVENTORY & REVENUE

Inventory - Seating Concept #1 500

Percentage Sold ("Sell Through Rate") 90%

Projected Number Sold 450

Annual Price - Primary Seating Concept:

Tennessee Fund Donation $1,350

Season Ticket $450

Licensing $150

Total Annual Price $1,950

Total Annual Gross Revenue $877,500

Inventory - Seating Concept #2 0

Percentage Sold ("Sell Through Rate") 80%

Projected Number Sold 0

Annual Price - Primary Seating Concept:

Tennessee Fund Donation $0

Season Ticket $0

Licensing $0

Total Annual Price $0

Total Annual Gross Revenue $0

Inventory - Seating Concept #3 0

Percentage Sold ("Sell Through Rate") 0%

Projected Number Sold 0

Annual Price - Primary Seating Concept:

Tennessee Fund Donation $0

Season Ticket $0

Licensing $0

Total Annual Price $0

Total Annual Gross Revenue $0

Inventory - Seating Concept #4 0

Percentage Sold ("Sell Through Rate") 50%

Projected Number Sold 0

Annual Price - Primary Seating Concept:

Tennessee Fund Donation $0

Season Ticket $0

Licensing $0

Total Annual Price $0

Total Annual Gross Revenue $0

Total Potential Annual Seat Revenue $877,500

Other Revenues:

Per Cap Split (~54% of Gross) $11.88 $22.00

Number of Games 7

Food & Beverage Revenue, net $37,422

Non-Game Day Club Lounge Rentals, net revenue

Club Naming Rights / Donor Recognition $100,000

Total Other Revenues $137,422

Total Gross Annual Revenue $1,014,922

Upper North 

Social Deck



University of Tennessee

Neyland Stadium Renovations
Exhibit C - Premium Seating Concepts & Financial Modeling

Upper North 

Social Deck

Ticket Taxes:

Sales Tax 9.25%

Amusement Tax 4.50%

Total Ticket Tax 13.75%

Project Funding Sources (DB-70)

Ticket Taxes and Licensing Deductions Line 61; project revenue pledge

Tickets Taxes Line 67; cash flow suites, donor gifts ($24,478)

Licensing Value ($67,500) passthrough parking revenue to UTK

Other Operating Costs (Maintenance, Custodial, etc.) ($14,000) $2k per game

Total Taxes & Deductions ($105,978)

Total Potential Annual Net Revenue $908,944

SEAT LOSS REVENUE ESTIMATE

Percentage Not Relocating within Stadium 30%

Current Total Donation Revenue $104,000 per detailed review

Current Total Gross Season Ticket Revenue $166,000 per detailed review

Estimated Lost Donation Revenue ($31,200)

Estimated Lost Gross Season Ticket Revenue ($49,800)

Add back: Ticket Taxes $6,020

Remove Seat Loss F&B ($14,459) 80% of current seats @ $10 per cap w/ split at 54%

Total Estimated Annual Revenue Loss ($89,439)

UPFRONT CAPITAL GIFT REVENUE

Total One-Time Capital Gift Requirement - Primary Seating Concept #1 $0

Years Payable 0

Annual Revenue $0

Total One-Time Capital Gift Revenue $0

NET INCREMENTAL REVENUE

Ave. Net Incremental Annual Premium Seat Revenue (Years 1 to 5) $819,505

Net Incremental Annual Premium Seat Revenue (Years 6+) $909,676

NPV of Project (factors Capital Cost) $5,581,692

PV of Net Revenue (Bond Capacity 30 Years) $9,861,692

Payback Period (years) 5.2

Internal Rate of Return 19.5%



Discount Rate: 7.85% Present Value of

Rev. Growth Rate: 3.5% Annual Net Revenue Net Revenue

New Net Less: Rev Capital Available Available

Year Revenue Displacement Gifts For Debt For Debt Investment: ($4,280,000) 1.0

1 $908,944 ($89,439) $0 $819,505 $759,857 Year 1 $819,505 ($3,460,495) 1.0

2 $908,944 ($89,439) $0 $819,505 $704,549 Year 2 $819,505 ($2,640,989) 1.0

3 $908,944 ($89,439) $0 $819,505 $653,268 Year 3 $819,505 ($1,821,484) 1.0

4 $908,944 ($89,439) $0 $819,505 $605,719 Year 4 $819,505 ($1,001,979) 1.0

5 $908,944 ($89,439) $0 $819,505 $561,631 Year 5 $819,505 ($182,474) 0.2

6 $940,757 ($92,569) $0 $848,188 $538,978 Year 6 $848,188 $665,714 0.0

7 $940,757 ($92,569) $0 $848,188 $499,748 Year 7 $848,188 $1,513,902 0.0

8 $940,757 ($92,569) $0 $848,188 $463,373 Year 8 $848,188 $2,362,090 0.0

9 $940,757 ($92,569) $0 $848,188 $429,646 Year 9 $848,188 $3,210,278 0.0

10 $940,757 ($92,569) $0 $848,188 $398,374 Year 10 $848,188 $4,058,466 0.0

11 $973,684 ($95,809) $0 $877,875 $382,306 Year 11 $877,875 $4,936,341 0.0

12 $973,684 ($95,809) $0 $877,875 $354,479 Year 12 $877,875 $5,814,215 0.0

13 $973,684 ($95,809) $0 $877,875 $328,678 Year 13 $877,875 $6,692,090 0.0

14 $973,684 ($95,809) $0 $877,875 $304,755 Year 14 $877,875 $7,569,964 0.0

15 $973,684 ($95,809) $0 $877,875 $282,573 Year 15 $877,875 $8,447,839 0.0

16 $1,007,762 ($99,162) $0 $908,600 $271,175 Year 16 $908,600 $9,356,439 0.0

17 $1,007,762 ($99,162) $0 $908,600 $251,438 Year 17 $908,600 $10,265,039 0.0

18 $1,007,762 ($99,162) $0 $908,600 $233,136 Year 18 $908,600 $11,173,639 0.0

19 $1,007,762 ($99,162) $0 $908,600 $216,167 Year 19 $908,600 $12,082,239 0.0

20 $1,007,762 ($99,162) $0 $908,600 $200,433 Year 20 $908,600 $12,990,839 0.0

21 $1,043,034 ($102,633) $0 $940,401 $192,349 Year 21 $940,401 $13,931,240 0.0

22 $1,043,034 ($102,633) $0 $940,401 $178,349 Year 22 $940,401 $14,871,642 0.0

23 $1,043,034 ($102,633) $0 $940,401 $165,367 Year 23 $940,401 $15,812,043 0.0

24 $1,043,034 ($102,633) $0 $940,401 $153,331 Year 24 $940,401 $16,752,444 0.0

25 $1,043,034 ($102,633) $0 $940,401 $142,170 Year 25 $940,401 $17,692,845 0.0

26 $1,079,540 ($106,225) $0 $973,315 $136,436 Year 26 $973,315 $18,666,160 0.0

27 $1,079,540 ($106,225) $0 $973,315 $126,506 Year 27 $973,315 $19,639,475 0.0

28 $1,079,540 ($106,225) $0 $973,315 $117,298 Year 28 $973,315 $20,612,790 0.0

29 $1,079,540 ($106,225) $0 $973,315 $108,760 Year 29 $973,315 $21,586,106 0.0

30 $1,079,540 ($106,225) $0 $973,315 $100,844 Year 30 $973,315 $22,559,421 0.0

Total $29,768,607 ($2,929,186) $0 $26,839,421 $9,861,692 IRR 19.5% 5.2

607,500$     

-$    

-$    

-$    

(31,200)$     

576,300$     Net Total Annual Increase in Donations (non-Capital)

202,500$     

-$    

-$    

-$    

(24,478)$     

(49,800)$     

6,020$     

134,242$     Net Total Annual Increase in Ticket Revenue

Upper North Plaza

NPV ANALYSIS

Running 

Balance



University of Tennessee

Neyland Stadium Renovations
Exhibit D - Premium Seating Concepts & Financial Modeling

PROJECT COST ESTIMATE & SEAT LOSS/ADD

Bid Target (MACC) 14,160,000$     

Soft Costs Factor 2,832,000$     20.0%

FFE / Other 3,000,000$     

Total Project Costs 19,992,000$     

Seats Removed (1,689)

Seat Added 160

Net Gain/(Loss) (1,529)

PREMIUM SEAT INVENTORY & REVENUE

Inventory - Seating Concept #1 10 individual founder suite

Percentage Sold ("Sell Through Rate") 100%

Projected Number Sold 10

Number of Seats per Suite 16

Annual Price - Primary Seating Concept: $200,000

Tennessee Fund Donation $191,600 $8,400

Season Ticket $7,200 $450

Licensing (Parking Seats/2) $1,200 $150

Total Annual Price $200,000 does not include capital (below)

Total Annual Gross Revenue $2,000,000

Total Potential Annual Seat Revenue $2,000,000

Other Revenues:

Per Cap Split (~54% of Gross) $108.00 $200.00

Number of Games 7

Food & Beverage Revenue, net $120,960

Non-Game Day Club Lounge Rentals, net revenue

Club Naming Rights / Donor Recognition

Total Other Revenues $120,960

Total Gross Annual Revenue $2,120,960

Ticket Taxes:

Sales Tax 9.25%

Amusement Tax 4.50%

Total Ticket Tax 13.75%

Ticket Taxes and Licensing Deductions

Tickets Taxes ($8,703)

Licensing Value ($12,000) passthrough parking revenue to UTK

Other Operating Costs (Maintenance, Custodial, etc.) ($70,000) $10k per game?

Total Taxes & Deductions ($90,703)

Total Potential Annual Net Revenue $2,030,257

SEAT LOSS REVENUE ESTIMATE

Percentage Not Relocating within Stadium 50%

Current Total Donation Revenue $1,729,500 per detailed review

Current Total Gross Season Ticket Revenue $760,000 per detailed review

Estimated Lost Donation Revenue ($864,750)

Estimated Lost Gross Season Ticket Revenue ($380,000)

Add back: Ticket Taxes $45,934

Remove Seat Loss F&B ($63,844) 80% of current seats @ $10 per cap w/ split at 54%

Total Estimated Annual Revenue LossBond Funding Sources / Revenue Pledges ($1,262,660)

Founders Suites



University of Tennessee

Neyland Stadium Renovations
Exhibit D - Premium Seating Concepts & Financial Modeling

Founders Suites

UPFRONT CAPITAL GIFT REVENUE

Total One-Time Capital Gift Requirement - Primary Seating Concept #1 $0 included on separate tab; 10-year bond

Years Payable 10

Annual Revenue $0

Total One-Time Capital Gift Revenue $0

NET INCREMENTAL REVENUE

Ave. Net Incremental Annual Premium Seat Revenue (Years 1 to 5) $767,597

Net Incremental Annual Premium Seat Revenue (Years 6+) $942,352

NPV of Project (factors Capital Cost) -$10,210,989 NOTE: does not factor capital gifts; separate analysis

PV of Net Revenue (Bond Capacity 30 Years) $9,781,011

Payback Period (years) 22.7

Internal Rate of Return 2.0%



Discount Rate: 7.85% Present Value of

Rev Growth Rate: 3.5% Annual Net Revenue Net Revenue

New Net Less: Rev Capital Available Available

Year Revenue Displacement Gifts For Debt For Debt Investment: ($19,992,000) 1.0

1 $2,030,257 ($1,262,660) $0 $767,597 $711,726 Year 1 $767,597 ($19,224,403) 1.0

2 $2,030,257 ($1,262,660) $0 $767,597 $659,922 Year 2 $767,597 ($18,456,807) 1.0

3 $2,030,257 ($1,262,660) $0 $767,597 $611,889 Year 3 $767,597 ($17,689,210) 1.0

4 $2,030,257 ($1,262,660) $0 $767,597 $567,352 Year 4 $767,597 ($16,921,614) 1.0

5 $2,030,257 ($1,262,660) $0 $767,597 $526,056 Year 5 $767,597 ($16,154,017) 1.0

6 $2,189,632 ($1,361,779) $0 $827,853 $526,056 Year 6 $827,853 ($15,326,164) 1.0

7 $2,189,632 ($1,361,779) $0 $827,853 $487,767 Year 7 $827,853 ($14,498,311) 1.0

8 $2,189,632 ($1,361,779) $0 $827,853 $452,264 Year 8 $827,853 ($13,670,458) 1.0

9 $2,189,632 ($1,361,779) $0 $827,853 $419,345 Year 9 $827,853 ($12,842,606) 1.0

10 $2,189,632 ($1,361,779) $0 $827,853 $388,823 Year 10 $827,853 ($12,014,753) 1.0

11 $2,361,518 ($1,468,679) $892,839 $388,823 Year 11 $892,839 ($11,121,913) 1.0

12 $2,361,518 ($1,468,679) $892,839 $360,522 Year 12 $892,839 ($10,229,074) 1.0

13 $2,361,518 ($1,468,679) $892,839 $334,281 Year 13 $892,839 ($9,336,235) 1.0

14 $2,361,518 ($1,468,679) $892,839 $309,950 Year 14 $892,839 ($8,443,395) 1.0

15 $2,361,518 ($1,468,679) $892,839 $287,390 Year 15 $892,839 ($7,550,556) 1.0

16 $2,546,897 ($1,583,970) $962,927 $287,390 Year 16 $962,927 ($6,587,629) 1.0

17 $2,546,897 ($1,583,970) $962,927 $266,472 Year 17 $962,927 ($5,624,701) 1.0

18 $2,546,897 ($1,583,970) $962,927 $247,076 Year 18 $962,927 ($4,661,774) 1.0

19 $2,546,897 ($1,583,970) $962,927 $229,092 Year 19 $962,927 ($3,698,847) 1.0

20 $2,546,897 ($1,583,970) $962,927 $212,418 Year 20 $962,927 ($2,735,920) 1.0

21 $2,636,039 ($1,639,409) $996,630 $203,850 Year 21 $996,630 ($1,739,290) 1.0

22 $2,636,039 ($1,639,409) $996,630 $189,013 Year 22 $996,630 ($742,660) 0.7

23 $2,636,039 ($1,639,409) $996,630 $175,255 Year 23 $996,630 $253,969 0.0

24 $2,636,039 ($1,639,409) $996,630 $162,499 Year 24 $996,630 $1,250,599 0.0

25 $2,636,039 ($1,639,409) $996,630 $150,671 Year 25 $996,630 $2,247,229 0.0

26 $2,728,300 ($1,696,788) $1,031,512 $144,594 Year 26 $1,031,512 $3,278,741 0.0

27 $2,728,300 ($1,696,788) $1,031,512 $134,070 Year 27 $1,031,512 $4,310,252 0.0

28 $2,728,300 ($1,696,788) $1,031,512 $124,311 Year 28 $1,031,512 $5,341,764 0.0

29 $2,728,300 ($1,696,788) $1,031,512 $115,263 Year 29 $1,031,512 $6,373,276 0.0

30 $2,728,300 ($1,696,788) $1,031,512 $106,873 Year 30 $1,031,512 $7,404,787 0.0

Total $72,463,210 ($45,066,423) $0 $27,396,787 $9,781,011 IRR 2.0% 22.7

1,916,000$    $0

(864,750)$     

1,051,250$    Net Total Annual Increase in Donations (non-Capital)

72,000$    

(8,703)$     

(380,000)$     

45,934$    

(270,769)$     Net Total Annual Increase in Ticket Revenue

Founders Suites

NPV ANALYSIS

Running Balance



Neyland Stadium Renovations

Funding Plan
Exhibit E - Stadium Enhancement Gift

Annual Stadium Enhancement Gift

Per ticket, stadium enhancement gift 5.00$     

less: applicable sales tax 9.25%

Net to UT 4.58$     

Number of paid tickets per game 60,000 

Number of home games 7

Total number of paid tickets/year 420,000 

Total revenue per year 1,922,197$     

Bond Capacity from Stadium Enhancement Gift

Total revenue per year 1,922,197$     

1,922,197$     

Debt service coverage ratio 1.00 

Net amount available for debt service 1,922,197$     

Assumptions

Discount Rate (30 year bond) 7.85%

Term (yrs.) 30

Annual Revenue stream growth rate 3.50%

PV of future cash flows 31,338,093$     

Rounded 31,338,000$    

NOTE: Oklahoma @ UT Fall 2024



Neyland Stadium Renovations

Funding Plan
Exhibit F - Suites Capital Gifts

Enter the type of cash flow that you are discounting = GA [S=Simple;

 A=Annuity; 

GA=Growing Annuity; 

P=Perpetuity; 

GP=Growing Perpetuity]

Number of Suites 10 

Sellthrough Rate 100% Univ/Dept use, kitchen space, legacy donor

Sold 10 

Capital Gift Requirement 7,500,000$      

Term 10 years

Annual Total 750,000$     

Aggregate Annual Total 7,500,000$      

Enter the dollar amount of the cash flow = 7,500,000$      For S: Enter the single cash flow

For A and P: Enter the cash flow each period

For GA and GP: Enter the current year's cash flow]

Enter the number of years for the cash flow = 10 For S: Specify the year of the cash flow

For A and GA: Enter the number of years for annuity

For P and GP: Leave blank]

Enter the annualized discount rate to use on cash flows = 7.35% Enter the annualized discount rate

Enter the expected growth rate in the cash flow = Leave blank for S, A and P

Enter the annualized growth rate for GA and GP

Specify the number of compounding periods per year = 1 If semi-annual enter 2, if monthly enter 12 ….

Discount Rate per period = 7.35%

Number of periods = 10

Present Value of Cash Flow(s) = 51,835,069$     

Present Value Calculator



Neyland Stadium Renovations
Exhibit G - Skybox Capital Commitments

Assumptions:

Total Number of Skyboxes 122

n/a 10

Number of Suites sold 100% 112

Sell Through (Paid Cash) 90%

Suites in pro forma 101 rounded

Capital Gift Requirement 250,000$                     

Term 5 years

Annual Gift 50,000$                       

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

Suites FY25 FY26 FY27 FY28 FY29 FY30 FY31 Total CF

Stagger 1 90.9 90% 4,545,000$              4,545,000$              4,545,000$              4,545,000$              4,545,000$              22,725,000$            

Stagger 2 5.1 5% 252,500$                 252,500$                 252,500$                 252,500$                 252,500$                 1,262,500$              

Stagger 3 5.1 5% 252,500$                 252,500$                 252,500$                 252,500$                 252,500$                 1,262,500$              

101.0 100%

4,545,000$              4,797,500$              5,050,000$              5,050,000$              5,050,000$              505,000$                 252,500$                 25,250,000$            

Collectability Rate: 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95%

4,317,750$              4,557,625$              4,797,500$              4,797,500$              4,797,500$              479,750$                 239,875$                 23,987,500$            

Discount Rate 7.35%

PV Factor 0.93                          0.87                          0.81                          0.75                          0.70                          0.65                          0.61                          

PV Amount 4,022,124$              3,954,891$              3,878,009$              3,612,491$              3,365,152$              313,475$                 146,006$                 

Total CF post-bond 19,292,148$            19,292,148$            

Summary

Add: CF pre-bond -$                                  

Add: CF PV post-bond 19,292,148$                

Total Project Funding: 19,292,148$                

PV Period



Neyland Stadium Renovations

Funding Plan
Exhibit H - New Capital Campaign

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

Donor FY25 FY26 FY27 FY28 FY29 FY30 FY31 FY32 FY33 FY33 Total P/R

A 1,500,000$                  1,500,000$                  1,500,000$                  1,500,000$                  1,500,000$                  1,500,000$                  1,500,000$                  1,500,000$                  1,500,000$                  1,500,000$                  15,000,000$                

B 1,000,000$                  1,000,000$                  1,000,000$                  1,000,000$                  1,000,000$                  1,000,000$                  1,000,000$                  1,000,000$                  1,000,000$                  1,000,000$                  10,000,000$                

C 1,000,000$                  1,000,000$                  1,000,000$                  1,000,000$                  1,000,000$                  1,000,000$                  1,000,000$                  1,000,000$                  1,000,000$                  1,000,000$                  10,000,000$                

D 500,000$                     500,000$                     500,000$                     500,000$                     500,000$                     500,000$                     500,000$                     500,000$                     500,000$                     500,000$                     5,000,000$                  

E 500,000$                     500,000$                     500,000$                     500,000$                     500,000$                     500,000$                     500,000$                     500,000$                     500,000$                     500,000$                     5,000,000$                  

4,500,000$                  4,500,000$                  4,500,000$                  4,500,000$                  4,500,000$                  4,500,000$                  4,500,000$                  4,500,000$                  4,500,000$                  4,500,000$                  45,000,000$                

Collectability Rate: 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95%

4,275,000$                  4,275,000$                  4,275,000$                  4,275,000$                  4,275,000$                  4,275,000$                  4,275,000$                  4,275,000$                  4,275,000$                  4,275,000$                  42,750,000$                

Discount Rate 7.35%

PV Factor 0.93                              0.87                              0.81                              0.75                              0.70                              0.65                              0.61                              0.57                              0.53                              0.49                              

PV Amount 3,982,301$                  3,709,642$                  3,455,652$                  3,219,051$                  2,998,651$                  2,793,340$                  2,602,087$                  2,423,928$                  2,257,967$                  2,103,370$                  

Total Present Value of Future CFs: 29,545,989$                

PV Period







 

  3716341.7  046226  RSIND 

SUPPLEMENTAL RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING AND 

PROVIDING FOR THE ISSUANCE AND SALE OF 

HIGHER EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES SECOND 

PROGRAM BONDS 

WHEREAS, the Authority and the Board of Trustees have entered into a certain 

Second Program Financing Agreement dated as of November 1, 1997 in order to provide for the 

financing and refinancing by the Authority of Projects of the Board of Trustees, and the 

Authority and the Board of Regents have entered into a certain Second Program Financing 

Agreement dated as of November 1, 1997 in order to provide for the financing and refinancing 

by the Authority of Projects of the Board of Regents (said Second Program Financing 

Agreements, as supplemented and amended from time to time, being herein collectively called 

the “Second Program Financing Agreements”); 

WHEREAS, the members of the Authority duly adopted on April 27, 1998 a 

resolution entitled “HIGHER EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES SECOND PROGRAM 

GENERAL BOND RESOLUTION” (the “Second Program General Bond Resolution”) 

authorizing the issuance of Higher Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds (the “Bonds”) 

from time to time in Series for any purpose permitted under the Act, including to provide for the 

payment of Project Costs, and otherwise as provided in the Second Program General Bond 

Resolution; 

WHEREAS, in order to provide interim financing of the cost of certain Projects, 

the Authority entered into an Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of 

June 2, 2021, amending and restating that certain Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of 

March 20, 2014, as amended, with Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as a Bank, and U.S. 

Bank National Association, as Administrative Agent and as a Bank (the “Revolving Credit 

Agreement”), and has contracted Revolving Loans thereunder (the “Revolving Loans”); and 

WHEREAS, it may be necessary or desirable to prepay Revolving Loans for 

certain Projects and to finance Project Costs of certain other Projects, and it is deemed necessary 

and desirable at this time to authorize the issuance of Bonds for such purposes as set forth and 

provided herein; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the members of the Tennessee State 

School Bond Authority: 

SECTION 1.  Definitions.  Unless the context shall clearly indicate some other 

meaning, all words and terms used in this Supplemental Resolution which are defined in the 

Second Program General Bond Resolution (the Second Program General Bond Resolution and 

this Supplemental Resolution being herein collectively called the “Resolutions”) or in this 

Supplemental Resolution shall, for all purposes of this Supplemental Resolution (including the 

preambles hereto), for all purposes of any certificate, resolution or other instrument amendatory 

hereof or supplemental hereto and for all purposes of any opinion, instrument or other document 

herein or therein mentioned, have the respective meanings given to them in the Second Program 

General Bond Resolution or this Supplemental Resolution, as the case may be.  



 

2 
3716341.7  046226  RSIND 

Words of the masculine gender shall be deemed and construed to include 

correlative words of the feminine and neuter genders.  Unless the context shall otherwise 

indicate, words importing the singular number shall include the plural number and vice versa. 

The terms “hereby”, “hereof,” “hereto”, “herein,” “hereunder”, and any similar 

terms, as used in this Supplemental Resolution, refer to this Supplemental Resolution. 

SECTION 2.  Authorization of 2022 Bonds.  (a)  There is hereby authorized to be 

issued under the Act and the Second Program General Bond Resolution one or more Series of 

Bonds (individually and collectively herein called the “2022 Bonds”) designated “Higher 

Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds” and which may bear such further designation or 

designations as may be provided in the respective 2022 Bonds Series Certificate (as defined in 

Section 4(a) hereof).  The 2022 Bonds shall be issued in an aggregate principal amount not to 

exceed, in the aggregate, $350,000,000.   

(b) The 2022 Bonds may be issued as bonds the interest on which is excluded 

from gross income for Federal income tax purposes (the “Tax-Exempt 2022 Bonds”), or as 

bonds the interest on which is included in gross income for Federal income tax purposes (the 

“Taxable 2022 Bonds”), or in part as Tax-Exempt 2022 Bonds and in part as Taxable 2022 

Bonds. 

(c) The 2022 Bonds may be issued at one time or from time to time. 

SECTION 3.  Purposes.  The 2022 Bonds may be issued (i) to provide for the 

prepayment of all or a portion of outstanding Revolving Loans, (ii) to finance all or a portion of 

the costs of Projects identified pursuant to Section 4 hereof, including funded interest, and (iii) to 

provide for the payment of costs of issuance of the 2022 Bonds.  

SECTION 4.  Series Certificates.  (a)  Pursuant to Section 202(B) of the Second 

Program General Bond Resolution, there is hereby delegated to an Authorized Officer the power 

to determine, by means of a Series Certificate or Series Certificates (each, a “2022 Bonds Series 

Certificate”), the following:  

(i) the Projects financed or refinanced by the 2022 Bonds authorized by 

clauses (i) and (ii) of Section 3 hereof, and the principal amount of 2022 Bonds issued for each 

such Project, 

(ii) the principal amount of outstanding Revolving Loans for each Project to 

be prepaid with proceeds of the 2022 Bonds as described in Section 3 hereof, 

(iii) the Debt Service Reserve Requirement, if any, for the 2022 Bonds issued 

for each Project, 

(iv) the matters provided in Sections 2, 5, 6, 7, 9, 10, 13 and 16 hereof and this 

Section 4, and 

(v) any other matters and provisions deemed advisable by such Authorized 

Officer and not in conflict herewith or with the Second Program General Bond Resolution.   



 

3 
3716341.7  046226  RSIND 

(b) No Series of such 2022 Bonds shall be issued unless (i) the issuance 

thereof is consistent with the Authority’s Debt Management Policy, as certified to the Authority 

by the Financial Advisor to the Authority (the “Financial Advisor”), and (ii) an Authorized 

Officer, by execution of the 2022 Bonds Series Certificate, confirms the receipt of such 

certification of the Financial Advisor.  

(c) Each 2022 Bonds Series Certificate shall be filed with the Trustee, 

whereupon it shall be deemed for all purposes of the Resolution to have been adopted by the 

Authority and to be a part of this Supplemental Resolution as if set forth in full herein. 

SECTION 5.  Details of 2022 Bonds.  The following provisions set forth details 

of the 2022 Bonds, subject in each case (except subsection (a) of this Section) to any contrary 

specification in a 2022 Bonds Series Certificate.  

(a) The 2022 Bonds shall (i) subject to Section 2 hereof, be in such aggregate 

principal amount, (ii) be dated and bear interest from such date or dates, (iii) be issuable in such 

form, (iv) be of such denominations, (v) be numbered and bear such other designations, 

(vi) mature on the dates (which shall not be later than 30 years after the date of issuance) and in 

the principal amounts, (vii) bear interest at the rates and be payable on the dates and in the 

manner, (viii) be Serial Bonds or Term Bonds, (ix) if Term Bonds, be subject to retirement from 

mandatory Sinking Fund Installments, and (x) be subject to redemption prior to maturity at the 

times and Redemption Prices, subject to Section 7 hereof, in the case of clauses (i) through (x) 

above all as provided in the respective 2022 Bonds Series Certificate.   

(b) The 2022 Bonds shall be payable as to principal, Sinking Fund 

Installments, if any, Redemption Price and interest in such coin or currency of the United States 

of America which at the time of payment is legal tender for the payment of public and private 

debts.  Principal, Sinking Fund Installments, if any, and Redemption Price of the 2022 Bonds 

shall be payable upon presentation and surrender thereof to the Paying Agent appointed by 

subsection (f) of this Section at its designated office.  Interest on the 2022 Bonds shall be paid 

by the Paying Agent by check mailed to the Owner at such Owner’s address as it appears on the 

registration books of the Authority maintained by the Registrar as of the fifteenth day (whether 

or not a Business Day) of the calendar month next preceding the respective due date.  

Notwithstanding the foregoing, payment of principal, Sinking Fund Installments, if any, and 

Redemption Price of and interest on the 2022 Bonds may be made in any manner agreed to by 

the Authority and the Paying Agent for so long as DTC (as defined in subsection (c) of this 

Section) or its nominee (or any substitute depository, or successor) is the Owner thereof as 

Securities Depository (as defined in subsection (c) of this Section). 

(c) The 2022 Bonds when initially issued shall be registered in the name of 

Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”). 

DTC is hereby designated the securities depository for the 2022 Bonds (the “Securities 

Depository”), except as provided in subsection (d) of this Section. So long as DTC or its 

nominee is the Owner of the 2022 Bonds as Securities Depository, individual purchases of 

beneficial ownership interests in 2022 Bonds may be made only in book-entry form by or 

through DTC participants, and purchasers of such beneficial ownership interests in 2022 Bonds 



 

4 
3716341.7  046226  RSIND 

will not receive physical delivery of 2022 Bond certificates representing the beneficial 

ownership interest purchased. 

The Authority shall have no responsibility for transmitting payments to, 

communicating with, notifying, or otherwise dealing with any beneficial owners of the 2022 

Bonds or nominees thereof. 

(d) The Authority shall issue 2022 Bond certificates (the “Replacement 

Bonds”) directly to beneficial owners of the 2022 Bonds or to DTC, as specified by DTC 

procedures, but only in the event that (i) DTC determines to discontinue providing its services 

with respect to the 2022 Bonds, or (ii) the Authority discontinues use of DTC (or any substitute 

depository, or successor), subject to DTC procedures.  The Authority, the Trustee and the 

Registrar shall be fully protected in relying upon information provided by DTC, DTC 

participants or other nominees of beneficial owners, or beneficial owners with respect to the 

names, addresses and amounts owned by the beneficial owners and other information supplied 

by them for the purpose of delivering Replacement Bonds. 

(e) Provisions similar to those contained in subsections (c) and (d) of this 

Section may be made by the Authority in connection with the appointment by the Authority of a 

substitute Securities Depository for the 2022 Bonds, or in the event of a successor to DTC or to 

any substitute or successor of any thereof. 

(f) Regions Bank, Nashville, Tennessee is the successor Trustee under the 

General Bond Resolution and Registrar and Paying Agent for all Bonds. 

SECTION 6.  Separate Reserve Account for 2022 Bonds.  (a) Pursuant to 

paragraph (C) of Section 1001 of the Second Program General Bond Resolution, there is hereby 

established for the 2022 Bonds a separate Account in the Debt Service Reserve Fund which shall 

be applied solely to the payment of 2022 Bonds.  The amount required to be on deposit in such 

separate Account initially shall be zero ($0.00), but a different amount may be specified or 

calculated in a manner specified in a separate Supplemental Resolution, subject to the provisions 

of such paragraph (C), which such separate Supplemental Resolution also may make such other 

amendments, changes or modifications to the Resolutions as may be deemed necessary or 

desirable by the Authority to ensure that the Accounts in the Debt Service Reserve Fund function 

in the manner contemplated in the Second Program General Bond Resolution. 

(b) Anything in the Second Program General Bond Resolution to the contrary 

notwithstanding, the 2022 Bonds shall have no claim or lien on nor shall any 2022 Bonds be 

payable from any amounts in the Debt Service Reserve Fund other than amounts in the Account 

therein established by subsection (a) above, and the 2022 Bonds shall be excluded from the 

calculation of the Debt Service Reserve Requirement for all other Outstanding Bonds. 

SECTION 7.  Redemption.  (a)  The 2022 Bonds may be subject to redemption 

prior to maturity as provided in 2022 Bonds Series Certificates pursuant to Section 5(a)(x) 

hereof; provided, however, that the Redemption Prices of Tax-Exempt 2022 Bonds shall be fixed 

prices not to exceed 103% of the principal amount thereof to be redeemed, and of Taxable 2022 

Bonds shall be fixed prices not to exceed 103% of the principal thereof to be redeemed or 



 

5 
3716341.7  046226  RSIND 

make-whole prices or a combination thereof, in each case together with the interest accrued on 

the principal amount to be redeemed to the date fixed for redemption; and provided further, 

however, that notwithstanding the foregoing, any 2022 Bonds may be made not redeemable prior 

to maturity.  

Notice of such redemption shall be mailed to the Owners of the 2022 Bonds or 

portions thereof to be redeemed at the times and in the manner provided in Section 405 of the 

Second Program General Bond Resolution.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, so long as DTC or 

its nominee, or any substitute depository, or successor, is the Owner of the 2022 Bonds as 

Securities Depository (as defined in Section 5(c) hereof), notice of redemption may be given in 

the manner, and presentation and surrender of the 2022 Bonds may be waived to the extent, 

agreed to by the Authority, the Registrar and DTC, or any substitute depository, or successor, as 

the case may be.  Any failure of DTC or any substitute depository, or successor, or participant of 

any thereof, to notify a beneficial owner of a 2022 Bond of any redemption shall not affect the 

sufficiency or the validity of the redemption of such 2022 Bond.  

SECTION 8.  Findings and Determinations.  The Authority hereby finds and 

determines that (i) the Second Program General Bond Resolution has not been amended, 

supplemented (other than by Supplemental Resolutions authorizing Bonds that are no longer 

Outstanding) or repealed since the effective date thereof other than by (A) the Supplemental 

Resolutions (for Bonds currently Outstanding) adopted by the members of the Authority on 

June 22, 2012, September 16, 2013, June 18, 2014, February 26, 2015, July 21, 2017, August 9, 

2019 and January 25, 2021, authorizing and providing for the issuance and sale of Higher 

Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds, 2012 Series A, 2012 Series B (Federally 

Taxable), 2012 Refunding Series C, 2013 Series A, 2014 Series A (Federally Taxable), 2014 

Refunding Series B, 2015 Series A (Federally Taxable), 2015 Series B, 2017 Series A, 2017 

Refunding Series B, 2017 Refunding Series C (Federally Taxable), 2019 Series A, 2019 Series B 

(Federally Taxable) and 2021 Series A (Federally Taxable), (B) the Supplemental Resolution 

Amending General Bond Resolution adopted by the members of the Authority on July 26, 2004, 

and (C) the Supplemental Resolution Amending General Bond Resolution and Authorizing 

Amendment of Financing Agreements adopted by the members of the Authority on 

September 16, 2013, (ii) this Supplemental Resolution constitutes and is a “Supplemental 

Resolution” within the meaning of and as defined and used in the Second Program General Bond 

Resolution, (iii) the 2022 Bonds shall constitute and be “Bonds” within the meaning of and as 

defined and used in the Second Program General Bond Resolution and shall be entitled to the 

benefits, security and protection of the Second Program General Bond Resolution as set forth 

therein, and (iv) all Projects for which the 2022 Bonds are to be issued have been approved by 

the Authority and constitute “Projects” within the meaning of and as defined in the Second 

Program General Bond Resolution and the Agreements.   

SECTION 9.  Application of Proceeds of 2022 Bonds and Other Amounts; 

Project Construction Accounts.  (a)  (i)  The accrued interest, if any, received from the 

Purchasers (as defined in Section 16(d)(1) hereof) as part of the purchase price of the 2022 

Bonds shall be deposited in the Debt Service Fund and applied to the payment of a portion of 

the interest due on the 2022 Bonds on the first interest payment date therefor. 



 

6 
3716341.7  046226  RSIND 

(ii) There is hereby created and established in the Construction Fund a 

separate Project Construction Account for each Project specified in a 2022 Bonds Series 

Certificate which is financed or refinanced by the 2022 Bonds for which Project Costs (other 

than costs of issuance of the 2022 Bonds) will be funded from proceeds of the sale of the 2022 

Bonds and for which a Project Construction Account has not previously been established.  There 

shall be paid from the proceeds of the sale of the 2022 Bonds into the Project Construction 

Account for each such Project the amount of the proceeds of the 2022 Bonds allocable to such 

Project to be used to pay Project Costs of such Project which are not provided for in other 

subsections of this Section, which shall be used to pay such Project Costs.   

(iii) There is hereby created and established in the Debt Service Fund a 

separate Capitalized Interest Account for, and designated by the name of, any Project financed 

by the 2022 Bonds for which interest will be paid from proceeds of the sale of the 2022 Bonds, 

as may be specified in the 2022 Bonds Series Certificates.  There shall be deposited to each such 

Capitalized Interest Account the respective amount, if any, specified in the 2022 Bonds Series 

Certificates, which shall be used to pay interest on Series 2022 Bonds as specified in the 2022 

Bonds Series Certificates. 

(iv) The proceeds derived from the sale of the 2022 Bonds to be applied to the 

prepayment of outstanding Revolving Loans shall be deposited and applied as provided in 

Section 10 hereof. 

(v) [Reserved]. 

(vi) There shall be paid from the proceeds of the sale of the 2022 Bonds into 

the General Fund the balance of the proceeds of the 2022 Bonds, which shall be used to pay 

costs of issuance of the 2022 Bonds or, subject to Section 15 hereof and after consultation with 

the Authority, for other purposes permitted by the Act (as defined in the Second Program 

General Bond Resolution), the Resolutions and the Second Program Financing Agreements.   

(b) Additional deposits may be made into any Fund or Account as may be 

provided in 2022 Bonds Series Certificates. 

SECTION 10.  Prepayment of Outstanding Revolving Loans.  The proceeds 

derived from the sale of the 2022 Bonds to be applied to the prepayment of outstanding 

Revolving Loans shall be applied as required by the Revolving Credit Agreement. 

SECTION 11.  [Reserved]. 

SECTION 12.  Continuing Disclosure.  Any officer, member or Assistant 

Secretary of the Authority is hereby authorized to execute and deliver a Continuing Disclosure 

Undertaking, substantially in the form of Continuing Disclosure Undertaking executed and 

delivered in connection with the issuance of the Authority’s Higher Educational Facilities 

Second Program Bonds, 2021 Series A (Federally Taxable), with such variations as the signatory 

thereof, after consultation with counsel to the Authority, shall approve as necessary or 

appropriate, such execution and delivery to be conclusive evidence of such approval and 

consultation.  Execution of the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking as aforesaid and delivery of 



 

7 
3716341.7  046226  RSIND 

the same to the Purchasers (as defined in Section 16(d)(1) hereof) shall be a condition precedent 

to the obligation of the Purchasers to purchase the 2022 Bonds.  

The Authority covenants with the holders from time to time of the 2022 Bonds 

that it will, and hereby authorizes the appropriate officers and employees of the Authority to take 

all action necessary or appropriate to, comply with and carry out all of the provisions of the 

Continuing Disclosure Undertaking as amended from time to time.  Notwithstanding any other 

provision of the Resolutions, failure of the Authority to perform in accordance with the 

Continuing Disclosure Undertaking shall not constitute a default or an event of default and shall 

not result in any acceleration of payment of any 2022 Bonds, and any rights and remedies 

provided by the Resolutions and applicable law upon the occurrence of such a default or an event 

of default shall not apply to any such failure, but the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking may be 

enforced only as provided therein. 

SECTION 13.  Execution and Authentication of 2022 Bonds; Form of Bonds.   

(a)  The 2022 Bonds shall be executed in the name of the Authority by the manual or facsimile 

signature of any Authorized Officer or Assistant Secretary of the Authority and the seal of the 

Authority shall be affixed thereto or impressed or imprinted thereon or a facsimile thereof 

affixed thereto or reproduced thereon, and attested by the manual signature of one other of such 

Authorized Officers or Assistant Secretaries of the Authority, or as otherwise required by law.  

(b) The 2022 Bonds shall each have endorsed thereon a certificate of 

authentication executed by the Registrar either by manual or facsimile signature.  Unless and 

until such certificate of authentication shall have been manually executed by an authorized 

officer of the Registrar, no 2022 Bond shall be valid or obligatory for any purpose or shall be 

entitled to any right or benefit under the Resolutions. Each certificate of authentication shall be 

dated as of the date of execution thereof. 

(c) The 2022 Bonds of each Series shall be numbered from R-1 upwards and 

may contain such other number or letter designations as determined by the Registrar. 

(d) The 2022 Bonds, including the aforesaid certificate of authentication, shall 

be of substantially the form and tenor as set forth in Exhibit A hereto, subject to change as 

provided in or to be consistent with any 2022 Bonds Series Certificates. 

SECTION 14.  CUSIP Numbers.  CUSIP identification numbers shall be 

imprinted on the 2022 Bonds, but no such number shall constitute a part of the contract 

evidenced by the particular bond upon which it is imprinted, no liability shall attach to the 

Authority or any officer or agent thereof, including the Trustee, Paying Agent and Registrar for 

the 2022 Bonds, because of or on account of such numbers or any use made thereof including 

any use thereof made by the Authority or any such officer or agent, or by reason of any 

inaccuracy, error or omission with respect thereto or in such use, and neither the failure to print 

any such number on any 2022 Bond nor any inaccuracy, error, or omission with respect thereto  

(including any failure to imprint such numbers on any 2022 Bonds) shall constitute cause for 

failure or refusal by the Purchasers (as defined in Section 16(d)(1) hereof) to accept delivery of 

and pay for the 2022 Bonds in accordance with the terms of its proposal.  All expenses in 

relation to the printing of such numbers on the 2022 Bonds will be paid by the Authority; 



 

8 
3716341.7  046226  RSIND 

provided, however, that the CUSIP Service Bureau charge for the assignment of such numbers  

shall be the responsibility of and shall be paid by the Purchasers.  In addition, the Authority’s 

Financial Advisor in the case of 2022 Bonds sold by competitive sale, or the Purchasers in the 

case of 2022 Bonds sold by negotiated sale, shall be responsible for timely applying for the 

CUSIP identification numbers as required by Rule G-34 promulgated by the Municipal 

Securities Rulemaking Board.   

SECTION 15.  Tax Covenants.  The Authority hereby covenants that it will not 

use, or permit the use of, any proceeds of the Tax-Exempt 2022 Bonds in a manner that would 

cause the Tax-Exempt 2022 Bonds to be subjected to treatment under Section 148 of the Internal 

Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and applicable regulations thereunder, as each 

is then in effect, as an “arbitrage bond”, and to that end the Authority shall comply with 

applicable regulations under said Section 148. The Authority further covenants with the 

registered owners from time to time of the Tax-Exempt 2022 Bonds that it will throughout the 

term of the Tax-Exempt 2022 Bonds and through the date that the final rebate, if any, must be 

made to the United States in accordance with Section 148 of the Code, comply with the 

provisions of Sections 103 and 141 through 150 of the Code and all regulations proposed and 

promulgated thereunder that must be satisfied in order that interest on the Tax-Exempt 2022 

Bonds shall be and continue to be excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes 

under said Section 103.  

SECTION 16.  Sale and Issuance of 2022 Bonds; Preliminary Official Statement; 

Final Official Statement.  (a)  If the 2022 Bonds are divided pursuant to Section 2(a) hereof, the 

2022 Bonds of more than one Series may be sold collectively or on a Series-by-Series basis.  

(b)  The 2022 Bonds of each Series may be sold at either a competitive or 

negotiated sale, the Bonds of any Series may be sold by any such method, and the Bonds of any 

other Series may be sold by any other such method, as determined in a 2022 Bonds Series 

Certificate.  

(c) If Sold by Competitive Sale: 

(1) There is hereby authorized a Notice of Sale relating to the 2022 Bonds 

sold at competitive sale, substantially in the form utilized in connection with the sale of the 

Authority’s Higher Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds, 2019 Series A and 2019 

Series B (Federally Taxable), but reflecting details of the transactions contemplated by this 

Supplemental Resolution, with such variations, as any Authorized Officer, after consultation 

with counsel to the Authority, shall approve as necessary or appropriate (the “Notice of Sale”), 

the distribution of which as hereinafter authorized shall be conclusive evidence of such approval 

and consultation. 

(2) Any Authorized Officer or Assistant Secretary of the Authority is hereby 

authorized to cause the Notice of Sale and Preliminary Official Statement (as defined in 

subsection (e) of this Section 15) to be distributed to prospective purchasers of such 2022 Bonds 

and/or published on any Internet platform.  The use of any Internet platform as a 

communications medium to receive bids for the purchase of such 2022 Bonds, as may be 

provided in the Notice of Sale, also is hereby authorized. 



 

9 
3716341.7  046226  RSIND 

(3) Any Authorized Officer may award the 2022 Bonds to the successful 

bidder or bidders therefor (the “Competitive Sale Purchasers”) determined in accordance with 

and otherwise complying with the Notice of Sale or, as permitted by the Notice of Sale, may 

reject any or all proposals received for the purchase of such 2022 Bonds or waive any 

irregularity in any proposal; provided, however, that the true interest cost of such 2022 Bonds, 

determined as provided in the Notice of Sale by the Authorized Officer executing the related 

2022 Bonds Series Certificate, which determination shall be conclusive, shall not exceed 5.50% 

for Tax-Exempt 2022 Bonds of each Series and 6.50% for Taxable 2022 Bonds of each Series.  

Such awards and determinations shall be confirmed in the related 2022 Bonds Series Certificate. 

(d) If Sold by Negotiated Sale: 

(1) The 2022 Bonds sold at negotiated sale are hereby authorized to be sold to 

such underwriters as may be selected by the members of the Authority and named in the Bond 

Purchase Agreement authorized in paragraph (2) below (collectively, the “Negotiated Sale 

Purchasers” and, together with the Competitive Sale Purchasers, the “Purchasers”) upon the 

terms and conditions set forth in the Bond Purchase Agreement.  In consideration of Section 4(b) 

hereof and paragraph (2) below, it is not necessary for the Authority to place any limitation on 

the purchase price payable by the Negotiated Sale Purchasers. 

(2) Any officer, member or Assistant Secretary of the Authority is hereby 

authorized to execute and deliver a Bond Purchase Agreement or Agreements, substantially in 

the form executed and delivered in connection with the issuance of the Authority’s Higher 

Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds, 2021 Series A (Federally Taxable), with such 

variations as the officer, member or Assistant Secretary executing such agreements, after 

consultation with counsel to the Authority, shall approve as necessary or appropriate (each, a 

“Bond Purchase Agreement”), such execution and delivery to be conclusive evidence of such 

approval and consultation; provided, however, that the true interest cost of such 2022 Bonds, 

determined by a 2022 Bonds Series Certificate, which determination shall be conclusive, shall 

not exceed 5.50% for Tax-Exempt 2022 Bonds of each Series and 6.50% for Taxable 2022 

Bonds of each Series. 

(e) There is hereby authorized a Preliminary Official Statement relating to the 

2022 Bonds, substantially in the form of the draft thereof presented to the Members of the 

Authority in advance of the meeting at which this Supplemental Resolution is adopted, with 

such variations, omissions and insertions as any Authorized Officer, after consultation with 

counsel to the Authority, shall approve as necessary or appropriate (the “Preliminary Official 

Statement”), the publication or distribution of which as hereinafter authorized shall be 

conclusive evidence of such approval and consultation; provided, however, that a draft thereof 

shall be distributed to the members of the Authority prior to publication and distribution as 

hereinafter authorized.  Any Authorized Officer or Assistant Secretary of the Authority is 

hereby authorized to cause the Preliminary Official Statement to be distributed to prospective 

purchasers of the 2022 Bonds and/or published on the Internet via any Internet platform, 

substantially in such form, with such necessary or appropriate variations, omissions and 

insertions as determined by such officer after consultation with counsel to the Authority.  Any 

Authorized Officer or Assistant Secretary of the Authority is authorized to (i) determine that the 

Preliminary Official Statement, as so modified, is “deemed final” as of its date for purposes of 



 

10 
3716341.7  046226  RSIND 

Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 15c2-12 (“Rule 15c2-12”) except for omissions 

permitted by such Rule, subject to revision, amendment and completion in the final Official 

Statement as defined in such Rule, (ii) include such determination in the Notice of Sale and/or 

Preliminary Official Statement, and (iii) confirm such determination in a 2022 Bonds Series 

Certificate or Certificates or Bond Purchase Agreement. 

(f) Any Authorized Officer is hereby authorized and directed to prepare or 

cause to be prepared, and to execute and deliver by such time as may be required by Rule 15c2-

12, an Official Statement relating to the 2022 Bonds substantially in the form of the Preliminary 

Official Statement, with such variations, omissions and insertions as such Authorized Officer, 

after consultation with counsel to the Authority, shall approve as necessary or appropriate (the 

“Official Statement”), the execution and delivery of which shall be conclusive evidence of 

such approval and consultation.  

(g) The Authority hereby authorizes the use and distribution of the 

Preliminary Official Statement and the Official Statement in connection with the offering and 

sale of the 2022 Bonds. 

(h) The Authorized Officers and other officers and employees of the 

Authority, and other officials and employees of the State, including those of the Division of 

State Government Finance of the State, are hereby authorized and directed to carry out or cause 

to be carried out all obligations of the Authority under each Bond Purchase Agreement and to 

execute and deliver all documents and to perform such other actions not otherwise provided for 

by this Section as they, in consultation with counsel to the Authority, shall consider necessary or 

advisable in connection with the issuance, sale and delivery of the 2022 Bonds. 

(i) Without limiting the generality of subsection (h) of this Section, (1) if any 

commitment or commitments are obtained by the Authority for municipal bond insurance in 

connection with any or all of the 2022 Bonds, the procurement of such insurance, and the 

execution by any Authorized Officer of such commitment or commitments and such other 

documents as may be required thereby, is hereby authorized, and (2) if municipal bond 

insurance is specified by the Purchasers as part of their bid, or in the Bond Purchase Agreement, 

for the 2022 Bonds, the execution and delivery of any documents relating to such insurance is 

hereby authorized.  Each 2022 Bonds Series Certificate relating to insured 2022 Bonds may 

include such matters pertaining to such insurance as may be necessary or desirable to satisfy the 

commitment therefor. 

(j) All actions heretofore taken by the officers, employees and agents of the 

Authority in connection with the offering and sale of the 2022 Bonds are hereby ratified and 

confirmed. 

SECTION 17.  Authority for this Supplemental Resolution.  This Supplemental 

Resolution is adopted pursuant to the provisions of the Act and the Second Program General 

Bond Resolution. 

SECTION 18.  Supplemental Resolution Constitutes Contract.  In consideration 

of the purchase and acceptance of any and all of the 2022 Bonds issued hereunder by those who 



 

11 
3716341.7  046226  RSIND 

are Owners of the 2022 Bonds from time to time, this Supplemental Resolution shall be deemed 

to be and shall constitute a contract between the Authority and the Owners of the 2022 Bonds, 

and the pledges made in this Supplemental Resolution and the covenants and agreements herein 

set forth to be performed on behalf of the Authority shall be for the equal benefit, protection and 

security of the Owners of any and all of the 2022 Bonds, all of which, regardless of the time or 

times of their authentication, issuance or delivery, or maturity, shall be of equal rank without 

preference, priority or distinction of any of the 2022 Bonds over any other thereof, except as 

expressly provided in or permitted by the Resolutions. 

SECTION 19.  Severability.  If any one or more of the covenants, stipulations, 

promises, agreements or obligations provided in this Supplemental Resolution on the part of the 

Authority or any Fiduciary to be performed should be determined by a court of competent 

jurisdiction to be contrary to law, then such covenant or covenants, stipulation or stipulations, 

promise or promises, agreement or agreements, obligation or obligations shall be deemed and 

construed to be severable from the remaining covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and 

obligations herein contained and shall in no way affect the validity of the other provisions of this 

Supplemental Resolution. 

SECTION 20.  Headings of Sections.  The headings of the sections of this 

Supplemental Resolution are for convenience of reference only, and shall not affect the meaning, 

construction or interpretation of this Supplemental Resolution. 

SECTION 21.  Effective Date.  This Supplemental Resolution shall be in full 

force and effect from and after its adoption as provided by law. 

ADOPTED:  September 8, 2022. 



 

A-1 
3716341.7  046226  RSIND 

EXHIBIT A 

UNLESS THIS BOND IS PRESENTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF 

DTC TO THE BOND TRUSTEE FOR REGISTRATION OF TRANSFER, EXCHANGE 

OR PAYMENT, AND ANY BOND ISSUED IS REGISTERED IN THE NAME OF CEDE 

& CO. OR SUCH OTHER NAME AS REQUIRED BY AN AUTHORIZED 

REPRESENTATIVE OF DTC AND ANY PAYMENT IS MADE TO CEDE & CO., ANY 

TRANSFER, PLEDGE OR OTHER USE HEREOF FOR VALUE OR OTHERWISE BY 

OR TO ANY PERSONS IS WRONGFUL SINCE THE REGISTERED OWNER 

HEREOF, CEDE & CO., HAS AN INTEREST HEREIN. 

No. R-____ $____________ 

 

TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY 

HIGHER EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES SECOND PROGRAM BOND 

2022 SERIES __ [(FEDERALLY TAXABLE)] 

 

Date of 

  Bond   

Interest 

  Rate    

Maturity 

   Date    CUSIP 

    

_________, 2022 ____% _____ 1, _____ 880558 ___ 

    

Registered Owner: Cede & Co.   

    

Principal Amount:  

  

THE TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY (hereinafter called 

the “Authority”), a corporate governmental agency and instrumentality of the State of Tennessee, 

organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of said State, acknowledges itself 

indebted to, and for value received, hereby promises to pay to the Registered Owner hereof 

named above or registered assigns, but solely from the revenues and other moneys of the 

Authority hereinafter specified and not otherwise, the Principal Amount set forth above on the 

Maturity Date set forth above [(subject, if this Bond matures on or after _____ 1, 20__, to prior 

redemption as hereinafter mentioned)], upon the presentation and surrender hereof at the 

corporate trust office of Regions Bank, Nashville, Tennessee, as successor Trustee and Paying 

Agent under the Higher Educational Facilities Second Program General Bond Resolution 

adopted by the Authority on April 27, 1998 (as the same has been and may be amended, herein 

called the “Second Program General Bond Resolution”) and the Supplemental Resolution 

hereinafter referred to, or its successor or successors as Trustee (herein called the “Trustee”) and 

as Paying Agent (herein called the “Paying Agent”), and to pay interest on such Principal 

Amount, but solely from such revenues and other moneys of the Authority hereinafter specified 

and not otherwise, from the date hereof until the payment of such Principal Amount in full, at the 

Interest Rate per annum set forth above, payable on ____________ 1, 20__, and semi-annually 

thereafter on _____ 1 and _____ 1, such interest to be paid to the Registered Owner as of the 

close of business on the fifteenth day (whether or not a Business Day) of the next preceding 

calendar month by check mailed by the Paying Agent to such Registered Owner at his address as 

it appears on the registration books of the Authority maintained by Regions Bank, Nashville, 



 

A-2 
3716341.7  046226  RSIND 

Tennessee, as Registrar under the Second Program General Bond Resolution, or its successor or 

successors as Registrar (herein called the “Registrar”) except to the extent any other method of 

payment is permitted by the Supplemental Resolution hereinafter referred to and agreed to by the 

Authority and the Paying Agent.  The offices of the Trustee, Paying Agent and Registrar shall be 

determined from time to time pursuant to the Second Program General Bond Resolution.  

Principal, Sinking Fund Installments, if any, and Redemption Price of and interest on this Bond 

are payable in any coin or currency of the United States of America which at the time of payment 

thereof is legal tender for the payment of public and private debts.  Interest on this Bond shall be 

computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months. 

This Bond is one of a duly authorized issue of bonds of the Authority designated 

“Higher Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds” (herein called the “Bonds”) issued and to 

be issued in various series under and pursuant to the Tennessee State School Bond Authority Act 

(Sections 49-3-1201 et seq., Tennessee Code Annotated, herein called the “Act”) and the Second 

Program General Bond Resolution.  The Bonds constitute special obligations of the Authority the 

principal, Sinking Fund Installments, if any, and Redemption Price of and interest on which shall 

be payable solely from and secured solely by the Annual Financing Charges, Legislative 

Appropriations and other moneys and securities held or set aside under the Second Program 

General Bond Resolution, subject to the application thereof to the purposes and on the conditions 

permitted by the Second Program General Bond Resolution.  Annual Financing Charges are 

payable by the Board of Trustees of the University of Tennessee and by the Tennessee Board of 

Regents of the State University and Community College System of the State of Tennessee under 

the respective Second Program Financing Agreements dated as of November 1, 1997, each as 

amended and restated as of May 9, 2013, by and between the Authority and each such Board (as 

the same may be supplemented and amended from time to time, the “Second Program Financing 

Agreements”) and Legislative Appropriations are payable by said Boards pursuant to the Second 

Program Financing Agreements and the Act.   

As provided in the Second Program General Bond Resolution, Bonds may be 

issued from time to time pursuant to Supplemental Resolutions in one or more Series and in 

various principal amounts, may mature at different times, may bear interest at different rates and, 

subject to the provisions thereof, may otherwise vary.  The aggregate principal amount of Bonds 

which may be issued under the Second Program General Bond Resolution is not limited except 

as may be limited by law, and as provided in or permitted by the Resolution (as hereinafter 

defined), and all Bonds issued and to be issued under the Second Program General Bond 

Resolution are and will be equally secured by the pledges and covenants made therein, except as 

otherwise expressly provided in or permitted by the Second Program General Bond Resolution. 

This Bond is one of a Series of Bonds designated “Higher Educational Facilities 

Second Program Bonds, 2022 Series __ [(Federally Taxable)]” (herein called the “2022 Bonds”) 

issued in the aggregate principal amount of $____________ under and pursuant to the Second 

Program General Bond Resolution and a Supplemental Resolution adopted by the Authority on 

September 8 2022, including as a part thereof a Series Certificate of the Authority dated 

___________, 2022 (the “Series Certificate”) (together herein called the “Supplemental 

Resolution”; collectively with the Second Program General Bond Resolution, the “Resolution”).  

Copies of the Resolution, including the Supplemental Resolution, are on file at the office of the 

Authority and at the designated office of the Trustee, and reference to the Resolution and any 



 

A-3 
3716341.7  046226  RSIND 

and all supplements thereto and amendments thereof and to the Act is made for a description of 

the pledges and covenants securing the Bonds, including the 2022 Bonds; the nature, extent and 

manner of enforcement of such pledges; the rights and remedies of the Owners of the Bonds with 

respect thereto; the terms and conditions upon which the Bonds are issued and may be issued 

thereunder; and definitions of certain terms used herein.  To the extent and in the manner 

permitted by the terms of the Resolution, the provisions of the Resolution or any resolution 

amendatory thereto or supplemental thereof may be amended by the Authority, in some cases 

without the consent of any Owners of Bonds and in some cases with the consent of the Owners 

of at least fifty-one percent in principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding, and, in case less 

than all of the several Series of Bonds would be affected thereby, with such consent of the 

Owners of at least fifty-one percent in principal amount of the Bonds of each Series so affected 

then Outstanding. 

The principal of the Bonds may be declared due and payable before the maturity 

thereof as provided in the Resolution and the Act. 

The 2022 Bonds maturing on or before ______, 2022 shall not be subject to 

redemption prior to their stated maturities.  The 2022 Bonds maturing on or after ______, 20__ 

shall be subject to optional [and mandatory sinking fund] redemption prior to their stated 

maturities, and shall be selected for redemption, as set forth in the Series Certificate. 

If this Bond (or a portion hereof in installments of $5,000 or any integral multiple 

thereof) is redeemable and shall be called for redemption, notice of the redemption hereof shall 

be given not less than thirty (30) days prior to the redemption date, by mail to the Registered 

Owner of this Bond at the address of the Registered Owner as shown on the registration books of 

the Authority.  Notice having been given in the manner provided, this Bond or the portion hereof 

so called for redemption shall become due and payable on the redemption date designated by the 

Authority, and the Redemption Price of and accrued interest, if any, on this Bond or portion 

hereof to be redeemed shall be paid upon presentation and surrender of this Bond at the office 

specified in such notice, together with, in the event this Bond is presented by other than the 

Registered Owner, a written instrument of transfer duly executed by the Registered Owner or the 

Registered Owner’s duly authorized attorney; provided, however, that any notice of redemption 

may be made conditional upon the availability of sufficient moneys to pay the Redemption Price, 

plus interest accrued and unpaid to the redemption date.  If less than the entire principal amount 

of this Bond shall be redeemed, the Registrar shall authenticate and deliver, upon the surrender 

of this Bond, without charge to the Registered Owner hereof, for the unredeemed balance of the 

principal amount of this Bond so surrendered, a new registered 2022 Bond or Bonds of like 

maturity in any authorized denomination. 

Notice of redemption having been given as aforesaid, if on the date fixed for 

redemption of this Bond or any portion hereof, moneys for the Redemption Price of this Bond or 

such portion hereof to be redeemed, plus interest accrued and unpaid to the redemption date, 

shall be held by the Paying Agent so as to be available therefor on said date, then this Bond or 

the portion hereof called for redemption shall become due and payable at the applicable 

Redemption Price herein provided, and from and after the redemption date, interest on this Bond 

or the portion hereof called for redemption shall cease to accrue. 



 

A-4 
3716341.7  046226  RSIND 

This Bond is transferable, as provided in the Resolution, only upon the books of 

the Authority kept for that purpose at the designated office of the Registrar, by the Registered 

Owner hereof in person, or by his attorney duly authorized in writing, upon the surrender of this 

Bond, together with a written instrument of transfer satisfactory to the Registrar duly executed 

by the Registered Owner or his duly authorized attorney, and thereupon a new registered 2022 

Bond or Bonds of the same aggregate principal amount, tenor and maturity, shall be issued to the 

transferee in exchange therefor as provided in the Resolution, and upon the payment of the 

charges, if any, therein prescribed. 

This Bond shall not be valid or obligatory for any purpose or be entitled to any 

benefit under the Resolution until the certificate of authentication hereon shall have been duly 

executed by the Registrar. 

This Bond shall not be a debt of the State of Tennessee, and the State shall not be 

liable hereon. 

IT IS HEREBY CERTIFIED, RECITED AND DECLARED that all acts, 

conditions and things required by the Constitution and statutes of the State of Tennessee and the 

Resolution to exist, to have happened and to have been performed precedent to and in the 

issuance of this Bond, exist, have happened and have been performed in due time, form and 

manner as required by law and that the issue of the 2022 Bonds, together with all other 

indebtedness of the Authority, is within every debt and other limit prescribed by law. 



 

A-5 
3716341.7  046226  RSIND 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Tennessee State School Bond Authority has 

caused this Bond to be executed in its name by the manual or facsimile signature of its 

Chairman, Secretary, Assistant Secretary or any other Authorized Officer and its seal to be 

affixed hereto or impressed or imprinted hereon or a facsimile thereof affixed hereto or 

reproduced hereon, and attested by the manual or facsimile signature of one other of such 

officers, or as otherwise required by law, all as of the date of this Bond set forth above. 

 TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL 

  BOND AUTHORITY 

 
By:  

 

  Authorized Signatory  

(SEAL)  

Attest:  

By:  
  

 Authorized Signatory   



 

A-6 
3716341.7  046226  RSIND 

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION 

This will certify that this Bond is one of the 2022 Bonds described in the 

within-mentioned Resolution. 

REGIONS BANK,  

 as Registrar 

Date of Authentication: 

_______________________________ By:_____________________________ 

Authorized Signatory 



 

A-7 
3716341.7  046226  RSIND 

ASSIGNMENT 

For value received, the undersigned hereby sell(s), assign(s) and transfer(s) unto 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

(Please print or type name and address, including postal zip code, of Assignee) 

PLEASE INSERT SOCIAL SECURITY OR 

OTHER TAX IDENTIFYING NUMBER OF ASSIGNEE 

 

 

the within Bond and all rights hereunder, hereby irrevocably constituting and appointing 

______________________, Attorney, to transfer such Bond on the books kept for the 

registration thereof, with full power of substitution in the premises. 

Dated:                                

Signature Guaranteed: 

                                                                       

NOTICE:  Signature(s) must be guaranteed 

by a member firm of The New York Stock 

Exchange, Inc. or a commercial bank or 

trust company 

                                                                        

(Signature of Registered Owner) 

NOTICE:  The signature above must 

correspond with the name of the registered 

owner as it appears on the front of this Bond 

in every particular, without alteration or 

enlargement or any change whatsoever. 

 

 

 



PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT DATED __________, 2022 

 

NEW ISSUE          BOOK-ENTRY ONLY 

OFFICIAL STATEMENT 

 

$___________* 

TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY 

HIGHER EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES 

SECOND PROGRAM BONDS 

2022 SERIES A 

 

Dated: Date of Delivery Due: November 1 (as shown on inside front cover) 

 

This Official Statement has been prepared by the Tennessee State School Bond Authority (the “Authority”) to 

provide information relating to the Authority’s Higher Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds, 2022 Series A 

(Federally Taxable) (the “Offered Bonds”).  Selected information is presented on this cover page for the convenience of 

the user.  To make an informed decision regarding the Offered Bonds, a prospective investor should read the Official 

Statement in its entirety. 

Security The Offered Bonds are special obligations of the Authority payable solely from and secured by Annual 

Financing Charges (as defined herein) payable to the Authority by the Board of Trustees of The University 

of Tennessee and the Tennessee Board of Regents of the State University and Community College System 

of the State of Tennessee, Legislative Appropriations (as defined herein) payable to the Authority and other 

funds as more fully described herein.  The Authority has no taxing power.  (See “SECURITY AND 

SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS” herein). 

Purpose See “PURPOSES OF THE OFFERED BONDS” herein. 

Interest Payment Dates May 1 and November 1, beginning November 1, 2021. 

Interest Rates/Prices/Yields See inside front cover. 

Denominations $5,000 or integral multiples thereof. 

No Debt Service Reserve The Offered Bonds currently will not be secured by any funded debt service reserve.  See “SECURITY AND 

SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS - Debt Service Reserve Fund” herein. 

Book-Entry Only System The Depository Trust Company.  See Appendix F. 

Redemption See “DESCRIPTION OF THE OFFERED BONDS – Redemption” herein. 

Tax Exemption The Offered Bonds and the interest thereon are exempt from Tennessee taxes, subject to certain exceptions.  

See “TAX MATTERS” herein. 

Ratings See “RATINGS” herein. 

Trustee/Paying Agent Regions Bank, Nashville, Tennessee. 

 

The Offered Bonds are offered when, as and if issued and received by the Underwriters subject to certain conditions, 

including the approval of legality by Hawkins Delafield & Wood LLP, Bond Counsel to the Authority.  Certain legal matters in 

connection with the Offered Bonds are subject to the approval of the Attorney General and Reporter of the State of Tennessee, 

as counsel to the Authority, and Bass, Berry & Sims PLC, as counsel to the Underwriters.  The Offered Bonds are expected to 

be available through the facilities of The Depository Trust Company on or about ________________, 2022. 

 

 
Dated:   

 

T
h

is
 P

r
el

im
in

a
ry

 O
ff

ic
ia

l 
S

ta
te

m
e
n

t 
a

n
d

 t
h

e
 i

n
fo

r
m

a
ti

o
n

 c
o

n
ta

in
e
d

 h
e
re

in
 a

re
 s

u
b

je
c
t 

to
 c

o
m

p
le

ti
o

n
 o

r
 a

m
e
n

d
m

e
n

t 
w

it
h

o
u

t 
n

o
ti

c
e
. 
 U

n
d

e
r
 n

o
 c

ir
c
u

m
st

a
n

c
e
s 

sh
a
ll

 t
h

is
 P

r
el

im
in

a
ry

 O
ff

ic
ia

l 
S

ta
te

m
e
n

t 

c
o

n
st

it
u

te
 a

n
 o

ff
er

 t
o
 s

el
l 

o
r
 a

 s
o

li
c
it

a
ti

o
n

 o
f 

a
n

 o
ff

er
 t

o
 b

u
y
, 

n
o

r
 s

h
a

ll
 t

h
e
r
e 

b
e
 a

n
y
 s

a
le

 o
f,

 t
h

e
se

 s
ec

u
r
it

ie
s 

in
 a

n
y

 j
u

ri
sd

ic
ti

o
n

 i
n

 w
h

ic
h

 s
u

c
h

 o
ff

er
, 

so
li

ci
ta

ti
o

n
 o

r 
sa

le
 w

o
u

ld
 b

e
 u

n
la

w
fu

l 
p

r
io

r 
to

 r
eg

is
tr

a
ti

o
n

 

o
r
 q

u
a

li
fi

c
a

ti
o

n
 u

n
d

e
r
 t

h
e 

se
c
u

r
it

ie
s 

la
w

s 
o

f 
a

n
y

 s
u

c
h

 j
u

r
is

d
ic

ti
o

n
. 

 

* Preliminary; subject to change 
 

 

 



†These CUSIP numbers have been assigned by CUSIP Global Services, which are managed by S&P Global Market Intelligence, a division of S&P Global Inc., and are included solely 

for the convenience of the Bondholders.  The Authority is not responsible for the selection or use of these CUSIP numbers, nor is any representation made as to their correctness on the 

Offered Bonds or as indicated herein. 

 

 

 

TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY 

Higher Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds 

Maturities, Amounts, Interest Rates, Yields, and CUSIP Numbers 

 

$___________* 2022 Series A  

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

* Preliminary; subject to change 

 

 

 



 

 

TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY 

Bill Lee, Governor, Chairman 

Jason E. Mumpower, Comptroller of the Treasury, Secretary 

Tre Hargett, Secretary of State 

David H. Lillard, Jr., State Treasurer 

Jim Bryson, Commissioner of Finance and Administration 

Randy Boyd, President of the University of Tennessee 

Dr. Flora Tydings, Chancellor of the Tennessee Board of Regents 

 

 

STAFF 

Sandra Thompson, Director, Division of State Government Finance, Assistant Secretary 

Sharon Schmucker, Manager, Division of State Government Finance 

Jacqueline Felland, Program Accountant, Division of State Government Finance 

Mark Graubner, Program Accountant, Division of State Government Finance 

 

 

BOND COUNSEL TO AUTHORITY 

Hawkins Delafield & Wood LLP, New York, New York 

 

 

AUTHORITY'S COUNSEL 

Attorney General and Reporter of the State of Tennessee, Nashville, Tennessee 

 

 

FINANCIAL ADVISOR 

PFM Financial Advisors LLC, Memphis, Tennessee 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 



 

 

This Official Statement does not constitute an offering of any security other than the Offered Bonds 

specifically offered hereby.  No dealer, broker or other person has been authorized by the Authority to give any 

information or to make any representation other than as contained in this Official Statement, and if given or 

made, such other information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorized by the 

Authority.  This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or a solici tation of an offer to buy, nor 

shall there be any sale of, the Offered Bonds by any person in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful to make 

such offer, solicitation or sale. 

Certain information set forth herein has been provided by the Authority.  Certa in other information set 

forth herein has been obtained by the Authority from sources believed to be reliable, but it is not guaranteed as 

to accuracy or completeness, and is not to be construed as a representation, by the Underwriters.  The information 

and expressions of opinion herein are subject to change without notice, and neither the delivery of this Official 

Statement nor any sale made hereunder shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has 

been no change in the affairs of the Authority since the date hereof.  The Underwriters have provided the 

following sentence for inclusion in this Official Statement:  The Underwriters have reviewed the information in 

this Official Statement in accordance with, and as a part of, their respec tive responsibilities to investors under 

the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and circumstances of this transaction, but the Underwriters do 

not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information. In making an investment decision, investors 

must rely on their own examination of the Authority and the terms of the offering, including the merits and risks 

involved. 

The prices and other terms respecting the offering and sale of the Offered Bonds may be changed from 

time to time by the Underwriters after such Offered Bonds are released for sale, and the Offered Bonds may be 

offered and sold at prices other than the initial offering prices, including sales to dealers who may sell the Offered 

Bonds into investment accounts. 

 IN CONNECTION WITH THIS OFFERING, THE UNDERWRITERS MAY OVER-ALLOT OR EFFECT 

TRANSACTIONS THAT STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICES OF THE OFFERED BONDS AT A 

LEVEL ABOVE THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN THE OPEN MARKET.  SUCH STABILIZING, 

IF COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT ANY TIME. 

 NO REGISTRATION STATEMENT RELATING TO THE OFFERED BONDS HAS BEEN FILED WITH THE 

SECURITIES EXCHANGE COMMISSION (THE "SEC") OR ANY STATE SECURITIES AGENCY.  THE OFFERED 

BONDS HAVE NOT BEEN APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED BY THE SEC OR ANY STATE SECURITIES AGENCY, 

NOR HAS THE SEC OR ANY STATE SECURITIES AGENCY PASSED UPON THE ACCURACY OR ADEQUACY 

OF THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT.  ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY MAY BE A CRIMINAL 

OFFENSE. 

In making an investment decision, investors must rely on their own examination of the Authority and 

the terms of the offering, including the merits and risks involved.  

 

 



 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

 

INTRODUCTION ............................................................................ 1 
PURPOSES OF THE OFFERED BONDS ....................................... 2 

Plan of Refunding and Application of Offered Bond Proceeds .. 2 
Sources and Uses of Funds for the Offered Bonds ..................... 3 
Refunding Trust Agreement and Verification Error! Bookmark 

not defined. 
DESCRIPTION OF THE OFFERED BONDS ................................. 3 

General ....................................................................................... 3 
Fiduciaries .................................................................................. 3 
Redemption ................................................................................ 3 

SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS 5 
Financing Agreements ................................................................ 6 
Annual Financing Charges; Fees and Charges ........................... 6 
Legislative Appropriations ......................................................... 7 
Statutory Covenant ..................................................................... 7 
Flow of Funds ............................................................................ 7 
Debt Service Reserve Fund ........................................................ 8 
Additional Bonds ........................................................................ 8 
Qualified Swaps ......................................................................... 9 
Subordinated Obligations; Revolving Credit Loans ................. 10 
Certain State Law Bondowner Remedies ................................. 10 
Termination of Existence ......................................................... 10 
2013 Amendments to the Act, the Resolution and the Financing 

Agreements .............................................................................. 10 
THE AUTHORITY ........................................................................ 11 

Membership of the Authority ................................................... 12 
Outstanding Indebtedness of the Authority .............................. 12 

TENNESSEE PUBLIC HIGHER EDUCATION .......................... 13 
General ..................................................................................... 13 
Capital Projects ........................................................................ 14 
Tennessee Promise ................................................................... 14 
Tennessee Reconnect ............................................................... 14 
Outcomes-Based Funding ........................................................ 14 
Employee Retirement Benefits ................................................ 15 
Other Post-Employment Benefits ............................................ 17 
Impact of COVID-19 ............................................................... 17 
Cybersecurity ........................................................................... 20 

REVIEW AND APPROVAL PROCESS FOR FINANCING OF 

PROJECTS BY AUTHORITY............................................. 20 
RATINGS ...................................................................................... 21 
LITIGATION ................................................................................. 21 
TAX MATTERS ............................................................................ 21 

Federal Tax Matters ................................................................. 21 
State of Tennessee Tax Matters ............................................... 22 

FINANCIAL ADVISOR ................................................................ 23 
VERIFICATION AGENT ............... ERROR! BOOKMARK NOT 

DEFINED. 
LEGAL OPINIONS ....................................................................... 23 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION; CONTINUING DISCLOSURE

 .............................................................................................. 23 
UNDERWRITING ....... ERROR! BOOKMARK NOT DEFINED. 
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS ...................................... 24 
MISCELLANEOUS ...................................................................... 24 

 

 

APPENDIX A: FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE AUTHORITY ...................................................................................... A-1 

APPENDIX B: TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY SELECTED STATISTICAL INFORMATION ......... B-1 

APPENDIX C: GLOSSARY OF CERTAIN TERMS .................................................................................................................. C-1 

APPENDIX D: SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE FINANCING AGREEMENTS ....................................... D-1 

APPENDIX E: SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTION ................................................................ E-1 

APPENDIX F: BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM ........................................................................................................................ F-1 

APPENDIX G: SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING ........ G-1 

APPENDIX H: FORM OF PROPOSED OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL ................................................................................ H-1 

 

  



 

  

 

[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 

 

 

 



 

1 

OFFICIAL STATEMENT 

 

$___________* 

TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY 

HIGHER EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES 

SECOND PROGRAM BONDS 

2022 SERIES A  

 

 

INTRODUCTION 

The purpose of this Official Statement (including the cover and inside cover pages hereof and the Appendices hereto) 

is to set forth information concerning (i) the Tennessee State School Bond Authority (the “Authority”), (ii) the Board of 

Trustees of The University of Tennessee (the “Board of Trustees”), (iii) the Tennessee Board of Regents of the State 

University and Community College System of the State of Tennessee (the “Board of Regents”), (iv) the Institutions (as 

defined below), and (v) the Authority's $___________ aggregate principal amount of Higher Educational Facilities Second 

Program Bonds, 2022 Series A (the “Offered Bonds”). The Board of Trustees and the Board of Regents are referred to 

collectively as the “Boards.”  “Institutions” consist of (i) the University of Tennessee system, including all of its branches 

and divisions wherever located, and the services, programs and activities provided therein, and the Board of Trustees, in the 

aggregate, and (ii) the State University and Community College System, including all of its constituent institutions, wherever 

located (whether or not conferring degrees), and the services, programs and activities proved therein, and t he Board of 

Regents, in the aggregate.  For further information regarding the Boards and Institutions see “TENNESSEE PUBLIC 

HIGHER EDUCATION – General.” 

The capitalization of any word not conventionally capitalized and not otherwise defined herein indicate s that such 

word is defined in the Glossary of Certain Terms attached hereto as Appendix C, in the Resolution (as defined herein), or in 

the Financing Agreements (as defined herein). 

The Offered Bonds will be issued pursuant to the Tennessee State School Bond Authority Act, as amended, Sections 

49-3-1201 et seq., Tennessee Code Annotated (the “Act”); the Higher Educational Facilities Second Program General Bond 

Resolution adopted by the Authority on April 27, 1998, as amended July 26, 2004, and May 9, 2013, authorizing the issuance 

thereunder from time to time of Higher Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds (the “Bonds”) ; and a Supplemental 

Resolution adopted by the Authority on January 25, 2021, authorizing and providing for the issuance of the Offered Bonds 

(such General Bond Resolution as amended and supplemented from time to time, including by such Supplemental Resolution, 

the “Resolution”). For a “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTION”, see Appendix E. 

The Act empowers the Authority, among other things, to issue its bonds and notes to obtain funds, or to refund its 

bonds or notes issued to obtain funds, to finance higher education facilities (as defined in Appendix C, the “Projects”)  for the 

purposes of the Institutions and the Boards.   

Proceeds of the Offered Bonds will be used to prepay the pincipal portion of the loans (the “Revolving Credit Loans”) 

outstanding under a Ammended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement dated June 2, 2021, by and among the Authority, 

Wells Fargo Bank, Nashional Association, as Bank, and U.S. Bank National Association as Administrative Agent and as 

Bank (the “Revolving Credit Agreement”) with respect to certain Projects and to finance additional costs of certain of such 

Projects and costs of other Prjects.  For a description of the Revolving Credit Agreement, see “SECURITY AND SOURCES 

OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS – Subordinated Obligations; Revolving Credit Agreement.”  The remaining proceeds will 

be applied as described in “PURPOSES OF THE OFFERED BONDS –Application of the Offered Bond Proceeds.” 

The Offered Bonds will be payable and secured under the Resolution on a parity with all other Bonds heretofore and 

hereafter issued pursuant to the Act and the Resolution, except as described herein with respect to the Debt Service Reserve 

Fund or otherwise as permitted by the Resolution.  Currently, the aggregate principal amount of Bonds which may be issued 

under the Resolution is not limited by law or the Resolution.  As of June 30, 2022, $1,582,170 (unaudited) aggregate principal 

amount of Bonds was outstanding, excluding the Offered Bonds.  In addition, as of June 30. 2022, the Authority had 

$152,660,690 (unaudited) aggregate principal amount of the Revolving Credit Loans outstanding, which included 

$14,243,864 not yet allocated to Institutions.  See “THE AUTHORITY – Outstanding Indebtedness of the Authority .” 

  

* Preliminary; subject to change 
 

 

 



 

2 

The Bonds, including the Offered Bonds, constitute special obligations of the Authority.  The principal, Sinking 

Fund Installments, if any, and Redemption Price of and interest on the Bonds shall be payable solely from and secured by the 

Annual Financing Charges, Legislative Appropriations and other moneys and securities held or set aside under the Resolution, 

subject to the application thereof to the purposes and on the conditions permitted by the Resolution.   

The Authority and each Board have entered into a separate Second Program Financing Agreement dated as of 

November 1, 1997, as amended (each, a “Financing Agreement”).   The Financing Agreements obligate the Authority to use 

its best efforts to finance Projects for the respective Boards under certain terms and conditions.  Annual Financing Charges 

payable with respect to a Project (including debt service on the portion of the Bonds issued for that Project) are required 

under the Financing Agreements to be paid by the Boards, as and when the same become due, only from Fees and Charges 

collected by or on behalf of the Institution for which the project was financed and, if necessary, from Legislative 

Appropriations for the operation and maintenance of such Institution as described herein.  See “SECURITY FOR THE 

PAYMENT OF THE BONDS – Annual Financing Charges; Fees and Charges” and “– Legislative Appropriations.”  Under 

each Financing Agreement, the relevant Board covenants and agrees to establish and collect Fees and Charges at each 

Institution at a level sufficient to produce in each Fiscal Year no less than two times the amount required for the payment of 

the aggregate (without duplication) of (i) all Annual Financing Charges in such Fiscal Year payable with respect to all Projects 

for the Institution, plus (ii) the aggregate of all prior charges, pledges, liens and claims on or payable from said Fees and 

Charges in such Fiscal Year with respect to the Institution. 

The Offered Bonds are not currently secured by any debt service reserve and the Authority has no present intent to 

fund such a reserve at a later date.  See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS – Debt Service 

Reserve Fund.” 

The Financing Agreements and the Resolution constitute the second and only presently available Authority loan 

program for the Boards. 

For a summary of the provisions of the Financing Agreements, see Appendix D – “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN 

PROVISIONS OF THE FINANCING AGREEMENTS.”  For a discussion regarding the security and sources of payment for 

the Offered Bonds, see “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS.”      

PURPOSES OF THE OFFERED BONDS 

Application of the Offered Bond Proceeds 

The Offered Bonds are being issued for the purposes of (i) prepaying the principal of a portion of the outstanding 

Revolving Credit Loans with respect to tcertain Projects identified below, (ii) financing additional costs of certain of such 

Projects and costs of certain other Projects identified below,  and (iii) funding costs of issuance of the Offered Bonds.   

The following table show the Projects to be financed and refinanced with the proceeds of the 2022A Bonds and the 

principal amount (exclding cots of issuance, original issue discount or premium, capitalized interest, and underwriters’ 

discount) of the 2022A Bonds for each Project: 

 

  

 

  

Institution Project Amount

Tennessee State University New Student Housing  $    75,200,000 

Middle Tennessee State University

Total 75,200,000$    



 

3 

  

Sources and Uses of Funds for the Offered Bonds 

The sources and application of funds in connection with the issuance of the Offered Bonds are as follows: 

  

DESCRIPTION OF THE OFFERED BONDS 

General 

The Offered Bonds will be dated the date of their delivery and will mature at the times and in the principal amounts 

as set forth on the inside cover page hereof.  Interest on the Offered Bonds will be payable semi-annually on May 1 and 

November 1, commencing November 1, 2021.  The Offered Bonds will be offered in authorized denominations of $5,000 or 

integral multiples thereof. 

Upon initial issuance, the Offered Bonds will be available only in book-entry form.  The Depository Trust Company, 

New York, New York (“DTC”) will act as initial securities depository for the Offered Bonds and the ownership of one fully 

registered bond for each maturity of the Offered Bonds in the aggregate principal amount of that maturity will be registered 

in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, and deposited with DTC.  Beneficial owners of Offered Bonds will not 

receive physical delivery of bond certificates except under limited circumstances.  See Appendix F - “BOOK-ENTRY ONLY 

SYSTEM” for a description of DTC and its book-entry only system. 

Fiduciaries 

Regions Bank, Nashville, Tennessee, is the Trustee under the Resolution and the Paying Agent and Registrar for the 

Offered Bonds. 

Redemption 

Optional Redemption – Offered Bonds.  Bonds maturing on or after November 1, 2032, are subject to redemption 

prior to their stated maturities from any available moneys, at any time on and after November 1 , 2031, as a whole, or in part 

from time to time in any order of maturity determined by the Authority, at a Redemption Price equal to the principal amount 

of such Offered Bonds or portions thereof to be redeemed, together with the interest accrued on such principal amount to the 

date fixed for redemption. 

Prior to November 1, 20__*, the Offered Bonds are subject to redemption prior to their stated maturities at the option 

of the Authority, at any time as a whole, or in part from time to time in any order of maturity as determined by the Authorit y, 

at a Redemption Price equal to the Make-Whole Redemption Price (as defined below). 

The “Make-Whole Redemption Price” of any Offered Bonds to be redeemed is an amount equal to the greater of (i) 

100% of the principal amount of such Offered Bonds or (ii) the sum of the present value of the remaining scheduled payments 

of principal and interest to the maturity date of such Offered Bonds not including any portion of those payments of interest 

accrued and unpaid as of the date on which such Offered Bonds are to be redeemed, discounted on a semiannual basis to the 

date on which such Offered Bonds are to be redeemed, assuming a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months, at the 

Treasury Rate (as defined below) plus the Applicable Spread (defined below), plus, in each case, accrued and unpaid interest 

on such Offered Bonds on such redemption date. 

Offered Bonds

Sources of Funds:

Par Amount of Bonds

Original Issue (Discount) Premium

Total -$                      

Uses of Funds:

Project Construction Account (approx)

Loan Principal Prepayment (approx)

Capitalized Interest

Underwriters’ Discount

Costs of Issuance

Total -$                      

* Preliminary; subject to change 

 

 

 



 

4 

"Treasury Rate" means, with respect to any redemption date for any particular Offered Bond, the greater of:  

(i) the yield to maturity as of such redemption date of the United States Treasury securities with a constant maturity 

(as compiled and published in the most recent Federal Reserve Statistical Release H.15 (519) that has become 

publicly available at least two business days prior to, but no more than 45 calendar days prior to, the redemption 

date (excluding inflation indexed securities) (or, if such Statistical Release is no longer published, any publicly 

available source of similar market data)) most nearly equal to the period from the redemption date to maturity; 

provided, however, that if the period from the redemption date to maturity is less than one year, the weekly average 

yield on actually traded United States Treasury securities adjusted to a constant maturity of one year will be used; 

or   

 (ii) the rate per annum, expressed as a percentage of the principal amount, equal to the semiannual equivalent yield 

to maturity or interpolated maturity of the Comparable Treasury Issue (defined below), assuming that the 

Comparable Treasury Issue is purchased on the redemption date for a price equal to the Comparable Treasury Price 

(defined below), as calculated by the Designated Investment Banker (defined below). 

“Comparable Treasury Issue” means, with respect to any redemption date for a particular Offered Bond, the United 

States Treasury security or securities selected by the Designated Investment Banker that has an actual or interpolated maturi ty 

comparable to the remaining average life of the Offered Bond to be redeemed.  

“Comparable Treasury Price” means, with respect to any redemption date for a particular Offered Bond, (i) if the 

Designated Investment Banker receives at least four Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations (defined below), the average of 

such quotations for such redemption date, after excluding the highest and lowest Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations , or 

(ii) if the Designated Investment Banker obtains fewer than four Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations, the average of all 

such quotations.  

"Designated Investment Banker" means one of the Reference Treasury Dealers (as defined below) appointed by the 

Authority.  

"Reference Treasury Dealer" means each of four firms specified by the Authority from time to time, which firms 

shall be primary United States government securities dealers in the City of New York (each a “Primary Treasury Dealer”); 

provided, however, that if any of them ceases to be a Primary Treasury Dealer, the Authority will substitute another Primary 

Treasury Dealer.  

"Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations" means, with respect to each Reference Treasury Dealer and any redemption 

date for a particular Offered Bond, the average, as determined by the Designated Investment Banker, of the bid and asked 

prices for the Comparable Treasury Issue (expressed in each case as a percentage of its principal amount) quoted in writing 

to the Designated Investment Banker by such Reference Treasury Dealer at 3:30 P.M., New York City time, at least two 

business days prior to, but no more than 45 calendar days prior to, such redemption date .    

Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption.  The Offered Bonds maturing on November 1, ____, are Term Bonds subject 

to redemption in part on November 1 in each of the years and in the respective principal amounts set forth below at a 

Redemption Price equal to the principal amount or portion thereof to be redeemed, together with the i nterest accrued thereon 

to the date fixed for redemption, from Sinking Fund Installments which are required to be accumulated in the Debt Service 

Fund in amounts sufficient to redeem on November 1 of each year shown below the principal amount of such Offer ed Bonds 

specified for such year:  

 

  

Year Principal Amount

-$                    



 

5 

Selection of Offered Bonds to be Redeemed. If less than all of the Offered Bonds of a maturity are to be redeemed, 

the Offered Bonds of such maturity shall be redeemed pro rata as nearly as practicable in the proportion that the principal 

amount of the outstanding Offered Bonds of such maturity owned by each registered owner bears to the aggregate principal 

amount of the outstanding Offered Bonds of such maturity.  For so long as a book-entry only system is in effect and DTC or 

a successor securities repository is the sole registered owner of the Offered Bonds, in the event of a redemption of less than 

all of the Offered Bonds of a maturity, the particular ownership interests of the Offered Bonds of such maturity to be redeemed 

shall be selected by DTC and Direct DTC Participants and Indirect DTC Participants, or by any such successor repository or 

any other intermediary, in accordance with their respective operating rules and procedures.  To the extent practicable, the 

Paying Agent will request that DTC select the amount of such interests of Offered Bonds to be redeemed on a pro rata pass-

through distribution of principal basis in integral multiples of $5,000 in accordance with DTC procedures then in effect.  The 

Authority can provide no assurance that DTC or its successor, Direct DTC Participants and Indirect DTC Participants, or any 

successor repository or any other intermediary will allocate the redemption of Offered Bonds on such basis.  If, at the time 

of redemption of the Offered Bonds, either (i) the operational arrangements of DTC do not allow for the redemption of the 

Offered Bonds on a pro rata pass-through distribution of principal basis, or (ii) the Paying Agent has failed to notify DTC 

that the Offered Bonds to be redeemed are to be redeemed pursuant to DTC’s pro rata pass-through distribution of principal 

procedures, or has failed to furnish to DTC the factor to be applied by it in determining the pro rata allocation of the principal 

to be redeemed, then in each such case the Offered Bonds of such maturity to be redeemed may be selected in accordance 

with DTC operating rules and procedures, which currently provide for the redemption to be processed by random lottery.  

Any failure of DTC or its successor, or of a Direct DTC Participant or Indirect DTC Participant, or of any other intermediary , 

to make such selection or proportional allocation, for whatever reason, will not affect the sufficiency or the validity of the 

redemption of Offered Bonds.  See Appendix F- “BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM.” 

Notice of Redemption.  Notice of redemption is to be mailed not less than 30 days prior to the redemption date, to 

the Owner of each Offered Bond to be redeemed at the address that appears on the registration books, but failure to receive 

any such notice shall not affect the validity of the redemption proceedings.  Any notice of redemption may provide that such 

redemption is conditional on the availability of sufficient moneys to pay the Redemption Price, plus interest accrued and 

unpaid to the redemption date.   

For so long as a book-entry only system is in effect with respect to the Offered Bonds, the Registrar will give notice 

of redemption to DTC or its nominee or its successor.  See Appendix F- “BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM.”  Any failure of 

DTC or its successor, or of a Direct DTC Participant or Indirect DTC Participant,  or any other intermediary, to notify a 

beneficial owner of an Offered Bond of any redemption will not affect the sufficiency or the validity of the redemption of 

such Offered Bond.  Neither the Authority, nor the Trustee or Registrar, can give any assurance that DTC or its successor, 

the Direct DTC Participants or the Indirect DTC Participants, or any other intermediary, will distribute such redemption 

notices to the beneficial owners of the Offered Bonds, or that they will do so on a timely basis.  

SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS 

The Bonds, including the Offered Bonds, constitute special obligations of the Authority.  The principal, Sinking 

Fund Installments, if any, and Redemption Price of and interest on the Bonds shall be payable solely from the Annual 

Financing Charges, Legislative Appropriations and other moneys and securities held or set aside under the Resolution, subject 

to the application thereof to the purposes and on the conditions permitted by the Resolution.  The Annual Financing Charges 

and Legislative Appropriations, and all rights under the Financing Agreements or otherwise to receive the same, and all 

moneys and Investment Obligations credited to the Funds and Accounts established by the Resolution, are pledged for the 

payment of the principal, Sinking Fund Installments, if any, and Redemption Price of and interest on the Bonds in accordance 

with the Resolution, subject only to the provisions of the Resolution permitting the application thereof for the purposes and  

on the terms and conditions set forth in the Resolution.  All covenants and agreements set forth in the Resolution to be 

performed on behalf of the Authority shall be for the equal benefit, protection and security of the Owners of all of the Bond s, 

except as expressly provided in or permitted by the Resolution. The Authority has elected to establish a separate account 

in the Debt Service Reserve Fund solely for the Offered Bonds, with no current funding requirement. Accordingly, the 

Offered Bonds will not be secured by a funded debt service reserve.  See “Debt Service Reserve Fund” below. 

The definition of "Institution" contained in the Act was amended by Chapter 174, Public Laws of 2013  and, the 

definitions of "Institution" contained in the Resolution and in the Financing Agreements with the Board of Regents and the 

Board of Trustees, respectively, relating to that definition, have been amended accordingly. These amendments apply to all 

of the Authority’s currently outstanding Higher Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds as well as those to be issued 

(including the Offered Bonds).  See "SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS - 2013 Amendments 

to the Act, the Resolution and the Financing Agreements", Appendix C - "GLOSSARY OF CERTAIN TERMS", Appendix 



 

6 

D - "SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE FINANCING AGREEMENTS - Amendment", and Appendix E - 

“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTION - Supplemental Resolution; Amendments" (clause (8) 

of the first paragraph). 

 THE OFFERED BONDS ARE SPECIAL OBLIGATIONS OF THE AUTHORITY PAYABLE SOLELY FROM THE 

SOURCES PROVIDED IN THE RESOLUTION AND NEITHER THE FAITH AND CREDIT NOR THE TAXING POWER OF THE 

STATE, ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION OF THE STATE OR THE AUTHORITY IS PLEDGED TO THE PAYMENT OF THE 

PRINCIPAL OR REDEMPTION PRICE OF, OR INTEREST ON, THE OFFERED BONDS.  

 THE AUTHORITY HAS NO TAXING POWER. 

Financing Agreements 

The Authority and each Board have entered into a Financing Agreement.  The Financing Agreements obligate the 

Authority to use its best efforts to finance Projects for the respective Boards under certain terms and conditions.  The 

Financing Agreements also obligate the Boards to pay to the Authority Annual Financing Charges sufficient, among other 

things, to provide for the payment of debt service on the Bonds.  Annual Financing Charges payable with respect to a Project 

are required to be paid by the Board only from Fees and Charges of the Institution for which the project was financed.  The 

Boards are required to establish and collect fees and charges at the Institution at a level sufficient to produce in each Fiscal 

Year not less than two times the amount required for the payment of, among other things, all Annual Financing Charges 

payable in such Fiscal Year with respect to all Projects for the Inst itution.  The Annual Financing Charges required of the 

Institution also are payable, if necessary, from Legislative Appropriations for the operation and maintenance of the Institution.  

See “Legislative Appropriations” below. 

Annual Financing Charges; Fees and Charges 

The Financing Agreements require that as long as any Debt (including the Offered Bonds) remains outstanding for 

any Project, Annual Financing Charges shall be established and revised by the Authority from time to time in such amounts, 

payable at such times, as shall at all times be sufficient to enable the Authority to (i) pay the principal of and premium, if 

any, and interest on such Debt as and when the same become due and payable, (ii) pay or replenish reserves therefor as and 

when required by the Resolution, and (iii) make any other payments required to be made by or on behalf of the Authority 

under or pursuant to the Resolution. 

The Boards are required by the Financing Agreements to pay to the Authority all Annual Financing Charges in such 

amounts, at such times, in such manner and at such places as shall be specified in writing from time to time by the Authority .  

It is the current policy of the Authority that the Boards make payments to the Authority at least 5 days prior to their respective 

due dates.   This policy may be changed by the Authority in a manner consistent with the immediately preceding sentence 

and paragraph.  Under the Financing Agreements, the obligation of the Boards to pay Annual Financing Charges is absolute 

and unconditional, and Annual Financing Charges are required to be paid in full without set -off or counterclaim. 

The Boards covenant and agree in the Financing Agreements to establish and collect Fees and Charges at each 

Institution at a level sufficient to produce in each Fiscal Year no less than two times the amount required for the payment of 

the aggregate (without duplication) of (i) all Annual Financing Charges in such Fiscal Year payable with respect to all Projects 

for the Institution, plus (ii) the aggregate of all prior charges, pledges, liens and claims on or payable from said Fees and 

Charges in such Fiscal Year with respect to the Institution.   

Annual Financing Charges payable with respect to a Project (including debt service on the portion of the Bonds 

issued for that Project) are required under the Financing Agreements to be paid by the Boards, as and when the same become 

due, only from Fees and Charges of the Institution.  “Fees and Charges” means all  revenues, fees, rentals and other charges 

received by or on behalf of an Institution which are available to pay Annual Financing Charges.  See Appendix B – “TSSBA 

SELECTED STATISTICAL INFORMATION” for a description of the Institutions for which Projects are being financed with 

the proceeds of the Offered Bonds and for detail regarding each Institution’s historical statement of collection of Fees and 

Charges, as well as the debt service on Bonds attributable to such Institution.  

Each Institution’s total Fees and Charges and Legislative Appropriations (see “Legislative Appropriations” below) 

may be used to pay costs of operating and maintaining such Institution as well as the Annual Financing Charges.  Each Board 

may pledge, assign or otherwise use or encumber any Fees and Charges relating to an Institution to obligations of the 

Institution or of the Board in addition to the Bonds if the aggregate of the Fees and Charges collected by the Institution in the 

preceding Fiscal Year is no less than two times the amount required for the payment of the aggregate (without duplication) 

of (i) the maximum amount of the Annual Financing Charges payable and projected to be payable with respect to all Projects 

for the Institution in any succeeding Fiscal Year, plus (ii)  the aggregate of all prior charges, pledges, liens and claims on or 

payable from said Fees and Charges with respect to the Institution in any succeeding Fiscal Year.  



 

7 

The Financing Agreements also require that, in addition to Annual Financing Charges, the Authority may establish 

and revise from time to time, and the Boards shall apply Fees and Charges from their respective Institutions to pay fees 

(“Administrative Fees”) to compensate the Authority for costs relating to (i) the issuance and payment of Debt and (ii) the 

administration of the Financing Agreements and the Resolution. 

Legislative Appropriations  

In accordance with the Act, the Financing Agreements provide that if any Annual Financing Charges or 

Administrative Fees shall not be paid by a Board when due and payable with respect to a Project, or if the Board shall notify 

the Authority of any inability to make such payment from Fees and Charges, then the Board shall deduct from the amounts 

appropriated by the General Assembly of the State of Tennessee (the “General Assembly”) for the operation and maintenance 

of the respective Institution and pay to the Authority such amount or amounts as may be required to make the Board current 

with respect to the unpaid Annual Financing Charges and Administrative Fees.   The Boards also agree in the Financing 

Agreements that the Commissioner of Finance and Administration, or his successor, after notice from the Authority that the  

respective Board has failed to pay Annual Financing Charges or Administrative Fees due and payable with respect to a Project, 

shall, to the extent permitted by law, deduct from the amounts appropriated by the General Assembly for the operation and 

maintenance of the respective Institution the amount or amounts as may be required to make the Board current with respect 

to the unpaid Annual Financing Charges and Administrative Fees.  The Authority has established and tested detailed 

procedures for ensuring that these deductions will be made in a manner that ensures the timely payment of debt service.   It 

has not been necessary, to date, to utilize these procedures. 

A significant source of funding for the State's public institutions of higher education has been and continues to be 

annual appropriations made by the General Assembly.  See “Statement of Fees/Charges, Legislative Appropriations and Debt 

Service for the Last Ten Years” in Appendix B and “TENNESSEE PUBLIC HIGHER EDUCATION.”  However, the General 

Assembly is under no obligation to continue to make appropriations for the operation and maintenan ce of any Institution or 

of the Institutions generally, or to do so in any particular amount.  See, however, “Additional Bonds” and “Statutory 

Covenant” below.  The State of Tennessee (or “State”) is not liable on the Bonds and the Bonds are not a debt of the State.  

Under the State Constitution, public money may be expended only pursuant to an appropriation made by law.  Such 

expenditures include, but are not limited to, funding any judgment in the Tennessee Claims Commission  as discussed below 

under - “Certain State Law Bondowner Remedies.”  The General Assembly in 2001 confirmed that the earnings, revenues, 

and assets of the Authority are continuously appropriated for expenditures authorized by or pursuant to the Act, which 

includes debt service on Second Program Bonds and Revolving Credit Loans.  That legislation also confirmed that the 

earnings, revenues or other assets of any public higher education entity whose contracts or agreements support the payment 

of the Authority’s debt service are continuously appropriated for expenditures in accordance with or pursuant to such contracts 

or agreements which include the Financing Agreements.  The Authority can provide no assurance as to the continuation of 

these continuing appropriations. 

Statutory Covenant 

In accordance with the provisions of the Act, the Authority, on behalf of the State, in the Resolution pledges to and 

agrees with the Owners of the Bonds that the State will not limit or alter the rights vested by the Act in the Authority to f ulfill 

the terms of any agreements made with Bond Owners, or in any way impair the rights and remedies of such Owners until the 

Bonds, together with the interest thereon, with interest on any unpaid installments of interest, and all costs and expenses i n 

connection with any action or proceeding by or on behalf of such Owners, are fully met and discharged. 

Flow of Funds 

All Annual Financing Charges and Legislative Appropriations held or collected by the Authority are required by the 

Resolution to be deposited to the General Fund established under the Resolution, which shall be held by the State Treasurer 

or, at the direction of the State Treasurer, a separate custodian.   However, in lieu of such deposit, the Authority may direct 

and cause any Board to transmit directly to the Trustee any amount of Annual Financing Charges and Legislative 

Appropriations payable by such Board that is required to be transferred by the Authority to the Trustee in the amounts and 

by the times required for purposes of the Debt Service Fund or Debt Service Reserve Fund.   

All moneys credited to the General Fund shall be applied by the Authority in the following manner and order:  

First, the Authority shall transfer to the Debt Service Fund such sums as are required to be deposited therein under 

the Resolution after giving effect to any such direct deposit; and 

Second, the Authority shall transfer to the Debt Service Reserve Fund such sums as are required to be deposited 

therein pursuant to the Resolution after giving effect to any such direct deposit; provided, however, that no transfer shall be 



 

8 

required prior to the date required, notwithstanding that as a result, lower priority transfers (described in the following 

paragraph) may be made at any time prior to higher priority transfers that could be but are not required to be made at the sa me 

time. 

Any moneys credited to the General Fund in any month and not applied in such month, or required or otherwise 

expected to be applied thereafter in such month or in the next succeeding month, may be used for any lawful purpose of the 

Authority including, but not limited to, the payment of the principal of and premium, if any, and interest on Subordinated 

Obligations, the establishment of reserves for such payment, the payment or reimbursement of Administrative Expenses of 

the Authority, or the purchase or redemption of Bonds or Subordinated Obligations. 

The Debt Service Fund shall be held by the Trustee or at the option of the Authority, unless there shall exist an Event 

of Default, by the State Treasurer or, at the direction of the State Treasurer, a separate custodian; it is currently being held by 

the Trustee.  Moneys credited to the Debt Service Fund shall be deposited in the following amounts and order of priority, 

except that deposits from excess Construction Fund moneys shall be applied as directed by the Authority:  

First, at least one Business Day prior to each interest payment date, there shall be deposited in the Debt Service Fund 

an amount equal to, and which shall be applied to the payment of, the interest becoming due on the Outstandi ng Bonds on 

such interest payment date; 

Second, at least one Business Day prior to each principal payment date, there shall be deposited in the Debt Service 

Fund an amount equal to, and which shall be applied to the payment of, the principal amount of Bonds (including the principal 

amount of any Put Bonds tendered for payment by the Authority and not purchased in lieu of redemption prior to the 

redemption date thereof) of the Outstanding Serial Bonds becoming due on such principal payment date; and  

Third, at least one Business Day prior to each Sinking Fund Payment Date for the Term Bonds, there shall be 

deposited in the Debt Service Fund an amount equal to, and which shall be applied to the payment of, the Sinking Fund 

Installments becoming due upon the redemption of such Term Bonds on such Sinking Fund Payment Date.  

Debt Service Reserve Fund 

General 

The Resolution establishes a Debt Service Reserve Fund for the payment of all Series of Bonds, with a separate Debt 

Service Reserve Account therein for each Project financed, as described below.  The Resolution also permits the Authority 

to establish a separate account in the Debt Service Reserve Fund to be applied solely to the payment of a particular Series of 

Bonds and to establish the requirements for that separate account; however, there is no requirement that such separate account 

in the Debt Service Reserve Fund be funded.  Such separate account, if funded, would secure only the Series of Bonds for 

which it was created and the related Series of Bonds would not have access to any other accounts in the Debt Service Reserve 

Fund.  The Debt Service Reserve Fund shall be held by the Trustee or, at the option of the Authority, unless there shall exist 

an Event of Default, by the State Treasurer or, at the direction of the State Treasurer, a separate custodian .  It is currently 

being held by the Trustee. 

No Debt Service Reserve For the Offered Bonds and Certain Other Bonds 

The Authority has elected to establish a separate account in the Debt Service Reserve Fund solely for the 

Offered Bonds, with no current funding requirement. Accordingly, the Offered Bonds do not have a funded debt  

service reserve account.  Specifically, the Offered Bonds shall have no claim or lien on, nor shall any Offered Bonds be 

payable from, any accounts in the Debt Service Reserve Fund, except from the separate account established for the Offered 

Bonds to the extent that such account may be funded in the future, although the Authority is under no obligation to fund the 

accounts and has no present intent to provide such funding.  The Authority’s currently outstanding Higher Educational 

Facilities Second Program Bonds similarly have no funded debt service reserve accounts and requirements and the provisions 

of the preceding sentence apply to them as well.   

Additional Bonds 

Additional Bonds may be issued under the Resolution from time to time in Series, including refunding Outstanding 

Bonds, but only upon, among other things: 

1. Receipt by the Trustee and the Registrar of a Counsel's Opinion to the effect that (i)  the Authority has the 

right and power under the Act as amended to the date of such Opinion to adopt the Resolution (with such 

approvals as may be required by the Act as so amended), the Resolution has been duly and lawfully adopted 

by the Authority (and such approvals given), is in full force and effect and is valid and binding upon the 

Authority; (ii) the Resolution creates the valid pledge which it purports to create of the Annual Financing 



 

9 

Charges, Legislative Appropriations, and all rights under the Agreements or otherwise to receive the same, 

moneys and securities held or set aside under the Resolution, subject to the application thereof to the 

purposes and on the conditions permitted by the Resolution; and (iii)  the Bonds of such Series are valid and 

binding obligations of the Authority as provided in the Resolution, entitled to the benefits of the Resolution 

and of the Act as amended to the date of such Counsel's Opinion, and such Bonds have been duly and validly 

authorized and issued in accordance with the law, including the Act as amended to the date of such Counsel's 

Opinion, and in accordance with the Resolution. 

2. Receipt by the Trustee and the Registrar of a certificate of the Authority stating that:  

(a) the principal amount of the Bonds then to be issued, together with the principal amount of the Bonds 

theretofore issued, will not exceed in aggregate principal amount any limitation thereon imposed by 

law; 

(b)  the Authority is not in default in the performance of any other covenants, conditions, agreements or 

provisions contained in the Resolution, including but not limited to that there is no deficiency in the 

amounts required by the Resolution to be paid into the Debt Service Fund except, in the case of 

Refunding Bonds, if, upon the application of the proceeds of such Bonds or upon the issuance and 

delivery of such Bonds, all such defaults shall be cured; 

(c) the amount on deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Fund, upon the issuance and delivery of any such 

Series of Bonds, shall not be less than the Debt Service Reserve Requirement; 

(d) the Financing Agreements obligate the Boards to pay, in the aggregate, Annual Financing Charges with 

respect to Projects for which Bonds have been issued and the additional Bonds being issued sufficient 

in amount, together with capitalized interest, to pay as the same shall become due the principal, Sinking 

Fund Installments, if any, and Redemption Price, if applicable, of and interest on the Bonds then 

Outstanding and the additional Bonds being issued; and 

(e) the provisions of the Act authorizing the Boards to deduct from amounts appropriated by the General 

Assembly for the operation and maintenance of the Institution for which each Project is undertaken and 

pay to the Authority such amount or amounts as may be required to make up any deficiencies in the 

Fees and Charges and other moneys available for the purpose of paying Annual Financing Charges due 

the Authority have not been repealed or amended to the detriment of Bondowners.  

Additional Bonds are required to be authorized by Supplemental Resolution , which may delegate to authorized 

officers the power to determine, supplement, modify or amend specified details of such Bonds by means of a Series 

Certificate, which shall be filed with the Trustee and deemed for all purposes of the Resolution to have be en adopted by the 

Authority and to be a part of the Supplemental Resolution to which it relates.  

Additional Bonds may take the form of and have features incident to, among other things, Capital Appreciation 

Bonds, Variable Interest Rate Bonds, or Put Bonds, and in connection with the issuance of any Bonds the Authority may enter 

into Credit Facilities and Qualified Swaps.  For a description of certain related provisions that may be included in 

Supplemental Resolutions, see Appendix E - “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTION - Certain 

Provisions Relating to Credit Facilities, Qualified Swaps and Other Arrangements .” 

Qualified Swaps 

In connection with the issuance of a Series of Bonds or at any time thereafter so long as a Series of Bonds remains 

Outstanding, the Authority may, to the extent from time to time permitted pursuant to law, enter into Qualified Swaps relating 

to such Bonds. The Authority's obligation to make any payment under any Qualified Swap may be secured by a pledge of, 

and a lien on, the items pledged in the Resolution for the security of the Bonds on a parity with the lien created by the 

Resolution or be payable from or secured by amounts on deposit in the Debt Service Fund or Debt Service Reserve Fund, or 

shall constitute Subordinated Obligations payable from the General Fund, as determined by the Authority; provided, however, 

that any optional or mandatory termination payments shall constitute Subordinated Obligations.  If a Qualified Swap is 

payable from and/or secured by the Debt Service Fund and Debt Service Reserve Fund, the Authority may provide by 

Supplemental Resolution for a recalculation of the Debt Service Reserve Requirement for any Bonds to take into account the 

Authority's debt service payment obligations on such Bonds as affected by such Qualified Swap.  The Authority has not 

entered into any Qualified Swaps and has no current plans to do so. 

  



 

10 

Subordinated Obligations; Revolving Credit Loans 

Revolving Credit Loans under the Revolving Credit Agreement constitute Subordinated Obligations under the 

Resolution.  The Revolving Credit Agreement replaces the Authority’s Commercial Paper program, which has been 

terminated. 

The Revolving Credit Agreement permits loans thereunder (the “Revolving Credit Loans”) from time to time (and 

prepayments and reborrowings) in an aggregate principal amount outstanding at any time not to exceed $300,000,000 to fund 

Project Costs and certain other limited purposes.  Generally, the Revolving Credit Agreement is intended to provide interim 

financing in anticipation of the issuance of Bonds, although in some cases the Authority may retire loans from other availabl e 

sources.  The commitment of the Banks under the Revolving Credit Agreement to fund Revolving Credit Loans expires March 

18, 2021, unless that period is extended pursuant to the terms of the Revolving Credit Agreement (the “Commitment 

Expiration Date”).  Revolving Credit Loans outstand ing on the Commitment Expiration Date may be converted to term loans 

amortizing, in approximately equal principal installments, over a period ending with the earliest to occur of (i)  the third 

anniversary of the conversion, (ii) the date other debt is issued to repay the term loans, and (iii) with respect to any loan that 

has been converted to a term loan, the eighth anniversary of the original loan.  Revolving Credit Loans prior to conversion t o 

term loans bear interest at 70% of one-month LIBOR, plus a ratings-based spread, for tax-exempt loans, and at one-month 

LIBOR plus a ratings-based spread for taxable loans.  Term loans initially bear interest at a rate equal to the greatest of (i)  

the Administrative Agent’s prime rate plus 1%, (ii) the Federal Funds Rate plus 2% or (iii) 7%, for the first 180 days 

outstanding, and thereafter at such rate plus 1% (the “Base Rate”).  If the Authority’s long -term unenhanced Bond rating is 

reduced below the A-level, or in the event of an event of default, interest is payable at the Base Rate plus 3%.  Interest on the 

loans is payable monthly.  The banks under the Revolving Credit Agreement have several available remedies upon an event 

of default, including acceleration of loans.   

The availablitity of Revolving Credit Loans under theAmended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement expires 

on May 31, 2024.  The Authority is currently exploring alternatives for the continuation of interim financing of Project Costs 

and for the refinancing of existiting Revolving Credit Loans, including the issuance of Bonds or the temporary or permanent 

extension of the Revolving Credit Agreement. 

On June 30, 2022, the Authority had $152,660,690 (unaudited) aggregate principal amount of the Revolving Credit 

Loans outstanding, which includes $14,243,864 not yet allocated to Institutions.   

Certain State Law Bondowner Remedies 

The State has waived the Authority’s immunity from suit and extended its consent to be sued for actions on the 

Bonds, but has not done so for other contractual obligations of either the Authority or the Boards, including the Financing 

Agreements.  Current State law provides that monetary claims against the State (including, for  this purpose, the Authority 

and the Boards) for breach of its contractual obligations and certain other causes where sovereign immunity has been waived 

may be heard and determined exclusively in the forum of the Tennessee Claims Commission, an administrat ive tribunal, 

where the Authority or the Boards may be liable only for actual damages and certain costs.  

Under the State Constitution, public moneys may be expended only pursuant to an appropriation made by law.  

Sovereign immunity or other legal principles may bar actions to compel the General Assembly to appropriate moneys or to 

compel the payment of appropriated moneys. 

For a description of remedies available to Bondowners under the Resolution, see Appendix E – “SUMMARY OF 

CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTION – Remedies.” 

Termination of Existence 

The Governmental Entity Review Law provides for the termination of various governmental entities on specified 

dates, which in the case of the Authority and the Board of Regents is June 30, 2022, and in the case of the Board of Trustees 

is June 30, 2024.  The law also provides that if the General Assembly does not extend the termination date of an entity, the 

existence of the entity will continue for an additional year without any diminution, reduction or limitation of its powers.  

However, the State is required to preserve the rights of the holders of any outstanding indebtedness of the entity at the tim e 

of termination and the obligations and rights of such entity shall accrue to the State. 

2013 Amendments to the Act, the Resolution and the Financing Agreements 

Legislation was enacted by the General Assembly at its 2013 session and signed into law by the Governor (Chapter 

174, Public Laws of 2013) to amend the definition of “Institution” in the Act from “the University of Tennessee, including 

all of its branches and divisions wherever located, and each constituent institution of the state university and community 

college system described in § 49-8-101(a). Each constituent institution of the state university and community college system, 



 

11 

whether or not it confers degrees, shall be deemed an institution of higher education for purposes of this part;” to “(i) the  

University of Tennessee system, including all of its branches and divisions wherever located, and the services, programs and 

activities provided therein, and the board of trustees of the University of Tennessee, in the aggregate,  and (ii) the state 

university and community college system, including all of its constituent institutions, wherever located (whether or not 

conferring degrees), and the services, programs and activities provided therein, and the Board of Regents of the state 

university and community college system, in the aggregate.”  This has the effect of the State University and Community 

College System being treated for purposes of the Act as a collective entity in the same way the University of Tennessee 

system previously was, and will continue to be, treated.   

The definitions of “Institution” contained in the Resolution and in the Financing Agreement and other provisions of 

the Financing Agreement with the Board of Regents relating to that definition were amended accordingly, as permitted 

thereby, on May 9, 2013.  See Appendix D – “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE FINANCING 

AGREEMENTS – Amendment”; Appendix E – “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTION – 

Supplemental Resolution; Amendments” (clause (8) of the first paragraph) ; and “ADDITIONAL INFORMATION; 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE.” 

The amendments described above apply to all of the Authority’s currently outstanding Higher Educational Facilities 

Second Program Bonds as well as those to be issued (including the Offered Bonds).  One principal effect of the amendments 

is to allow the Board of Regents to satisfy its obligation to pay Annual Financing Charges to the Authority with respect to all 

Projects from the Fees and Charges imposed by all of its constituent institutions, in the aggregate, instead of on an institu tion-

by-institution basis as was previously the case.  Another is that the deductions and payments to the Authority from Legislative 

Appropriations for non-payment by the Board of Regents of Annual Financing Charges or Administrative Fees with respect 

to a Project could be made from appropriations made by the General Assembly for the operation and maintenance of all of 

the constituent institutions of the State University and Community College System, as was previously, and will continue to 

be, the case with respect to the University of Tennessee system, and not just from the appropriations for the operation and 

maintenance of the particular constituent institution for which such Project was undertaken or used.  Similarly, amounts 

appropriated for certain other services, programs and activities of both the Board of Regents and the Board of Trustees, and 

for the two Boards themselves, may be deducted and paid to the Authority in the event of non -payment under the respective 

Financing Agreements.  See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS – Legislative 

Appropriations.”  The amendments to the Financing Agreements also are expected to affect the eligibility of Projects for 

financing by the Authority as described in Appendix D – “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE FINANCING 

AGREEMENTS – Approval of Projects and Project Costs.” 

Included in “Coverage of Annual Financing Charges and Administrative Fees for the Long -Term Debt Secured By 

Financing Agreements – College and University Funds – For the Last Ten Years” in Appendix B is a calculation of coverage 

consistent with the amendments described above. 

THE AUTHORITY 

The Authority, created in 1965 under the Act, is a corporate governmental agency and instrumentality of the State. 

In addition to its authority to issue bonds and notes to finance Projects, the Authority in 1980 was empowered by the General 

Assembly to issue bonds or notes to provide funds for the making of student loans by the Tennessee Student Assistance 

Corporation.  The principal amounts of such bonds or notes issued may not exceed $5,000,000 and must be secured separate 

and apart from any bonds or notes of the Authority issued to provide funds to finance Projects.  As of the date of this Offic ial 

Statement, no bonds or notes have been issued for the making of student loans. 

In 1999, the General Assembly empowered the Authority to issue Qualified Zone Academy Bonds ( “QZABs”).  

QZABs are issued under the provisions of the Authority’s Qualified Zone Academy Bonds First Program Resolution, are not 

supported by either the First Program or Second Program Financing Agreements, and are not secured by either the First 

Program or Second Program General Bond Resolution. QZABs are part of a Federal government program in which, generally, 

a Federal income tax credit is given to investors in lieu of the payment of interest on the bonds.   

Under the QZAB program, loans with local governments are direct general obligations of the local government for 

the payment of which as to principal, the full faith and credit of the local government are pledged.  As additional security for 

the loans, there is also pledged the borrower’s unobligated portions of State taxes that are by statute to be shared with the 

local governments (“Unobligated State-Shared Taxes”).  Each borrower’s annual loan repayments are deposited into sinking 

fund accounts invested with the State Treasurer and, together with interest thereon, are held to be applied to the payment of  

principal of the QZABs at maturity or upon redemption.  As of June 30, 2022, all of the Authority’s outstanding QZAB bonds 

have matured or have been redeemed (unaudited). 



 

12 

The Authority is also authorized to issue qualified school construction bonds (“QSCBs”), as defined in Section 54F 

of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”).  QSCBs are issued under the provisions of the Authority’s 

Qualified School Construction Bonds General Bond Resolution, which was adopted by the Authority on November 5, 2009, 

as supplemented (the “QSCB Resolution”), are not supported by either the First Program or Second Program Financing 

Agreements, and are not secured by either the First Program or Second Program General Bond Resolution. The proceeds of 

QSCBs are lent to cities, counties and metropolitan governments in the State for construction, renovation and equipment of 

public school facilities.  Under the QSCB program, each borrower executes a loan agreement pursuant to which it agrees to 

pay the principal of and interest on its loan and pledges to such payments its full faith and credit and unlimited taxing power 

and its Unobligated State-Shared Taxes in the event of non-payment by such borrower. For certain of the QSCBs, a Federal 

income tax credit is given to bondholders in lieu of the payment of interest on bonds, and in certa in other QSCBs an election 

is made by the Authority to receive direct interest subsidy payments from the United States Treasury, which, if not needed to  

cure defaults under loan agreements with the borrowers, are transferred to them.   As of June 30, 2022, the total par amount 

of QSCBs outstanding was $389,440,000 (unaudited), and the book value of pledged sinking fund accounts totaled 

$___________ (unaudited). 

The Authority is also required to approve any borrowings consummated by  the Board of Trustees, by the Board of 

Regents or by any of the Institutions, whether such borrowings are made through the Authority or independently .   

Membership of the Authority 

The powers of the Authority, as defined in the Act, are vested in and exercised by its members who consist of the 

Governor, the Comptroller of the Treasury, the Secretary of State, the State Treasurer, the Commissioner of Finance and 

Administration, the Chancellor of the Board of Regents, and the President of The University of Tennessee.  The Governor 

serves as Chairman of the Authority, and the Comptroller of the Treasury serves as the Secretary.  

The Comptroller of the Treasury, the Secretary of State, and the State Treasurer are the Constitutional Officers of 

the State and are elected from time to time by the General Assembly.  The Commissioner of Finance and Administration 

serves at the pleasure of the Governor.  The Chancellor of the Board of Regents and the President of The University of 

Tennessee serve at the pleasure of their respective Boards.  

Outstanding Indebtedness of the Authority 

As of June 30, 2022 (unaudited), the Authority will have issued, and there will be outstanding under the Resolution, 

Bonds (excluding the Offered Bonds) as follows:  

 

There also are outstanding Revolving Credit Loans as described under “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT 

FOR THE BONDS – Subordinated Obligations; Revolving Credit Loans.” 

The Authority continually monitors its debt structure and capital requirements, and depending on such requirements, 

financial market conditions and other factors, may issue additional bonds or notes and may refund (whether or not for savings ) 

any of its outstanding bonds and notes.  For additional financial information concerning the Authority, see Appendix A hereto.  

Principal 

Outstanding

Higher Educational Facilities Second Program 

Bonds

(Unaudited)

2012 Series B (Federally Taxable)  $       60,875,000 

2013 Series A 3,695,000 

2014 Series A (Federally Taxable) 37,360,000 

2014 Refunding Series B 64,190,000 

2015 Series A (Federally Taxable) 40,605,000 

2015 Series B 106,980,000 

2017 Series A         226,065,000 

2017 Refunding Series B         124,225,000 

2017 Refunding Series C (Federally Taxable)           11,790,000 

2019 Series A         137,395,000 

2019 Series B (Federally Taxable)           55,625,000 

2021 Series A (Federally Taxable)         713,365,000 

Total Outstanding Second Program Bonds $  1,582,170,000 



 

13 

TENNESSEE PUBLIC HIGHER EDUCATION 

General 

Public higher education in Tennessee is coordinated by the Tennessee Higher Education Commission  (the 

“Commission”) and consists of eight boards:  The University of Tennessee system governed by the Board of Trustees and the 

State University and Community College system comprised of six state universities – Austin Peay State University, East 

Tennessee State University, Middle Tennessee State University, Tennessee State University, Tennessee Technological 

University, and University of Memphis (the “State Universities”)  – governed by individual State University boards (subject 

to certain financial controls by the Board of Regents as described below) and 40 community colleges and state colleges of 

applied technology (the “Community College System”) governed by the Board of Regents .  

The Commission consists of the three Constitutional Officers (Comptroller of the Treasury, Secretary of State, State 

Treasurer), six lay members with six year terms appointed by the Governor, one lay member with a six year term appointed 

by the Speaker of Tennessee House of Representatives, one lay member with a six yea r term appointed by the Speaker of 

Tennessee Senate, one lay member with a six year term appointed jointly by the Speaker of Tennessee House of 

Representatives and the Speaker of Tennessee Senate, and two student members appointed by the Govenor for two year terms 

(one from The University of Tennessee system and one not from The University of Tennessee system; one voting each year).  

It develops a statewide Master Plan used in making policy recommendations concerning such matters as the need for existing 

degree programs, the development of new degree programs, and the review of tuition and fees.  The Commission is charged 

with conducting annual reviews and licensing non-accredited, degree-offering postsecondary educational institutions; has the 

responsibility for studying the use of public funds appropriated for higher education ; and recommends the appropriation of 

state funds for public higher education institutions.   

The Boards have entered into Second Program Financing Agreements, by which the Authority p rovides funding for 

Projects.  See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS.”  

The University of Tennessee was founded in 1794 as Blount College.  The University was designated in 1869 as the 

Federal land-grant institution in Tennessee.  The Board of Trustees is the governing body of The University of Tennessee.  

The University has five main campuses (Knoxville, Martin, Chattanooga, South and Health Science Center), with 33 colleges, 

schools, and divisions, and together with the Board of Trustees cons titute a single “Institution” under the Act and the Board 

of Trustees’ Second Program Financing Agreement. 

The Board of Regents was created by the General Assembly in 1972. The Board of Regents governs the Community 

College System, which currently includes 13 community colleges and 27 colleges of applied technology (“CATs”).  

Institutions governed by the Board of Regents are: Chattanooga State Community College, Cleveland State Community 

College, Columbia State Community College, Dyersburg State Community College, Jackson State Community College, 

Motlow State Community College, Nashville State Community College, Northeast State Community College, Pellissippi 

State Community College, Roane State Community College, Southwest Tennessee Community College, Volunteer State 

Community College, and Walters State Community College, as well as the CATs located throughout the State.  

Prior to the FOCUS Act, 2016 Public Chapter 869, each of the State Universities were governed solely by the Board 

of Regents. Pursuant to the FOCUS Act, the State Universities are now governed by  their own individual State University 

boards subject to certain powers and duties of the Commission.  In addition, the Board of Regents has authority over and 

must give final approval to the State Universities’ operating budget.  Funds appropriated for the State Universities are first 

distributed to the Board of Regents, which then distributes the funds to the State Universities, minus any deductions required 

by the Second Program Financing Agreements. In addition, the Board of Regents retains all  powers and duties with respect 

to the State Universities (as well as the Community College System), including any  projects, which are necessary for the 

Board of Regents to fulfill its covenants, representations, agreements and obligations under the Second Program Financing 

Agreements.  The Board of Regents retains sole governance of the Community College System.  The State University and 

Community College System and the Board of Regents constitute a single “Institution” under the Act and the Board of Regents’ 

Second Program Financing Agreement. Pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated Title 49, Chapter 8, Section 203, none of the 

State Universities are authorized to borrow any monies, whether by bonds or notes, without approval of the Authority.  

For statements of outstanding debt by Institution, debt service coverage, fees and charges, appropriations and debt 

service by Institution, and certain other statistical information, see Appendix B hereto.   



 

14 

Capital Projects 

Capital projects that have been approved by the Authority (see “REVIEW AND APPROVAL PROCESS FOR 

FINANCING OF PROJECTS BY AUTHORITY” below) generally are funded initially by Revolving Credit Loans until they 

are at least approximately 75% complete, after which they are refinanced with Bonds, and occasionally are f inanced directly 

with Bonds.  As of June 30, 2022, projects authorized to be financed for the University of Tennessee system have a total cost 

of $242,908,000, of which $56,653,9158 had been funded with Revolving Credit Loans, and for the Tennessee Board of 

Regents system have a total cost of $191,911,398, of which $83,787,508 had been funded with Revolving Credit Loans.  The 

Governor’s budget for fiscal year 2022-2023 includes capital projects, as amended by the Appropriations Bill (Public Chapter 

453), to be funded by the Authority in the amount of $536,285,000, of which $497,912,000 is for the University of Tennessee 

system and $38,373,000 is for the Tennessee Board of Regents system.   

Tennessee Promise (to be updated) 

The Tennessee Promise is both a scholarship and mentoring program that  began with the high-school graduating 

Class of 2015.  The Tennessee Promise provides two years of tuition-free education at a community college or technical 

school in Tennessee as a last-dollar scholarship.  The last-dollar scholarship is an approach at the core of the Tennessee 

Promise that provides funding to cover tuition and mandatory fees not covered by any Pell grant, TN Education Lottery 

Scholarship programs, or Tennessee Student Assistance Awards. Students may use the scholarship at any of the State’s 13 

community colleges, 27 Tennessee Colleges of Applied Technology (TCATs), or other eligible institution offering an 

associate degree program; it is not available at any University of Tennessee System institution.  A critical component of 

Tennessee Promise is the individual guidance each participant will receive from a volunteer mentor who will assist the student 

as he or she navigates the college admissions process, regardless of the educational institution at which the student ultimat ely 

enrolls.  Tennessee Promise participants must complete eight hours of community service before th e start of each semester in 

which they receive the scholarship, maintain satisfactory academic progress (2.0 GPA), and file the Free Application for 

Federal Student Aid (“FAFSA”).   

The Tennessee Promise is funded from interest earnings from the endowment’s corpus, which was established with 

approximately $312.5 million from the Tennessee Education Lottery reserve and approximately $48.8 million from Tennessee 

Student Assistance Corporation’s operating fund and from annual net lottery proceeds (lottery revenues less lottery 

expenditures) all of which are deposited into a special reserve. The endowment cannot be used to fund awards but any amount 

from the special reserve, including interest earnings, can be used to fund the scholarships.  In part because of t he program’s 

last-dollar nature and lottery source of funding, Tennessee Promise is not expected to result in a material financial burden to 

the State University and Community College System or to adversely affect the Board of Regents financing of its capi tal 

project program through the Authority. 

Tennessee Reconnect (to be updated) 

Like the Tennessee Promise, Tennessee Reconnect is a last-dollar scholarship program which began with the 2018-

2019 academic year.  Tennessee Reconnect provides tuition-free education towards a certificate or associate degree at a 

community college or other eligible institution in Tennessee.  Tennessee Reconnect also provide s individual guidance for 

each participant through a college success program, which is designed to assist the student as he or she navigates the college 

admissions process, regardless of the educational institution at which the student ultimately enrolls.  Participation in 

Tennessee Reconnect  will be limited to students who, among other things, have been Tenne ssee residents for at least one 

year, are classified as independent students pursuant to FAFSA guidelines and who have not previously earned an associate 

or baccalaureate degree. 

Tennessee Reconnect is funded from lottery proceeds. The program is not expected to result in a material financial 

burden to the State University and Community College System or to adversely affect the Board of Regents financing of its 

capital project program through the Authority. 

Outcomes-Based Funding (to be updated) 

Legislative appropriations for higher education are based on an outcomes-based funding formula model that rewards 

institutions for the production of outcomes that further the educational attainment and productivity goals of the State’s Mas ter 

Plan for the future development of public higher education that has been approved by the Commission. This model was 

effective beginning with fiscal year 2010-2011 and was phased in over a three year period. The model underwent a thorough 

review in the summer of 2015, culminating in the implementation of the 2015-2020 outcomes-based funding formula.  A 

planned update to the formula in 2020 was postponed due to the COVID-19 pandemic, and the use of the 2015-2020 formula 

model was extended.  A thorough review of the formula and update are planned for 2021.  The 2015-2020 model is described 

below. 



 

15 

The outcomes were chosen to represent broad activities across institutions and are grouped into the categories of 

student progression, degree production, efficiency, and other important institutional functions.  The outcomes are weighted 

according to institutional mission, reflecting an institution’s basic Carnegie Classification (a major national framework for  

describing how institutions are alike and different) as a core differentiation.  

Outcomes Included in the University Formula 

Students Accumulating 30hrs Bachelor and Associate Degrees 

Students Accumulating 60hrs Masters and Ed Specialist Degrees 

Students Accumulating 90hrs Doctoral and Law Degrees 

Research, Service and Sponsored Programs 

Expenditures 

Degrees per 100 Full-time Equivalent (“FTE”) 

Six-Year Graduation Rate 

 

Outcomes Included in Community College Formula 

Students Accumulating 12hrs Dual Enrollment Students 

Students Accumulating 24hrs Associates Degrees 

Students Accumulating 36hrs Short- and Long-term Certificates 

Job Placements Transfers Out with 12 credits 

Work Force Training Hours Awards per 100 Full-time Equivalent (“FTE”) 

 

The outcomes-based model does not include student enrollment data at all. It instead utilizes a three-year average of 

outcome data. The outcome data is then weighted to reflect both the priority of that outcome at a particular institution and an 

institution’s Carnegie Classification. Institutions are also rewarded with a premium for the student progression and 

undergraduate degree production data attributable to low-income and/or adult students and universities and low-income, adult 

and/or academically underprepared students at communtiy colleges. Student progression measures the accumulation of credit 

hours, thereby incorporating course completions. 

The outcomes-based model provides more stability by spreading the financial incentives across more variables.  

Additionally, the institutional specific weights allow the State to be clear in its expectations, while not prescribing to 

institutions how to achieve higher levels of outcomes. Unlike performance funding, the outcomes based formula does not 

have annual targets or benchmarks. Therefore, institutions are not penalized for failure to achieve a predetermined annual 

target. 

Employee Retirement Benefits (to be updated) 

Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System - General 

Employees of the University of Tennessee and the Board of Regents are authorized to participate in the Tennessee 

Consolidated Retirement System (“TCRS”), a defined benefit pension plan, pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated Title 8, 

Chapter 35 except that employees exempt from the Federal Fair Labor Standards Act may wa ive membership in TCRS and 

elect to participate in the Optional Retirement Program (“ORP”), a defined contribution plan.  The general administration and 

responsibility for the proper operation of TCRS are vested in a twenty member Board of Trustees.   The Treasury Department, 

a constitutional office in the legislative branch of state government, is responsible for the administration of TCRS, includi ng 

the investment of assets in the plan, in accordance with state statute and in accordance with the policies, rules, and regulations 

established by the Board of Trustees. 

The TCRS covers three large groups of public employees; state employees and higher education employees, K -12 

teachers, and employees of certain local governments.  As of June 30, 2020, there were 59,797 active members in TCRS in 

the state and higher education employee group.  This total includes 18,465 employees of the University of Tennessee and the 

Board of Regents who are members of TCRS. 

The State is ultimately responsible for the financial obligations of the benefits provided by TCRS to state employees 

and higher education employees participating in the Legacy Pension Plan to the extent such obligations are not covered by 

employee contributions and investments earnings.  The obligation is funded by employer contributions as determined by an 

actuarial valuation.  The Hybrid Retirement Plan provided to state employees and higher education employees hired after 

June 30, 2014 includes provisions to control employer contributions and unfunded liabil ities.  As such, plan provisions of the 

Hybrid Retirement Plan are automatically adjusted when employer contributions and/or unfunded liabilities exceed statutory 

limits.  Employees hired on or before June 30, 2014 in the state and higher education group are noncontributory.  New 

employees hired on or after July 1, 2014 contribute 5% of salary.  



 

16 

By statute, an actuarial valuation of TCRS is to be conducted at least once in each two year period.   The purpose of 

the actuarial valuation is to determine the financial position of the plan pursuant to Governmental Accounting Standards 

Board Statement No. 68 (“GASB 68”) and to determine the actuarially determined contributions ( “ADC”).  Effective June 

30, 2015, the Board of Trustees adopted a funding policy whereby an actuarial valuation will be conducted annually to 

determine the ADC rate for participating employers and to determine the information required by GASB 68 to be presented 

in financial statements.  The actuarial valuation for June 30, 2015 and forward inc ludes both the determination of employer 

contribution rates and accounting information.   

The actuarially determined contribution rate includes funding for the normal cost, the accrued liability cost, and the 

TCRS administrative cost. 

Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System - Actuarial Valuation GASB 68 Financial Status  

An actuarial valuation was performed to determine the TCRS financial position in order to provide information 

related to Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) pronouncements.  At June 30, 2020, (measurement date of 

June 30, 2019), the net pension liability in the closed plan for the state and higher education employee group was $1.4 billion, 

resulting in plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of total pension liability of 91.67 %.  For the same period, the net 

pension asset in the open plan for the state and higher education employee group was $41.5 million, resulting in a funded 

ratio of 122.36%.  A measurement date of the previous fiscal year end is used for GASB 68 purposes.  

Pension Plan for Employees Hired on or before June 30, 2014 (Closed Plan) 

Employees enrolled in the pension plan on or before June 30, 2014 do not make contributions to the plan.  Eligibility 

to retire is age 60 or 30 years of service credit.  Certain death and disability benefits are available.  A member becomes vested 

after accruing 5 years of service credit.  Retirees are eligible for automatic cost of living increases each July based on ch anges 

in the customer price index (“CPI”) but capped at 3%. 

Higher education institutions are required to contribute at an actuarially determined contribution rate.  The employer 

contribution rates are developed with each actuarial valuation and are delayed by one year for budget purposes.  The June 30, 

2018 actuarial valuation provided the employer contribution rates for the period July 1, 2019 through June 30, 2020.  For the 

employees of Tennessee’s higher education institutions, the employer contribution rate for fiscal year 2020, stated as a 

percentage of salary was 19.66%.  For fiscal year 2021 the employer rate is 20.23%.  Previously, actuarial valuations were 

performed every two years.  Beginning June 30, 2015, the actuarial valuation will be performed annually for both accounting 

purposes and funding purposes.  The employer contribution requirements of the higher education institutions are established 

and may be amended by the TCRS Board of Trustees.   

Employees enrolled in the ORP pension plan on or before June 30, 2014 do not make contributions to the plan.  

Employer contributions to the ORP are 10% of salary up to the social security wage base and 11% of salary above the social 

security wage base.  Schedules of employer contribution rates and funding are shown below.  Additionally, state and higher 

education employees may participate on a voluntary basis in the state’s 401K deferred compensation plan and are eligible to 

receive up to a $50 monthly match from the employer. 

New Retirement Plan for Employees Hired on or after July 1, 2014 

As authorized by Public Chapter 259, Acts of 2013, employees first hired on or after July 1, 2014, participate in a 

hybrid pension plan consisting of a defined benefit plan and a defined contribution plan.  Employees contribute at 5% of 

salary to the defined benefit plan.  Employees contribute 2% of salary to the defined contribution plan unless the employee 

opts out of making such contribution.  The total employer cost for the two plans is limited to 9% of salary with 4% targeted 

to the defined benefit plan and 5% to the defined contribution plan.   Employees are also eligible to participate in the state’s 

401K deferred compensation plan and are eligible to receive up to a $50 monthly match from the employer.  

The benefit accrual formula under the defined benefit plan is 1%.  Eligibility to retire is age 65 or the rule of 90 

(where age and service equals 90).  Certain death and disability benefits are available.  A member becomes vested after 

accruing 5 years of service credit.  Retirees are eligible for automatic cost of living increases each July based on changes in 

the CPI but capped at 3%. 

There is a stabilization reserve created for any employer contributions that exceed the ADC rate that will be utilized 

to control cost and unfunded liabilities.  Federal government grant programs will only permit a reimbursement of the ADC. 

The defined benefit component of the hybrid plan has automatic cost controls and automatic controls over unfunded 

accrued liability.  The automatic controls are based on the results of the actuarial valuation.  Control features include utilizing 

funds in the stabilization reserve (if any), limiting retiree cost of living adjustments, shifting future employer contributi ons 



 

17 

from the defined contribution plan to the defined benefit plan, requiring additional employee contributions, and adjusting 

benefit accruals.  The control features only apply to the new hybrid plan and do not apply to the closed pension plan.  

Employees enrolled in the ORP pension plan on or after July 1, 2014 contribute 5% of salary with e mployers 

contributing 9% of salary. 

Summary of Employer Contributions for All Plans 

 

For each year above, contributions made by the University of Tennessee and the Tennessee Board of Regents 

institutions equal the ADC. 

Other Post-Employment Benefits (to be updated) 

GASB Statements (nos. 74 and 75) provide accounting and financial reporting requirements for retiree healthcare 

plans and employer participants, commonly known as Other Post-Employment Benefits (“OPEB”).  The latest actuarial 

valuation of the employee group OPEB plan (EGOP) is as of July 1, 2019, and includes OPEB costs attributable to the State 

and, separately, for certain of its component units (including the Boards) that are required to participate in the State reti rement 

and benefit plans.  The study, which used the entry age normal actuarial cost method, indicates for the fiscal year ended June 

30, 2020, the net OPEB liability of the University of Tennessee would be approximately $155,506,815, while the net OPEB 

liability of the State University and Community College System would be approximately $154,161,416.   The report may be 

viewed at Other Postemployment Benefits (tn.gov).  Each participating employer in the plan, including the Boards, will be 

charged for their share of current and future OPEB costs through an actuarially determined contribution rate.  

Historically, the State had not pre-funded any actuarially determined OPEB liability and instead used a pay-as-you-

go funding arrangement for actual costs of OPEB liabilities incurred. However, pursuant to Sections 9 -27-801, et seq. 

Tennessee Code Annotated, a trust (the “OPEB Trust”) was established and began operating effective January 1, 2019, 

whereby the State Employee Group Plan was converted to a prefunding arrangement where assets are accumulated in the 

OPEB Trust and benefit payments are made directly from the OPEB Trust. The State has the flexibility to adjust the benefits 

and premium sharing provisions provided by insurance plans and to adjust the various OPEB plan options and operations on 

an annual basis.  

The trustees (the “Trustees”) of the OPEB Trust are the Commissioner of Finance and Administration, the chair of 

the Finance, Ways and Means Committee for the Senate, the chair of the Finance, Ways and Means Committee for the House 

of Representatives, and the State Treasurer, in his capacity as chair of the board of TCRS.  

Impact of COVID-19 (to be updated)  

The worldwide spread of COVID-19, a respiratory illness caused by a novel strain of coronavirus, is a pandemic that 

has affected the entire world, including the State, and is considered by the World Health Organization to be a Public Health 

Emergency of International Concern.  The Governor of the State issued a state of emergency for the State in mid -March 2020 

in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.  The spread of COVID-19 has led to quarantine and other "social distancing" 

measures throughout the United States, including the State.  These measures have included, from to time, (i) the closure of 

or limits on operations and capacity at educational, governmental, office, commercial and industrial buildings and facilities, 

(ii) the postponement or cancellation of large-scale gatherings, such as conventions and sporting events and (iii) 

recommendations and warnings to limit nonessential travel and promote remote work and learning.  In response to the 

https://www.tn.gov/finance/rd-doa/opeb22121.html


 

18 

pandemic, some or all of the Institutions have offered classes and other student services, from time to time, virtually, in -

person and/or via a hybrid structure of remote and in-person offerings.  Additionally, some or all of the Institutions’ residence 

halls are operating at reduced capacity, and many extracurricular student activities have been limited, postponed or canceled .  

The State continues to be under a state of emergency, and the Governor of the State may continue to issue  executive orders 

to facilitate continued response to the COVID-19 pandemic.  As of January 22, 2021, the State Department of Health reported 

over 700,000 confirmed cases of COVID-19 in the State and over 8,700 deaths. 

Multiple vaccines for the virus that causes COVID-19 were developed in late 2020.  To date, two vaccines have been 

approved for distribution in the United States with both of these vaccines having an efficacy rate exceeding 90%.  Although 

multiple variants of the virus that causes COVID-19 have been documented in the United States and globally, studies so far 

suggest that antibodies generated through vaccination with authorized vaccines recognize these variants  to varying extents.  

Because of a shortage in the amount of vaccines available, however, only residents that the State has deemed eligible, based 

on their personal risk factors, can currently receive a vaccine.  Eligibility to receive a vaccine may depend upon a person’s  

occupation, age, health conditions and place of residence. To date, most State residents eligible to receive a vaccine are those 

who are 75 and older, who live in a long-term care facility or who are considered essential workers.  It is unknown at this 

time when the COVID-19 vaccines will be available to all residents within the State and, when available, how many residents 

will choose to receive a vaccine.   

The Authority and the Institutions are unable to predict: (i) the extent or duration of the COVID-19 outbreak, any 

recurrence thereof or any other epidemic or pandemic; (ii) the extent or duration of existing or additional quarantines, 

shutdowns, restrictions or other measures relating to COVID-19 or any other epidemic or pandemic; (iii) whether and to what 

extent the COVID-19 outbreak or any other epidemic or pandemic may disrupt the State, national or global economy or 

supply chain and how any such disruption may adversely affect the Authority or Institutions; (iv) any litigation involving the 

Institutions that may arise from circumstances related to or actions in response to the pandemic; (v) the impact of, or the 

timing of distribution of, the COVID-19 vaccines or (vi) when and if instruction and operations at the Institutions will return 

to their pre-COVID-19 levels.  Moreover, there have often been varied responses to the pandemic across the Institutions due 

to particular circumstances and context, including any applicable restrictions at the county or municipal level.  Given the 

evolving nature of the spread of the virus and the behavior of individuals, governments and businesses in response thereto, 

neither the Authority nor the Institutions can accurately predict the magnitude of the impact of COVID-19 on their operations 

or financial condition.  The State is taking steps to mitigate the spread of COVID-19 within the State, including but not 

limited to the above-mentioned distribution of COVID-19 vaccines to eligible residents.   

Although neither the Authority nor the Institutions can predict the magnitude of the impact of the COVID-19 

pandemic, they are monitoring their operations and finances, as applicable. 

Impact on Operations 

From an operations perspective, the primary concern of the Authority and Institutions is ensuring that students and 

employees of the various entities remain healthy and that the Authority and Institutions are able to function effectively.   The 

Institutions have enacted policies, based on guidelines issued by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, to mitigate 

the spread of COVID-19 within the Institutions.  Such policies may include, from time to time, but are not limited to, the 

following: (i) substituting virtual instruction in place of in-person classes where determined by administration to be in the 

best interest of students, faculty and staff, (ii) requiring non-essential staff to work remotely, (iii) closing or limiting capacity 

at campus housing, (iv) limiting or canceling extracurricular activities, such as participation in and general attendance at 

sporting events and (v) other measures designed to eliminate large gatherings and promote social distancing.  Students, faculty 

and staff found to be in violation of the Institutions’ COVID-19 policies are subject to varying levels of discipline, including, 

for students, suspension and expulsion.  Additionally, school calendars have been adjusted because of COVID-19 

considerations, with many Institutions having offered shortened semesters since Spring 2020.  Though operating under the 

restrictions noted above, all Institutions have remained open and operating since the onset of the pandemic. 

Impact on Financial Condition  

As has been the case for many, if not, all institutions of higher education, the Institutions have been financially 

impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic.  Enrollment at Institutions has declined since the onset of the pandemic.  Comparing 

Fall 2020 to Fall 2019 semesters, overall enrollment at the Institutions has decreased by approximately 3%.  University 

enrollment remained relatively flat over this period, but community college enrollment decreased by approximately 10.3%.  

Overall first-time freshman enrollment at the Institutions was down approximately 8.1% in Fall 2020 as compared to Fall 

2019.  Fall-to-Fall retention rates across all Institutions, however, have remained fairly consistent since Fall 2019.  As overall 

enrollment has decreased and online instruction has increased, there are fewer students in campus housing at the Institutions.  



 

19 

The transition of various campus operations from in-person to remote offerings and the limitation or elimination of 

various revenue-generating campus activities, along with an overall decrease in enrollment, have resulted in both increased 

expenses and decreased revenues for the Institutions.  Since their pre-pandemic levels in 2019-20, there has been an overall 

4.8% increase in expenses and 2.6% decrease in revenues across all Institutions.  Total Fees and Charges collected by the 

Institutions decreased by 2.8% from 2019-20 to 2020-21.  To date, for the Institutions overall, there has been an estimated 

total adverse fiscal impact of $344.8 million as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.  Approximately $48.5 million of this 

amount is attributable to refunds made to students as a result of altered campus operations.  The remaining amounts are 

attributable to lost revenues and increased expenditures.  A significant amount of the COVID-19-related expenditures were 

made as part of the initial shift to remote learning and work, and many of such expenditures are not expected to be recurring.  

The Institutions have also been able to reduce expenses by eliminating certain operating, travel and equipment expenses that 

are not necessary while operating under COVID-19 restrictions.  There have been only very few layoffs, to date, and the 

COVID-19 pandemic has not resulted in a material reduction of faculty or staff at the Institutions.  

Although the Boards generally raise tuition by an average of 3% each year, there was no tuition increase for the 

2020-2021 school year.  Donations (as measured by cash receipts) to the Board of Trustees’ Institutions for fiscal year 2019 -

2020 have decreased by approximately 2.9% or $4 million since the 2018-2019 fiscal year.  Donations (as measured by cash 

receipts and in-kind gifts) to the Board of Regents’ Institutions have increased by approximately 16.5% or $11.6 million in 

fiscal year 2019-2020 as compared to the 2018-2019 fiscal year.  Donations to Institutions are not used to fund operations 

and are instead generally used to fund scholarships and campus capital improvements.  To mitigate the impact of the COVID -

19 pandemic, the Institutions initiated a campaign in 2020 to encourage enrollment at Institutions among those who have lost 

their jobs during the pandemic and have been unable to return to the workforce.   

Despite the widespread financial impact of the pandemic, overall State revenue collections for fiscal year 2020 -2021, 

to date, have exceeded budgeted amounts, and the State has maintained its level of funding for the Institutions for the 2020 -

2021 budget year.  Projected recurring State appropriations for Institutions for the 2020-2021 budget year are 1% higher than 

those for the 2019-2020 budget year.  No assurances may be made that the State will continue its current level of funding of 

the Institutions.   

The Institutions received approximately $191.5 million in Higher Education Emergency Relief Funds (or “HEER I 

Funds”) in March 2020 in connection with the federal Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the “CARES 

Act”).  Of this amount, approximately $84.5 million were used to make direct emergency financial aid grants to students for 

expenses related to the disruption of campus operations caused by the coronavirus, including cost of attendence, such as food, 

housing, course materials, technology, health care and childcare.  This portion of the HEER I funds could not be used to 

reimburse Institutions for room and board, tuition or other fees. Remaining funds of $107 million were applied by Institutions 

toward costs associated with significant changes in instructional delivery due to the pandemic. These funds could be used for  

reimbursement for refunds to students for room and board, tuition and other fees, purchasing equipment and software, internet 

service to enable students to transition to distance learning, and for additional emergency aid to affected students. Pursuant 

to the CARES Act, the HEER I Funds were not initially allowed to be applied to any revenue losses sustained by Institutions 

as a result of the pandemic.  Though no guarantees may be made, the Institutions expect to receive an additional $308.1 

million in Higher Education Emergency Relief funds (“HEER II Funds”) from the federal government in early 2021 as part 

of the Coronavirus Response and Relief Supplemental Appropriations Act of 2021. At least $84.5 million of these HEER II 

Funds must be used to make direct emergency aid grants to students for expenses related to the disruption of campus 

operations caused by the coronavirus, including cost of attendance expenses, such as food, housing, course materials, 

technology, health care and childare. Unlike previous restrictions on HEER I Funds, it is poss ible that the institutional portion 

of such HEER II Funds may be used to cover revenue losses sustained by the Institutions. It is also possible, depending on 

evolving federal regulations, that the institutional portion of any remaining HEER I Funds may al so be used to cover revenue 

losses.  In addition, Institutions received approximately $20 million from the State’s Coronavirus Relief Fund to help addres s 

costs of the pandemic.  Such monies were used to increase social distancing on campus or transition t o online learning. 

See page “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS – Subordinated Obligations; Revolving 

Credit Loans” herein for information regarding the Authority’s short-term borrowing capacity and APPENDIX B: 

TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY SELECTED STATISTICAL INFORMATION – “Coverage of Annual 

Financing Charges and Administrative Fees for Long-Term Debt Secured By Financing Agreements” for information on the 

historical debt service coverage of the Bonds (both including and excluding Legislative Appropriations).  Though no 

guarantees may be offered, the Authority expects to be able to finance Institution projects and make timely debt service 

payments on the Offered Bonds and other Bonds if unexpected changes to revenues and expenses of the Institutions occur.  

  



 

20 

Cybersecurity 

The Authority and the Institutions utilize various computer systems and network technology to perform many of their 

vital operations.  Such operations often include the storage and transmission of sensitive information .  As a result, the 

Authority and/or the Institutions may be the target of cyberattacks attempting to gain access to such information.  In addition 

to intentional attacks, information breaches may occur due to unintentional user error.  A successful cyberattack or 

unintentional breach may require the expenditure of an unknown amount of money or time to resolve, substantially interrupt 

State and/or campus services and operations and subject the Institutions and/or the State to legal action. Attempted 

cybersecurity attacks, whether anonymous or targeted, occur on a periodic frequency that is not uncommon to organizations 

or entities similar to the Authority and the Institutions.  To mitigate against such risks, the State and its departments, agencies, 

and divisions, including Institutions, have instituted various technical controls, policies and procedures to protect their 

network infrastructure, including a cybersecurity training requirement for certain departments, as well as genera l 

cybersecurity training and awareness for all employees.  The Strategic Technology Solutions Division of the State’s 

Department of Finance and Administration works with various State departments, agencies and divisions, as necessary, to 

develop specific cybersecurity policies and procedures.  Using a framework provided by the National Institute of Standards 

and Technology, each Institution has developed its own set of cybersecurity policies and procedures that are submitted to the  

State.  The State also maintains third-party insurance against cybersecurity incidents, and such coverage includes the 

Institutions. 

Certain of the Institutions have experienced varying levels of cyberattacks and unintentional network breaches, some 

of which have resulted in the inability to use certain computer systems, the misdirection of monies and the disclosure of 

personally identifiable information, including social security numbers.  One university experienced a cyberattack that caused  

$1.4 million intended for a vendor to be misdirected to another party.  In response to such attacks and breaches, the Institutions 

have, where applicable, revised cybersecurity policies and procedures, increased cybersecurity training for employees, 

engaged third-party cyberincident reponders, provided free credit report monitoring for affected individuals and, in the case 

of the misdirected vendor payment, submitted a claim to the insurance provider.  Despite the State’s, including the 

Institutions’, measures to safeguard their network infrastructure from any future incidents, there are no guarantees that such 

measures will be successful 

REVIEW AND APPROVAL PROCESS FOR FINANCING OF PROJECTS BY AUTHORITY 

For the purpose of carrying out the programs authorized by the Act and to permit the Authorit y to undertake the 

financing of Projects, the Authority’s existing policy generally requires the review and approval  of a project by different 

bodies of State government prior to the Authority’s approval of a project undertaken for either the Board of Trus tees or the 

Board of Regents. 

The review and approval process is undertaken in the following sequence: 

(1)  A Project request is initiated by an Institution.  Such Project is expected to relate to that Institution’s five -year 

capital construction plan, if applicable. 

(2)  The Project is reviewed by the Board of Trustees or the Board of Regents, as the case may be, and, if approved, 

is forwarded to the Tennessee Higher Education Commission and to the Authority. 

(3)  The Tennessee Higher Education Commission undertakes a review of the Project to determine its educational 

need and compatibility with the Institution’s master plan.  The Commission then forwards its comments and recommendations 

to the Commissioner of Finance and Administration and the State Building Commission.  At the same time, the Authority 

staff undertakes a review of the Project’s financial feasibility to determine if sufficient revenue has been pledged to cover  the 

debt service for that project.  The staff then forwards its comments and recommendations to the State Building Commission. 

(4)  The Project is then presented to the State Building Commission for approval of funding.  The State Building 

Commission is an agency of the State whose permanent members consist of the Governor, Lieutenant G overnor, Speaker of 

the House of Representatives, Comptroller of the Treasury, Secretary of State, State Treasurer and Commissioner of Finance 

and Administration.  The State Architect serves as its Chief Staff Officer.  

(5)  Upon approval by the State Building Commission, the Project is forwarded to the Authority which considers the 

Project for inclusion under the Second Program Financing Agreement with the Board of Trustees or the Board of Regents, as 

the case may be. 



 

21 

(6)  Upon approval for funding by the Authority, the Project proceeds immediately to detailed architectural design.  

When planning and specifications are complete, they are then forwarded to the State Architect’s office for review and 

submission to the State Building Commission for approval. 

Institutions may bring financings for the purchase of large equipment and computer software directly to the 

Authority.  Depending on the average life of the item financed it may be amortized under the Revolving Credit Agreement or 

through long-term or short-term fixed rate debt.  

RATINGS 

Moody’s Investors Service Inc. (“Moody’s”) has assigned the Offered Bonds an enhanced rating of “___”, with a 

stable outlook, based in part on its assignment to the Authority’s Legislative Appropriations intercept program (see 

“SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS – Legislative Appropriations”) of a programmatic rating 

of “Aa1”, with a stable outlook.  S&P Global Ratings, a subsidiary of S&P Global Inc. (“S&P”), has assigned the Offered 

Bonds a rating of “___”, with a stable outlook.  Fitch Ratings, Inc. (“Fitch”) has assigned the Offered Bonds a rating of “___”, 

with a stable outlook.  A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold the Offered Bonds and there is no assurance that 

any rating will be maintained for any given period of time or that it will not be revised downward or withdrawn entirely by 

the rating agency if, in its judgment, circumstances so warrant.  Any such revision or withdrawal may have an adverse effect 

on the market price of the Offered Bonds.  

Such ratings reflect only the views of such organizations and any desired explanation of the significance of such 

ratings should be obtained from the rating agency furnishing the same, at the following addresses: Moody’s Investors Service,  

Inc., 7 World Trade Center, 250 Greenwich Street, New York, New York 10007; S&P Global Ratings, 55 Water Street, New 

York, New York 10004; and Fitch Ratings, One State Street Plaza, New York, New York, 10004. Generally, a rating agency 

bases its rating on the information and materials furnished to it and on investigations, studies and assumptions of its own.   

Such ratings are not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold the Offered Bonds and may be subject to revision or withdrawal 

at anytime. 

LITIGATION 

There is no controversy or litigation of any nature now pending or threatened against the Authority to restrain or 

enjoin the issuance, sale, execution or delivery of the Offered Bonds or the financing of the Projects or the application of the 

proceeds of the Offered Bonds, or in any way contesting or affecting the validity of the Offered Bonds or any proceedings of 

the Authority taken with respect to the issuance or sale thereof, the Financing Agreements, or the pledge or application of 

any monies or security provided for the payment of the Offered  Bonds or the existence powers of the Authority, the Board 

of Regents or the Board of Trustees.  The Board of Regents and the Board of Trustees are engaged in litigation of various 

natures.  However, there is no litigation pending or threatened to restrain or enjoin the financing of the Projects or contesting 

or affecting the validity of any proceedings of the Board of Regents or the Board of Trustees taken with respect to the 

Financing Agreements, or the pledge or application of any monies or security provided for the payment of the Annual 

Financing Charges. 

TAX MATTERS 

Federal Tax Matters  

General 

In the opinion of Hawkins Delafield, & Wood LLP, Bond Counsel to the Authority, interest on the Offered Bonds is 

included in gross income for federal income tax purposes pursuant to the “Code.” Bond Counsel expresses no opinion 

regarding any other federal tax consequences with respect to the federally Taxable Offered Bonds. For the proposed form of 

opinion of Bond Counsel relating to federal tax matters, see Appendix H. 

The following is a brief summary of the principal United States federal income tax consequences of the acquisition, 

ownership and disposition of Offered Bonds by original purchasers of the Offered Bonds who are “U.S. Holders”, as defined 

herein. This summary (i) is based on the Code, Treasury Regulations, revenue rulings and court decisions, all as currently in 

effect and all subject to change at any time, possibly with retroactive effect; (ii) assumes that the Offered Bonds will be h eld 

as “capital assets” and (iii) does not describe all of the federal income tax consequences that may be relevant to a U.S. Holder 

in light of its particular circumstances or to U.S. Holders subject to special rules, such as insurance companies, financial 

institutions, tax-exempt organizations, dealers in securities or foreign currencies, persons holding the Offe red Bonds as a 



 

22 

position in a “hedge” or “straddle”, U.S. Holders whose functional currency (as defined in Section 985 of the Code) is not 

the United States dollar, U.S. Holders who acquire Offered Bonds in the secondary market, or individuals, estates and trusts 

subject to the tax on unearned income imposed by Section 1411 of the Code.  

Certain taxpayers that are required to prepare certified finanical statements and file finanical statements with certain 

regulatory or governmental agencies may be required to recognize income, gain or loss with respect to the Offered Bonds at 

the time that such income, gain or loss is taken into account on such financial statements instead of under the rules describ ed 

below. 

U.S. Holders of Offered Bonds should consult with and rely upon their own tax advisors concerning the federal 

income tax and other consequences with respect to the acquisition, ownership and disposition of the Offered Bonds as well 

as any tax consequences that may arise under the laws of any state, local or foreign tax jurisdiction. 

Disposition and Defeasance  

Generally, upon the sale, exchange, redemption, or other disposition (which would include a legal defeasance) of a n 

Offered Bond, a U.S. Holder generally will recognize taxable gain or loss in an amount equal to the difference between the 

amount realized (other than amounts attributable to accrued interest not previously includable in income) and such  U.S. 

Holder’s adjusted tax basis in the Offered Bond.  

The Authority may cause the deposit of moneys or securities in escrow in such amount and manner as to cause the 

Offered Bonds to be deemed to be no longer outstanding under the Resolution (a “defeasance”). (See Appendix E, 

“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTION” herein).  For federal income tax purposes, such 

defeasance could result in a deemed exchange under Section 1001 of the Code and a recognition by such owner of taxable 

income or loss, without any corresponding receipt of moneys. In addition, the character and timing of receipt of paymen ts on 

the Offered Bonds subsequent to any such defeasance could also be affected.  

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding  

In general, information reporting requirements will apply to non-corporate U.S. Holders of the Offered Bonds with 

respect to payments of principal, payments of interest, and the accrual of OID on an Offered Bond and the proceeds of the 

sale of an Offered Bond before maturity within the United States. Backup withholding may apply to U.S. Holders of Offered 

Bonds under Section 3406 of the Code. Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules from a payment to a 

beneficial owner, and which constitutes over-withholding, would be allowed as a refund or a credit against such beneficial 

owner’s federal income tax provided the required information is furnished to the Internal Revenue Service.  

U.S. Holders 

The term “U.S. Holder” means a beneficial owner of an Offered Bond that is: (i) a citizen or resident of the United 

States, (ii) a corporation, partnership or other entity created or organized in or under the laws of the United States or of any 

political subdivision thereof, (iii) an estate the income of which is subject to the federal income taxation regardless of its 

source or (iv) a trust whose administration is subject to the primary jurisdiction of a United States court and which has one 

or more United States fiduciaries who have the authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust.  

Miscellaneous 

Tax legislation, administrative actions taken by tax authorities, or court decisions, whether at the federal or state 

level, may adversely affect the tax-exempt status of interest on the Offered Bonds under state law and could affect tax market 

price or marketability of the Offered Bonds.   

Prospective purchasers of the Offered Bonds should consult their own tax advisors regarding the foregoing  matters. 

State of Tennessee Tax Matters 

In the opinion of Bond Counsel to the Authority, under existing laws of the State, the Offered Bonds and the interest 

thereon are exempt from taxation by the State or any county, municipality or political subdivision of the State, except for 

estate and gift taxes and taxes on transfers, and except to the extent included within the measure of  franchise and excise taxes. 

Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regarding any other state or local tax consequences with respect to the Offered 

Bonds.  Bond Counsel renders its opinion under existing statutes and court decisions as of the issue date and assumes no 

obligation to update, revise or supplement its opinion to reflect any action hereafter taken or not taken, or any facts or 

circumstances that may hereafter come to its attention, or changes in law or in interpretations thereof that may hereafter occur, 

or for any other reason. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion on the effect of any action hereafter taken or not taken in reliance 

upon an opinion of other counsel under state and local tax law.   



 

23 

For the proposed form of opinion of Bond Counsel relating to State tax matters, see Appe ndix H. 

FINANCIAL ADVISOR 

PFM Financial Advisors LLC (“PFM”) is employed by the Authority to perform professional services in the capacity 

of financial advisor.  In its role as financial advisor to the Authority, PFM has provided advice on the plan of fina ncing and 

structure of the Offered Bonds, and reviewed certain legal and disclosure documents, including this Official Statement, for 

financial matters.  PFM has not independently verified the factual information contained in this Official Statement, but r elied 

on the information supplied by the Authority and other sources and the Authority’s certification as to the Official Statement . 

LEGAL OPINIONS 

The validity of the Offered Bonds is subject to the approval of Hawkins Delafield & Wood LLP, New York, New 

York, Bond Counsel to the Authority.  For the form of proposed Bond Counsel opinion relating to the Offered Bonds, see 

Appendix H.  Certain legal matters will be passed upon by the Attorney General and Reporter of the State of Tennessee, as 

counsel to the Authority, and by Bass, Berry & Sims PLC, as counsel to the Underwriters.  No representation is made to the 

holders of the Offered Bonds that such counsel have verified the accuracy, completeness or fairness of the statements in this  

Official Statement, and such counsel assume no responsibility to the holders of the Offered Bonds except for the matters that 

will be set forth in their respective opinions. 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION; CONTINUING DISCLOSURE 

Additional information relating to the Authority is contained in its audited financial statements.  The audited financial 

statements of the Authority for fiscal years ended June 30, 2019 and 2020 are included herein as Appendix A.  Audited 

financial statements for certain prior years are available on the website of the Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury and 

have been filed with the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board through its Electronic Municipal Market Access (“EMMA”) 

system. 

Additional information relating to the Institutions is included in the audited financial statements of the State, 

including component unit reporting of The University of Tennessee system and the Board of Trustees of the University of 

Tennessee, and of the State University and Community College System of the State of Tennessee and the Tennessee Board 

of Regents, showing information of the type described in the Statement of Net Position, and Statement of Revenues, 

Expenditures and Changes in Net Position.  Financial statements of the State for fiscal year 2019-2020 and for certain prior 

years are available on the website of the Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury and have been filed with EMMA.  

The Authority has authorized a Continuing Disclosure Undertaking (the “Undertaking”) with respect to the Offered 

Bonds to assist the Underwriters in complying with U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 15c2 -12(b)(5).  The 

Undertaking is for the benefit of the holders of the Offered Bonds; beneficial owners of the  Offered Bonds will be third-party 

beneficiaries of the Undertaking.  In the Undertaking, the Authority will agree to provide certain financial information and 

operating data by specified dates, and to provide notice of certain enumerated events with respect to the Offered Bonds.  The 

specific nature of the information to be provided and the notices of enumerated events, and where they will be filed, is 

described in the summary of certain provisions of the Undertaking, attached hereto as Appendix G.   

Within the preceding five (5) years, certain local government audits required to be filed by the Authority with 

nationally recognized municipal securities repositories pursuant to previous Rule 15c2-12 continuing disclosure undertakings 

were not timely filed on EMMA because they were not available, but were filed on EMMA when available. 

SALE BY COMPETITIVE BIDDING 

The Offered Bonds will be awarded pursuant to electronic competitive bidding to be held via IPREO LLC’s 

BiDCOMPTM/PARITY® Competitive Bidding System on behalf of the Authority on __________ __, 2022, unless postponed 

or cancelled, as set forth in the Notice of Sale contained in Appendix I.  

The 2022A Bonds are being offered for sale as provided in the Notice of Sale for the Offered Bonds. The Not ice of 

Sale for the Offered Bonds provides that the initial purchaser of each series of the Offered Bonds (each an “Initial Purchase r”) 

shall purchase all Offered Bonds of that series, if any Offered Bonds of such series are purchased. The obligation to ea ch 

such purchase is subject to certain conditions set forth in the Notice of Sale, the approval of certain legal matters by coun sel 

and certain other conditions. 



 

24 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

The statements contained in this Official Statement, and in any other information provided by the Authority, that are 

not purely historical, are forward-looking statements, including statements regarding the Authority’s expectations, hopes, 

intentions, or strategies regarding the future. 

Readers should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements.  All forward-looking statements included in 

this Official Statement are based on information available to the Authority on the date hereof, and the Authority assumes no 

obligation to update any such forward-looking statements. 

The forward-looking statements herein are necessarily based on various assumptions and estimates and are inherently 

subject to various risks and uncertainties, including risks and uncertainties relating to the possible invalidity of the unde rlying 

assumptions and estimates and possible changes or developments in social, economic, business, industry, market, legal and 

regulatory circumstances and conditions and actions taken or omitted to be taken by third parties, including customers, 

suppliers, business partners and competitors, and legislative, judicial and other governmental authorities and officials.  

Assumptions related to the foregoing involve judgments with respect to, among other things, future economic, competitive, 

and market conditions and future business decisions, all of which are difficult or impossible to predict accurately and, 

therefore, there can be no assurance that the forward-looking statements included in this Official Statement would prove to 

be accurate. 

MISCELLANEOUS 

All quotations from, and summaries and explanations of, the Act, the Financing Agreements, the Resolution, and the 

Undertaking contained herein do not purport to be complete and reference is made to each for full and complete statements 

of their provisions.  The Appendices attached hereto are a part of this Official Statement.  Any statements in this Official 

Statement involving matters of estimate or opinion, whether or not expressly so stated, are intended as such and not as 

representations of fact.  This Official Statement is not to be construed as a contract or agreement between the Authority and 

the purchasers or holders of any of the Offered Bonds. 

 

TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY 

 

By:     . 

Comptroller of the Treasury; 

Secretary to the Authority 

 



 

 

[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 



 

A - 1 

 

APPENDIX A 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE AUTHORITY 

The Tennessee State School Bond Authority Comprehensive Annual Financia l Report (“Authority CAFR”), 

including the audited Basic Financial Statements, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020 has been filed with the Municipal 

Securities Rulemaking Board (the “MRSB”) through its Electronic Municipal Market Access (“EMMA”) system  (see 

“ADDITIONAL INFORMATION; CONTINUING DISCLOSURE” in the Official Statement) and is obtainable from the 

MSRB in accordance with its procedures.  A printed version is also available upon request to the Tennessee State School 

Bond Authority, 425 Rep. John Lewis Way N, 4th Floor, Nashville, Tennessee 37243, telephone (615) 401-7872, fax (615) 

741-5986.  The 2020 Authority CAFR and certain prior year Authority CAFRs are posted on the Authority’s website at 

https://www.comptroller.tn.gov/boards/tennessee-state-school-bond-authority/investor-information/tssba-financial-

reports.html. 

The following reports, each of which are included in the CAFR and have been posted on the Authority’s website, are 

incorporated herein by reference: 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

Basic Financial Statements: 

 Statements of Net Position 

 Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position 

 Statements of Cash Flows 

 Notes to the Financial Statements 

Supplementary Schedules: 

 Supplementary Schedules of Net Position – Program Level 

 Supplementary Schedules of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position – Program Level 

 Supplementary Schedules of Cash Flows – Program Level 

Other Financial Statements 

The State of Tennessee Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (“State CAFR”), includ ing component unit 

reporting of The University of Tennessee system and the Board of Trustees of the University of Tennessee, and of the State 

University and Community College System of the State of Tennessee and the Tennessee Board of Regents, showing of the 

type described in the Statement of Net Position, Statement of Activities, and Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and 

Changes in Fund Balances, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020 has been filed with EMMA and is obtainable from the 

MSRB in accordance with its procedures.  A printed version is also available upon request to the Authority, as described 

above.  The 2019 State CAFR and certain prior year State CAFRs are posted on the website of the Tennessee Department of 

Finance and Administration https://www.tn.gov/finance/rd-doa/fa-accfin-cafr.html.  The State CAFR and such component 

unit reporting is required to be filed annually with EMMA pursuant to the Authority’s continuing disc losure obligations as 

described in this Official Statement under “ADDITIONAL INFORMATION; CONTINUING DISCLOSURE” and in 

APPENDIX G – “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING.” 

The most recent audited financial statements for the schools under the supervision of the Board of Trustees and 

Tennessee Board of Regents are posted on the website of the Comptroller of the Treasury of the State of Tennessee, Division 

of State Audit, at https://www.comptroller.tn.gov/office-functions/state-audit.html.  Universities are audited on an annual 

basis and Community Colleges and CATs are audited on a biennial basis.  Audits are prepared on a rolling basis and are 

published as they become available.  These financial statements are not required to be filed with EMMA as part of the 

Authority’s continuing disclosure obligations as described in this Official Statement under “ADDITIONAL INFORMATION; 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE” and in APPENDIX G – “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE CONTINUING 

DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING.” 

 

 

https://www.comptroller.tn.gov/boards/tennessee-state-school-bond-authority/investor-information/tssba-financial-reports.html
https://www.comptroller.tn.gov/boards/tennessee-state-school-bond-authority/investor-information/tssba-financial-reports.html
https://www.tn.gov/finance/rd-doa/fa-accfin-cafr.html
https://www.comptroller.tn.gov/office-functions/state-audit.html


 

 

 

[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 

 

 



APPENDIX B 

 

B - 1 

 

TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY 

SELECTED STATISTICAL INFORMATION  

The information in this Appendix B includes selected statistical information relating to the Boards, the Institutions 

and their component institutions.  For a discussion of certain impacts of the COVID-19 Pandemic, see “TENNESSEE PUBLIC 

HIGHER EDUCATION – Impact of Covid-19” in this Official Statement.  No assurance can be provided that the results 

included in this Appendix B will be indicative of future results. 

  

Source - TSSBA (Unaudited) 
1  Includes the Offered Bonds and excludes the 2021A Refunded Bonds.  See "THE AUTHORITY - Outstanding Indebtedness of the Authority" for total 
outstanding Bonds. 
2  Admin. expense is a fee imposed by the Authority on the Institutions estimated at the rate of 20 bps on the outstanding indebtedness of the Authority.  

The Authority has the right to change the amount charged based on actual expenses. 

12 Months 

Ending June 30

Bond Debt 

Service
1

Admin. 

Expense
1,2

Annual Debt 

Service and 

Admin. Exp.
1

2021 29,259 3,338 32,597

2022 134,789 3,322 138,111

2023 142,133 3,164 145,297

2024 135,853 2,980 138,833

2025 134,133 2,803 136,936

2026 132,167 2,623 134,790

2027 124,330 2,440 126,770

2028 119,859 2,267 122,126

2029 113,255 2,097 115,352

2030 110,242 1,933 112,175

2031 95,152 1,771 96,923

2032 94,974 1,635 96,609

2033 88,872 1,496 90,368

2034 86,191 1,366 87,557

2035 81,499 1,237 82,736

2036 81,498 1,115 82,613

2037 75,530 989 76,519

2038 73,385 871 74,256

2039 67,346 754 68,100

2040 65,527 645 66,172

2041 60,317 536 60,853

2042 58,096 433 58,529

2043 44,880 332 45,212

2044 40,392 254 40,646

2045 34,281 182 34,463

2046 26,591 120 26,711

2047 14,383 72 14,455

2048 14,381 46 14,427

2049 5,351 19 5,370

2050 5,246 10 5,256

$  2,289,912 $  40,850 $  2,330,762

Authority Second Program Bond Debt Service and Other Requirements

Secured by Financing Agreements

(Excluding Revolving Credit Loans)

(Expressed in Thousands)



 

B - 2 

 

 
Principal Amount of Debt Outstanding by Institution 

(Unaudited) 

As of December 31, 2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Source - TSSBA (Unaudited) 
1 Adjusted to include the Offered Bonds and exclude the 2021A Refunded Bonds.  See "THE AUTHORITY - Outstanding 

Indebtedness of the Authority" for total outstanding Bonds (unaudited). 
2  Outstanding Revolving Credit Loans balance is as of December 31, 2020 which excludes $7,125,683 of Revolving Credit Loans 

not allocated to Institutions   
  

Institutions Bonds
1

Revolving Credit 

Loans
2

Total Debt

University of Tennessee System 990,468,078$           42,155,742$       1,032,623,820$     

Tennessee Board of Regents System 678,366,922                 34,399,265             712,766,187                  

TOTAL 1,668,835,000$        76,555,007$       1,745,390,007$             

Authority Debt



 

B - 3 

 

University and College Funds 

Statement of Fees/Charges, Legislative Appropriations 

And Debt Service for the Last Ten Years  

 

The Total Fees and Charges and Legislative Appropriations (in some cases, as amended by the General Assembly) 

set forth in the following tables are applied to pay the cost of operation and maintenance of the following Institutions as w ell 

as the Debt Service Requirements2 (excluding Revolving Credit Loans and the Offered Bonds) listed below.  (Fiscal Years 

ended June 30) (Dollar amounts are expressed in thousands).   

 

 

 

 

Source - TSSBA, Institutions, and the Tennessee Department of Finance & Administration (Unaudited) 
1 Appropriations for operation and maintenance, including employer social security and retirement contributions for the 

respective systems (including the respective schools and Boards). 
2 Debt Service Requirements consist only of principal and interest.  Excludes the Offered Bonds and includeds the 2021A 

Refunded Bonds. 

 

  

UNIVERSITY OF TENNESSEE SYSTEM

Prior and Subordinate Debt Service

Fiscal Total Fees Legislative Debt Service Requirements Requirements
2

Year and Charges Appropriations
1

(Non Authority) (Authority Bonds)

2020 817,648$          636,000$             -$                                        84,562$                   

2019 817,648            612,411               -                                          83,887                     

2018 802,063            572,915               -                                          76,662                     

2017 778,509            532,161               -                                          73,722                     

2016 746,986            503,606               -                                          70,543                     

2015 700,757            479,221               -                                          55,553                     

2014 691,600            471,104               -                                          55,821                     

2013 658,079            435,446               -                                          52,859                     

2012 584,147            412,806               -                                          51,469                     

2011 685,003            407,356               -                                          48,256                     

TENNESSEE BOARD OF REGENTS SYSTEM

Prior and Subordinate Debt Service

Fiscal Total Fees Legislative Debt Service Requirements Requirements
2

Year and Charges Appropriations
1

(Non Authority) (Authority Bonds)

2020 1,467,540$       892,751$             -$                                        62,355$                   

2019 1,467,540         840,812               -                                          57,292                     

2018 1,385,505         784,012               -                                          56,107                     

2017 1,131,352         720,388               -                                          57,511                     

2016 1,102,572         675,048               -                                          56,299                     

2015 1,158,289         644,099               -                                          52,404                     

2014 1,057,701         646,251               -                                          53,350                     

2013 1,035,821         608,454               -                                          49,484                     

2012 1,216,903         582,094               1,399                                       45,016                     

2011 1,143,916         577,648               1,399                                       43,366                     



 

B - 4 

 

State of Tennessee 

Coverage of Annual Financing Charges and Administrative Fees for 

Long-Term Debt Secured By Financing Agreements1 

College and University Funds 

For the Last Ten Years 

(Expressed in Thousands) 

 

 

 

 

 

Source - TSSBA, Institutions, and the Tennessee Department of Finance & Administration (Unaudited) 
1 Excludes Revolving Credit Loans 
2Appropriations for operation and maintenance, including employer social security and retirement contributions for the 

respective systems (including the respective schools and Boards). 
3 Annual Financing Charges consist of principal, interest and administrative fees.  Excludes the Offered Bonds and includes 

the 2021A Refunded Bonds. 

  

UNIVERSITY OF TENNESSEE SYSTEM

Fiscal Year

Total Fees and 

Charges

Legislative 

Appropriations
2

Annual Financing 

Charges
3

Fees & 

Charges

Fees, Charges, & 

Appropriations

2020 $  817,336 $  636,000 $  85,929 9.51 X 16.91 X

2019 817,348 612,411 85,606 9.55 X 16.70 X

2018 802,063 573,017 85,031 9.43 X 16.17 X

2017 780,867 527,569 74,793 10.44 X 17.49 X

2016 746,986 499,862 74,965 9.96 X 16.63 X

2015 700,757 475,416 56,855 12.33 X 20.69 X

2014 691,600 467,845 56,764 12.18 X 20.43 X

2013 609,399 432,636 53,855 11.32 X 19.35 X

2012 584,147 411,729 51,984 11.24 X 19.16 X

2011 685,003 584,787 41,583 16.47 X 30.54 X

TENNESSEE BOARD OF REGENTS SYSTEM

Fiscal Year

Total Fees and 

Charges

Legislative 

Appropriations
2

Annual Financing 

Charges
3

Fees & 

Charges

Fees, Charges, & 

Appropriations

2020 $  1,430,945 $  892,751 $  63,716 22.46 X 36.47 X

2019 1,467,541 840,812 58,846 24.94 X 39.23 X

2018 1,385,505 687,307 58,271 23.78 X 35.57 X

2017 1,131,352 769,801 58,212 19.44 X 32.66 X

2016 1,102,572 660,789 58,754 18.77 X 30.01 X

2015 1,158,289 578,734 53,707 21.57 X 32.34 X

2014 1,057,701 644,437 54,346 19.46 X 31.32 X

2013 1,035,821 621,841 50,530 20.50 X 32.81 X

2012 1,216,903 501,867 46,048 26.43 X 37.33 X

2011 1,143,916 660,608 40,430 28.29 X 44.63 X

Coverage By:

Coverage By:



 

B - 5 

 

University and College 

Per Student Fees and Charges 

(2019 – 2020 Academic Year) 

Student Fees and Charges are the largest component of total Fees and Charges received by schools.  Other Fees and 

Charges include rental revenue and other charges for use of certain Projects by faculty, administration, the public at large, 

and other users. 

 

Source – Tennessee Higher Education Commission 
1 Debt Service Fees represent an additional charge by certain institutions to cover a portion of such Institution's debt service obligations on certain 

indebtedness, including Bonds.  Institutions which do not impose a separate Debt Service Fee may include similar charges as a portion of a student's 

maintenance fees.  
2 Represents charges paid to domestic, non-resident students. For many institutions, international students pay a different rate. 
3 Beginning in Fall 2019, first-time, full-time students enrolled at UT Chattanooga began to be charged a flat rate for 15 credit hours per semester, 

regardless of how many hours are taken. Returning and part-time students began to be charged a flat rate for 12 credit hours per semester, regardless of 

how many hours are taken. 
4 Beginning in Fall 2020, full-time students admitted at Tennessee Technological University began to be charged a flat rate for 15 credit hours per 

semester, regardless of the number of hours taken. Returning and part-time students began to be charged a per credit hour rate for the first 12 credit hours 

and a discounted rate for additional hours. 
5 Beginning in Fall 2019, the University of Memphis began to offer a "guaranteed tuition" option to undergraduate students. All incoming first-time, full-

time freshmen are eligible to enroll in the guaranteed tuition plan, which guarantees the Fall 2019 tuition rate for eight consecutive regular semesters if 

they take at least 12 student credit hours per semester. 

Institutions

Debt 

Service 

Fees
1

In-State 

Student 

Tuition & 

Mandatory 

Fees

Non-Resident 

Student 

Tuition & 

Mandatory 

Fees
2

Average 

Room 

Charge

Average 

Board 

Charge

UT Chattanooga (UG - Soar in Four) 
3

$300 $9,656 $25,774 $7,512 $4,030

UT Chattanooga (UG - Returning) $300 $8,880 $24,998 $5,044 $3,894

UT Knoxville $438 $13,264 $31,684 $5,826 $3,460

UT Martin $380 $9,748 $15,788 $4,076 $4,348

Austin Peay State University $274 $8,627 $14,171 $5,760 $4,806

East Tennessee $470 $9,491 $28,673 $5,760 $4,806

Middle Tennessee State University $408 $9,424 $29,038 $2,400 $1,600

Tennessee State University $178 $8,183 $21,539 $2,400 $1,600

Tennessee Tech (admitted prior to Fall 2020) $258 $9,318 $13,518 $6,300 $3,200

Tennessee Tech (admitted in Fall 2020)
4

$258 $10,338 $14,538 $6,300 $3,200

University of Memphis (Undergrad Non-guaranteed) 
5

$490 $9,912 $16,764 $7,514 $4,342

University of Memphis (Undergrad Guaranteed) $490 $9,936 $16,794 $3,065 $3,652

Chattanooga State Community College $0 $4,568 $22,016 N/A N/A

Cleveland State Community College $0 $4,548 $21,996 N/A N/A

Columbia State Community College $44 $4,582 $22,030 N/A N/A

Dyersburg State Community College $0 $4,548 $21,996 N/A N/A

Jackson State Community College $0 $4,534 $21,982 N/A N/A

Motlow State Community College $0 $4,554 $22,002 N/A N/A

Nashville State Community College $0 $4,504 $21,952 N/A N/A

Northeast State Technical Community College $0 $4,560 $22,008 N/A N/A

Pellissippi State Technical Community College $30 $4,588 $22,036 N/A N/A

Roane State Community College $0 $4,552 $22,000 N/A N/A

Southwest Tennessee Community College $0 $4,568 $22,016 N/A N/A

Volunteer State Community College $0 $4,542 $21,990 N/A N/A

Walters State Community College $0 $4,537 $21,985 N/A N/A



 

B - 6 

 

 

 

Source - Tennessee Higher Education Commission (Unaudited) 

* ETSU includes the Medical and Pharmacy schools 

**The University of Tennessee, Knoxville includes the Veterinary school and the UT Space Institute 

 
1 LGI = Locally Governed Institutions, APSU = Austin Peay State University, ETSU = East Tennessee State University, MTSU = Middle 

Tennessee State University, TSU = Tennessee State University, TTU = Tennessee Technological University, UM = University of Memphis, UT 

= University of Tennessee 
2 Two Year Schools = State Community Colleges 

 

%  Change

School
1

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2018-2019 2014-2019

APSU 8,241 8,180 8,466 8,278 8,856 8,620 -2.7% 4.6%

ETSU* 12,295 12,347 12,310 12,567 12,687 12,525 -1.3% 1.9%

MTSU 18,787 18,362 18,177 17,957 17,745 17,817 0.4% -5.2%

TSU 7,388 7,639 7,342 7,189 6,552 6,417 -2.1% -13.1%

TTU 9,983 9,569 9,208 9,043 8,918 8,841 -0.9% -11.4%

UM 16,554 16,112 16,744 16,535 16,197 16,479 1.7% -0.4%

LGI Total 73,247 72,209 72,247 71,568 70,955 70,700 -0.4% -3.5%

UT Chattanooga 10,029 9,886 10,029 10,301 10,380 10,514 1.3% 4.8%

UT Knoxville** 24,107 24,601 24,827 25,212 25,673 26,256 2.3% 8.9%

UT Martin 6,273 5,989 5,670 5,719 5,582 5,647 1.2% -10.0%

UT Health Science 2,977 3,075 3,097 3,200 3,284 3,250 -1.0% 9.2%

UT Total 43,386 43,551 43,623 44,431 44,919 45,667 1.7% 5.3%

Total 4 Year 116,633 115,761 115,870 115,999 115,874 116,367 0.4% -0.2%

Chattanooga 5,901 6,190 5,743 5,526 5,630 5,383 -4.4% -8.8%

Cleveland 2,316 2,413 2,282 2,096 2,201 2,341 6.4% 1.1%

Columbia 3,263 3,634 3,816 4,033 4,361 4,465 2.4% 36.8%

Dyersburg 1,678 1,690 1,694 1,705 1,747 1,742 -0.3% 3.8%

Jackson 2,825 2,907 2,968 2,931 3,039 3,135 3.2% 10.9%

Motlow 2,984 3,654 4,152 4,485 4,557 4,571 0.3% 53.2%

Nashville 5,807 6,272 5,588 5,107 5,173 4,984 -3.7% -14.2%

Northeast 3,888 4,215 4,250 4,261 4,281 4,176 -2.4% 7.4%

Pellissippi 6,644 6,755 6,645 7,206 7,202 6,972 -3.2% 4.9%

Roane 3,777 3,891 3,788 3,652 3,925 3,983 1.5% 5.5%

Southwest 6,355 6,169 5,624 6,138 6,142 6,049 -1.5% -4.8%

Volunteer 4,747 5,406 5,869 6,008 6,253 6,148 -1.7% 29.5%

Walters 4,008 4,074 4,086 4,206 4,203 4,259 1.3% 6.3%

Total 2 Year 54,192 57,269 56,505 57,355 58,713 58,207 -0.9% 7.4%

Grand Total 170,825 173,030 172,375 173,354 174,587 174,575 0.0% 2.2%

Five-Year Annual Growth Rate

0.4%

Tennessee Higher Education Commission

Four Year Institutions

Two Year Schools
2

History of Fall Term Full-Time Equivalent Enrollment in Public Higher Education Schools



 

C - 1 

 

APPENDIX C 

GLOSSARY OF CERTAIN TERMS 

The following terms, as used in this Official Statement including the Appendices hereto, have the respective 

meanings provided below.  These summary definitions do not purport to be complete or definitive and are qualified in their 

entirety by reference to the Resolution and Financing Agreements, copies of which are on file at the offices of the Authority  

and the Trustee. 

 

Term Definition 

Account or Accounts Each account or all of the accounts established pursuant to the Resolution, as the case may be. 

Accreted Value With respect to any Capital Appreciation Bonds (i) as of any Valuation Date, the amount set forth for such 

date in the Supplemental Resolution authorizing such Capital Appreciation Bonds and (ii) as of any date 

other than a Valuation Date, the sum of (a) the Accreted Value on the preceding Valuation Date and (b) the 

product of (1) a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days having elapsed from the preceding 

Valuation Date and the denominator of which is the number of days from such preceding Valuation Date to 

the next succeeding Valuation Date and (2) the difference between the Accreted Values for such Valuation 

Dates. For purposes of this definition, the number of days having elapsed from the preceding Valuation Date 

and the number of days from the preceding Valuation Date to the next succeeding Valuation Date shall be 

calculated on the basis of a three hundred sixty (360) day year of twelve (12) thirty (30) day months or 

otherwise with respect to any Series of Bonds as may be provided by the Supplemental Resolution 

authorizing the issuance thereof. 

Act The Tennessee State School Bond Authority Act, Sections 49-3-1201 et seq., Tennessee Code Annotated, as 

amended from time to time. 

Administrative 

Expenses 

The Authority's expenses of carrying out and administering its powers, duties and functions in connection 

with the Agreements, the Projects and the Resolution, and shall include, without limiting the generality of 

the foregoing: administrative expenses, legal, accounting and consultant's services and expenses, the fees 

and expenses of the Trustee, Paying Agents and Registrar, payments to pension, retirement, health and 

hospitalization funds, and any other expenses required or permitted to be paid by the Authority under the 

provisions of the Act, the Financing Agreements or the Resolution or otherwise. 

Annual Financing 

Charges 

The amounts payable by the Boards to the Authority under the Financing Agreements for (i) the payment of 

principal of and premium, if any, and interest on Debt for all Projects and all Institutions, (ii) any payments 

to fund or replenish reserves therefor as may be required by the Resolution, regardless of Project or 

Institution, and (iii) any other payments required to be made by or on behalf of the Authority under or 

pursuant to the Resolution with respect to any Project, any Institution or the Board.   

Authenticating Agent An authenticating agent appointed pursuant to the Resolution. 

Authority The Tennessee State School Bond Authority, the corporate governmental agency and instrumentality created 

by the Act, or any body, agency or instrumentality of the State which shall succeed to the powers, duties and 

functions of the Authority. 

Authorized Officer Any member of the Authority, and any other officer or employee of the Authority authorized by law, by 

resolution of the Authority or by a certificate of the Secretary of the Authority to perform the act or sign the 

document in question. 

Bank Bonds Reimbursement Obligations under Credit Facilities represented by Bonds; provided, however, that Bank 

Bonds do not include any Bonds issued to or held by any party providing a Credit Facility or its designee in 

any other capacity. 

Board or Boards The Board of Regents or the Board of Trustees, or both such Boards, respectively. 

Board of Regents The Tennessee Board of Regents of the State University and Community College System of the State of 

Tennessee, and its successors.  

Board of Trustees The Board of Trustees of The University of Tennessee, and its successors. 



 

C - 2 

 

Bond or Bonds  Any Bond or Bonds issued under the Resolution, including but not limited to Variable Interest Rate Bonds, 

Capital Appreciation Bonds and Refunding Bonds.  Bonds shall not include Subordinated Obligations.  

Bond Year The twelve month period commencing on May 1 of each calendar year and ending on April 30 of the next 

succeeding calendar year except that the first Bond Year shall begin on the date specified in the Supplemental 

Resolution authorizing the first Series of Bonds. 

Business Day Any day other than (i) a Saturday or Sunday, (ii) a day on which banking institutions located in the State or 

in any of the cities in which the principal office of the Trustee, any Paying Agent, the Registrar or the provider 

of a Reserve Fund Credit Facility are required or authorized by law or executive order to close or (iii) a day 

on which the New York Stock Exchange is closed, and (iv) with respect to a particular Series of Bonds, a 

day on which any provider of a Credit Facility for such Series of Bonds is located is required or authorized 

by law or executive order to close or as may otherwise be provided by the Supplemental Resolution 

authorizing such Series of Bonds.  

Capital Appreciation 

Bonds 

Any Bonds as to which interest is payable only at the maturity or prior redemption of such Bonds or which 

bear a stated interest rate of zero.  For the purposes of (i) receiving payment of the Redemption Price if a 

Capital Appreciation Bond is redeemed prior to maturity or upon acceleration as provided in the Resolution, 

or (ii) computing the principal amount of Bonds held by the Owner of a Capital Appreciation Bond in giving 

to the Authority or any Fiduciary any notice, consent, request, or demand pursuant to the Resolution for any 

purpose whatsoever, the principal amount of a Capital Appreciation Bond shall be deemed to be its Accreted 

Value. 

Commercial Paper All Commercial Paper issued under the Commercial Paper Resolution. 

Commercial Paper 

Resolution 

The Commercial Paper Resolution adopted by the Authority on November 18, 1997, as supplemented and 

amended. 

Counsel's Opinion An opinion signed by an attorney or firm of attorneys selected by or satisfactory to the Authority (who may 

be counsel to the Authority) which  attorney or firm of attorneys is of recognized standing in the field of law 

relating to municipal bonds; provided, however, that such Counsel's Opinion may take customary exception 

as to the effect of, or for restrictions or limitations imposed by or resulting from, bankruptcy, insolvency, 

debt adjustment, moratorium, reorganization, laws affecting creditors' rights, the exercise of judicial 

discretion and other matters, and may state that no opinion is being rendered as to the availability of any 

particular remedy or as to the limitation of remedies resulting from sovereign immunity or the partial waiver 

thereof, and may contain such other references and qualifications as are acceptable to the Fiduciary receiving 

the same. 

Credit Facility Any irrevocable letter of credit, standby bond purchase agreement, line of credit, policy of bond insurance, 

surety bond or agreement, guarantee or similar instrument which is obtained by the Authority and is issued 

by a financial, insurance or other institution, the State or any subdivision, department, instrumentality or 

agency thereof, and the Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System or any successor entity thereto then 

managing and investing the State retirement funds, and which provides credit enhancement, security or 

liquidity in respect of the Bonds (and which, with respect to a policy of bond insurance, guarantees the 

payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds), not including any Reserve Fund Credit Facility. 

Debt Any bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness issued by the Authority pursuant to the Act and the 

Resolution for the purpose of financing or refinancing Project Costs.  Without limiting the generality of the 

foregoing, Debt may include "long-term Debt" (i.e., with a term of more than one year unless issued in 

anticipation of the issuance of Debt with a longer term) or "short-term Debt" (i.e., with a term of one year or 

less or issued in anticipation of the issuance of Debt with a term of more than one year), and may take the 

form of commercial paper. 

Debt Service Reserve 

Requirement 

With respect to each Series of Bonds (other than Bonds as to which the Authority has elected to establish a 

separate account in the Debt Service Reserve Fund solely for such Bonds, as described in “SECURITY AND 

SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS – Debt Service Reserve Fund”), as of any date of 

calculation, (i) an amount equal to the aggregate of the greatest amount of Debt Service on all Outstanding 

Bonds of such Series issued for each Project (calculated separately for each Project and then aggregated) 

payable on any interest or Principal Installment date thereafter (except that for the first such date after the 

date of issuance of such Bonds, interest to accrue for greater than 6 months but less than 12 months shall not 

be taken into account), or (ii) such greater amount, which subsequently may be reduced to an amount not 



 

C - 3 

 

less than the amount required by clause (i) above, as may be determined from time to time by the Authority 

by Supplemental Resolution; provided, however, that as a result of the issuance of any Series of Bonds the 

interest on which is generally excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes, the Debt Service 

Reserve Requirement with respect to such Series shall at no time exceed the lesser of (i) the amount that may 

be funded from the proceeds of such Bonds or (ii) the amount that constitutes a reasonably required reserve 

with respect to such Bonds.  Each determination by the Authority of the Debt Service Reserve Requirement 

shall be conclusive.  For purposes of this definition: 

 

(A) "Debt Service" for any date or period means, as of any date of calculation and 

with respect to any Series, an amount equal to the sum of (i) the interest payable 

on such date or accruing during such period on the Outstanding Bonds of such 

Series, and (ii) the Principal Installment for such Series payable on such date or 

accruing during such period on the Outstanding Bonds of such Series; provided, 

however, that in calculating Debt Service on any future date or for any future 

period:  (x) any Variable Interest Rate Bonds shall be deemed to bear interest at 

all times prior to the maturity date thereof for which the interest rate payable 

thereon has not yet been determined at the Debt Service Determination Interest 

Rate applicable thereto and (y) any interest on any Bonds secured by a Credit 

Facility the related Reimbursement Obligation on which is evidenced by a Bank 

Bond shall be calculated at the higher of the actual interest rate or, if applicable, 

the Debt Service Determination Interest Rate applicable to such Bonds or the 

maximum rate of interest permitted for any such Reimbursement Obligation 

(whether or not any Reimbursement Obligation has yet accrued). 

(B) "Debt Service Determination Interest Rate" means, with respect to any 

particular Variable Interest Rate Bonds, any numerical rate or rates of interest 

set forth, or determined as set forth, in the Supplemental Resolution authorizing 

such Bonds; provided, however, that such rate shall not be less than the interest 

rate initially borne by such Bonds.  

(C) "Proceeds" and "reasonably required reserve" shall have the respective 

meanings given such terms, or any comparable terms, for purposes of Section 

148(d) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the applicable 

regulations thereunder. 

Defeasance 

Obligations  

Investment Obligations which are rated at the time of investment in any of the two highest Rating Categories 

by any Rating Agency, and which (i) shall not be subject to redemption prior to their maturity other than at 

the option of the holder thereof and (ii) shall not be subject to redemption prior to their maturity other than 

at the option of the holder thereof or as to which an irrevocable notice of redemption of such securities on a 

specified redemption date has been given and such securities are not otherwise subject to redemption prior 

to such specified date other than at the option of the holder thereof.   

Direct DTC 

Participant  

Shall have the meaning given to such term in Appendix F - "BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM.” 

  



 

C - 4 

 

Fees and Charges With respect to each Board, all revenues, fees, rentals and other charges and moneys received by or on behalf 

of the Board for the Institution, or received by or on behalf of the Institution, for which any Project is 

undertaken which may be available for the purpose of paying Annual Financing Charges. 

Fiduciary or 

Fiduciaries 

The Trustee (including, where appropriate, any co-Trustee or Authenticating Agent), any Paying Agent, the 

Registrar, or any or all of them, as may be appropriate, or any other Person appointed to act as a Fiduciary 

as provided in the Resolution. 

Financing Agreement 

or Financing 

Agreements 

The Second Program Financing Agreement dated as of November 1, 1997, by and between the Authority 

and the Board of Trustees, and the Second Program Financing Agreement dated as of November 1, 1997, by 

and between the Authority and the Board of Regents, as appropriate, in each case as supplemented and 

amended from time to time. 

First Program 

Financing Agreements 

The Amended and Restated Financing Agreement dated as of September 17, 1996, between the Authority 

and the Board of Trustees, and between the Authority and the Board of Regents.  The following terms, when 

identified as related to the First Program, shall have the respective meanings given to them in the First 

Program Financing Agreements:  administrative fees, Annual Financing Charges, Bonds, Fees and Charges, 

General Bond Resolution, Legislative Appropriations and Projects. 

Fiscal Year With respect to the Authority, currently the twelve month period commencing on July 1 and ending on June 

30 of the following year.  In the event of any change in Fiscal Year resulting in an initial Fiscal Year or 

interim period of more or less than twelve months, Fiscal Year for purposes of the Financing Agreements 

shall mean the last twelve month Fiscal Year. 

Fitch Fitch Ratings, Inc., or any successor then maintaining a rating on any Bonds at the request of the Authority. 

Fund or Funds Each fund or all of the funds established in the Resolution, as the case may be. 

Indirect DTC 

Participant 

Shall have the meaning given to such term in Appendix F - "BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM.” 

Institution As appropriate, (i) the University of Tennessee system, including all of its branches and divisions wherever 

located, and the services, programs and activities provided therein, and the Board of Trustees, in the 

aggregate, and (ii) the State University and Community College System, including all of its constituent 

institutions wherever located (whether or not conferring degrees), and the services, programs and activities 

provided therein, and the Board of Regents, in the aggregate.  This definition is as amended on May 9, 2013, 

as discussed in “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS – Recent Amendments 

to the Act, the Resolution and the Financing Agreements” in this Official Statement. 

Investment 

Obligations 

Include any instruments, securities, certificates, obligations or the like if and to the extent the same are at the 

time permitted and legal for investment of the Authority's funds pursuant to the Act or in accordance with 

any other law, regulation, guideline or policy, as in effect from time to time, of or applicable to the Authority 

with respect to investments. 

Legislative 

Appropriations 

The amounts payable to the Authority from appropriations by the General Assembly of the State to an 

Institution for its operation and maintenance, under and pursuant to the Act and the Financing Agreements, 

including but not limited to amounts deductible, by Persons other than the Boards, from such appropriations 

for payment directly to the Authority. 

Moody's Moody's Investors Service, Inc., or any successor then maintaining a rating on any Bonds at the request of 

the Authority. 

  



 

C - 5 

 

Outstanding When used with reference to Bonds, other than Bonds held by or for the account of the Authority or either 

of the Boards, means, as of any date, Bonds theretofore or then being delivered under the provisions of the 

Resolution, except:  

(A) Any Bonds cancelled at or prior to such date;  

(B) Any Bonds (or portions of Bonds) the principal or Redemption Price, if any, of, 

and interest on which shall have been paid in accordance with the terms thereof;  

(C) Any Bonds in lieu of or in substitution for which other Bonds shall have been 

authenticated and delivered upon exchange or transfer pursuant to the 

Resolution;   

(D) Bonds deemed to have been paid as provided in the Resolution; and 

(E) Put Bonds deemed tendered in accordance with the provisions of the 

Supplemental Resolution authorizing such Bonds on the applicable tender date, 

if the purchase price thereof and interest thereon shall have been paid or amounts 

are available for such payment as provided in the Resolution, except to the extent 

such tendered Put Bonds thereafter may be resold pursuant to the terms thereof 

and of the Resolution;  

unless a Supplemental Resolution provides that Bonds of a Series having the benefit of a Credit Facility shall 

not thereby be deemed paid if payment is provided by the Credit Facility. If principal of a Bond is paid or 

redeemed by the provider of a Credit Facility, the related Reimbursement Obligation shall be treated as an 

Outstanding Bond (when such related Reimbursement Obligation is not evidenced by Bonds designated as 

Bank Bonds) in lieu of the Bond so paid or redeemed, but only to the extent that principal of the Bond was 

so paid or redeemed, bearing interest at the interest rate provided in the Credit Facility. 

Owner or Bondowner Or any similar term when used with reference to Bonds, means any Person who shall be the registered owner 

of any Outstanding Bond. 

Paying Agent Any paying agent for the Bonds of any Series and its successor or successors and any other Person which 

may at any time be substituted in its place, pursuant to the Resolution. 

Person Any individual, corporation, partnership, limited partnership, joint venture, association, joint-stock company, 

trust, unincorporated association, limited liability corporation or partnership, or government or any agency 

or subdivision thereof, or other legal entity or group of entities. 

Principal Installment As of any date of calculation with respect to any Series, so long as any Bonds thereof are Outstanding, (i) 

the principal amount of Bonds on a certain future date for which no Sinking Fund Installments have been 

established, or (ii) the unsatisfied balance of any Sinking Fund Installments due on a certain future date for 

Bonds of such Series, plus the amount of the sinking fund redemption premiums, if any, which would be 

applicable upon redemption of such Bonds on such future date in a principal amount equal to said unsatisfied 

balance of such Sinking Fund Installments, or (iii) if such future dates coincide as to different Bonds of such 

Series, the sum of such principal amount of Bonds and of such unsatisfied balance of Sinking Fund 

Installments due on such future date plus such applicable redemption premiums, if any. 

Project A Project as such term is defined in the Financing Agreements.  In the Financing Agreement with each 

Board, “Project” is defined as buildings, structures, improvements and equipment of every kind, nature and 

description which may be required by or convenient for the purposes of an Institution or other things which 

the Board is authorized by law (at the relevant time) to undertake or use, in each case if and to the extent (i) 

capitalizable by the Board, including but not limited to a capital lease, and (ii) approved by the Authority 

upon application therefor made by the Board in such form, substance and manner as may be prescribed by 

the Authority, all subject to any permissible amendment of the Financing Agreement.  See Appendix D – 

“Summary of Certain Provisions of the Financing Agreements – Amendment.”  Pursuant to legislation 

adopted at the 2005 session of the General Assembly, computer software (whether acquired before, at the 

same time as, or after the hardware needed for utilization of the software) to the extent accounted for as a 

capital asset shall constitute equipment for financing purposes, and projects may include agricultural land 

related to educational purposes of an Institution purchased from a governmental entity prior to October 1, 

2005. 



 

C - 6 

 

Project Cost All direct capital costs and indirect capital costs of Projects, including but not limited to costs of construction 

and acquisition, costs of issuance of Debt, funded interest on Debt, and amounts to fund or replenish reserves 

as may be required by the Resolution, if and to the extent approved by the Authority upon application therefor 

made by the Board in such form, substance and manner as may be prescribed by the Authority. 

Put Bonds Bonds which by their terms may be tendered by and at the option of the Owner thereof for payment prior to 

the stated maturity or redemption date thereof either (i) by the Authority and by the Person and/or from the 

source specified in a Supplemental Resolution or (ii) without recourse to the Authority by the Person and/or 

from the source specified in a Supplemental Resolution. 

Qualified Swap To the extent from time to time permitted by law, any cap, floor or collar, forward rate, future rate, asset, 

swap or index, price or market linked transaction or agreement, other exchange or rate protection transaction 

or agreement, other similar transaction (however designated) or any combination thereof, or any option with 

respect thereto, executed by the Authority with or guaranteed by a qualified swap counterparty either for 

asset or liability management purposes or otherwise pursuant to the Act or other applicable law.  For purposes 

of this definition, "qualified swap counterparty" means a bank, insurance company or financial institution 

rated, or whose long-term obligations of any nature or claims paying ability are rated, at the time of execution 

in one of the two highest Rating Categories of any Rating Agency. 

Rating Agency At any applicable time, Moody's, S&P, Fitch and any other nationally recognized rating agency, or any of 

them, as appropriate; provided, however, that the same maintains at such time a rating on the Bonds at the 

request of the Authority.  

Rating Category A generic rating category of an applicable Rating Agency without regard to any refinement or gradation of 

such rating by a numerical modifier or otherwise. 

Redemption Price With respect to any Bond, the principal amount thereof, plus the applicable premium, if any, payable upon 

maturity or redemption thereof pursuant to the Resolution and the Supplemental Resolution pursuant to 

which the same was issued. 

Refunding Bonds All Bonds constituting the whole or a part of a Series of Bonds delivered on original issuance pursuant to the 

Resolution. 

Registrar The registrar for the Bonds of any Series, and its successor or successors and any other Person which may at 

any time be substituted in its place pursuant to the Resolution. 

Reimbursement 

Obligation 

Any obligation of the Authority to make payments to a provider of a Credit Facility in reimbursement of or 

as interest on (which interest may be higher than the interest rate on the related Bond) an advance, loan or 

other payment made by such provider for the purpose of paying (i)  the principal, Sinking Fund Installment, 

if any, or Redemption Price of, or interest on, any Bonds, or (ii)  the purchase price, plus accrued interest, if 

any, of any Bonds tendered pursuant to the provisions of the applicable Supplemental Resolution, but only 

to the extent the principal amortization requirements with respect to such reimbursement are equal to the 

amortization requirements for such related Bonds, without acceleration. Reimbursement Obligations shall 

not include (a) any payments of any fees, expenses, or other similar obligations to any such provider, which 

payments shall be Administrative Expenses or (b) any payments pursuant to term-loan or other principal 

amortization requirements in reimbursement of any such advance that are more accelerated than the 

amortization requirements on such related Bonds, which payments shall be Subordinated Obligations.  

Reimbursement Obligations may be evidenced by Bonds designated as Bank Bonds, which may bear a 

higher interest rate than the rate borne by the Bonds to which they relate. 

Reserve Fund Credit 

Facility 

(i) any irrevocable, unconditional letter of credit issued by a bank, national banking association or savings 

and loan association, (ii) any insurance policy providing substantially equivalent liquidity as an irrevocable, 

unconditional letter of credit, and which is issued by a municipal bond or other insurance company, and (iii) 

any other similar financial arrangement as determined by Supplemental Resolution, and which is used to 

fund all or a portion of the Debt Service Reserve Requirement; provided, however, that at the time of 

acceptance by the Authority, the provider's long term obligations of any nature or claims paying ability are 

rated, by each Rating Agency then rating any Outstanding Bonds, no lower than the same Rating Category 

(for this purpose, taking into account refinements and gradations) as the Bonds are then rated by such Rating 

Agency. 

  



 

C - 7 

 

Revolving Credit 

Agreement 

The Revolving Credit Agreement dated March 20, 2014, by and among the Authority, Wells Fargo Bank, 

National Association, as Bank, and U.S. Bank National Association, as Administrative Agent and as Bank, 

as amended. 

Revolving Credit 

Loans 

Loans made from time to time under the Revolving Credit Agreement. 

Resolution The Second Program General Bond Resolution adopted by the Authority on April 27, 1998, as from time to 

time amended or supplemented by Supplemental Resolutions in accordance with the terms and provisions 

thereof. 

S&P S&P Global Ratings or any successor then maintaining a rating on any Bonds at the request of the Authority. 

Serial Bonds The Bonds which mature in annual or semi-annual installments of principal, which need not be equal and 

the first installment of which may be deferred, or Bonds so designated in a Supplemental Resolution. 

Series or 

Series of Bonds or 

Bonds of a Series or 

words of similar 

meaning 

The Series of Bonds authorized by a Supplemental Resolution. 

Series Certificate The certificate of determination of the Authority fixing terms, conditions and other details of a Series of 

Bonds in accordance with the delegation of power to do so under the General Bond Resolution and under an 

applicable Supplemental Resolution. 

Sinking Fund 

Installment 

As of any date of calculation and with respect to any Bonds of a Series, so long as any Bonds thereof are 

Outstanding, the amount of money required by the Resolution or the applicable Supplemental Resolution or 

Series Certificate to be paid on a single future date for the retirement of any Outstanding Bonds of said Series 

that mature after said future date and which is unsatisfied as determined pursuant to the Resolution, but does 

not include any amount payable by the Authority by reason only of the maturity of a Bond. 

Sinking Fund Payment 

Date 

Each date on which a Sinking Fund Installment is payable on the Bonds, provided that such date shall be a 

date on which a Sinking Fund Installment is payable as provided in or pursuant to each Supplemental 

Resolution. 

State The State of Tennessee. 

Subordinated 

Obligations 

Any evidence of indebtedness (including but not limited to commercial paper), other than Bonds or related 

Reimbursement Obligations, issued by the Authority to finance Project Costs of a Project or any other 

indebtedness issued, or other obligations entered into (including but not limited to Qualified Swaps not 

entered into on a parity with Bonds), pursuant to or as permitted by, and complying with, the provisions of 

the Resolution. 

Supplemental 

Resolution 

Any resolution adopted by the Authority pursuant to and in compliance with the provisions of the Resolution 

providing for the issuance of a Series of Bonds, and shall also mean any other resolution adopted pursuant 

to and in compliance with the provisions of the Resolution amending or supplementing the provisions of the 

Resolution as originally adopted or as theretofore amended or supplemented. 

Term Bonds The Bonds so designated in a Supplemental Resolution and payable in part from Sinking Fund Installments. 

Trustee The bank, trust company or national banking association appointed pursuant to the Resolution to act as trustee 

under the Resolution, and its successor or successors and any other bank, trust company or national banking 

association at any time substituted in its place pursuant to the Resolution. 

Valuation Date With respect to any Capital Appreciation Bonds the date or dates set forth in the Supplemental Resolution 

authorizing such Bonds on which specific Accreted Values are assigned to the Capital Appreciation Bonds. 

  



 

C - 8 

 

Variable Interest Rate A variable interest rate or rates (or a multiple of a variable rate or rates of interest) to be borne by any Bond 

within a Series of Bonds.  The method of computing such variable interest rate or rates shall be specified in 

the Supplemental Resolution authorizing such Series of Bonds.  Such Supplemental Resolution shall also 

specify either (i) the particular period or periods of time for which such variable interest rate or rates (or a 

multiple of a variable rate or rates of interest) shall remain in effect or (ii) the time or times upon which any 

change in such variable interest rate or rates (or a multiple of a variable rate or rates of interest) shall become 

effective. 

Variable Interest Rate 

Bonds 

Bonds which bear a Variable Interest Rate but does not include any Bond which, during the remainder of the 

term thereof to maturity, bears interest at a fixed rate. 

 

 

 



 

D - 1 

 

APPENDIX D 

SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE FINANCING AGREEMENTS 

The following is a brief summary of certain provisions of the Financing Agreements, summaries of certain other 

provisions of which are contained elsewhere in this Official Statement.  This and such other summaries do not purport to be 

complete or definitive and are qualified in their entirety by reference to the Financing Agreements, copies of which a re 

available at the offices of the Authority and the Trustee.  For definitions of certain terms used herein, see Appendix C - 

“Glossary of Certain Terms”; provided, however, that for purposes of this summary, the term "Resolution" means, collectively 

or individually as the context may require, the resolutions of the Authority authorizing the issuance of Debt including, without 

limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Higher Educational Facilities Second Program General Bond Resolution and any 

resolutions authorizing the issuance of notes or other obligations (including but not limited to commercial paper), in each 

case as amended and supplemented pursuant to the provisions thereof.  

 

Approval of Projects and Project Costs 

Each Project and Project Costs shall be subject to approval by the Authority upon application therefor made by the 

Board in such form, substance and manner as may be prescribed by the Authority.  

A Project for an Institution shall be approved by the Authority only if the aggregate of the  Fees and Charges collected 

by the Institution in the preceding Fiscal Year is no less than two times the amount required for the payment of the aggregat e 

(without duplication) of (i) the maximum amount of the Annual Financing Charges payable and projected to be payable with 

respect to all Projects (including the Project to be approved) for the Institution in any succeeding Fiscal Year, plus (ii) t he 

maximum amount payable by the Board as First Project Annual Financing Charges with respect to all First Prog ram Projects 

for the Institution in any succeeding Fiscal Year, plus (iii)  the aggregate of all prior charges, pledges, liens and claims on or 

payable from said Fees and Charges with respect to the Institution in any succeeding Fiscal Year, including but n ot limited 

to all prior charges, pledges, liens and claims on or payable from the First Program Fees and Charges with respect to the 

Institution. 

 

Project Funding 

The Authority will use its best efforts to finance and refinance Project Costs by the issuanc e of Debt or from other 

available funds of the Authority, in a manner and under terms deemed by the Authority in its sole discretion to be in the bes t 

interests of the Institution for which the related Project is undertaken or used.   

 

Project Construction Accounts; Reallocation of Balances 

The Authority will establish a separate account (a "Project Construction Account") for each Project prior to or 

simultaneously with the issuance of the first Debt to finance related Project Costs.  All Bond proceeds dete rmined by the 

Authority to be available for the payment of Project Costs, shall be deposited in the respective Project Construction Account s 

unless and to the extent otherwise provided by the Resolution.   

The Authority may reallocate funds in any Project Construction Account derived from the sale of short-term Debt to 

other Project Construction Accounts as deemed necessary or advisable by the Authority.  If long -term Debt has been sold to 

finance or refinance a Project, and funds in the related Project Construction Account are determined by the Authority in its 

sole discretion to be in excess of the amount needed for completion of the Project, the Authority shall apply such excess fun ds 

to the payment of the next scheduled debt service on Debt for such Project, to the redemption or defeasance of such Debt, or 

otherwise as permitted by law to the extent permitted by the Resolution.  

 

Payment of Project Costs 

Disbursement of funds on deposit in Project Construction Accounts will be made upon the submission of proper 

documentation from the Board approved by the Authority.  Submission by the Board of a request for disbursement constitutes 

a representation by the Board that the expenses presented for payment constitute proper and valid charges relate d to the 

Project and constitute Project Costs, and that all covenants and representations made to the Authority with respect to the 

Project, whether in the Agreement or otherwise, continue to be true, complete and accurate.  

 



 

D - 2 

 

Covenants and Representations 

The Board covenants and represents with respect to each Project, among other things, that:  (a) all necessary approvals 

or authorizations by the State (or any agency, subdivision or subentity) with respect to the Project have been or will be 

obtained; (b) the Board will neither (i) permit any encumbrance which materially affects the Board's ability to honor its 

commitments under the Financing Agreement nor (ii)  assign the Financing Agreement or the Board's rights, title or interest 

in or to any Project; (c) the Board will operate, maintain and keep, or cause the operation, maintenance and functioning of, 

the Project in good repair and condition, including the provision of and payment for necessary utilities and insurance covera ge 

in accordance with State policy; (d) the Board will comply with all laws, rules and regulations governing the Institution and 

the Project; and (e) the Board will take no action, nor will it fail to take any action, which would cause the Authority to v iolate 

any tax covenant with respect to any Project. 

 

Annual Financing Charges; Administrative Fees; and Legislative Appropriations 

For a summary of certain provisions of the Financing Agreements relating to the establishment, payment and 

subordination of Annual Financing Charges, Administrative Fees and Legislative Appropriations, see "SECURITY AND 

SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS" in the Official Statement. 

 

Interest of Debtholders 

The Authority and the Board acknowledge that the existence and terms and provisions of the Agreement serve a s an 

inducement to Debtholders to purchase, and serve to secure, Debt.  Accordingly, all covenants and agreements of the 

Authority and the Board under the Financing Agreement are declared therein to be for the benefit of such holders.  

Notwithstanding the foregoing, such holders shall have no right under the Financing Agreement to directly enforce the 

Financing Agreement, but may do so only to the extent permitted and as provided by the related Resolution.  

 

Assignments 

The Board authorizes the Authority to pledge, assign, and transfer its right to receive and collect Annual Financing 

Charges, Administrative Fees, and Legislative Appropriations, together with its rights to enforce the Financing Agreement.  

The Authority has pledged and assigned the Annual Financing Charges and Legislative Appropriations to the Trustee for the 

benefit of the holders of the Bonds and for the application thereof in accordance with the provisions of the Resolution, and 

has granted the Trustee the legal right to enforce such pledge and assignment and the provisions of the Agreements providing 

for the payment thereof.  See "SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTION - Pledge and Assignment 

of Annual Financing Charges and Legislative Appropriations" in the Official S tatement. 

 

Amendment 

Any provision of the Financing Agreement may be amended by agreement of the Authority and the Board; provided, 

however, that no such amendment shall adversely affect or impair in any way (i)  the obligation of the Board to pay Annual 

Financing Charges or Administrative Fees, or (ii) the deduction from appropriations, and payment to the Authority, of 

Legislative Appropriations required to pay Annual Financing Charges, in the case of each of clauses  (i) and (ii) at the times, 

in the manner and in the amounts provided in the Agreement, or (iii) any provision of the Agreement made or provided for 

the purpose of assuring payment of such Annual Financing Charges or Administrative Fees.  

 

Additional Information 

The Board agrees to furnish to the Authority such additional information concerning the financial condition of the 

Board and any Institution as the Authority may from time to time reasonably request including, without limiting the generalit y 

of the foregoing, as and to the extent that the Authority shall determine that disclosure of such information is necessary in 

order to comply with any undertakings made by the Authority pursuant to Rule 15c2-12 of the Securities and Exchange 

Commission or with any other applicable legal requirements. 

 

 



 

E - 1 

 

APPENDIX E 

SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTION 

The following is a brief summary of certain provisions of the Resolution, summaries of certain other provisions of 

which are contained elsewhere in this Official Statement.  This and such other summaries do not purport to be complete or 

definitive and are qualified in their entirety by reference to the Resolution, copies of which are available at the offices o f the 

Authority and the Trustee.  For definitions of certain terms used herein, see Appendix C - “Glossary of Certain Terms.” 

 

Authorization 

The Resolution authorizes the issuance of Bonds in Series pursuant to Supplemental Resolutions, for any purpose 

authorized by the Act.  For a summary of the conditions for the issuance of Bonds and their security and sources of payment, 

see "SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS" in the Official Statement.  

 

Pledge and Assignment of Annual Financing Charges and Legislative Appropriations 

The Annual Financing Charges and Legislative Appropriations, and all rights under the Financing Agreements or 

otherwise to receive the same, which are to be transferred to the Funds or Accounts held by the Trustee, if any, are pledged 

and assigned to the Trustee for the benefit of the Owners of the Bonds and for the application thereof in accordance with the 

provisions of the Resolution, and the Trustee shall have the legal right to enforce such assignment.  Regardless of such pled ge 

and assignment, the Trustee shall have the legal right to enforce the provisions of the Agreements providing for the payment 

thereof in the manner provided in the Financing Agreements and the Resolution.  

The Authority shall at all times, to the extent permitted by law, defend, preserve and protect the pledge of the Annual 

Financing Charges, Legislative Appropriations, and all rights under the Financing Agreements or otherwise to receive the 

same, the Financing Agreements, and other moneys, securities, funds and property pledged and assigned under the Resolution 

and all the rights of the Bondowners under the Resolution against all claims and demands of all Persons whomsoever.   

 

Certain Provisions Relating to Credit Facilities, Qualified Swaps and Other Arrangements  

The Authority may include such provisions in a Supplemental Resolution authorizing the issuance of a Series of 

Bonds secured by a Credit Facility as the Authority deems appropriate, including but not limited to:  

 

1. So long as the Credit Facility provides security and not merely liquidity, that the providers thereof shall 

have all or any of the rights and remedies of the Owners of the Bonds to which such Credit Facility relates 

and that the related Reimbursement Obligations shall have all or any of the payment, secur ity and other 

rights applicable to the Bonds to which such Reimbursement Obligations relate.  

2. In the event that the principal, Sinking Fund Installments, if any, and Redemption Price of and interest due 

on any Bonds Outstanding shall be paid under the provisions of a Credit Facility, the issuer of such Credit 

Facility shall be subrogated to the rights of such Bondowners in accordance with the terms of such Credit 

Facility. 

3. Interest on any Reimbursement Obligation calculated at any rate, whether or not higher  than the interest rate 

on the related Bond, and principal amortization requirements with respect to such Reimbursement 

Obligation, may be secured by a pledge of and a lien on any of the items pledged in the Resolution for the 

security of the Bonds on a parity with the lien created by the Resolution.  A Reimbursement Obligation shall 

not be secured by the Debt Service Reserve Fund unless the Bonds to which it relates are so secured.  

Reimbursement Obligations shall not include any payments of any fees, expenses, indemnification, or other 

obligations to any such provider, which payments shall be Subordinated Obligations payable from the 

General Fund.  All Reimbursement Obligations shall be deemed to be a part of the Series of Bonds to which 

the Credit Facility which gave rise to such Reimbursement Obligations relates.  Reimbursement Obligations 

may be evidenced by Bonds designated as "Bank Bonds." 

In connection with the issuance of a Series of Bonds or at any time thereafter so long as a Series of Bonds remain s 

Outstanding, the Authority may, to the extent from time to time permitted pursuant to law, enter into Qualified Swaps relatin g 

to such Bonds. The Authority's obligation to make any payment under any Qualified Swap may be secured by a pledge of, 



 

E - 2 

 

and a lien on, the items pledged in the Resolution for the security of the Bonds on a parity with the lien created by the 

Resolution or be payable from or secured by amounts on deposit in the Debt Service Fund or Debt Service Reserve Fund, or 

shall constitute Subordinated Obligations payable from the General Fund, as determined by the Authority; provided, however, 

that any optional or mandatory termination payments shall constitute Subordinated Obligations.  If a Qualified Swap is 

payable from and/or secured by the Debt Service Fund and Debt Service Reserve Fund, the Authority may provide by 

Supplemental Resolution for a recalculation of the Debt Service Reserve Requirement for any Bonds to take into account the 

Authority's debt service payment obligations on such Bonds as affected by such Qualified Swap. 

Funds and Accounts 

For a description of the flow of funds under the Resolution and of the application of the Debt Service Fund and Debt 

Service Reserve Fund, see "SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS - Flow of Funds" and “- Debt 

Service Reserve Fund" in the Official Statement. 

 

Construction Fund 

The Authority shall establish in the Construction Fund, to be held by the State Treasurer or, at the direction of the 

State Treasurer, a separate custodian, a separate Account with respect to each Project.  As promptly as practicable after the 

delivery of any Series of Bonds or Subordinated Obligations to pay Project Costs, the Authority shall deposit into each Proje ct 

Construction Account the amount of the proceeds derived from the sale of such Series of Bonds or Subordinated Obligations, 

if any, as shall be directed by or pursuant to the Supplemental Resolution or other resolution or indenture authorizing the 

issuance thereof.  Moneys on deposit in or credited to a Project Construction Account shall be used by the Authority for 

payment of the Project Costs of the Project to which the Project Construction Account relates.  The Authority may transfer 

from a Project Construction Account to the General Fund such amounts as the Authority shall determine is necessary to pay 

Administrative Expenses of the Authority chargeable to the Project to which such Project Construction Account relates.  

Upon completion of a Project the moneys, if any, remaining in the Project Const ruction Account for such Project, 

after making provision for the payment of allocable Administrative Expenses and Project Costs then unpaid, either shall be 

reallocated by the Authority to other Projects in accordance with the Financing Agreements or shall  be applied (or, if the 

Debt Service Fund is then held by the Trustee, transferred by the State Treasurer to the Trustee and applied by the Trustee) 

as directed by the Authority to the payment of principal, Sinking Fund Installments, if any, or Redemption Price of or interest 

on Bonds issued for the related Project. 

 

Capitalized Interest Accounts 

The Supplemental Resolution authorizing any Series of Bonds may establish a separate Account within the Debt 

Service Fund for each Project.  Moneys in the Capitalized Interest Accounts shall be used, to the extent sufficient therefor, 

for the purpose of paying interest on the Series of Bonds in respect of which such moneys have been set aside, either directl y 

therefrom or by transfer to the Debt Service Fund, prior to the payment of such interest from Annual Financing Charges. 

 

Investment of Funds and Accounts 

Moneys in all Funds and Accounts shall be invested in Investment Obligations, except as may be otherwise limited 

by Supplemental Resolution. 

Unexpended Bond proceeds and all Annual Financing Charges, Administrative Fees, and Legislative Appropriations, 

and investment earnings allocable thereto, held in Project Construction Accounts or in other Funds or Accounts, may be 

commingled for investment purposes either as a separate fund or as part of a common fund with other moneys of the Authority 

or the State, or otherwise; provided that (i) such investments and the income or interest earned, profits realized or losses 

suffered thereby shall be allocated and credited to the appropriate Funds or Accounts or otherwise in accordance with 

Authority and State policy, and (ii) all Funds and Accounts so commingled for investment purposes shall nevertheless be 

accounted for separately as required by the Resolution.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, moneys on deposit with the State 

Treasurer (other than in connection with defeasance) may be invested at a rate or return fixed from time to time pursuant to 

State policy, without the necessity of allocating and crediting any particular  investment (but only an amount invested) and 

without regard to actual investment, income, interest, profits or losses.   

Except as otherwise provided in the Resolution, the Trustee or the State Treasurer, as the case may be, shall sell at 

the best price obtainable by the Trustee or the State Treasurer, as the case may be, through its ordinary and customary 

practices, or present for redemption or exchange, or as directed in writing by the Authority, any Investment Obligation held 



 

E - 3 

 

by it in any Fund or Account whenever it shall be necessary in order to provide moneys to meet any payment or transfer from 

the Fund or Account for which such investment was made. 

 

Certain Covenants of the Authority 

For a description of the agreement of the Authority on behalf of the State, pursuant to the Act, see "SECURITY AND 

SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS - Statutory Covenant" in the Official Statement. 

Creation of Liens.  Until the pledge created in the Resolution shall be discharged and satisfied as provided therein, 

the Authority shall not issue any bonds or other evidences of indebtedness, other than the Bonds (or any related 

Reimbursement Obligations) secured by a prior or equal pledge of the Annual Financing Charges, Legislative Appropriations, 

and all rights under the Financing Agreements or otherwise to receive the same, the Financing Agreements, or any moneys 

and securities in the Debt Service Fund and Debt Service Reserve Fund, and shall not create or cause to be created any lien 

or charge equal or prior to the Bonds (or any related Reimbursement Obligations) on Annual Financing Charges Legislative 

Appropriations, and all rights under the Financing Agreements or otherwise to receive the same, the Financing Agreements, 

in each such case except as permitted by the Resolution, or on any moneys and securities in the Debt Service Fund and Debt 

Service Reserve Fund. 

Tax Exemption.  The Authority may include in the applicable Supplemental Resolution for any Series of Bonds any 

and all covenants necessary or appropriate to maintain the exclusion from gross income for purposes of federal income 

taxation of interest on such Bonds.  See "TAX MATTERS" in the Official Statement.  The Authority may issue Bonds the 

interest on which is not intended to be excluded from gross income, and therefore may be taxable, for purposes of federal 

income taxation. 

Compliance with and Amendment of Financing Agreements.   The Authority will at all times comply with the 

covenants, terms and conditions of the Financing Agreements and shall take all steps, actions and proceedings as may be 

necessary in order to require compliance by the Boards with the covenants, terms and conditions thereof, the breach of which 

would in any way materially adversely affect or impair the obligation of the Boards to pay Annual  Financing Charges and 

Legislative Appropriations at the times and in the manner and amounts provided in the Financing Agreements.  

The Authority will not amend any Financing Agreement in any manner that would materially adversely affect or 

impair the obligation of the applicable Board to pay Annual Financing Charges or Legislative Appropriations at such times, 

in such manner and in such amounts sufficient, together with other moneys available for the purpose, to pay the principal of 

and Sinking Fund Installments and interest on the Bonds as the same becomes due and payable, but reserves the right to 

amend the Financing Agreements in any other respect without the consent of any Fiduciary or any Bondowner.  

 

Supplemental Resolutions; Amendments 

The Authority may at any time or from time to time adopt Supplemental Resolutions without the consent of 

Bondowners and, except as may be agreed to in or in connection with any Credit Facility or Qualified Swap, the provider of 

any Credit Facility or Qualified Swap, for any one or more of the following purposes: (1) to authorize Bonds of a Series and, 

in connection therewith, specify and determine any matters and things relative to such Bonds which are not contrary to or 

inconsistent with the Resolution as theretofore in effect; (2) to establish for any Series of Bonds a separate Account in the 

Debt Service Reserve Fund which shall be permitted to be applied solely to the payment of Bonds of such Series, provided 

that (i) the Bonds of such Series shall have no claim or lien  on nor be payable from any other amounts in the Debt Service 

Reserve Fund, (ii) the Bonds of such Series shall be excluded from the calculation of the Debt Service Reserve Requirement 

for all other Outstanding Bonds, and (iii) the amount required to be on  deposit in such separate Accounts shall be specified 

or calculated in a manner specified in the Supplemental Resolution authorizing the Bonds of such Series, but in no event shal l 

such amount, after giving effect to any Reserve Fund Credit Facility deposi ted in any such separate Account in the Debt 

Service Reserve Fund, be in excess of the amount that would otherwise be the Debt Service Reserve Requirement for such 

Series of Bonds assuming that such Series of Bonds were the only Series of Bonds Outstanding  under the Resolution; (3) to 

modify, amend or supplement the Resolution in any manner in order to obtain or provide for or with respect to a Credit 

Facility, Reserve Fund Credit Facility or Qualified Swap with respect to any Series of Bonds, so long as th e Authority 

determines that such Supplemental Resolution does not materially adversely affect the rights of the Owners of Outstanding 

Bonds; (4) to add additional covenants and agreements of the Authority for the purpose of further securing the payment of 

the Bonds, provided that such additional covenants and agreements are not contrary to or inconsistent with the covenants and 

agreements of the Authority contained in the Resolution as theretofore in effect; (5) to add to the Resolution any provisions  

relating to the application of interest earnings in any Fund or Account required by law to preserve the exclusion from gross 

income for Federal income tax purposes of interest received on any Bonds then Outstanding or to be issued or the exemption 



 

E - 4 

 

of interest received on such Bonds from State income taxation; (6) to modify or eliminate any Debt Service Reserve 

Requirement in excess of the minimum required therefor as provided in the definition thereof; (7) to modify, amend or 

supplement the Resolution in such manner as to permit the qualification hereof under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as 

amended, or any similar Federal statute, or to permit the qualification of any Bonds for sale under the securities laws of an y 

of the states of the United States of America, and to add such other terms, conditions and provisions as may be permitted by 

said Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, or similar Federal statute; (8) with the consent of the Trustee, (i) to cure an y 

ambiguity, or defect or inconsistent provision in the Resolution, or (ii) to insert such provisions clarifying matters or questions 

arising under the Resolution as are necessary or desirable in the event any such modifications are not contrary to or 

inconsistent with the Resolution as theretofore in effect; or to make any other modification or amendment of the Resolution 

which the Trustee shall in its sole discretion determine will not have a material adverse effect on the rights of Bondowners,  

provided that in making any such determination, the Trustee may conclusively rely upon a Counsel's Opinion or certificate 

of any Person deemed by the Trustee in its sole discretion to be reliable; (9) to comply with the requirements of any Rating 

Agency in order to maintain or improve a rating on the Bonds by such Rating Agency; or (10) to modify any of the provisions 

of the Resolution in any respect whatsoever, provided that such modification shall be, and be expressed to be, effective only  

after all Bonds Outstanding at the date of the adoption of such Supplementa l Resolution either shall cease to be Outstanding 

or the Owners of the requisite percentage of the principal amount of such Bonds shall have consented thereto.  

Any modification or amendment of the Resolution and of the rights and obligations of the Authori ty and of the 

Owners of the Bonds under the Resolution, in any particular, may be made by a Supplemental Resolution, with the written 

consent (a) of the Owners of at least fifty-one percent (51%) in principal amount of the Bonds Outstanding at the time such 

consent is given, or (b) in case less than all of the several Series of Bonds then Outstanding are affected by the modificati on 

or amendment, of the Owners of at least fifty-one percent (51%) in principal amount of the Bonds of each Series so affected 

and Outstanding at the time such consent is given, or (c) in case the modification or amendment changes the amount or date 

of any Sinking Fund Installment, of the Owners of one hundred percent (100%) in principal amount of the Bonds of the 

particular Series, maturity and interest rate entitled to such Sinking Fund Installment Outstanding at the time such consent is 

given; provided, however, that if such modification or amendment will, by its terms, not take effect so long as any Bonds of 

any specified like Series and maturity remain Outstanding, the consent of the Owners of such Bonds shall not be required and 

such Bonds shall not be deemed to be Outstanding for the purpose of any calculation of Outstanding Bonds.  No such 

modification or amendment shall (a) permit a change in the terms of redemption or maturity of the principal of any 

Outstanding Bond or of any installment of interest thereon or a reduction in the principal amount or the Redemption Price 

thereof or in the rate of interest thereon without the consent of the Owner of such Bond, (b) permit the creation of any pledge, 

lien, charge or encumbrance of or upon any of the items purported to be pledged pursuant to the Resolution, which pledge, 

lien, charge or encumbrance would be prior to, or of equal rank with, the pledge or source of payment for the Bonds created 

by the Resolution, without the consent of the Owners of all Outstanding Bonds affected by such change, or deprive any Owner 

of any Outstanding Bond of the benefit of such pledge or source of payment for the Bonds, without the consent of such 

Owner, except as permitted by the Resolution, (c) create, with respect to the pledge of the items set forth in the Resolution , a 

preference or priority of any Bond over any other Bond without the consent of each Owner of a Bond affected by such change, 

or (d) reduce the percentages of the Bonds the consent of the Owners of which is required to waive an Event of Default or 

otherwise effect any such modification or amendment.  For such purposes, a Series shall be deemed to be affected by a 

modification or amendment of the Resolution if the same materially adversely affects the rights of the Owners of Bonds of 

such Series. The Trustee may in its discretion determine whether or not, in accordance with the foregoin g provisions, Bonds 

of any particular Series or maturity would be affected by any modification or amendment of the Resolution and any such 

determination shall be binding and conclusive on the Authority and all Owners of Bonds.  The Trustee may receive an o pinion 

of counsel, including a Counsel's Opinion, as conclusive evidence as to whether Bonds of any particular Series or maturity 

would be so affected by any such modification or amendment of the Resolution.  

Notwithstanding anything in the Resolution to the contrary, the consent of Owners of any Series of additional Bonds 

to be issued under the Resolution shall be deemed given if the underwriters or initial purchasers for resale thereof consent in 

writing to any modification or amendment; provided, however , that such modification, amendment and consent are disclosed 

in the official statement or other offering document pursuant to which such Series of additional Bonds is offered and sold to  

the public. 

For purposes of amendments to the Resolution, but only so long as the Credit Facility provider has not defaulted on 

its obligations under the Credit Facility, (i) the provider of a Credit Facility shall be considered the sole Owner of all Bo nds 

to which such Credit Facility relates, except as otherwise provided in an applicable Supplemental Resolution, and (ii) any 

amendment provision of the Resolution may be waived by such provider with respect to its consent to any amendment, by an 

instrument in writing filed with the Authority and the Trustee.  



 

E - 5 

 

The Authority shall furnish written notice to each Rating Agency of any amendment, change or modification of the 

Resolution.   

 

Events of Default 

Each of the following events is an "Event of Default": (1) the Authority shall default in the payment of the principal, 

Sinking Fund Installments, if any, or Redemption Price of or interest on any Bond when and as the same shall become due, 

whether at maturity or upon call for mandatory redemption or otherwise, which default shall continue for a period of thirty 

(30) days; (2) the pledge created in the Resolution shall, at any time and for any reason, cease to be in full force and effect or 

a judgment or order of any court of competent jurisdiction, or of any arbitrator or panel of arbitrators, as to which all app eals 

have been exhausted, shall be rendered which shall declare the pledge to be null and void, or shall declare that the pledge 

does not establish in any material respect the lien it purports to establish, or that the pledge is not for the exclusive ben efit of 

the Owners of the Bonds, except as provided in or permitted by the Resolution; (3) the Authority shall fail or refuse to comply 

with the provisions of the Act as then in effect, or shall default in the performance or observance of any other of the coven ants, 

agreements or conditions on its part contained in the Resolution, any Supplemental Resolution, or in the Bonds, and such 

failure, refusal or default shall continue for a period of ninety (90) days after written notice thereof (specifying such def ault 

and requiring that such notice is a "Notice of Default" under the Resolution) is given to the Authority by the Trustee or to the 

Authority and the Trustee by the Owners of not less than twenty-five percent (25%) in principal amount of the Outstanding 

Bonds; however, in the event that the default be such that it cannot be corrected within such ninety (90) day period, it shall 

not constitute an Event of Default if corrective action is instituted by the Authority within such period and diligently purs ued 

(as determined by the Trustee) until the default is corrected; (4) a court having jurisdiction in the premises shall enter a decree 

or order providing for relief in respect of the Authority or either Board in an involuntary case under any applicable bankrup tcy, 

insolvency, reorganization or other similar law now or hereafter in effect, or appointing a receiver, liquidator, assignee, 

custodian, trustee, sequestrator (or similar official) of the Authority or either Board, or for any substantial part of its p roperty, 

or ordering the winding-up or liquidation of its affairs and such decree or order shall remain unstayed and in effect for a 

period of ninety (90) days; or (5) the Authority or either Board shall commence a voluntary case under any applicable 

bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other similar law now or hereafter in effect, shall consent to the entry of an order 

for relief in an involuntary case under any such law, or shall consent to the appointment of or taking possession by a receiv er, 

liquidator, assignee, trustee, custodian, sequestrator (or similar official) of the Authority or either Board, or for any substantial 

part of its property, or shall make any general assignment for the benefit of creditors, or shall fail generally to pay its d ebts 

as they become due or shall take any action in furtherance of the foregoing.    

Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in the Resolution shall preclude the Authority from seeking and obtaining 

from the General Assembly a change in law, to limit, modify, rescind, repeal or otherwise alter the character of the pledged 

items or to substitute like or different sources of fees, charges, appropriations or other receipts as pledged revenues if an d 

when adequate provisions shall be made by law for the protection of the Owners of Outstanding Bonds pursuant to the 

proceedings under which the Bonds are issued, including changing or altering the method of establishing fees, charges and 

appropriations as contemplated by the Act.  The Authority (or the Trustee at the request of the Authority) shall mail to the 

Bondowners notice of any such change or alteration pursuant to such proviso.  The Authority shall file with the Trustee, or 

the Trustee shall retain on file, proof of their respective mailing of such notice to Bondowners.  Such change or alteration 

shall be deemed conclusively binding upon the Authority, each Fiduciary and the Owners of all Bonds at the expiration of 

thirty (30) days after the filing with the Trustee of the proof of the mailing of notice referred to above, e xcept in the event of 

a final decree of a court of competent jurisdiction setting aside such change or alteration in a legal action or equitable 

proceeding for such purpose commenced within such thirty (30) day period.  

 

Remedies 

Upon the happening and continuance of (i) any Event of Default specified in clause (1), (4) or (5) of the first 

paragraph under "Events of Default" above, the Trustee shall proceed, and (ii) any other Event of Default, the Trustee may 

proceed, and upon the written request of the Owners of not less than twenty-five percent (25%) in principal amount of the 

Outstanding Bonds or if the Event of Default arises from the failure of the Authority to duly and punctually perform the tax 

covenants contained in the Resolution, twenty-five per centum (25%) in principal amount of the Outstanding Bonds of such 

Series affected thereby, shall proceed, in its own name, to protect and enforce its rights and the rights of the Bondowners b y 

such of the following remedies, as the Trustee, being advised by counsel, shall deem most effectual to protect and enforce 

such rights:  (1) by suit, action or proceeding at law or in equity in any court of competent jurisdiction, enforce all right s of 

the Bondowners, including the right to require the Authority to enforce the Agreements and collect the Annual Financing 

Charges and Legislative Appropriations payable thereunder, or to carry out any other covenant or agreement with Bondowners 



 

E - 6 

 

under the Resolution and to perform its duties under the Act, the Agreements and the Resolution; (2) bring suit upon the 

Bonds; (3) by action or suit, require the Authority to account as if it were the trustee of an express trust for the Owners o f the 

Bonds; (4) by action or suit, enjoin any acts or things which may be unlawful or in v iolation of the rights of the Owners of 

the Bonds; or (5) in accordance with the provisions of the Act, declare all Bonds due and payable, and if all defaults shall be 

made good, then, with the written consent of the Owners of not less than twenty-five percentum (25%) in principal amount 

of the Outstanding Bonds, to annul such declaration and consequences, but no such annulment shall extend to or effect any 

subsequent default or impair or exhaust any right or power consequent thereon.  

All remedies conferred upon or reserved to the Owners of Bonds under the Resolution may be conferred upon and 

reserved in lieu thereof to the provider of a related Credit Facility authorized by a Supplemental Resolution.  Nothing herei n 

shall preclude the Authority from providing in an applicable Supplemental Resolution, or in any Credit Facility authorized 

thereby, that the exercise of any remedy under the Resolution or the waiver of any Event of Default under the Resolution by 

the Trustee or the Owner of any such Bond shall be subject to the prior written consent of the provider of any related Credit 

Facility.   

No Owner of any Bond shall have any right to institute any suit, action, or other proceeding under the Resolution, or 

for the protection or enforcement of any right under the Resolution or any right under law unless such Owner shall have given 

to the Trustee written notice of the event of default or breach of duty on account of which such suit, action or proceeding i s 

to be taken, and unless the Owners of not less than twenty-five percent (25%) in principal amount of the Bonds then 

Outstanding shall have made written request of the Trustee after the right to exercise such powers or right of action, as the  

case may be, shall have occurred, and shall have afforded the Trustee a reasonable opportunity either to proceed to exercise 

the powers herein granted or granted under the law or to institute such action, suit or proceeding in its name and unless, al so, 

there shall have been offered to the Trustee reasonable security and indemnity against the costs, expenses and liabilities to be 

incurred therein or thereby, and the Trustee shall have refused or neglected to comply with such request within a reasonable 

time. 

In the case of the pendency of any receivership, insolvency, liquidation, bankruptcy, reorganization, arrangement, 

adjustment, composition or other judicial proceeding relating to the Authority, the Board or any Institution, or any property  

of the Authority, the Board or any Institution, the Trustee (whether or not the principal of the Bonds shall then be due and 

payable by acceleration or otherwise, and whether or not the Trustee shall have made any demand upon the Authority for the 

payment of overdue principal and interest) shall be entitled and empowered, by intervent ion in such proceeding or other 

means (1) to file and prove a claim for the whole amount of the principal, Redemption Price, if any, and interest owing and 

unpaid in respect of the Bonds then Outstanding and to file such other papers or documents as may be  necessary or advisable 

in order to have the claims of the Trustee (including any claim for the reasonable compensation, expenses, disbursements and 

advances of the Trustee, its agents and counsel) and of the Owners allowed in such proceeding; and (2) to c ollect and receive 

any moneys or other property payable or deliverable on any such claims and to distribute the same.  

Prior to the declaration of maturity of the Bonds as provided in the Resolution, the Owners of not less than a majority 

in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds at the time Outstanding, or their attorneys-in-fact duly authorized, may on behalf 

of the Owners of all of the Bonds waive any past default under the Resolution and its consequences, except a default in the 

payment of interest on or principal of or premium, if any, on any of the Bonds.  No such waiver shall extend to any subsequent 

or other default or impair any right consequent thereon. 

The Trustee shall promptly mail to the Bondowners notice of each Event of Default under the Resolution known to 

the Trustee within fifteen (15) Business Days after knowledge of the occurrence thereof, unless such Event of Default shall 

have been remedied or cured before the giving of such notice; provided, however, that, except in the case of default  in the 

payment of the principal, Sinking Fund Installment, if any, or Redemption Price, if any, of or interest on any of the Bonds, 

or in the making of any payment required to be made into the Debt Service Fund or the Debt Service Reserve Fund, the 

Trustee shall be protected in withholding such notice if and so long as the board of directors, the executive committee, or a 

trust committee of directors or responsible officers of the Trustee in good faith determines that the withholding of such not ice 

is in the interests of the Bondowners. 

 



 

E - 7 

 

Defeasance 

Bonds or interest installments for the payment or redemption of which moneys shall have been set aside and shall be 

held in trust by the Fiduciaries at the maturity or redemption date thereof shall be deemed to have been paid within the 

meaning and with the effect of the Resolution, subject to an election of the Authority to the contrary.  Any Outstanding Bond s 

of any Series shall, prior to the maturity or redemption date thereof, be deemed to have been paid with in the meaning and 

with the effect, but subject to such election, of the Resolution if (a) in case any of said Bonds are to be redeemed on any d ate 

prior to their maturity, the Authority shall have given to the Registrar instructions accepted in writing by  the Registrar to give 

notice of redemption, as provided in the Resolution, on said date of such Bonds (other than Bonds which have been purchased 

by a Paying Agent at the direction of the Authority or purchased or otherwise acquired by the Authority and d elivered to a 

Paying Agent as hereinafter provided prior to the mailing of such notice of redemption), (b) there shall have been deposited 

with any Paying Agent either (i) moneys in an amount which shall be sufficient, or (ii) Defeasance Obligations the pr incipal 

of and the interest on which when due will provide moneys which, together with the moneys, if any, deposited with such 

Paying Agent at the same time, shall be sufficient to pay, when due, the principal or Redemption Price, if applicable, and 

interest due and to become due on said Bonds on and prior to the redemption date or maturity date thereof, as the case may 

be, and (c) in the event said Bonds are not by their terms subject to redemption within the next succeeding sixty (60) days, 

the Authority shall have given the Registrar in form satisfactory to it instructions to mail, as soon as practicable, a notice to 

the Owners of such Bonds, at their last addresses appearing upon the registry books at any time (but not more than fifteen 

(15) days) prior to such mailing, that the deposit required by (b) above has been made with a Paying Agent and that said 

Bonds are deemed to have been paid in accordance with this Section and stating such maturity or redemption date upon which 

moneys are expected to be available for the payment of the principal or Redemption Price, if applicable, of said Bonds (other 

than Bonds which have been purchased by a Paying Agent at the direction of the Authority or purchased or otherwise acquired 

by the Authority and delivered to a Paying Agent prior to the mailing of the notice of redemption referred to in clause (a) 

hereof).  Such Paying Agent shall, as and to the extent necessary, apply moneys held by it pursuant to this Section to the 

retirement of Bonds in amounts equal to the unsatisfied balances (determined as provided in Section 604) of any Sinking 

Fund Installments with respect to such Bonds, all in the manner provided in the Resolution.  

Unclaimed Moneys 

Any moneys held by a Fiduciary in trust for the payment and discharge of the principal or Redemption Price of or 

interest on any of the Bonds which remain unclaimed for three years (or such other period as may at the time be prescribed 

by the laws of the State) after the date when such principal, Redemption Price or interest,  respectively, became due and 

payable, either at their stated maturity dates or by call for earlier redemption, if such moneys were held by the Fiduciary a t 

such date, or for three years (or such other period as may be prescribed by the laws of the State) after the date of deposit of 

such moneys if deposited with the Fiduciary after the said date when such principal, Redemption Price or interest, 

respectively, became due and payable, shall, at the written request of the Authority, be repaid by the Fiduciary  to the 

Authority, as its absolute property and free from trust, and the Fiduciary shall thereupon be released and discharged with 

respect thereto and the Bondowners shall look only to the Authority for the payment of such Bonds.   

 



 

 

[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 

 

 

 

 

 



 

F - 1 

 

APPENDIX F 

BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM 

The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, New York, will act as securities depository for the Offered 

Bonds.  The Offered Bonds will be issued as fully-registered bonds registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC's partnership 

nominee) or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  One fully-registered bond 

certificate will be issued for each maturity of the Offered Bonds, in the aggregate principal amount of such maturity, and will 

be deposited with DTC. 

DTC, the world’s largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York 

Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve 

System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a “clearing agency” 

registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  DTC holds and provides asset 

servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate and municipal debt issues, and money 

market instruments (from over 100 countries) that DTC’s participants (“Direct Participants”) deposit with DTC.  DTC also 

facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other securities transactions in deposited securities, 

through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and pledges between Direct Participants' accounts. This eliminates the 

need for physical movement of securities certificates.  Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers 

and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations .  DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary 

of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”). DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities 

Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC is owned 

by the users of its regulated subsidiaries. Access to the DTC system is also available to other s such as both U.S. and non-U.S. 

securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial 

relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect Participants”). D TC has a Standard & Poor’s 

rating of AA+. 

The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission. More 

information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com and www.dtc.org. 

Purchases of the Offered Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will 

receive a credit for the Offered Bonds on DTC's records.  The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each Offered 

Bond (“Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants' records.  Beneficial Owners will 

not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written 

confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic  statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect 

Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction.  Transfers of ownership interests in the Offered 

Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial 

Owners.  Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in the Offered Bonds, except 

in the event that use of the book-entry system for the Offered Bonds is discontinued. 

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Offered Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered in the 

name of DTC's partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of 

DTC.  The deposit of the Offered Bonds with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC 

nominee do not effect any change in beneficial ownership.  DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the 

Offered Bonds; DTC's records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such Offered Bonds are 

credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners.  The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible for 

keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers. 

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to Indirect 

Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by arrangement s 

among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.  Beneficial Owners of 

the Offered Bonds may wish to take certain steps to augment the transmission to them of notices of significant events with 

respect to the Offered Bonds, such as redemptions, tenders, defaults, and proposed amendments to the Offered Bond 

documents.  For example, Beneficial Owners of the Offered Bonds may wish to ascertain that the nominee holding the Offered 

Bonds for their benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit notices to Beneficial Owners.  In the alternative, Beneficial Owner s 

may wish to provide their names and addresses to the registrar and request that copies of notices be provided directly to them.  

Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC.  If less than all of the Offered Bonds of a maturity of a series are being 

redeemed, DTC's practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such maturity of such 

series to be redeemed. 



 

F - 2 

 

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to the Offered Bonds 

unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s MMI Procedures.  Under its usual procedures, DTC mails 

an Omnibus Proxy to the Authority as soon as possible after the record date.  The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.'s 

consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts the Offered Bonds are credited on the record date 

(identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy). 

Principal, interest and redemption premium, if any, payments on the Offered Bonds will be made to Cede & Co., or 

such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  DTC’s practice is to credit Direct 

Participants’ accounts upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from the Authority or any Paying 

Agent, on payable date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC’s records. Payments by Participants to 

Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for 

the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in “street name”, and will be the responsibility of such Participant and 

not of DTC or the Authority or any Paying Agent, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect 

from time to time.  Payment of principal, interest and redemption premium, if any, to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as 

may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility of the Authority or any Paying Agent, 

disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will be the responsibil ity of DTC, and disbursement of such payments 

to the Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants.  

DTC may discontinue providing its services as securities depository with respect to the Offered Bonds at any time 

by giving reasonable notice to the Authority.  Under such circumstances, in the event that a successor securities depository 

is not obtained, bond certificates are required to be printed and delivered.  

The Authority may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry-only transfers through DTC (or a successor 

securities depository).  In that event, bond certificates will be printed and delivered to DTC.  

THE FOREGOING INFORMATION CONCERNING DTC AND DTC’S BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM HAS 

BEEN OBTAINED FROM SOURCES THAT THE AUTHORITY BELIEVES TO BE RELIABLE, BUT THE AUTHORITY 

TAKES NO RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE ACCURACY THEREOF.  NONE OF THE AUTHORITY, TRUSTEE, 

REGISTRAR, PAYING AGENT OR UNDERWRITERS CAN MAKE ANY ASSURANCE THAT DTC OR THE DTC 

PARTICIPANTS WILL ACT IN A MANNER DESCRIBED HEREIN, NOR WILL THEY HAVE ANY RESPONSIBILITY 

OR OBLIGATION TO THE DTC PARTICIPANTS OR BENEFICIAL OWNERS FOR (1) SENDING TRANSACTION 

STATEMENTS; (2) MAINTAINING, SUPERVISING OR REVIEWING, OR THE ACCURACY OF, ANY RECORDS 

MAINTAINED BY DTC OR ANY DTC PARTICIPANT; (3) PAYMENT OR THE TIMELINESS OF PAYMENT BY DTC 

ANY DIRECT DTC PARTICIPANT, OR BY ANY DIRECT DTC PARTICIPANT OR INDIRECT DTC PARTICIPANT 

TO ANY BENEFICIAL OWNER OF ANY AMOUNT DUE TO ANY BENEFICIAL OWNER IN RESPECT TO THE 

PRINCIPAL OR REDEMPTION PREMIUM IF ANY, OR INTEREST ON OFFERED BONDS; (4) DELIVERY OR 

TIMELY DELIVERY BY DTC OR ANY DTC PARTICIPANT TO ANY BENEFICIAL OWNER OF ANY NOTICE 

(INCLUDING NOTICE OF REDEMPTION) OR OTHER COMMUNICATIONS TO ANY BENEFICIAL OWNER WHICH 

IS REQUIRED OR PERMITTED UNDER THE TERMS OF THE BOND DOCUMENTS TO BE GIVEN TO 

BONDHOLDERS; (5) THE SELECTION OF THE BENEFICIAL OWNERS TO RECEIVE PAYMENT IN THE EVENT 

OF ANY PARTIAL REDEMPTION OF OFFERED BONDS; OR (6) ANY ACTION TAKEN BY DTC OR ITS NOMINEE 

AS THE REGISTERED OWNER OF THE OFFERED BONDS. 

So long as Cede & Co. is the registered owners of the Offered Bonds, as nominee for DTC, references in the Official 

Statement to the Bondholders or registered owners of the Offered Bonds (other than under the caption “Tax Matters” in the 

Official Statement) shall mean Cede & Co. or any other DTC nominee, as aforesaid, and shall not mean the Beneficial Owners 

of the Offered Bonds. 

 

 

 



 

G - 1 

 

APPENDIX G 

SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF  

THE CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING 

The following is a brief summary of certain provisions of the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking.  This summary 

does not purport to be complete or definitive and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Continuing Disclosure 

Undertaking, copies of which are available at the offices of the Authority.  For definitions of certain terms used but not 

defined herein, see Appendix C - "GLOSSARY OF CERTAIN TERMS.” 

The Authority has authorized a Continuing Disclosure Undertaking (the "Undertaking") with respect to the Offered 

Bonds to assist the Underwriters in complying with U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) Rule 15C2-12 (the 

“Rule”).  In the Undertaking, the Authority will agree to provide the Annual Financial Information described below with 

respect to each fiscal year of the Authority, commencing with the fiscal year ending June 30, 2021, by no later than 7 months 

after the end of the respective fiscal year, to the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board ("MSRB"). 

"Annual Financial Information" means updated versions of the following financial information and operating data 

contained in the Official Statement relating to the Offered Bonds with respect to the Authority, for each fiscal year of the 

Authority: 

• Outstanding Second Program Bonds (see “The Authority – Outstanding Second Program Bonds of the Authority”) 

• Authorized and Outstanding Revolving Credit Loans (see “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE 

BONDS – Subordinated Obligations; Revolving Credit Loans”) 

• Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System financial information and operating data and Higher Education Employer 

Contributions (see “TENNESSEE PUBLIC HIGHER EDUCATION – Employee Retirement Benefits”) 

• Other Post-Employment Benefits unfunded liabilities and annual required contributions (see “TENNESSEE PUBLIC 

HIGHER EDUCATION – Other Post-Employment Benefits”) 

• Appendix B – Selected Statistical  Information 

 

The descriptions contained above are of general categories or types of financial information and operating data.  

When such descriptions include information that no longer can be generated because the operations to which it related have 

been materially changed or discontinued, a statement to that effect will be provided in lieu of such information. 

Annual Financial Information will include the annual financial statements of the Authority, audited by such auditors 

as shall then be required or permitted by State law ("Audited Financial Statements"), if ava ilable, or unaudited financial 

statements.  If not provided as part of Annual Financial Information by the date referred to above because they are not 

available, the Authority will provide Audited Financial Statements, when and if available, to the MSRB.  Audited Financial 

Statements will be prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for governmental units as prescribed 

by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or any successor to the  duties 

and responsibilities of either of them ("GAAP"). 

Annual Financial Information also will include the annual financial statements of the State, including component 

unit reporting of The University of Tennessee system and the Board of Trustees of the University of Tennessee, and of the 

State University and Community College System of the State of Tennessee and the Tennessee Board of Regents, in each case 

audited by such auditors as shall then be required or permitted by State law, if available.  If not  provided as part of Annual 

Financial Information by the date referred to above because they are not available, the Authority will provide such audited 

financial statements, when and if available, to the MSRB.  Such audited financial statements will be pre pared in accordance 

with GAAP. 

In the Undertaking, the Authority also agrees to provide, in a timely manner not in excess of 10 business days after 

the occurrence of the event, notice of each of the following events with respect to the Offered Bonds, to th e MSRB: 

 

(i) principal and interest payment delinquencies; 

(ii) non-payment related defaults, if material; 

(iii) unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties; 



 

G - 2 

 

(iv) unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties; 

(v) substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform; 

(vi) adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or final determinations of taxability, 

Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other material notices or determinations with respect to the 

tax status of the Offered Bonds, or other material events affecting the tax status of the Offered Bonds; 

(vii) modifications to rights of Offered Bondholders, if material; 

(viii) bond calls, if material, and tender offers; 

(ix) defeasances; 

(x) release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the Offered Bonds, if material; 

(xi) rating changes; 

(xii) bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the Authority; 

(Note to clause (xii):  For the purposes of the event identified in clause (xii) above, the event is considered to occur 

when any of the following occur:  the appointment of a receiver, fiscal agent or similar officer for the Authority in 

a proceeding under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or in any other proceeding under state or federal law in which a 

court or government authority has assumed jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the 

Authority, or if such jurisdiction has been assumed by leaving the existing governing body and officials or officers 

in possession but subject to the supervision and orders of a court or governmental authority, or the entry of an order 

confirming a plan of reorganization, arrangement or liquidation by a court or governmental authority having 

supervision or jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the Authority.) 

(xiii) the consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the Authority or the sale of all or 

substantially all of the assets of the Authority, other than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into a 

definitive agreement to undertake such an action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such 

actions, other than pursuant to its terms, if material; and 

(xiv) appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a trustee, if material 

(xv) incurrence of a Financial Obligation of the Authority or of any Institution, if material, or agreement to covenants, 

events of default, remedies, priority rights, or other similar terms of a Financial Obligation of the Authority or of 

such Institution, as the case may be, any of which affect holders of Offered Bonds, if material; and 

(xvi) default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms, or other similar events under the terms of 

a Financial Obligation of the Authority or of any Institution any of which reflect financial difficulties. 

For the purposes of clauses (xv) and (xvi) above, “Financial Obligation” means:  (A)  debt obligation; (B) derivative 

instrument entered into in connection with, or pledged as security or a source of payment for, an existing or planned debt 

obligation; or (C) guarantee of (A) or (B) above, but does not include municipal securities as to which a final official statement 

has been provided to the MSRB consistent with the Rule.  

The Authority will also provide, in a timely manner, notice of any failure of the Authority to provide the Annual 

Financial Information by the date specified above to the MSRB. 

Unless otherwise required by the MSRB, all notices, documents and information provided to the MSRB shall be 

provided to the MSRB’s Electronic Municipal Markets Access (EMMA) system, the current Internet Web address of which 

is www.emma.msrb.org. 

All notices, documents and information provided to the MSRB shall be provided in an electronic format as prescribed 

by the MSRB (currently, portable document format (pdf) which must be word-searchable except for non-textual elements) 

and shall be accompanied by identifying information as prescribed by the MSRB. 



 

G - 3 

 

The Undertaking will be effective upon the issuance of the Offered Bonds and will terminate upon the legal 

defeasance, prior redemption or payment in full of all of the Offered Bonds.  The Undertaking, or any provision thereof, shal l 

be null and void in the event that the Authority (i) receives an opinion of counsel to the effect that those portions of the Rule 

which require the Undertaking, or such provision, as the case may be, do not or no longer apply to the Offered Bonds, whether  

because such portions of the Rule are invalid, have been repealed, or otherwise, as shall be specified in such opinion, and (ii) 

delivers copies of such opinion to the MSRB.  The Undertaking may be amended without the consent of the holders of the 

Offered Bonds in connection with a change in circumstances that arises from a change in legal (including regulatory) 

requirements, a change in law (including rules and regulations) or in interpretations thereof, or a change in the identity, n ature 

or status of the Authority or the type of business conducted thereby, or if an amendment to the Rule is adopted, or a new or 

modified official interpretation of the Rule is issued, which is applicable to the Undertaking, in each case subject to certa in 

additional requirements, all as described in the Undertaking.  Copies of any such amendment are required to be delivered to 

the MSRB. 

The provisions of the Undertaking shall constitute a contract with and inure solely to the benefit of the holders from 

time to time of the Offered Bonds, except that beneficial owners of Offered Bonds shall be third-party beneficiaries of the 

Undertaking and shall be deemed to be holders of Offered Bonds for purposes of the next sentence.  The obligations of the 

Authority to comply with the provisions of the Undertaking are enforceable by any holder of outstanding Offered Bonds; the 

holders' rights to enforce the provisions of the Undertaking are limited solely to a right, by action in mandamus or for spec ific 

performance, to compel performance of the Authority's obligations under the Undertaking.  Any failure by the Authority to 

perform in accordance with the Undertaking will not constitute a default or an event of default under the resolutions 

authorizing the Offered Bonds or State law and shall not result in any acceleration of payment of the Offered Bonds, and the 

rights and remedies provided by such resolutions and applicable State law upon the occurrence of such a default or an event 

of default shall not apply to any such failure. 

The Undertaking shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State, and any suits and actions 

arising out of the Undertaking shall be instituted in a court of competent jurisdiction in the State; provided, however, that  to 

the extent the Undertaking addresses matters of federal securities laws, including the Rule, the Undertaking shall be construed 

in accordance with such federal securities laws and official interpretations thereof.  

 

 

 



 

 

[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 

 

 

 

 



 

H - 1 
 

APPENDIX H 

FORM OF PROPOSED OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL 

 

February 24, 2021 

Tennessee State School Bond Authority 

Nashville, Tennessee 

 

TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY 

HIGHER EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES SECOND PROGRAM BONDS 

2021 SERIES A (FEDERALLY TAXABLE), $713,365,000 

 

 

Dear Sirs: 

 

At your request, we have examined into the validity of $713,365,000 principal amount of Higher Educational 

Facilities Second Program Bonds, 2021 Series A (Federally Taxable) (the “2021 Bonds) of the Tennessee State School Bond 

Authority (the “Authority”), a corporate agency and instrumentality of the State of Tennessee (the “State”). 

The 2021 Bonds are issued under and pursuant to the Tennessee State School Bond Authority Act (Section 49-3-

1201 et seq., Tennessee Code Annotated) as amended to date (the “Act”), the Higher Educational Facilities Second Program 

General Bond Resolution adopted by the Authority on April 27, 1998, as amended to date (the “General Resolution”) and a 

Supplemental Resolution of the Authority adopted on January 25, 2021 (the “Supplemental Resolution” and, collectively with 

the General Resolution, the “Resolution”). 

We have examined the Constitution and laws of the State; certified copies of proceedings of the Authority authorizing 

the issuance of the 2021 Bonds, including the Resolution; a certified copy of a Second Program Financing Agreement by and 

between the Authority and the Board of Trustees of The University of Tennessee (the “Board of Trustees”) dated as of 

November 1, 1997, as amended and restated as of May 9, 2013; a certified copy of a Second Program Financing Agreement 

by and between the Authority and the Board of Regents of the State University and Community College System of the State 

of Tennessee (the “Board of Regents” and, together with the Board of Trustees, the “Boards”) dated as of November 1, 1997, 

as amended and restated as of May 9, 2013; certified copies of proceedings of the Authority authorizing the execution and 

delivery of said Second Program Financing Agreements (collectively, the “Second Program Financing Agreements”); such 

other instruments, documents, certificates and proceedings, and applicable law, as we have considered appropriate for 

purposes of this opinion; and a specimen 2021 Bond. 

Based on the foregoing, we are of the opinion that: 

1. The Authority has the right and power under the Act to adopt the  Resolution and the Resolution has been 

duly and lawfully adopted by the Authority, is in full force and effect, is valid and binding upon the Authority 

and is enforceable against the Authority in accordance with its terms.  The Resolution creates the vali d 

pledge which it purports to create of the Annual Financing Charges and Legislative Appropriations (as each 

is defined in the Resolution), and all rights under the Second Program Financing Agreements or otherwise 

to receive the same, and moneys and securities held or set aside under the Resolution, subject to the 

application thereof to the purposes and on the conditions permitted by the Resolution.  

  



 

H - 2 
 

2. The 2021 Bonds have been duly and validly authorized and issued in accordance with the laws of the State, 

including the Constitution of the State and the Act, and in accordance with the Resolution, and are entitled 

to the benefits of the Resolution and of the Act.  The 2021 Bonds are valid and binding obligations of the 

Authority as provided in the Resolution, and are enforceable against the Authority in accordance with their 

terms and the terms of the Resolution, payable solely from the Annual Financing Charges, Legislative 

Appropriations and other moneys and securities held or set aside under the Resolution, subject to the 

application thereof to the purpose and on the conditions permitted by the Resolution.  The Authority reserves 

the right to issue additional bonds on the terms and conditions, and for the purposes, provided in the General 

Resolution, on a parity of payment and security with the 2021 Bonds; provided, however, that as permitted 

by the General Resolution, certain series of bonds issued thereunder may not be payable from or secured by 

the Debt Service Reserve Fund on the same basis as others, and may not have any amount made available 

under the Resolution as a debt service reserve therefor (which initially is the case with the 2021 Bonds).  

The Authority has no taxing power, the State is not liable on the 2021 Bonds and the 2021 Bonds are not a 

debt of the State. 

3. The Second Program Financing Agreements have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the 

Authority and, assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by the other parties thereto, constitute 

valid contractual obligations of the Authority.  You have received opinions of counsel to the Board of 

Regents and counsel to the Board of Trustees to the effect that the respective Second Program Financing 

Agreements have been duly executed and delivered by the respective Boards and constitute valid contractual 

obligations thereof, and we express no opinion herein with respect thereto.  The State has not waived the 

immunity of the State (including, for this purpose, the Authority and the Boards) from suit or extended its 

consent to be sued with respect to the Second Program Financing Agreements.  Accordingly, monetary 

actions against the State (including the Authority and the Boards) for breach of contractual obligations 

relating to the Financing Agreements may be heard and determined under current law exclusively in the 

Tennessee Claims Commission, an administrative tribunal, where liability may be limited to actual damages 

and certain costs. 

4. Under the existing laws of the State, the 2021 Bonds and income therefrom are free from taxation by the 

State or any county, municipality or political subdivision of the State, except for estate and gift taxes and 

taxes on transfers, and except to the extent included within the measure of privilege taxes imposed pursuant 

to the laws of the State. 

5. Interest on the 2021 Bonds is included in gross income for federal income tax purposes. 

The opinions expressed in paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 above are subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, 

reorganization, moratorium and other laws heretofore or hereafter enacted affecting creditors’ rights, and are subject to the 

application of principles of equity relating to or affecting the enforcement of contractual obligations, whether such 

enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law. 

We express no opinion herein as to (i) federal, state or local tax consequences arising with respect to the 2021 Bonds, 

or the ownership or disposition thereof, except as stated in paragraphs 4 and 5 above, (ii) federal, state or local tax matters to 

the extent affected by any action hereafter taken or not taken in reliance upon an opinion of counsel other than ourselves, or 

(iii) the accuracy, adequacy, sufficiency or completeness of the Official Statement (or any update or amendment thereof or 

supplement thereto) of the Authority relating to the 2021 Bonds, or any other financial or other information which has been 

or may be supplied to purchasers or prospective purchasers of the 2021 Bonds. 

This letter is rendered solely with regard to the matters expressly opined on above and does not consider or extend 

to any documents, agreements, representations or other material of any kind not specifically opined on above.  No other 

opinions are intended nor should they be inferred. 

This letter is issued as of the date hereof, and we assume no obligation to update, revise or supplement this letter to 

reflect any action hereafter taken or not taken, or any facts or circumstances that may hereafter come to our attention, or 

changes in law or in interpretations thereof, that may hereafter occur, or for any other reason. 

 

Very truly yours, 

 

 



PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT DATED __________, 2022 

 

NEW ISSUE          BOOK-ENTRY ONLY 

OFFICIAL STATEMENT 

TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY 

HIGHER EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES 

SECOND PROGRAM BONDS 

$___________* 2022 SERIES A 

$___________* 2022 SERIES B (FEDERALLY TAXABLE) 

 

Dated: Date of Delivery Due: November 1 (as shown on inside front cover) 

 

This Official Statement has been prepared by the Tennessee State School Bond Authority (the “Authority”) to 

provide information relating to the Authority’s Higher Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds, 2022 Series A (the 

“2022A Bonds”) and 2022 Series B (Federally Taxable) (the “2022B Bonds”) (collectively, the “Offered Bonds”).  Selected 

information is presented on this cover page for the convenience of the user.  To make an informed decision regarding the 

Offered Bonds, a prospective investor should read this Official Statement in its entirety. 

Security The Offered Bonds are special obligations of the Authority payable solely from and secured by Annual 

Financing Charges (as defined herein) payable to the Authority by the Board of Trustees of The University 

of Tennessee and the Tennessee Board of Regents of the State University and Community College System 

of the State of Tennessee, Legislative Appropriations (as defined herein) payable to the Authority and other 

funds as more fully described herein.  The Authority has no taxing power.  (See “SECURITY AND 

SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS” herein). 

Purpose See “PURPOSES OF THE OFFERED BONDS” herein. 

Interest Payment Dates May 1 and November 1, beginning May 1, 2023. 

Interest Rates/Prices/Yields See inside front cover. 

Denominations $5,000 or integral multiples thereof. 

No Debt Service Reserve The Offered Bonds currently will not be secured by any funded debt service reserve.  See “SECURITY AND 

SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS - Debt Service Reserve Fund” herein. 

Book-Entry Only System The Depository Trust Company.  See Appendix F. 

Redemption See “DESCRIPTION OF THE OFFERED BONDS – Redemption” herein. 

Tax Exemption Interest on the 2022A Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes to the extent and 

subject to the condition, limitations and continuing compliance with tax covenants as described herein. 

The Offered Bonds and the interest thereon are exempt from Tennessee taxes, subject to certain exceptions.   

See “TAX MATTERS” herein. 

Ratings See “RATINGS” herein. 

Trustee/Paying Agent Regions Bank, Nashville, Tennessee. 

 

The Offered Bonds are offered when, as and if issued and received by the Initial Purchasers subject to certain conditions, 

including the approval of legality by Hawkins Delafield & Wood LLP, Bond Counsel to the Authority.  Certain legal matters in 

connection with the Offered Bonds are subject to the approval of the Attorney General and Reporter of the State of Tennessee, 

as counsel to the Authority.  The Offered Bonds are expected to be available through the facilities of The Depository Trust 

Company on or about ________________, 2022. 

 
The Offered Bonds will be awarded pursuant to electronic competitive bidding to be held via IPREO LLC’s 

BiDCOMPTM/PARITY® Competitive Bidding System on behalf of the Authority on __________, 2022, unless postponed or 

cancelled, as set forth in the Notice of Sale contained in Appendix I. 

Dated:  _____________, 2022 

 

T
h

is
 P

r
el

im
in

a
ry

 O
ff

ic
ia

l 
S

ta
te

m
e
n

t 
a

n
d

 t
h

e
 i

n
fo

r
m

a
ti

o
n

 c
o

n
ta

in
e
d

 h
e
re

in
 a

re
 s

u
b

je
c
t 

to
 c

o
m

p
le

ti
o

n
 o

r
 a

m
e
n

d
m

e
n

t 
w

it
h

o
u

t 
n

o
ti

c
e
. 
 U

n
d

e
r
 n

o
 c

ir
c
u

m
st

a
n

c
e
s 

sh
a
ll

 t
h

is
 P

r
el

im
in

a
ry

 O
ff

ic
ia

l 
S

ta
te

m
e
n

t 

c
o

n
st

it
u

te
 a

n
 o

ff
er

 t
o
 s

el
l 

o
r
 a

 s
o

li
c
it

a
ti

o
n

 o
f 

a
n

 o
ff

er
 t

o
 b

u
y
, 

n
o

r
 s

h
a

ll
 t

h
e
r
e 

b
e
 a

n
y
 s

a
le

 o
f,

 t
h

e
se

 s
ec

u
r
it

ie
s 

in
 a

n
y

 j
u

ri
sd

ic
ti

o
n

 i
n

 w
h

ic
h

 s
u

c
h

 o
ff

er
, 

so
li

ci
ta

ti
o

n
 o

r 
sa

le
 w

o
u

ld
 b

e
 u

n
la

w
fu

l 
p

r
io

r 
to

 r
eg

is
tr

a
ti

o
n

 

o
r
 q

u
a

li
fi

c
a

ti
o

n
 u

n
d

e
r
 t

h
e 

se
c
u

r
it

ie
s 

la
w

s 
o

f 
a

n
y

 s
u

c
h

 j
u

r
is

d
ic

ti
o

n
. 

 

* Preliminary; subject to change 
 

 

 



*Preliminary; subject to change.  Bonds maturing on or after November 1, 20__ (subject to change) may be structured as Term Bonds as provided in the Notice of Sale attached hereto 

as Appendix I. See also “DESCRIPTION OF THE OFFERED BONDS – Redemption – Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption”  

†CUSIP® is a registered trademark of the American Bankers Association. CUSIP data herein is provided by CUSIP Global Services ("CGS"), which is managed on behalf of the 

American Bankers Association by FactSet Research Systems Inc. This data is not intended to create a database and does not serve in any way as a substitute for the CGS database. 

CUSIP numbers are provided for convenience of reference only.  The Authority is not responsible for the selection or use of these CUSIP numbers, nor is any representation made as 

to their correctness on the Offered Bonds or as indicated herein. 

 

 

 

TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY 

Higher Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds 

Maturities, Amounts, Interest Rates, Yields, and CUSIP Numbers 

 

$___________* 2022 Series A  

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

$___________* 2022 Series B (Federally Taxable) 

 

 

 

Due 

Nov. 1 Amount

Interest 

Rate Yield

CUSIP
† 

880558

Due 

Nov. 1 Amount

Interest 

Rate Yield

CUSIP
† 

880558



 

 

TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY 

Bill Lee, Governor, Chairman 

Jason E. Mumpower, Comptroller of the Treasury, Secretary 

Tre Hargett, Secretary of State 

David H. Lillard, Jr., State Treasurer 

Jim Bryson, Commissioner of Finance and Administration 

Randy Boyd, President of the University of Tennessee 

Dr. Flora Tydings, Chancellor of the Tennessee Board of Regents 

 

 

STAFF 

Sandra Thompson, Director, Division of State Government Finance, Assistant Secretary 

Sharon Schmucker, Manager, Division of State Government Finance 

Jacqueline Felland, Program Accountant, Division of State Government Finance 

Mark Graubner, Program Accountant, Division of State Government Finance 

 

 

BOND COUNSEL TO AUTHORITY 

Hawkins Delafield & Wood LLP, New York, New York 

 

 

AUTHORITY'S COUNSEL 

Attorney General and Reporter of the State of Tennessee, Nashville, Tennessee 

 

 

FINANCIAL ADVISOR 

PFM Financial Advisors LLC, Memphis, Tennessee 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 



 

 

This Official Statement does not constitute an offering of any security other than the Offered Bonds 

specifically offered hereby.  No dealer, broker or other person has been authorized by the Authority to give any 

information or to make any representation other than as contained in this Official Statement, and if given or 

made, such other information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorized by the 

Authority.  This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy, nor 

shall there be any sale of, the Offered Bonds by any person in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful to make 

such offer, solicitation or sale. 

Certain information set forth herein has been provided by the Authority.  Certain other information set 

forth herein has been obtained by the Authority from sources believed to be reliable, but it is not guaranteed as 

to accuracy or completeness, and is not to be construed as a representation, by the Underwriters.  The information 

and expressions of opinion herein are subject to change without notice, and neither the delivery of this Official 

Statement nor any sale made hereunder shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has 

been no change in the affairs of the Authority since the date hereof.   

The prices and other terms respecting the offering and sale of the Offered Bonds may be changed from 

time to time by the respective Initial Purchaser after such Offered Bonds are released for sale, and the Offered 

Bonds may be offered and sold at prices other than the initial offering prices, including sales to dealers who may 

sell the Offered Bonds into investment accounts. 

 IN CONNECTION WITH THIS OFFERING, THE RESPECTIVE INITIAL PURCHASER MAY OVER-

ALLOT OR EFFECT TRANSACTIONS THAT STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICES OF THE 

OFFERED BONDS AT A LEVEL ABOVE THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN THE OPEN MARKET.  

SUCH STABILIZING, IF COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT ANY TIME. 

 NO REGISTRATION STATEMENT RELATING TO THE OFFERED BONDS HAS BEEN FILED WITH THE 

SECURITIES EXCHANGE COMMISSION (THE "SEC") OR ANY STATE SECURITIES AGENCY.  THE OFFERED 

BONDS HAVE NOT BEEN APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED BY THE SEC OR ANY STATE SECURITIES AGENCY, 

NOR HAS THE SEC OR ANY STATE SECURITIES AGENCY PASSED UPON THE ACCURACY OR ADEQUACY 

OF THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT.  ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY MAY BE A CRIMINAL 

OFFENSE. 

In making an investment decision, investors must rely on their own examination of the Authority and 

the terms of the offering, including the merits and risks involved. 

 

 



 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

 

INTRODUCTION ............................................................................ 1 
PURPOSES OF THE OFFERED BONDS ....................................... 2 

Application of the Offered Bond Proceeds ................................. 2 
Sources and Uses of Funds for the Offered Bonds ..................... 3 

DESCRIPTION OF THE OFFERED BONDS ................................. 3 
General ....................................................................................... 3 
Fiduciaries .................................................................................. 3 
Redemption ................................................................................ 3 

SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS 6 
Financing Agreements ................................................................ 6 
Annual Financing Charges; Fees and Charges ........................... 7 
Legislative Appropriations ......................................................... 7 
Statutory Covenant ..................................................................... 8 
Flow of Funds ............................................................................ 8 
Debt Service Reserve Fund ........................................................ 9 
Additional Bonds ........................................................................ 9 
Qualified Swaps ....................................................................... 10 
Subordinated Obligations; Revolving Credit Loans ................. 10 
Certain State Law Bondowner Remedies ................................. 11 
Termination of Existence ......................................................... 11 
2013 Amendments to the Act, the Resolution and the Financing 

Agreements .............................................................................. 11 
THE AUTHORITY ........................................................................ 12 

Membership of the Authority ................................................... 12 
Outstanding Indebtedness of the Authority .............................. 13 

TENNESSEE PUBLIC HIGHER EDUCATION .......................... 13 
General ..................................................................................... 13 
Capital Projects ........................................................................ 14 
Tennessee Promise (to be updated) .......................................... 14 
Tennessee Reconnect (to be updated) ...................................... 15 
Outcomes-Based Funding (to be updated) ............................... 15 
Employee Retirement Benefits ................................................ 16 
Other Post-Employment Benefits ............................................ 18 
Impact of COVID-19 (to be updated) ...................................... 18 
Cybersecurity ........................................................................... 20 

REVIEW AND APPROVAL PROCESS FOR FINANCING OF 

PROJECTS BY AUTHORITY............................................. 21 
RATINGS ...................................................................................... 22 
LITIGATION ................................................................................. 22 
TAX MATTERS (TO BE UPDATED).......................................... 22 

Federal Tax Matters ................................................................. 22 
State of Tennessee Tax Matters ............................................... 23 

FINANCIAL ADVISOR ................................................................ 23 
LEGAL OPINIONS ....................................................................... 24 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION; CONTINUING DISCLOSURE

 .............................................................................................. 24 
SALE BY COMPETITIVE BIDDING .......................................... 24 
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS ...................................... 24 
MISCELLANEOUS ...................................................................... 25 

 

 

APPENDIX A: FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE AUTHORITY ...................................................................................... A-1 

APPENDIX B: TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY SELECTED STATISTICAL INFORMATION ......... B-1 

APPENDIX C: GLOSSARY OF CERTAIN TERMS .................................................................................................................. C-1 

APPENDIX D: SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE FINANCING AGREEMENTS ....................................... D-1 

APPENDIX E: SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTION ................................................................ E-1 

APPENDIX F: BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM ........................................................................................................................ F-1 

APPENDIX G: SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING ........ G-1 

APPENDIX H: FORM OF PROPOSED OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL ................................................................................ H-1 

APPENDIX I:  NOTICE OF SALE ............................................................................................................................................... I-1 

 

  



 

  

 

[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 

 

 

 



 

1 

OFFICIAL STATEMENT 

TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY 

HIGHER EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES 

SECOND PROGRAM BONDS 

$___________* 2022 SERIES A 

$___________* 2022 SERIES B (FEDERALLY TAXABLE) 

 

INTRODUCTION 

The purpose of this Official Statement (including the cover and inside cover pages hereof and the Appendices hereto) 

is to set forth information concerning (i) the Tennessee State School Bond Authority (the “Authority”), (ii) the Board of 

Trustees of The University of Tennessee (the “Board of Trustees”), (iii) the Tennessee Board of Regents of the State 

University and Community College System of the State of Tennessee (the “Board of Regents”), (iv) the Institutions (as 

defined below), and (v) the Authority's $___________* aggregate principal amount of Higher Educational Facilities Second 

Program Bonds, 2022 Series A (the “2022A Bonds” and $___________* aggregate principal amount of Higher Educational 

Second Pogram Bonds, 2022 Series B (Federally Taxable) (the “2022B Bonds") . The 2022A Bonds and the 2022B Bonds are 

referred to herein collectively as the “Offered Bonds”.  The Board of Trustees and the Board of Regents are referred to 

collectively as the “Boards.”  “Institutions” consist of (i) the University of Tennessee system, including all of its branches 

and divisions wherever located, and the services, programs and activities provided therein, and the Board of Trustees, in the 

aggregate, and (ii) the State University and Community College System, including all of its constituent institutions, wherever 

located (whether or not conferring degrees), and the services, programs and activities proved therein, and the Board of 

Regents, in the aggregate.  For further information regarding the Boards and Institutions see “TENNESSEE PUBLIC 

HIGHER EDUCATION – General.” 

The capitalization of any word not conventionally capitalized and not otherwise defined herein indicates that such 

word is defined in the Glossary of Certain Terms attached hereto as Appendix C, in the Resolution (as defined herein), or in 

the Financing Agreements (as defined herein). 

The Offered Bonds will be issued pursuant to the Tennessee State School Bond Authority Act , as amended, Sections 

49-3-1201 et seq., Tennessee Code Annotated (the “Act”); the Higher Educational Facilities Second Program General Bond 

Resolution adopted by the Authority on April 27, 1998, as amended July 26, 2004, and May 9, 2013, authorizing the issuance 

thereunder from time to time of Higher Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds (the “Bonds”) ; and a Supplemental 

Resolution adopted by the Authority on September 8, 2022,  authorizing and providing for the issuance of the Offered Bonds 

(such General Bond Resolution as amended and supplemented from time to time, including by such Supplemental Resolution, 

the “Resolution”). For a “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTION”, see Appendix E. 

The Act empowers the Authority, among other things, to issue its bonds and notes to obtain funds, or to refund its 

bonds or notes issued to obtain funds, to finance higher education facilities (as defined in Appendix C, the “Projects”) for the 

purposes of the Institutions and the Boards.   

A portion of the proceeds of the Offered Bonds will be used to prepay the principal portion of a portion 

(approximately $_______________) of the loans outstanding under an Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement 

dated June 2, 2021, by and among the Authority, Wells Fargo Bank, Nashional Association, as Bank, and U.S. Bank National 

Association as Administrative Agent and as Bank (the “Revolving Credit Agreement”) with respect to certain Projects and to 

finance additional costs of certain of such Projects and costs of other Projects.  All loans under the Revolving Credit 

Agreement are referred to herein as “Revolving Credit Loans”.  For a description of the Revolving Credit Agreement, see 

“SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS – Subordinated Obligations; Revolving Credit 

Agreement.”  The remaining proceeds will be applied as described in “PURPOSES OF THE OFFERED BONDS –Application 

of the Offered Bond Proceeds.” 

The Offered Bonds will be payable and secured under the Resolution on a parity with all other Bonds heretofore and 

hereafter issued pursuant to the Act and the Resolution, except as described herein with respect to the Debt Service Reserve 

Fund or otherwise as permitted by the Resolution.  Currently, the aggregate principal amount of Bonds which may be issued 

under the Resolution is not limited by law or the Resolution.  As of June 30, 2022, $1,582,170,000 (unaudited) aggregate 

principal amount of Bonds was outstanding, excluding the Offered Bonds.  In addition, as of June 30, 2022, the Authority 

had $152,660,690 (unaudited) aggregate principal amount of the Revolving Credit Loans outstanding, which included 

$14,243,864 not yet allocated to Institutions and the Revolving Credit Loans that will be prepaid by the Offered Bonds.  See 

“THE AUTHORITY – Outstanding Indebtedness of the Authority.” 

* Preliminary; subject to change 

 

 

 



 

2 

The Bonds, including the Offered Bonds, constitute special obligations of the Authority.  The principal, Sinking 

Fund Installments, if any, and Redemption Price of and interest on the Bonds shall be payable solely from and secured by the 

Annual Financing Charges, Legislative Appropriations and other moneys and securities held or set aside under the Resolution, 

subject to the application thereof to the purposes and on the conditions permitted by the Resolution.   

The Authority and each Board have entered into a separate Second Program Financing Agreement dated as of 

November 1, 1997, as amended (each, a “Financing Agreement”).   The Financing Agreements obligate the Authority to use 

its best efforts to finance Projects for the respective Boards under certain terms and conditions.  Annual Financing Charges 

payable with respect to a Project (including debt service on the portion of the Bonds issued for that Project) are required 

under the Financing Agreements to be paid by the Boards, as and when the same become due, only from Fees and Charges 

collected by or on behalf of the Institution for which the project was financed and, if necessary, from Legislative 

Appropriations for the operation and maintenance of such Institution as described herein.  See “SECURITY FOR THE 

PAYMENT OF THE BONDS – Annual Financing Charges; Fees and Charges” and “– Legislative Appropriations.”  Under 

each Financing Agreement, the relevant Board covenants and agrees to establish and  collect Fees and Charges at each 

Institution at a level sufficient to produce in each Fiscal Year no less than two times the amount required for the payment o f 

the aggregate (without duplication) of (i) all Annual Financing Charges in such Fiscal Year payable with respect to all Projects 

for the Institution, plus (ii) the aggregate of all prior charges, pledges, liens and claims on or payable from said Fees and 

Charges in such Fiscal Year with respect to the Institution. 

The Offered Bonds are not currently secured by any debt service reserve and the Authority has no present intent to 

fund such a reserve at a later date.  See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS – Debt Service 

Reserve Fund.” 

The Financing Agreements and the Resolution constitute the second and only presently available Authority loan 

program for the Boards. 

For a summary of the provisions of the Financing Agreements, see Appendix D – “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN 

PROVISIONS OF THE FINANCING AGREEMENTS.”  For a discussion regarding the security and sources of payment for 

the Offered Bonds, see “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS.”      

PURPOSES OF THE OFFERED BONDS 

Application of the Offered Bond Proceeds 

The Offered Bonds are being issued for the purposes of (i) prepaying the principal portion of the outstanding 

Revolving Credit Loans with respect to certain Projects identified below, (ii) financing additional costs of certain of such 

Projects and costs of certain other Projects identified below, and (iii) funding costs of issuance of the Offered Bonds.   

The following table show the Projects to be financed and refinanced with the proceeds of the 2022A Bonds and the 

principal amount (excluding costs of issuance, original issue discount or premium, capitalized interest, and underwriters’ 

discount) of the 2022A Bonds for each Project: 

 

  

 

  

Institution Project Amount

Middle Tennessee State University Student Athlete Performance Center  $          61,000,000 

Tennessee State University New Student Housing              75,200,000 

Tennessee Technological University Cooper/Dunn Residence Hall Upgrade                5,320,000 

University of Tennessee - Knoxville West Campus Redevelopment Project              24,855,265 

University of Tennessee - Chattanooga Lighting Upgrades                2,700,000 

University of Tennessee - Knoxville Campus Beautification (JW Mall Extension)                6,000,000 

University of Tennessee - Knoxville Neyland Stadium South Renovations              80,000,000 

University of Tennessee - Chattanooga Football/Athletic Facility              25,650,000 

Total 280,725,265$     



 

3 

The following table show the Projects to be financed and refinanced with the proceeds of the 2022B Bonds and the 

principal amount (excluding costs of issuance, original issue discount or premium, capitalized interest, and underwriters’ 

discount) of the 2022B Bonds for each Project: 

 

Sources and Uses of Funds for the Offered Bonds 

The sources and application of funds in connection with the issuance of the Offered Bonds are as follows: 

  

DESCRIPTION OF THE OFFERED BONDS 

General 

The Offered Bonds will be dated the date of their delivery and will mature at the times and in the principal amounts 

as set forth on the inside cover page hereof.  Interest on the Offered Bonds will be payable semi-annually on May 1 and 

November 1, commencing May 1, 2023.  The Offered Bonds will be offered in authorized denominations of $5,000 or integral 

multiples thereof. 

Upon initial issuance, the Offered Bonds will be available only in book-entry form.  The Depository Trust Company, 

New York, New York (“DTC”) will act as initial securities depository for the Offered Bonds and the ownership of one fully 

registered bond for each maturity of the Offered Bonds in the aggregate principal amount of that maturity will be registered 

in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, and deposited with DTC.  Beneficial owners of Offered Bonds will not 

receive physical delivery of bond certificates except under limited circumstances.  See Appendix F - “BOOK-ENTRY ONLY 

SYSTEM” for a description of DTC and its book-entry only system. 

Fiduciaries 

Regions Bank, Nashville, Tennessee, is the Trustee under the Resolution and the Paying Agent and Registrar for the 

Offered Bonds. 

Redemption 

Optional Redemption – 2022A Bonds.  The 2022A Bonds maturing on or after November 1, ____*, are not subject 

to redemption prior to maturity.  The 2022A Bonds maturing on or after November 1, ____*, are subject to redemption prior 

to their stated maturities from any available moneys, at any time on and after November 1 , ____*, as a whole, or in part from 

time to time in any order of maturity determined by the Authority, at a Redemption Price eq ual to the principal amount of 

such Offered Bonds or portions thereof to be redeemed, together with the interest accrued on such principal amount to the 

date fixed for redemption. 

Institution Project Amount

Middle Tennessee State University Parking Services Facility 1,600,000$            

University of Tennessee - Health Science Center Energy Performance Contract 5,500,000              

University of Tennessee - Knoxville Engineering Services Facility 18,000,000            

Total 25,100,000$       

2022A Bonds 2022B Bonds Total

Sources of Funds:

Par Amount of Bonds

Original Issue (Discount) Premium

Total -$                      -$                      -$                      

Uses of Funds:

Project Construction Account (approx)

Loan Principal Prepayment (approx)

Capitalized Interest

Underwriters’ Discount

Costs of Issuance

Total -$                      -$                      -$                      

* Preliminary; subject to change 

 

 

 



 

4 

Optional Redemption – 2022B Bonds.  The 2022B Bonds maturing on or after November 1, ____*, are subject to 

redemption prior to their stated maturities from any available moneys, at any time on and after November 1 , ____*, as a 

whole, or in part from time to time in any order of maturity determined by the Authority, at a Redemption  Price equal to the 

principal amount of such Offered Bonds or portions thereof to be redeemed, together with the interest accrued on such 

principal amount to the date fixed for redemption. 

Prior to November 1, 20__*, the 2022B Bonds are subject to redemption prior to their stated maturities at the option 

of the Authority, at any time as a whole, or in part from time to time in any order of maturity as determined by the Authorit y, 

at a Redemption Price equal to the Make-Whole Redemption Price (as defined below). 

 The “Make-Whole Redemption Price” of any Offered Bonds to be redeemed is an amount equal to the greater of (i) 

100% of the principal amount of such Offered Bonds or (ii) the sum of the present value of the remaining scheduled payments 

of principal and interest to the maturity date of such Offered Bonds not including any portion of those payments of interest 

accrued and unpaid as of the date on which such Offered Bonds are to be redeemed, discounted on a semi annual basis to the 

date on which such Offered Bonds are to be redeemed, assuming a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months, at the 

Treasury Rate (as defined below) plus __ basis points for the bonds maturing _______ to ______ and ____ basis points  for 

bonds maturing ______; plus, in each case, accrued and unpaid interest on such Offered Bonds on such redemption date.  

"Treasury Rate" means, with respect to any redemption date for any particular Offered Bond, the greater of:  

(i) the yield to maturity as of such redemption date of the United States Treasury securities with a constant 

maturity (as compiled and published in the most recent Federal Reserve Statistical Release H.15 (519) that has 

become publicly available at least two business days prior to, but no more than 45 calendar days prior to, the 

redemption date (excluding inflation indexed securities) (or, if such Statistical Release is no longer published, 

any publicly available source of similar market data)) most nearly equal to the period from the redemption date 

to maturity; provided, however, that if the period from the redemption date to maturity is less than one year, the 

weekly average yield on actually traded United States Treasury securities adjusted to a constant maturity of one 

year will be used; or   

 (ii) the rate per annum, expressed as a percentage of the principal amount, equal to the semiannual equivalent 

yield to maturity or interpolated maturity of the Comparable Treasury Issue (defined below), assuming that the 

Comparable Treasury Issue is purchased on the redemption date for a price equal to the Comparable Treasury 

Price (defined below), as calculated by the Designated Investment Banker (defined below). 

“Comparable Treasury Issue” means, with respect to any redemption date for  a particular Offered Bond, the United 

States Treasury security or securities selected by the Designated Investment Banker that has an actual or interpolated maturi ty 

comparable to the remaining average life of the Offered Bond to be redeemed.  

“Comparable Treasury Price” means, with respect to any redemption date for a particular Offered Bond, (i) if the 

Designated Investment Banker receives at least four Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations (defined below), the average of 

such quotations for such redemption date, after excluding the highest and lowest Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations, or 

(ii) if the Designated Investment Banker obtains fewer than four Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations, the average of all 

such quotations.  

"Designated Investment Banker" means one of the Reference Treasury Dealers (as defined below) appointed by the 

Authority.  

"Reference Treasury Dealer" means each of four firms specified by the Authority from time to time, which firms 

shall be primary United States government securities dealers in the City of New York (each a “Primary Treasury Dealer”); 

provided, however, that if any of them ceases to be a Primary Treasury Dealer, the Authority will substitute another Primary 

Treasury Dealer.  

"Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations" means, with respect to each Reference Treasury Dealer and any redemption 

date for a particular Offered Bond, the average, as determined by the Designated Investment Banker, of the bid and asked 

prices for the Comparable Treasury Issue (expressed in each case as a percentage of its principal amount) quoted in writing 

to the Designated Investment Banker by such Reference Treasury Dealer at 3:30 P.M., New York City time, at least two 

business days prior to, but no more than 45 calendar days prior to, such redemption date.    

The redemption price of such 2022B Bonds to be redeemed will be determined by an independent accounting firm, 

investment banking firm or financial advisor retained by the Authority to calculate such redemption price. The Authority may 

conclusively rely on the determination of such redemption price by such independent accounting firm, investment banking 

firm or financial advisor and will not be liable for such reliance.  

* Preliminary; subject to change 

 

 

 



 

5 

Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption.  The 2022A Bonds maturing on November 1, ____, are Term Bonds subject 

to redemption in part on November 1 in each of the years and in the respective principal amounts set forth below at a 

Redemption Price equal to the principal amount or portion thereof to be redeemed, together with the interest accrue d thereon 

to the date fixed for redemption, from Sinking Fund Installments which are required to be accumulated in the Debt Service 

Fund in amounts sufficient to redeem on November 1 of each year shown below the principal amount of such Offered Bonds 

specified for such year:  

 

 

The 2022B Bonds maturing on November 1, ____, are Term Bonds subject to redemption in part on November 1 in 

each of the years and in the respective principal amounts set forth below at a Redemption Price equal to the principal amoun t 

or portion thereof to be redeemed, together with the interest accrued thereon to the date fixed for redemption, from Sinking 

Fund Installments which are required to be accumulated in the Debt Service Fund in amounts sufficient to redeem on 

November 1 of each year shown below the principal amount of such Offered Bonds specified for such year:  

 

 

Selection of the 2022A Bonds to be Redeemed. If less than all of the 2022A Bonds of a maturity are to be redeemed, 

the particular 2022A Bonds or portions thereof of such maturity to be redeemed shall be selected by the Registrar in any 

manner which it deems fair and appropriate. For so long as a book-entry only system is in effect with respect to the 2022A 

Bonds and DTC or a successor securities repository is the sole registered owner of such 2022A Bonds, in the event of a 

redemption of less than all of the 2022A Bonds of a maturity, the particular ownership interests of the 2022A Bonds of such 

maturity to be redeemed shall be selected by DTC and Direct DTC Participants and Indirect DTC Participants, or by any such 

successor securities depository or any other intermediary, in accordance with their respective operating rules and procedures . 

In the event of a partial redemption, DTC’s rules and procedures currently provide for the redemption to be processed by 

random lottery. Any failure of DTC or its successor, or of a Direct DTC Participant or Indirect DTC Participant, or any other  

intermediary, to make such selection, or to make or fail to make any such selection in any particular manner, will not affect 

the sufficiency or the validity of the redemption of the 2022A Bonds. See Appendix F- “BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM.”  

Selection of the 2022B Bonds to be Redeemed. If less than all of the 2022B Bonds of a maturity are to be redeemed, 

the 2022B Bonds of such maturity shall be redeemed pro rata as nearly as practicable in the proportion that the principal 

amount of the outstanding 2022B Bonds of such maturity owned by each registered owner bears to the aggregate principal 

amount of the outstanding 2022B Bonds of such maturity.  For so long as a book-entry only system is in effect and DTC or a 

successor securities repository is the sole registered owner of the 2022B Bonds, in the event of a redemption of less than all 

of the 2022B Bonds of a maturity, the particular ownership interests of the 2022B Bonds of such maturity to be redeemed 

shall be selected by DTC and Direct DTC Participants and Indirect DTC Participants, or b y any such successor repository or 

any other intermediary, in accordance with their respective operating rules and procedures.  To the extent practicable, the 

Paying Agent will request that DTC select the amount of such interests of 2022B Bonds to be redeemed on a pro rata pass-

through distribution of principal basis in integral multiples of $5,000 in accordance with DTC procedures then in effect.  Th e 

Authority can provide no assurance that DTC or its successor, Direct DTC Participants and Indirect DTC Par ticipants, or any 

successor repository or any other intermediary will allocate the redemption of 2022B Bonds on such basis.  If, at the time of 

redemption of the 2022B Bonds, either (i) the operational arrangements of DTC do not allow for the redemption of  the 2022B 

Bonds on a pro rata pass-through distribution of principal basis, or (ii)  the Paying Agent has failed to notify DTC that the 

2022B Bonds to be redeemed are to be redeemed pursuant to DTC’s pro rata pass-through distribution of principal procedures, 

or has failed to furnish to DTC the factor to be applied by it in determining the pro rata allocation of the principal to be 

redeemed, then in each such case the 2022B Bonds of such maturity to be redeemed may be selected in accordance with DTC 

operating rules and procedures, which currently provide for the redemption to be processed by random lottery.  Any failure 

of DTC or its successor, or of a Direct DTC Participant or Indirect DTC Participant, or of any other intermediary, to make 

such selection or proportional allocation, for whatever reason, will not affect the sufficiency or the validity of the redemption 

of 2022B Bonds.  See Appendix F- “BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM.” 

Notice of Redemption.  Notice of redemption is to be mailed not less than 30 days prior to the redemption date, to 

the Owner of each Offered Bond to be redeemed at the address that appears on the registration books, but failure to receive 

any such notice shall not affect the validity of the redemption proceedings.  Any notice of redemptio n may provide that such 

redemption is conditional on the availability of sufficient moneys to pay the Redemption Price, plus interest accrued and 

unpaid to the redemption date.   

Year Principal Amount

Year Principal Amount



 

6 

For so long as a book-entry only system is in effect with respect to the Offered Bonds, the Registrar will give notice 

of redemption to DTC or its nominee or its successor.   See Appendix F- “BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM.”  Any failure of 

DTC or its successor, or of a Direct DTC Participant or Indirect DTC Participant,  or any other intermediary, to notify a 

beneficial owner of an Offered Bond of any redemption will not affect the sufficiency or the validity of the redemption of 

such Offered Bond.  Neither the Authority, nor the Trustee or Registrar, can give any assurance that DTC or its successor, 

the Direct DTC Participants or the Indirect DTC Participants, or any other intermediary, will distribute such redemption 

notices to the beneficial owners of the Offered Bonds, or that they will do so on a timely basis.  

SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS 

The Bonds, including the Offered Bonds, constitute special obligations of the Authority.  The principal, Sinking 

Fund Installments, if any, and Redemption Price of and interest on the Bonds shall be payable solely from the Annual 

Financing Charges, Legislative Appropriations and other moneys and securities held or set aside under the Resolution, subject 

to the application thereof to the purposes and on the conditions permitted by the Resolution.  The Annual Financing Charges 

and Legislative Appropriations, and all rights under the Financing Agreements or otherwise to receive the same, and all 

moneys and Investment Obligations credited to the Funds and Accounts established by the Resolution, are pledged for the 

payment of the principal, Sinking Fund Installments, if any, and Redemption Price of and interest on the Bonds in accordance 

with the Resolution, subject only to the provisions of the Resolution permitting the application thereof for the purposes and  

on the terms and conditions set forth in the Resolution.  All covenants and agreements set forth in the Resolution to be 

performed on behalf of the Authority shall be for the equal benefit, protection and security of the Owners of all of the Bond s, 

except as expressly provided in or permitted by the Resolution. The Authority has elected to establish a separate account 

in the Debt Service Reserve Fund solely for the Offered Bonds, with no current funding requirement. Accordingly, the 

Offered Bonds will not be secured by a funded debt service reserve.  See “Debt Service Reserve Fund” below. 

The definition of "Institution" contained in the Act was amended by Chapter 174, Public Laws of 2013  and, the 

definitions of "Institution" contained in the Resolution and in the Financing Agreements with the Board of Regents and the 

Board of Trustees, respectively, relating to that definition, have been amended accordingly. These amendments apply to all 

of the Authority’s currently outstanding Higher Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds as well as those to be issued 

(including the Offered Bonds).  See "SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS - 2013 Amendments 

to the Act, the Resolution and the Financing Agreements", Appendix C - "GLOSSARY OF CERTAIN TERMS", Appendix 

D - "SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE FINANCING AGREEMENTS - Amendment", and Appendix E - 

“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTION - Supplemental Resolution; Amendments" (clause (8) 

of the first paragraph). 

 THE OFFERED BONDS ARE SPECIAL OBLIGATIONS OF THE AUTHORITY PAYABLE SOLELY FROM THE 

SOURCES PROVIDED IN THE RESOLUTION AND NEITHER THE FAITH AND CREDIT NOR THE TAXING POWER OF THE 

STATE, ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION OF THE STATE OR THE AUTHORITY IS PLEDGED TO THE PAYMENT OF THE 

PRINCIPAL OR REDEMPTION PRICE OF, OR INTEREST ON, THE OFFERED BONDS.  

 THE AUTHORITY HAS NO TAXING POWER. 

Financing Agreements 

The Authority and each Board have entered into a Financing Agreement.  The Financing Agreements obligate the 

Authority to use its best efforts to finance Projects for the respective Boards under certain terms and conditions.  The 

Financing Agreements also obligate the Boards to pay to the Authority Annual Financing Charges sufficient, among other 

things, to provide for the payment of debt service on the Bonds.  Annual Financing Charges payable with respect to a Project 

are required to be paid by the Board only from Fees and Charges of the Institution for which the project was financed.  The 

Boards are required to establish and collect fees and charges at the Institution at a level sufficient to produce in each Fiscal 

Year not less than two times the amount required for the payment of, among other things, all Annual Financing Charges 

payable in such Fiscal Year with respect to all Projects for the Inst itution.  The Annual Financing Charges required of the 

Institution also are payable, if necessary, from Legislative Appropriations for the operation and maintenance of the Institution.  

See “Legislative Appropriations” below. 

  



 

7 

Annual Financing Charges; Fees and Charges 

The Financing Agreements require that as long as any Debt (including the Offered Bonds) remains outstanding for 

any Project, Annual Financing Charges shall be established and revised by the Authority from time to time in such amounts, 

payable at such times, as shall at all times be sufficient to enable the Authority to (i) pay the principal of and premium, if 

any, and interest on such Debt as and when the same become due and payable, (ii) pay or replenish reserves therefor as and 

when required by the Resolution, and (iii) make any other payments required to be made by or on behalf of the Authority 

under or pursuant to the Resolution. 

The Boards are required by the Financing Agreements to pay to the Authority all Annual Financing Charges in suc h 

amounts, at such times, in such manner and at such places as shall be specified in writing from time to time by the Authority .  

It is the current policy of the Authority that the Boards make payments to the Authority at least 5 days prior to their respec tive 

due dates.   This policy may be changed by the Authority in a manner consistent with the immediately preceding sentence 

and paragraph.  Under the Financing Agreements, the obligation of the Boards to pay Annual Financing Charges is absolute 

and unconditional, and Annual Financing Charges are required to be paid in full without set -off or counterclaim. 

The Boards covenant and agree in the Financing Agreements to establish and collect Fees and Charges at each 

Institution at a level sufficient to produce in each Fiscal Year no less than two times the amount required for the payment of 

the aggregate (without duplication) of (i) all Annual Financing Charges in such Fiscal Year payable with respect to all Projects 

for the Institution, plus (ii) the aggregate of all prior charges, pledges, liens and claims on or payable from said Fees and 

Charges in such Fiscal Year with respect to the Institution.   

Annual Financing Charges payable with respect to a Project (including debt service on the portion of the Bonds 

issued for that Project) are required under the Financing Agreements to be paid by the Boards, as and when the same become 

due, only from Fees and Charges of the Institution.  “Fees and Charges” means all revenues, fees, rentals and other charges 

received by or on behalf of an Institution which are available to pay Annual Financing Charges.  See Appendix B – “TSSBA 

SELECTED STATISTICAL INFORMATION” for a description of the Institutions for which Projects are being financed  with 

the proceeds of the Offered Bonds and for detail regarding each Institution’s historical statement of collection of Fees and 

Charges, as well as the debt service on Bonds attributable to such Institution.  

Each Institution’s total Fees and Charges and Legislative Appropriations (see “Legislative Appropriations” below) 

may be used to pay costs of operating and maintaining such Institution as well as the Annual Financing Charges.  Each Board 

may pledge, assign or otherwise use or encumber any Fees and Charges relating to an Institution to obligations of the 

Institution or of the Board in addition to the Bonds if the aggregate of the Fees and Charges collected by the Institution in the 

preceding Fiscal Year is no less than two times the amount required for the payment of the aggregate (without duplication) 

of (i) the maximum amount of the Annual Financing Charges payable and projected to be payable with respect to all Projects 

for the Institution in any succeeding Fiscal Year, plus (ii)  the aggregate of all prior charges, pledges, liens and claims on or 

payable from said Fees and Charges with respect to the Institution in any succeeding Fiscal Year.  

The Financing Agreements also require that, in addition to Annual Financing Charges, the Authority may establish 

and revise from time to time, and the Boards shall apply Fees and Charges from their respective Institutions to pay fees 

(“Administrative Fees”) to compensate the Authority for costs relating to (i) the issuance and payment of Debt and (ii) the 

administration of the Financing Agreements and the Resolution. 

Legislative Appropriations  

In accordance with the Act, the Financing Agreements provide that if any Annual Financing Charges or 

Administrative Fees shall not be paid by a Board when due and payable with respect to  a Project, or if the Board shall notify 

the Authority of any inability to make such payment from Fees and Charges, then the Board shall deduct from the amounts 

appropriated by the General Assembly of the State of Tennessee (the “General Assembly”) for the operation and maintenance 

of the respective Institution and pay to the Authority such amount or amounts as may be required to make the Board current 

with respect to the unpaid Annual Financing Charges and Administrative Fees.  The Boards also agree in the  Financing 

Agreements that the Commissioner of Finance and Administration, or his successor, after notice from the Authority that the  

respective Board has failed to pay Annual Financing Charges or Administrative Fees due and payable with respect to a Project, 

shall, to the extent permitted by law, deduct from the amounts appropriated by the General Assembly for the operation and 

maintenance of the respective Institution the amount or amounts as may be required to make the Board current with respect 

to the unpaid Annual Financing Charges and Administrative Fees.  The Authority has established and tested detailed 

procedures for ensuring that these deductions will be made in a manner that ensures the timely payment of debt service.  It 

has not been necessary, to date, to utilize these procedures. 



 

8 

A significant source of funding for the State's public institutions of higher education has been and continues to be 

annual appropriations made by the General Assembly.  See “Statement of Fees/Charges, Legislative Appro priations and Debt 

Service for the Last Ten Years” in Appendix B and “TENNESSEE PUBLIC HIGHER EDUCATION.”  However, the General 

Assembly is under no obligation to continue to make appropriations for the operation and maintenance of any Institution or 

of the Institutions generally, or to do so in any particular amount.  See, however, “Additional Bonds” and “Statutory 

Covenant” below.  The State of Tennessee (or “State”) is not liable on the Bonds and the Bonds are not a debt of the State.  

Under the State Constitution, public money may be expended only pursuant to an appropriation made by law.  Such 

expenditures include, but are not limited to, funding any judgment in the Tennessee Claims Commission  as discussed below 

under - “Certain State Law Bondowner Remedies.”  The General Assembly in 2001 confirmed that the earnings, revenues, 

and assets of the Authority are continuously appropriated for expenditures authorized by or pursuant to the Act, which 

includes debt service on Second Program Bonds and Revolving Credit Loans.  That legislation also confirmed that the 

earnings, revenues or other assets of any public higher education entity whose contracts or agreements support the payment 

of the Authority’s debt service are continuously appropriated for expenditures in accordance with or pursuant to such contracts 

or agreements which include the Financing Agreements.  The Authority can provide no assurance as to the continuation of 

these continuing appropriations. 

Statutory Covenant 

In accordance with the provisions of the Act, the Authority, on behalf of the State, in the Resolution pledges to and 

agrees with the Owners of the Bonds that the State will not limit or alter the rights vested by the Act in the Authority to f ulfill 

the terms of any agreements made with Bond Owners, or in any way impair the rights and remedies of such Owners until the 

Bonds, together with the interest thereon, with interest on any unpaid installments of interest, and all costs and expenses i n 

connection with any action or proceeding by or on behalf of such Owners, are fully met and discharged.  

Flow of Funds 

All Annual Financing Charges and Legislative Appropriations held or collected by the Authority are required by the 

Resolution to be deposited to the General Fund established under the Resolution, which shall be held by the State Treasurer 

or, at the direction of the State Treasurer, a separate custodian.   However, in lieu of such deposit, the Authority may direct 

and cause any Board to transmit directly to the Trustee any amount of  Annual Financing Charges and Legislative 

Appropriations payable by such Board that is required to be transferred by the Authority to the Trustee in the amounts and 

by the times required for purposes of the Debt Service Fund or Debt Service Reserve Fund.   

All moneys credited to the General Fund shall be applied by the Authority in the following manner and order:  

First, the Authority shall transfer to the Debt Service Fund such sums as are required to be deposited therein under 

the Resolution after giving effect to any such direct deposit; and 

Second, the Authority shall transfer to the Debt Service Reserve Fund such sums as are required to be deposited 

therein pursuant to the Resolution after giving effect to any such direct deposit; provided, however, that  no transfer shall be 

required prior to the date required, notwithstanding that as a result, lower priority transfers (described in the following 

paragraph) may be made at any time prior to higher priority transfers that could be but are not required to be  made at the same 

time. 

Any moneys credited to the General Fund in any month and not applied in such month, or required or otherwise 

expected to be applied thereafter in such month or in the next succeeding month, may be used for any lawful purpose of the 

Authority including, but not limited to, the payment of the principal of and premium, if any, and interest on Subordinated 

Obligations, the establishment of reserves for such payment, the payment or reimbursement of Administrative Expenses of 

the Authority, or the purchase or redemption of Bonds or Subordinated Obligations.  

The Debt Service Fund shall be held by the Trustee or at the option of the Authority, unless there shall exist an Event 

of Default, by the State Treasurer or, at the direction of the Sta te Treasurer, a separate custodian; it is currently being held by 

the Trustee.  Moneys credited to the Debt Service Fund shall be deposited in the following amounts and order of priority, 

except that deposits from excess Construction Fund moneys shall be applied as directed by the Authority:  

First, at least one Business Day prior to each interest payment date, there shall be deposited in the Debt Service Fund 

an amount equal to, and which shall be applied to the payment of, the interest becoming due on the  Outstanding Bonds on 

such interest payment date; 

Second, at least one Business Day prior to each principal payment date, there shall be deposited in the Debt Service 

Fund an amount equal to, and which shall be applied to the payment of, the principal amount of Bonds (including the principal 



 

9 

amount of any Put Bonds tendered for payment by the Authority and not purchased in lieu of redemption prior to the 

redemption date thereof) of the Outstanding Serial Bonds becoming due on such principal payment date; an d 

Third, at least one Business Day prior to each Sinking Fund Payment Date for the Term Bonds, there shall be 

deposited in the Debt Service Fund an amount equal to, and which shall be applied to the payment of, the Sinking Fund 

Installments becoming due upon the redemption of such Term Bonds on such Sinking Fund Payment Date.  

Debt Service Reserve Fund 

General 

The Resolution establishes a Debt Service Reserve Fund for the payment of all Series of Bonds, with a separate Debt 

Service Reserve Account therein for each Project financed, as described below.  The Resolution also permits the Authority 

to establish a separate account in the Debt Service Reserve Fund to be applied solely to the payment of a particular Series of 

Bonds and to establish the requirements for that separate account; however, there is no requirement that such separate account 

in the Debt Service Reserve Fund be funded.  Such separate account, if funded, would secure only the Series of Bonds for 

which it was created and the related Series of Bonds would not have access to any other accounts in the Debt Service Reserve 

Fund.  The Debt Service Reserve Fund shall be held by the Trustee or, at the option of the Authority, unless there shall exist 

an Event of Default, by the State Treasurer or, at the direction of the State Treasurer, a separate custodian .  It is currently 

being held by the Trustee. 

No Debt Service Reserve for the Offered Bonds and Certain Other Bonds 

The Authority has elected to establish a separate account in the Debt Service Reserve Fund solely for the 

Offered Bonds, with no current funding requirement. Accordingly, the Offered Bonds do not have a funded debt 

service reserve account.  Specifically, the Offered Bonds shall have no claim or lien on, nor shall any Offered Bonds be 

payable from, any accounts in the Debt Service Reserve Fund, except from the separate account established for the Offered 

Bonds to the extent that such account may be funded in the future, although the Authority is under no obligation to fund the 

accounts and has no present intent to provide such funding.  The Authority’s currently outstanding Higher Educational 

Facilities Second Program Bonds similarly have no funded debt service reserve accounts and requirements and the provisions 

of the preceding sentence apply to them as well.   

Additional Bonds 

Additional Bonds may be issued under the Resolution from time to time in Series, including refunding Outstanding 

Bonds, but only upon, among other things: 

1. Receipt by the Trustee and the Registrar of a Counsel's Opinion to the effect that (i)  the Authority has the 

right and power under the Act as amended to the date of such Opinion to adopt the Resolution (with such 

approvals as may be required by the Act as so amended), the Resolution has been duly and lawfully adopted 

by the Authority (and such approvals given), is in full force and effect and is valid and binding upon the 

Authority; (ii) the Resolution creates the valid pledge which it purports to create of the Annual F inancing 

Charges, Legislative Appropriations, and all rights under the Agreements or otherwise to receive the same, 

moneys and securities held or set aside under the Resolution, subject to the application thereof to the 

purposes and on the conditions permitted by the Resolution; and (iii) the Bonds of such Series are valid and 

binding obligations of the Authority as provided in the Resolution, entitled to the benefits of the Resolution 

and of the Act as amended to the date of such Counsel's Opinion, and such Bonds have been duly and validly 

authorized and issued in accordance with the law, including the Act as amended to the date of such Counsel's 

Opinion, and in accordance with the Resolution. 

2. Receipt by the Trustee and the Registrar of a certificate of the Authority stating that: 

(a) the principal amount of the Bonds then to be issued, together with the principal amount of the Bonds 

theretofore issued, will not exceed in aggregate principal amount any limitation thereon imposed by 

law; 

(b)  the Authority is not in default in the performance of any other covenants, conditions, agreements or 

provisions contained in the Resolution, including but not limited to that there is no deficiency in the 

amounts required by the Resolution to be paid into the Debt Service Fund except, in the case of 

Refunding Bonds, if, upon the application of the proceeds of such Bonds or upon the issuance and 

delivery of such Bonds, all such defaults shall be cured; 



 

10 

(c) the amount on deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Fund, upon the issuance and delivery of any such 

Series of Bonds, shall not be less than the Debt Service Reserve Requirement;  

(d) the Financing Agreements obligate the Boards to pay, in the aggregate, Annual Financing Charges with 

respect to Projects for which Bonds have been issued and the additional Bonds being issued sufficient 

in amount, together with capitalized interest, to pay as the same shall become due the principal, Sinking 

Fund Installments, if any, and Redemption Price, if applicable, of and interest on the Bonds then 

Outstanding and the additional Bonds being issued; and 

(e) the provisions of the Act authorizing the Boards to deduct from amounts appropriated by the General 

Assembly for the operation and maintenance of the Institution for which each Project is und ertaken and 

pay to the Authority such amount or amounts as may be required to make up any deficiencies in the 

Fees and Charges and other moneys available for the purpose of paying Annual Financing Charges due 

the Authority have not been repealed or amended to the detriment of Bondowners. 

Additional Bonds are required to be authorized by Supplemental Resolution, which may delegate to authorized 

officers the power to determine, supplement, modify or amend specified details of such Bonds by means of a Series 

Certificate, which shall be filed with the Trustee and deemed for all purposes of the Resolution to have been adopted by the 

Authority and to be a part of the Supplemental Resolution to which it relates.  

Additional Bonds may take the form of and have features incident to, among other things, Capital Appreciation 

Bonds, Variable Interest Rate Bonds, or Put Bonds, and in connection with the issuance of any Bonds the Authority may enter 

into Credit Facilities and Qualified Swaps.  For a description of certain related provisions that may be included in 

Supplemental Resolutions, see Appendix E - “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTION - Certain 

Provisions Relating to Credit Facilities, Qualified Swaps and Other Arrangements .” 

Qualified Swaps 

In connection with the issuance of a Series of Bonds or at any time thereafter so long as a Series of Bonds remains 

Outstanding, the Authority may, to the extent from time to time permitted pursuant to law, enter into Qualified Swaps relatin g 

to such Bonds. The Authority's obligation to make any payment under any Qualified Swap may be secured by a pledge of, 

and a lien on, the items pledged in the Resolution for the security of the Bonds on a parity with the lien created by the 

Resolution or be payable from or secured by amounts on deposit in the Debt Service Fund or Debt Service Reserve Fund, or 

shall constitute Subordinated Obligations payable from the General Fund, as determined by the Authority; provided, however, 

that any optional or mandatory termination payments shall constitute Subordinated Obligations.  If a Qualified Swap is 

payable from and/or secured by the Debt Service Fund and Debt Service Reserve Fund, the Authority may provide by 

Supplemental Resolution for a recalculation of the Debt Service Reserve Requirement for any Bonds to take into account the 

Authority's debt service payment obligations on such Bonds as affected by such Qualified Swap.  The Authority has not 

entered into any Qualified Swaps and has no current plans to do so. 

Subordinated Obligations; Revolving Credit Loans 

Revolving Credit Loans under the Revolving Credit Agreement constitute Subordinated Obligations under the 

Resolution.   

The Revolving Credit Agreement permits Revolving Credit Loans thereunder from time to time (and prepayments 

and reborrowings) in an aggregate principal amount outstanding at any time not to exceed $300,000,000 to fund Project Costs 

and certain other limited purposes.  Generally, the Revolving Credit Agreement is intended to provide interim financing in 

anticipation of the issuance of Bonds, although in some cases the Authority may retire loans from other available sources.  

The commitment of the Banks under the Revolving Credit Agreement to fund Revolving Credit Loans expires May 31, 2024, 

unless that period is extended pursuant to the terms of the Revolving Credit Agreement (the “Commitment Expiration Date”).  

Revolving Credit Loans outstanding on the Commitment Expiration Date may be converted to term loans amortizing, in 

approximately equal principal installments, over a period ending with the earliest to occur of (i)  the third anniversary of the 

conversion, (ii) the date other debt is issued to repay the term loans, and (iii) with respect to any loan that has been converted 

to a term loan, the sixth anniversary of the original loan.  Revolving Credit Loans prior to conversion to term loans bear 

interest at 80% of one-month LIBOR, plus a ratings-based spread, for tax-exempt loans, and at one-month LIBOR plus a 

ratings-based spread for taxable loans.  Term loans initially bear interest at a rate equal to the greatest of (i) the Administrative 

Agent’s prime rate plus 1%, (ii) the Federal Funds Rate plus 2% or (iii) 7% for the first 180 days outstanding and thereafter 

at such rate plus 1% (the “Base Rate”).  If the Authority’s long-term unenhanced Bond rating is reduced below the A-level, 

or in the event of an event of default, interest is payable at the Base Rate plus 3%.  Interest on the loans is payable month ly.  



 

11 

The banks under the Revolving Credit Agreement have several available remedies upon an event of default, including 

acceleration of loans.   

The availablitity of Revolving Credit Loans under Revolving Credit Agreement expires on May 31, 2024, unless 

extended.  The Authority periodically explores alternatives for the continuation of interim financing of Project Costs and for 

the refinancing of existing Revolving Credit Loans, including the issuance of Bonds or the temporary or permanent extension 

of the Revolving Credit Agreement. 

On June 30, 2022, the Authority had $152,660,690 (unaudited) aggregate principal amount of Revolving Credit 

Loans outstanding, which includes $14,243,864 not yet allocated to Institutions, a portion of which will be prepaid with 

proceeds of the Offered Bonds as decribed in “PURPOSES OF THE OFFERED BONDS”.   

Certain State Law Bondowner Remedies 

The State has waived the Authority’s immunity from suit and extended its consent to be sued for actions on the 

Bonds, but has not done so for other contractual obligations of either the Authority or the Boards, including the Financing 

Agreements.  Current State law provides that monetary claims against the State (including, for this purpose, the Authority 

and the Boards) for breach of its contractual obligations and certain other causes where sovereign immunity has been waived 

may be heard and determined exclusively in the forum of the Tennessee Claims Commission, an administrative tribunal, 

where the Authority or the Boards may be liable only for actual damages and certain costs.  

Under the State Constitution, public moneys may be expended only pursuant to an appropriation made by law.  

Sovereign immunity or other legal principles may bar actions to compel the General Assembly to appropriate moneys or to 

compel the payment of appropriated moneys. 

For a description of remedies available to Bondowners under the Resolution, see Appendix E – “SUMMARY OF 

CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTION – Remedies.” 

Termination of Existence 

The Governmental Entity Review Law provides for the termination of various governmental entities on specified 

dates, which in the case of the Authority is June 30, 2030, in the case of the Board of Regents is June 30, 2026, and in the 

case of the Board of Trustees is June 30, 2024.  The law also provides that if the General Assembly does not extend the 

termination date of an entity, the existence of the entity will continue for an additional year without any diminution, reduc tion 

or limitation of its powers.  However, the State is required to preserve the rights of the holders of any outstanding indebtedness 

of the entity at the time of termination and the obligations and rights of such entity shall accrue to the State. 

2013 Amendments to the Act, the Resolution and the Financing Agreements 

Legislation was enacted by the General Assembly at its 2013 session and signed into law by the Governor (Chapter 

174, Public Laws of 2013) to amend the definition of “Institution” in the Act from “the University of Tennessee, including 

all of its branches and divisions wherever located, and each constituent institution of the state university and community 

college system described in § 49-8-101(a). Each constituent institution of the state university and community college system, 

whether or not it confers degrees, shall be deemed an institution of higher education for purposes of this part;” to “(i) the 

University of Tennessee system, including all of its branches and divisions wherever located, and the services, programs and 

activities provided therein, and the board of trustees of the University of Tennessee, in the aggregate, and (ii) the state 

university and community college system, including all of its constituent institutions, wherever located (whether or not 

conferring degrees), and the services, programs and activities provided therein, and the Board of Regents of the state 

university and community college system, in the aggregate.”  This has the effect of the State University and Community 

College System being treated for purposes of the Act as a collective entity in the same way the University of Tennessee 

system previously was, and will continue to be, treated.   

The definitions of “Institution” contained in the Resolution and in the Financing Agreement and other provisions of 

the Financing Agreement with the Board of Regents relating to that definition were amended accordingly, as permitted 

thereby, on May 9, 2013.  See Appendix D – “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE FINANCING 

AGREEMENTS – Amendment”; Appendix E – “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTION – 

Supplemental Resolution; Amendments” (clause (8) of the first paragraph) ; and “ADDITIONAL INFORMATION; 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE.” 

The amendments described above apply to all of the Authority’s currently outstanding Higher Educational Facilities 

Second Program Bonds as well as those to be issued (including the Offered Bonds).  One principal effect of the amendments 

is to allow the Board of Regents to satisfy its obligation to pay Annual Financing Charges to the Authority with respect to all 

Projects from the Fees and Charges imposed by all of its constituent institutions, in the aggregate, instead of on an institu tion-



 

12 

by-institution basis as was previously the case.  Another is that the deductions and payments to the Authority from Legislative 

Appropriations for non-payment by the Board of Regents of Annual Financing Charges or Administrative Fees with respect 

to a Project could be made from appropriations made by the General Assembly for the opera tion and maintenance of all of 

the constituent institutions of the State University and Community College System, as was previously, and will continue to 

be, the case with respect to the University of Tennessee system, and not just from the appropriations for the operation and 

maintenance of the particular constituent institution for which such Project was undertaken or used.  Similarly, amounts 

appropriated for certain other services, programs and activities of both the Board of Regents and the Board of Tr ustees, and 

for the two Boards themselves, may be deducted and paid to the Authority in the event of non -payment under the respective 

Financing Agreements.  See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS – Legislative 

Appropriations.”  The amendments to the Financing Agreements also are expected to affect the eligibility of Projects for 

financing by the Authority as described in Appendix D – “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE FINANCING 

AGREEMENTS – Approval of Projects and Project Costs.” 

Included in “Coverage of Annual Financing Charges and Administrative Fees for the Long -Term Debt Secured By 

Financing Agreements – College and University Funds – For the Last Ten Years” in Appendix B is a calculation of coverage 

consistent with the amendments described above. 

THE AUTHORITY 

The Authority, created in 1965 under the Act, is a corporate governmental agency and instrumentality of the State. 

In addition to its authority to issue bonds and notes to finance Projects, the Authority in 1980 was empowered by the General  

Assembly to issue bonds or notes to provide funds for the making of student loans by the Tennessee Student Assistance 

Corporation.  The principal amounts of such bonds or notes issued may not exceed $5,000,000 and must be secured separate 

and apart from any bonds or notes of the Authority issued to provide funds to finance Projects.  As of the date of this Offic ial 

Statement, no bonds or notes have been issued for the making of student loans. 

In 1999, the General Assembly empowered the Authority to issue Qualified Zone Academy Bonds ( “QZABs”).  

QZABs are issued under the provisions of the Authority’s Qualified Zone Academy Bonds First  Program Resolution, are not 

supported by either the First Program or Second Program Financing Agreements, and are not secured by either the First 

Program or Second Program General Bond Resolution. QZABs are part of a Federal government program in which, generally, 

a Federal income tax credit is given to investors in lieu of the payment of interest on the bonds.   

Under the QZAB program, loans with local governments are direct general obligations of the local government for 

the payment of which as to principal, the full faith and credit of the local government are pledged.  As additional security for 

the loans, there is also pledged the borrower’s unobligated portions of State taxes that are by statute to be shared with the 

local governments (“Unobligated State-Shared Taxes”).  Each borrower’s annual loan repayments are deposited into sinking 

fund accounts invested with the State Treasurer and, together with interest thereon, are held to be applied to the payment of 

principal of the QZABs at maturity or upon redemption.  All of the Authority’s outstanding QZAB bonds have matured or 

have been redeemed.  

The Authority is also authorized to issue qualified school construction bonds (“QSCBs”), as defined in Section 54F 

of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”).  QSCBs are issued under the provisions of the Authority’s 

Qualified School Construction Bonds General Bond Resolution, which was adopted by the Authority on November 5, 2009, 

as supplemented (the “QSCB Resolution”), are not supported by either the First Program or Second Program Financing 

Agreements, and are not secured by either the First Program or Second Program General Bond Resolution. The proceeds of 

QSCBs are lent to cities, counties and metropolitan governments in the State for construction, renovation and equipment of 

public school facilities.  Under the QSCB program, each borrower executes a loan agreement pursuant to which it agrees to 

pay the principal of and interest on its loan and pledges to such payments its full faith and credit and unlimited taxing pow er 

and its Unobligated State-Shared Taxes in the event of non-payment by such borrower. For certain of the QSCBs, a Federal 

income tax credit is given to bondholders in lieu of the payment of interest on bonds, and in certain other QSCBs an election  

is made by the Authority to receive direct interest subsidy payments from the United States Treasury, which, if not needed to 

cure defaults under loan agreements with the borrowers, are transferred to them.   As of June 30, 2022, the total par amount 

of QSCBs outstanding was $389,440,000 (unaudited), and the book value of pledged sinking fund accounts totaled 

$287,066,971 (unaudited). 

The Authority is also required to approve any borrowings consummated by  the Board of Trustees, by the Board of 

Regents or by any of the Institutions, whether such borrowings are made through the Authority or independently.   

Membership of the Authority 



 

13 

The powers of the Authority, as defined in the Act, are vested in and exercised by its members who consist of the 

Governor, the Comptroller of the Treasury, the Secretary of State, the State Treasurer, the Commissioner of Finance and 

Administration, the Chancellor of the Board of Regents, and the President of The University of Tennessee.  The Governor 

serves as Chairman of the Authority, and the Comptroller of the Treasury serves as the Secr etary. 

The Comptroller of the Treasury, the Secretary of State, and the State Treasurer are the Constitutional Officers of 

the State and are elected from time to time by the General Assembly.  The Commissioner of Finance and Administration 

serves at the pleasure of the Governor.  The Chancellor of the Board of Regents and the President of The University of 

Tennessee serve at the pleasure of their respective Boards.  

Outstanding Indebtedness of the Authority 

As of June 30, 2022 (unaudited), the Authority had issued, and there was outstanding under the Resolution, Bonds 

(excluding the Offered Bonds) as follows:  

 

There also are outstanding Revolving Credit Loans as described under “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT 

FOR THE BONDS – Subordinated Obligations; Revolving Credit Loans.” 

The Authority continually monitors its debt structure and capital requirements, and depending on such requirements, 

financial market conditions and other factors, may issue additional bonds or notes and may refund (whether or not for savings ) 

any of its outstanding bonds and notes.  For additional financial information concerning the Authority, see Appendix A hereto.  

TENNESSEE PUBLIC HIGHER EDUCATION 

General 

Public higher education in Tennessee is coordinated by the Tennessee Higher Education Commission  (the 

“Commission”) and consists of eight boards:  The University of Tennessee system governed by the Board of Trustees and the 

State University and Community College system comprised of six state universities – Austin Peay State University, East 

Tennessee State University, Middle Tennessee State University, Tennessee State University, Tennessee Technological 

University, and University of Memphis (the “State Universities”)  – governed by individual State University boards (subject 

to certain financial controls by the Board of Regents as described below) and 40 community colleges and state colleges of 

applied technology (the “Community College System”) governed by the Board of Regents .  

The Commission consists of the three Constitutional Officers (Comptroller of the Treasury, Secretary of State, State 

Treasurer), six lay members with six year terms appointed by the Governor, one lay member with a six year term appointed 

by the Speaker of Tennessee House of Representatives, one lay member with a six year term appointed by the Speaker of 

Tennessee Senate, one lay member with a six year term appointed jointly by the Speaker of Tennessee House of 

Representatives and the Speaker of Tennessee Senate, and two student members appointed by the Govenor for two year terms 

(one from The University of Tennessee system and one not from The University of Tennessee system; one voting each year).  

It develops a statewide Master Plan used in making policy recommendations concerning such matters as the need for existing 

degree programs, the development of new degree programs, and the review of tuition and fees.  The Commission is charged 

Principal 

Outstanding

Higher Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds (Unaudited)

2012 Series B (Federally Taxable)  $          60,875,000 

2013 Series A 3,695,000 

2014 Series A (Federally Taxable) 37,360,000 

2014 Refunding Series B 64,190,000 

2015 Series A (Federally Taxable) 40,605,000 

2015 Series B 106,980,000 

2017 Series A            226,065,000 

2017 Refunding Series B            124,225,000 

2017 Refunding Series C (Federally Taxable)              11,790,000 

2019 Series A            137,395,000 

2019 Series B (Federally Taxable)              55,625,000 

2021 Series A (Federally Taxable)            713,365,000 

Total Outstanding Second Program Bonds $  1,582,170,000 



 

14 

with conducting annual reviews and licensing non-accredited, degree-offering postsecondary educational institutions; has the 

responsibility for studying the use of public funds appropriated for higher education; and recommends the appropriation of 

state funds for public higher education institutions.   

The Boards have entered into Second Program Financing Agreements, by which the Authority provides fund ing for 

Projects.  See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS.”  

The University of Tennessee was founded in 1794 as Blount College.  The University was designated in 1869 as the 

Federal land-grant institution in Tennessee.  The Board of Trustees is the governing body of The University of Tennessee.  

The University has five main campuses (Knoxville, Martin, Chattanooga, Southern and Health Science Center), with 33 

colleges, schools, and divisions, and together with the Board of Trustees constitute a single “Institution” under the Act and  

the Board of Trustees’ Second Program Financing Agreement. 

The Board of Regents was created by the General Assembly in 1972. The Board of Regents governs the Community 

College System, which currently includes 13 community colleges and 27 colleges of applied technology (“CATs”).  

Institutions governed by the Board of Regents are: Chattanooga State Community College, Cleveland State Community 

College, Columbia State Community College, Dyersburg State Community College, Jackson State Community College, 

Motlow State Community College, Nashville State Community College, Northeast State Community College, Pellissippi 

State Community College, Roane State Community College, Southwest Tennessee Community College, Volunteer State 

Community College, and Walters State Community College, as well as the CATs located throughout the State.  

Prior to the FOCUS Act, 2016 Public Chapter 869, each of the State Universities were governed solely by the Board 

of Regents. Pursuant to the FOCUS Act, the State Universities are now governed by  their own individual State University 

boards subject to certain powers and duties of the Commission.  In addition, the Board of Regents has authority over and 

must give final approval to the State Universities’ operating budget.  Funds appropriated for the State Universities are first 

distributed to the Board of Regents, which then distributes the funds to the State Universities, minus any deductions required 

by the Second Program Financing Agreements. In addition, the Board of Regents retains all powers and duties with respect 

to the State Universities (as well as the Community College System), including any  projects, which are necessary for the 

Board of Regents to fulfill its covenants, representations, agreements and obligations under the Second Program Financing 

Agreements.  The Board of Regents retains sole governance of the Community College System.  The State University and 

Community College System and the Board of Regents constitute a single “Institution” under the Act and the Board of Regents’ 

Second Program Financing Agreement. Pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated Title 49, Chapter 8, Section 203, none of the 

State Universities are authorized to borrow any monies, whether by bonds or notes, without approval of the Authority.  

For statements of outstanding debt by Institution, debt service coverage, fees and charges, appropriations and debt 

service by Institution, and certain other statistical information, see Appendix B hereto.  

Capital Projects 

Capital projects that have been approved by the Authority (see “REVIEW AND APPROVAL PROCESS FOR 

FINANCING OF PROJECTS BY AUTHORITY” below) generally are funded initially by Revolving Credit Loans until they 

are at least approximately 75% complete, after which they are refinanced with Bonds, and occasionally are financed directly 

with Bonds.  As of June 30, 2022, projects authorized to be financed for the University of Tennessee system have a total cost 

of $242,908,000, of which $56,653,9158 had been funded with Revolving Credit Loans, and for the Tennessee Board of 

Regents system have a total cost of $191,911,398, of which $83,787,508 had been funded with Revolving Credit Loans (all 

unaudited).  The Governor’s budget for fiscal year 2022-2023, as amended by the Appropriations Bill (Public Chapter 453), 

includes capital projects to be funded by the Authority in the amount of $536,285,000, of which $497,912,000 is for the 

University of Tennessee system and $38,373,000 is for the Tennessee Board of Regents system.   

Tennessee Promise  

The Tennessee Promise is both a scholarship and mentoring program that  began with the high-school graduating 

Class of 2015. The Tennessee Promise provides two years of tuition-free education at a community college or technical school 

in Tennessee as a last-dollar scholarship. The last-dollar scholarship is an approach at the core of the Tennessee Promise that 

provides funding to cover tuition and mandatory fees not covered by any Pell grant, TN Education Lottery Scholarship 

programs, or Tennessee Student Assistance Awards. Students may use the scholarship at any of the State’s community 

colleges, Tennessee Colleges of Applied Technology (TCATs), or other eligible institution offering an associate degree 

program. Due to the acquisition of Martin Methodist College by the University of Tennessee system in 2021 and rebranding 

into the University of Tennessee, Southern, Tennessee Promise is now available at this University of Tennessee System 

institution. A critical component of Tennessee Promise is the individual guidance each participant will receive from a 

volunteer mentor who will assist the student as he or she navigates the college admissions process, regardl ess of the 



 

15 

educational institution at which the student ultimately enrolls.  Tennessee Promise participants must complete eight hours of 

community service before the start of each semester in which they receive the scholarship, maintain satisfactory academi c 

progress (2.0 GPA), and file the Free Application for Federal Student Aid (“FAFSA”). 

The Tennessee Promise is funded from interest earnings from the endowment’s corpus, which was established with 

approximately $312.5 million from the Tennessee Education Lottery reserve and approximately $48.8 million from Tennessee 

Student Assistance Corporation’s operating fund and from annual net lottery proceeds (lottery revenues less lottery 

expenditures) all of which are deposited into a special reserve. The endowment cannot be used to fund awards but any amount 

from the special reserve, including interest earnings, can be used to fund the scholarships.  In part because of t he program’s 

last-dollar nature and lottery source of funding, Tennessee Promise is not expected to result in a material financial burden to 

the State University and Community College System or to adversely affect the Board of Regents financing of its capi tal 

project program through the Authority. 

Tennessee Reconnect 

Like the Tennessee Promise, Tennessee Reconnect is a last-dollar scholarship program which began with the 2018-

2019 academic year.  Tennessee Reconnect provides tuition-free education towards a certificate or associate degree at a 

community college or other eligible institution in Tennessee.  Tennessee Reconnect also provide s individual guidance for 

each participant through a college success program, which is designed to assist the student as he or she navigates the college 

admissions process, regardless of the educational institution at which the student ultimately enrolls.  Participation in 

Tennessee Reconnect will be limited to students who, among other things, have been Tennessee residents for at least one 

year, are classified as independent students pursuant to FAFSA guidelines and who have not previously earned an associate 

or baccalaureate degree. 

Tennessee Reconnect is funded from lottery proceeds. The program is not expected to result in a material financial 

burden to the State University and Community College System or to adversely affect the Board of Regents financing of its 

capital project program through the Authority. 

Outcomes-Based Funding  

Legislative appropriations for higher education insitutions are based on an outcomes-based funding formula model 

that rewards institutions for the production of outcomes that further the educational attainment and productivity goals of th e 

State’s Master Plan for the future development of public higher education that has been approved by the Commission. This 

model was effective beginning with fiscal year 2010-2011 and was phased in over a three year period. The model underwent 

a thorough review in the summer of 2015, culminating in the implementation of the 2015-2020 outcomes-based funding 

formula. A planned update to the formula in 2020 was postponed due to the COVID-19 pandemic, and the use of the 2015-

2020 formula model was extended. Another thorough review of the formula and update was completed in 2022, for use 

through 2025. That formula is described below. 

The outcomes were chosen to represent broad activities across institutions and are grouped into the categories of 

student progression, degree production, efficiency, and other important institutional functions.  The outcomes are weighted 

according to institutional mission, reflecting an institution’s basic Carnegie Classification (a major national framework for 

describing how institutions are alike and different) as a core differentiation.   

Outcomes Included in the University Formula 

Students Accumulating 30hrs Bachelor and Associate Degrees 

Students Accumulating 60hrs Masters and Ed Specialist Degrees 

Students Accumulating 90hrs Doctoral and Law Degrees 

Research, Service and Sponsored Programs 

Expenditures 

Degrees per 100 Full-time Equivalent (“FTE”) 

Six-Year Graduation Rate 

 

Outcomes Included in Community College Formula 

Students Accumulating 12hrs Dual Enrollment Students 

Students Accumulating 24hrs Associates Degrees 

Students Accumulating 36hrs Short- and Long-term Certificates 

Job Placements Transfers Out with 12 credits 

Work Force Training Hours Awards per 100 Full-time Equivalent (“FTE”) 

 



 

16 

The outcomes-based model does not specifically use enrollment to distribute funds. It instead utilizes a three-year 

average of outcome data. The outcome data is then weighted to reflect both the priority of that outcome at a particular 

institution and an institution’s Carnegie Classification. Institutions are also rewarded with a premium for the student 

progression and undergraduate award production data attributable to low-income and/or adult students and universities and 

low-income, adult and/or academically underprepared students at communtiy colleges . Additionally, students completing an 

undergraduate award in a high-need academic program also qualify for a premium. Student progression measures the 

accumulation of credit hours, thereby incorporating course completions. 

The outcomes-based model provides more stability by spreading the financial incentives across more variables.  

Additionally, the institutional specific weights allow the State to be clear in its expectations, while not prescribing to 

institutions how to achieve higher levels of outcomes. Unlike performance funding, the outcomes based formula does not 

have annual targets or benchmarks. Therefore, institutions are not penalized for failure to achieve a predetermined annual 

target. 

Employee Retirement Benefits  

Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System - General 

Employees of the University of Tennessee and the Board of Regents are authorized to participate in the Tennessee 

Consolidated Retirement System (“TCRS”), a defined benefit pension plan, pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated Title 8, 

Chapter 35 except that employees exempt from the Federal Fair Labor Standards Act may waive membership in TCRS and 

elect to participate in the Optional Retirement Program (“ORP”), a defined contribution plan.  The general administration and 

responsibility for the proper operation of TCRS are vested in a twenty member Board of Trustees.   The Treasury Department, 

a constitutional office in the legislative branch of state government, is responsible for the administration of TCRS, includi ng 

the investment of assets in the plan, in accordance with state statute and in accordance with the policies, rules, and regulations  

established by the Board of Trustees. 

The TCRS covers three large groups of public employees; state employees and higher education  employees, K-12 

teachers, and employees of certain local governments.  As of June 30, 2021, there were 58,351 active members in TCRS in 

the state and higher education employee group.  This total includes 18,117 employees of the University of Tennessee and the 

Board of Regents who are members of TCRS. 

The State is ultimately responsible for the financial obligations of the benefits provided by TCRS to state employees 

and higher education employees participating in the Legacy Pension Plan to the extent such obligations are not covered by 

employee contributions and investments earnings.  The obligation is funded by employer contributions as determined by an 

actuarial valuation.  The Hybrid Retirement Plan provided to state employees and higher education employ ees hired after 

June 30, 2014 includes provisions to control employer contributions and unfunded liabilities.  As such, plan provisions of th e 

Hybrid Retirement Plan are automatically adjusted when employer contributions and/or unfunded liabilities exceed statutory 

limits.  Employees hired on or before June 30, 2014 in the state and higher education group are noncontributory.  New 

employees hired on or after July 1, 2014 contribute 5% of salary.  

By statute, an actuarial valuation of TCRS is to be conducted at least once in each two year period.  The purpose of 

the actuarial valuation is to determine the financial position of the plan pursuant  to Governmental Accounting Standards 

Board Statement No. 68 (“GASB 68”) and to determine the actuarially determined contributions (“ADC”).  Effective June 

30, 2015, the Board of Trustees adopted a funding policy whereby an actuarial valuation will be conducted annually to 

determine the ADC rate for participating employers and to determine the information required by GASB 68 to be presented 

in financial statements.  The actuarial valuation for June 30, 2015 and forward includes both the determination of employer 

contribution rates and accounting information.   

The actuarially determined contribution rate includes funding for the normal cost, the accrued liability cost, and the 

TCRS administrative cost. 

Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System - Actuarial Valuation GASB 68 Financial Status  

An actuarial valuation was performed to determine the TCRS financial position in order to provide information 

related to Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) pronouncements.  At June 30, 2021, (measurement date of 

June 30, 2020), the net pension liability in the closed plan for the state and higher education employee group was $1.6 billion, 

resulting in plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of total pension liability of 90.58%.  For the same period, the net 

pension asset in the open plan for the state and higher education employee group was $35.2 million, resulting in a funded 

ratio of 112.90%.  A measurement date of the previous fiscal year end is used for GASB 68 purposes. 

Pension Plan for Employees Hired on or before June 30, 2014 (Closed Plan) 



 

17 

Employees enrolled in the pension plan on or before June 30, 2014 do not make contributions to the plan.  Eligibility 

to retire is age 60 or 30 years of service credit.  Certain death and disability benefits are available.  A member becomes vested 

after accruing 5 years of service credit.  Retirees are eligible for automatic cost of living increases each July based on ch anges 

in the customer price index (“CPI”) but capped at 3%. 

Higher education institutions are required to contribute at an actuarially determined contribution rate.  The employer 

contribution rates are developed with each actuarial valuation and are delayed by one year for budget purposes.  The June 30, 

2019 actuarial valuation provided the employer contribution rates for the period July 1, 2020 through June 30, 2021.  For the 

employees of Tennessee’s higher education institutions, the employer contribution rate for fiscal year 2021, stated as a 

percentage of salary was 20.23%.  For fiscal year 2022 the employer rate is 20.50%.  Previously, actuarial valuations were 

performed every two years.  Beginning June 30, 2015, the actuarial valuation will be performed annually for both accounting 

purposes and funding purposes.  The employer contribution requirements of the higher education institutions are established 

and may be amended by the TCRS Board of Trustees.   

Employees enrolled in the ORP pension plan on or before June 30, 2014 do not make contributions to the plan.  

Employer contributions to the ORP are 10% of salary up to the social security wage base and 11% of salary above the social 

security wage base.  Schedules of employer contribution rates and funding are shown below.  Additionally, state and higher 

education employees may participate on a voluntary basis in the state’s  401K deferred compensation plan and are eligible to 

receive up to a $50 monthly match from the employer. 

New Retirement Plan for Employees Hired on or after July 1, 2014 

As authorized by Public Chapter 259, Acts of 2013, employees first hired on or after July 1, 2014, participate in a 

hybrid pension plan consisting of a defined benefit plan and a defined contribution plan.  Employees contribute at 5% of 

salary to the defined benefit plan.  Employees contribute 2% of salary to the defined contribution plan unless the employee 

opts out of making such contribution.  The total employer cost for the two plans is limited to 9% of salary with 4% targeted 

to the defined benefit plan and 5% to the defined contribution plan.   Employees are also eligible to participate in the state’s 

401K deferred compensation plan and are eligible to receive up to a $50 monthly match from the employer.  

The benefit accrual formula under the defined benefit plan is 1%.  Eligibility to retire is age 65 or the rule of 90 

(where age and service equals 90).  Certain death and disability benefits are available.  A member becomes vested after 

accruing 5 years of service credit.  Retirees are eligible for automatic cost of living increases each July based on changes in 

the CPI but capped at 3%. 

There is a stabilization reserve created for any employer contributions that exceed the ADC rate that will be utilized 

to control cost and unfunded liabilities.  Federal government grant programs will only permit a reimbursement of the ADC.  

The defined benefit component of the hybrid plan has automatic cost controls and automatic controls over unfunded 

accrued liability.  The automatic controls are based on the results of the actuarial valuation.  Control features include utilizing 

funds in the stabilization reserve (if any), limiting retiree cost of living adjustments, shifting future employer contributions 

from the defined contribution plan to the defined benefit plan, requiring additional employee contributions, and adjusting 

benefit accruals.  The control features only apply to the new hybrid plan and do not apply to the closed pension plan.  

Employees enrolled in the ORP pension plan on or after July 1, 2014 contribute 5% of salary with employers 

contributing 9% of salary. 

Summary of Employer Contributions for All Plans 

 



 

18 

For each year above, contributions made by the University of Tennessee and the Tennessee Board of Regents 

institutions equal the ADC. 

Other Post-Employment Benefits  

GASB Statements (nos. 74 and 75) provide accounting and financial reporting requirements for retiree healthcare 

plans and employer participants, commonly known as Other Post-Employment Benefits (“OPEB”).  The latest actuarial 

valuation of the employee group OPEB plan (EGOP) is as of July 1, 2021, and includes OPEB costs attributable to the State 

and, separately, for certain of its component units (including the Boards) that are required to participate in the State reti rement 

and benefit plans.  The study, which used the entry age normal actuarial cost method, indicates for the fiscal year ended June 

30, 2022, the net OPEB liability of the University of Tennessee would be approximately $118,303,278 (unaudited), while the 

net OPEB liability of the State University and Community College System would be approximately $118,695,946 

(unaudited).   The report may be viewed at Other Postemployment Benefits (tn.gov).  Each participating employer in the plan, 

including the Boards, will be charged for their share of current and future OPEB costs through an actuarially determined 

contribution rate.  

Pursuant to Sections 9-27-801, et seq. Tennessee Code Annotated, a trust (the “OPEB Trust”) was established and  

began operating effective January 1, 2019, whereby the State Employee Group Plan was converted to a prefunding 

arrangement where assets are accumulated in the OPEB Trust and benefit payments are made directly from the OPEB Trust. 

The State has the flexibility to adjust the benefits and premium sharing provisions provided by insurance plans and to adjust 

the various OPEB plan options and operations on an annual basis.  

The trustees (the “Trustees”) of the OPEB Trust are the Commissioner of Finance and Admin istration, the chair of 

the Finance, Ways and Means Committee for the Senate, the chair of the Finance, Ways and Means Committee for the House 

of Representatives, and the State Treasurer, in his capacity as chair of the board of TCRS.  

Impact of COVID-19 (to be updated)  

The worldwide spread of COVID-19, a respiratory illness caused by a novel strain of coronavirus, is a pandemic that 

has affected the entire world, including the State, and is considered by the World Health Organization to be a Public Health 

Emergency of International Concern.  The Governor of the State issued a state of emergency for the State in mid -March 2020 

in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.  The spread of COVID-19 has led to quarantine and other "social distancing" 

measures throughout the United States, including the State.  These measures have included, from to time, (i) the closure of 

or limits on operations and capacity at educational, governmental, office, commercial and industrial buildings and facilities , 

(ii) the postponement or cancellation of large-scale gatherings, such as conventions and sporting events and (iii) 

recommendations and warnings to limit nonessential travel and promote remote work and learning.  In response to the 

pandemic, some or all of the Institutions have offered classes and other student services, from time to time, virtually, in -

person and/or via a hybrid structure of remote and in-person offerings.  Additionally, some or all of the Institutions’ residence 

halls are operating at reduced capacity, and many extracurricular student activities have been limited, postponed or canceled.  

The State continues to be under a state of emergency, and the Governor of the State may continue to issue executive orders 

to facilitate continued response to the COVID-19 pandemic.  As of January 22, 2021, the State Department of Health reported 

over 700,000 confirmed cases of COVID-19 in the State and over 8,700 deaths. 

Multiple vaccines for the virus that causes COVID-19 were developed in late 2020.  To date, two vaccines have been 

approved for distribution in the United States with both of these vaccines having an efficacy rate exceeding 90%.  Although 

multiple variants of the virus that causes COVID-19 have been documented in the United States and globally, studies so far 

suggest that antibodies generated through vaccination with authorized vaccines recognize these variants  to varying extents.  

Because of a shortage in the amount of vaccines available, however, only residents that the State has deemed eligible, based 

on their personal risk factors, can currently receive a vaccine.  Eligibility to receive a vaccine may depend upon a person’s  

occupation, age, health conditions and place of residence. To date, most State residents eligible to receive a vaccine are those 

who are 75 and older, who live in a long-term care facility or who are considered essential workers.  It is unknown at this 

time when the COVID-19 vaccines will be available to all residents within the State and, when available, how many residents 

will choose to receive a vaccine.   

The Authority and the Institutions are unable to predict: (i) the extent or duration of the COVID-19 outbreak, any 

recurrence thereof or any other epidemic or pandemic; (ii) the extent or duration of existing or additional quarantines, 

shutdowns, restrictions or other measures relating to COVID-19 or any other epidemic or pandemic; (iii) whether and to what 

extent the COVID-19 outbreak or any other epidemic or pandemic may disrupt the State, national or global economy or 

supply chain and how any such disruption may adversely affect the Authority or Institutions; (iv) any litigation involving the 

Institutions that may arise from circumstances related to or actions in response to the pandemic; (v) the impact of, or the 

timing of distribution of, the COVID-19 vaccines or (vi) when and if instruction and operations at the Institutions will return 

https://www.tn.gov/finance/rd-doa/opeb22121.html


 

19 

to their pre-COVID-19 levels.  Moreover, there have often been varied responses to the pandemic across the Institutions due 

to particular circumstances and context, including any applicable restrictions at the county or municipal level.  Given the 

evolving nature of the spread of the virus and the behavior of individuals, governments and businesses in response thereto, 

neither the Authority nor the Institutions can accurately predict the magnitude of the impact of COVID-19 on their operations 

or financial condition.  The State is taking steps to mitigate the spread of COVID-19 within the State, including but not 

limited to the above-mentioned distribution of COVID-19 vaccines to eligible residents.   

Although neither the Authority nor the Institutions can predict the magnitude of the impact of the COVID-19 

pandemic, they are monitoring their operations and finances, as applicable. 

Impact on Operations 

From an operations perspective, the primary concern of the Authority and Institutions is ensuring that students and 

employees of the various entities remain healthy and that the Authority and Institutions are able to function effectively.   The 

Institutions have enacted policies, based on guidelines issued by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, to mitigate 

the spread of COVID-19 within the Institutions.  Such policies may include, from time to time, but are not limited to, the 

following: (i) substituting virtual instruction in place of in-person classes where determined by administration to be in the 

best interest of students, faculty and staff, (ii) requiring non-essential staff to work remotely, (iii) closing or limiting capacity 

at campus housing, (iv) limiting or canceling extracurricular activities, such as participation in and general attendance at 

sporting events and (v) other measures designed to eliminate large gatherings and promote social distancing.  Students, facul ty 

and staff found to be in violation of the Institutions’ COVID-19 policies are subject to varying levels of discipline, including, 

for students, suspension and expulsion.  Additionally, school calendars have been adjusted because of COVID -19 

considerations, with many Institutions having offered shortened semesters since Spring 2020.  Though operating under the 

restrictions noted above, all Institutions have remained open and operating since the onset of the pandemic . 

Impact on Financial Condition  

As has been the case for many, if not, all institutions of higher education, the Institutions have been financially 

impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic.  Enrollment at Institutions has declined since the onset of the pandemic.  Comparing 

Fall 2020 to Fall 2019 semesters, overall enrollment at the Institutions has decreased by approximately 3%.  University 

enrollment remained relatively flat over this period, but community college enrollment decreased by approximately 10.3%.  

Overall first-time freshman enrollment at the Institutions was down approximately 8.1% in Fall 2020 as compared to Fall 

2019.  Fall-to-Fall retention rates across all Institutions, however, have remained fairly consistent since Fall 2019.  As overall 

enrollment has decreased and online instruction has increased, there are fewer students in campus housing at the Institutions.  

The transition of various campus operations from in-person to remote offerings and the limitation or elimination of 

various revenue-generating campus activities, along with an overall decrease in enrollment, have resulted in both increased 

expenses and decreased revenues for the Institutions.  Since their pre-pandemic levels in 2019-20, there has been an overall 

4.8% increase in expenses and 2.6% decrease in revenues across all Institutions.  Total Fees and Charges collected by the 

Institutions decreased by 2.8% from 2019-20 to 2020-21.  To date, for the Institutions overall, there has been an estimated 

total adverse fiscal impact of $344.8 million as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.  Approximately $48.5 million of this 

amount is attributable to refunds made to students as a result of altered campus operations.  The remaini ng amounts are 

attributable to lost revenues and increased expenditures.  A significant amount of the COVID-19-related expenditures were 

made as part of the initial shift to remote learning and work, and many of such expenditures are not expected to be recurring.  

The Institutions have also been able to reduce expenses by eliminating certain operating, travel and equipment expenses that 

are not necessary while operating under COVID-19 restrictions.  There have been only very few layoffs, to date, and the 

COVID-19 pandemic has not resulted in a material reduction of faculty or staff at the Institutions.  

Although the Boards generally raise tuition by an average of 3% each year, there was no tuition increase for the 

2020-2021 school year.  Donations (as measured by cash receipts) to the Board of Trustees’ Institutions for fiscal year 2019 -

2020 have decreased by approximately 2.9% or $4 million since the 2018-2019 fiscal year.  Donations (as measured by cash 

receipts and in-kind gifts) to the Board of Regents’ Institutions have increased by approximately 16.5% or $11.6 million in 

fiscal year 2019-2020 as compared to the 2018-2019 fiscal year.  Donations to Institutions are not used to fund operations 

and are instead generally used to fund scholarships and campus capital improvements.  To mitigate the impact of the COVID-

19 pandemic, the Institutions initiated a campaign in 2020 to encourage enrollment at Institutions among those who have lost 

their jobs during the pandemic and have been unable to return to the workforce.   

Despite the widespread financial impact of the pandemic, overall State revenue collections for fiscal year 2020 -2021, 

to date, have exceeded budgeted amounts, and the State has maintained its level of funding for the Institutions for the 2020 -

2021 budget year.  Projected recurring State appropriations for Institutions for the 2020-2021 budget year are 1% higher than 



 

20 

those for the 2019-2020 budget year.  No assurances may be made that the State will continue its current level of funding of 

the Institutions.   

The Institutions received approximately $191.5 million in Higher Education Emergency Relief Funds (or “HEER I 

Funds”) in March 2020 in connection with the federal Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the “CARES 

Act”).  Of this amount, approximately $84.5 million were used to make direct emergency financial aid grants to students for 

expenses related to the disruption of campus operations caused by the coronavirus, including cost of attendence, such as food, 

housing, course materials, technology, health care and childcare.  This portion of the HEER I funds could not be used to 

reimburse Institutions for room and board, tuition or other fees. Remaining funds of $107 million were applied by Institutions 

toward costs associated with significant changes in instructional delivery due to the pandemic. These funds could be used for 

reimbursement for refunds to students for room and board, tuition and other fees, purchasing equipment and software, internet  

service to enable students to transition to distance learning, and for additional emergency aid to affected students. Pursuant 

to the CARES Act, the HEER I Funds were not initially allowed to be applied to any revenue losses sustained by Institutions 

as a result of the pandemic.  Though no guarantees may be made, the Institutions expect to receive an additional $308.1 

million in Higher Education Emergency Relief funds (“HEER II Funds”) from the federal government in early 2021 as part 

of the Coronavirus Response and Relief Supplemental Appropriations Act of 2021. At least $84.5 million of these HEER II 

Funds must be used to make direct emergency aid grants to students for expenses related to the disruption of campus 

operations caused by the coronavirus, including cost of attendance expenses, such as food, housing, course materials, 

technology, health care and childare. Unlike previous restrictions on HEER I Funds, it is possible that the institutional por tion 

of such HEER II Funds may be used to cover revenue losses sustained by the Institutions. It is also possible, depending on 

evolving federal regulations, that the institutional portion of any remaining HEER I Funds may also be used to cover revenue 

losses.  In addition, Institutions received approximately $20 million from the State’s Coronavirus Relief Fund to help address 

costs of the pandemic.  Such monies were used to increase social distancing on campus or transition to online learning.  

See page “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS – Subordinated Obligations; Revolving 

Credit Loans” herein for information regarding the Authority’s short-term borrowing capacity and APPENDIX B: 

TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY SELECTED STATISTICAL INFORMATION – “Coverage of Annual 

Financing Charges and Administrative Fees for Long-Term Debt Secured By Financing Agreements” for information on the 

historical debt service coverage of the Bonds (both including and excluding Legislative Appropriations).  Though no 

guarantees may be offered, the Authority expects to be able to finance Institution pr ojects and make timely debt service 

payments on the Offered Bonds and other Bonds if unexpected changes to revenues and expenses of the Institutions occur.  

Cybersecurity 

The Authority and the Institutions utilize various computer systems and network technology to perform many of their 

vital operations.  Such operations often include the storage and transmission of sensitive information.  As a result, the 

Authority and/or the Institutions may be the target of cyberattacks attempting to gain access to such information.  In addition 

to intentional attacks, information breaches may occur due to unintentional user error.  A successful cyberattack or 

unintentional breach may require the expenditure of an unknown amount of money or time to resolve, substantially i nterrupt 

State and/or campus services and operations and subject the Institutions and/or the State to legal action. Attempted 

cybersecurity attacks, whether anonymous or targeted, occur on a periodic frequency that is not uncommon to organizations 

or entities similar to the Authority and the Institutions.  To mitigate against such risks, the State and its departments, agencies, 

and divisions, including Institutions, have instituted various technical controls, policies and procedures to protect their 

network infrastructure, including a cybersecurity training requirement for certain departments, as well as general 

cybersecurity training and awareness for all employees.  The Strategic Technology Solutions Division of the State’s 

Department of Finance and Administration works with various State departments, agencies and divisions, as necessary, to 

develop specific cybersecurity policies and procedures.  Using a framework provided by the National Institute of Standards 

and Technology, each Institution has developed its own set of cybersecurity policies and procedures that are submitted to the 

State.  The State also maintains third-party insurance against cybersecurity incidents, and such coverage includes the 

Institutions. 

Certain of the Institutions have experienced varying levels of cyberattacks and unintentional network breaches, some 

of which have resulted in the inability to use certain computer systems, the misdirection of monies and the disclosure of 

personally identifiable information, including social security numbers.  One university experienced a cyberattack that caused 

$1.4 million intended for a vendor to be misdirected to another party.  In response to such attacks and breaches, the Institu tions 

have, where applicable, revised cybersecurity policies and procedures, increased cybersecurity training for employees, 

engaged third-party cyberincident reponders, provided free credit report monitoring for affected individuals and, in the case 

of the misdirected vendor payment, submitted a claim to the insurance  provider.  Despite the State’s, including the 



 

21 

Institutions’, measures to safeguard their network infrastructure from any future incidents, there are no guarantees that suc h 

measures will be successful 

REVIEW AND APPROVAL PROCESS FOR FINANCING OF PROJECTS BY AUTHORITY 

For the purpose of carrying out the programs authorized by the Act and to permit the Authority to undertake the 

financing of Projects, the Authority’s existing policy generally requires the review and approval  of a project by different 

bodies of State government prior to the Authority’s approval of a project undertaken for either the Board of Trustees or the 

Board of Regents. 

The review and approval process is undertaken in the following sequence: 

(1)  A Project request is initiated by an Institution.  Such Project is expected to relate to that Institution’s five-year 

capital construction plan, if applicable. 

(2)  The Project is reviewed by the Board of Trustees or the Board of Regents, as the case may be, and, if approved, 

is forwarded to the Tennessee Higher Education Commission and to the Authority. 

(3)  The Tennessee Higher Education Commission undertakes a review of the Project to determine its educational 

need and compatibility with the Institution’s master plan.  The Commission then forwards its comments and recommendations 

to the Commissioner of Finance and Administration and the State Building Commission.  At the same time, the Authority 

staff undertakes a review of the Project’s financial feasibility to determine if sufficient revenue has been pledged to cover the 

debt service for that project.  The staff then forwards its comments and recommendations to the State Building Commission.  

(4)  The Project is then presented to the State Building Commission for approval of funding.  The S tate Building 

Commission is an agency of the State whose permanent members consist of the Governor, Lieutenant Governor, Speaker of 

the House of Representatives, Comptroller of the Treasury, Secretary of State, State Treasurer and Commissioner of Finance 

and Administration.  The State Architect serves as its Chief Staff Officer.  

(5)  Upon approval by the State Building Commission, the Project is forwarded to the Authority which considers the 

Project for inclusion under the Second Program Financing Agreement with the Board of Trustees or the Board of Regents, as 

the case may be. 

(6)  Upon approval for funding by the Authority, the Project proceeds immediately to detailed architectural design.  

When planning and specifications are complete, they are then forwarded to the State Architect’s office for review and 

submission to the State Building Commission for approval. 

Institutions may bring financings for the purchase of large equipment and computer software directly to the 

Authority.  Depending on the average life of the item financed it may be amortized under the Revolving Credit Agreement or 

through long-term or short-term fixed rate debt.  

  



 

22 

RATINGS 

Moody’s Investors Service Inc. (“Moody’s”) has assigned the Offered Bonds an enhanced rating of “___”, with a 

stable outlook, based in part on its assignment to the Authority’s Legislative Appropriations intercept program (see 

“SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS – Legislative Appropriations”) of a programmatic rating 

of “Aa1”, with a stable outlook.  S&P Global Ratings, a subsidiary of S&P Global Inc. (“S&P”), has assigned the Offered 

Bonds a rating of “___”, with a stable outlook.  Fitch Ratings, Inc. (“Fitch”) has assigned the Offered Bonds a rating of “___”, 

with a stable outlook.  A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold the Offered Bonds and there is no assurance that 

any rating will be maintained for any given period of time or that it will not be revised downward or withdrawn entirely by 

the rating agency if, in its judgment, circumstances so warrant.  Any such revision or withdrawal may have an adverse effect 

on the market price of the Offered Bonds.  

Such ratings reflect only the views of such organizations and any desired explanation of the significance of such 

ratings should be obtained from the rating agency furnishing the same, at the following addresses: Moody’s Investors Service, 

Inc., 7 World Trade Center, 250 Greenwich Street, New York, New York 10007; S&P Global Ratings, 55 Water Street, New 

York, New York 10004; and Fitch Ratings, One State Street Plaza, New York, New York, 10004. Generally, a rating agency 

bases its rating on the information and materials furnished to it and on investigations, studies and assumptions of its own.   

Such ratings are not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold the Offered Bonds and may be subject to revision or withdrawal 

at anytime. 

LITIGATION 

There is no controversy or litigation of any nature now pending or threatened against the Authority to restrain or 

enjoin the issuance, sale, execution or delivery of the Offered Bonds or the financing of the Projects or the application of the 

proceeds of the Offered Bonds, or in any way contesting or affecting the validity of the Offered Bonds or any proceedings of 

the Authority taken with respect to the issuance or sale thereof, the Financing Agreements, or the pledge or application of 

any monies or security provided for the payment of the Offered  Bonds or the existence powers of the Authority, the Board 

of Regents or the Board of Trustees.  The Board of Regents and the Board of Trustees are engaged in litigation of various 

natures.  However, there is no litigation pending or threatened to restrain or enjoin the financing of the Projects or contes ting 

or affecting the validity of any proceedings of the Board of Regents or the Board of Trustees taken with respect to the 

Financing Agreements, or the pledge or application of any monies or security provided for the payment of the Annual 

Financing Charges. 

TAX MATTERS (TO BE UPDATED) 

Federal Tax Matters  

General 

In the opinion of Hawkins Delafield, & Wood LLP, Bond Counsel to the Authority, interest on the Offered Bonds is 

included in gross income for federal income tax purposes pursuant to the “Code.” Bond Counsel expresses no opinion 

regarding any other federal tax consequences with respect to the federally Taxable Offered Bonds. For the proposed form of 

opinion of Bond Counsel relating to federal tax matters, see Appendix H. 

The following is a brief summary of the principal United States federal income tax consequences of the acquisition, 

ownership and disposition of Offered Bonds by original purchasers of the Offered Bonds who are “U.S. Holders”, as defined  

herein. This summary (i) is based on the Code, Treasury Regulations, revenue rulings and court decisions, all as currently in  

effect and all subject to change at any time, possibly with retroactive effect; (ii) assumes that the Offered Bonds will be h eld 

as “capital assets” and (iii) does not describe all of the federal income tax consequences that may be relevant to a U.S. Holder 

in light of its particular circumstances or to U.S. Holders subject to special rules, such as insurance companies, financial 

institutions, tax-exempt organizations, dealers in securities or foreign currencies, persons holding the Offered Bonds as a 

position in a “hedge” or “straddle”, U.S. Holders whose functional currency (as defined in Section 985 of the Code) is not 

the United States dollar, U.S. Holders who acquire Offered Bonds in the secondary market, or individuals, estates and trusts 

subject to the tax on unearned income imposed by Section 1411 of the Code.  

Certain taxpayers that are required to prepare certified finanical  statements and file finanical statements with certain 

regulatory or governmental agencies may be required to recognize income, gain or loss with respect to the Offered Bonds at 

the time that such income, gain or loss is taken into account on such financia l statements instead of under the rules described 

below. 



 

23 

U.S. Holders of Offered Bonds should consult with and rely upon their own tax advisors concerning the federal 

income tax and other consequences with respect to the acquisition, ownership and disposit ion of the Offered Bonds as well 

as any tax consequences that may arise under the laws of any state, local or foreign tax jurisdiction.  

Disposition and Defeasance  

Generally, upon the sale, exchange, redemption, or other disposition (which would include a legal defeasance) of an 

Offered Bond, a U.S. Holder generally will recognize taxable gain or loss in an amount equal to the difference between the 

amount realized (other than amounts attributable to accrued interest not previously includable in income) and  such U.S. 

Holder’s adjusted tax basis in the Offered Bond.  

The Authority may cause the deposit of moneys or securities in escrow in such amount and manner as to cause the 

Offered Bonds to be deemed to be no longer outstanding under the Resolution (a “defeasance”). (See Appendix E, 

“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTION” herein).  For federal income tax purposes, such 

defeasance could result in a deemed exchange under Section 1001 of the Code and a recognition by such owner of taxable 

income or loss, without any corresponding receipt of moneys. In addition, the character and timing of receipt of payments on 

the Offered Bonds subsequent to any such defeasance could also be affected.  

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding  

In general, information reporting requirements will apply to non-corporate U.S. Holders of the Offered Bonds with 

respect to payments of principal, payments of interest, and the accrual of OID on an Offered Bond and the proceeds of the 

sale of an Offered Bond before maturity within the United States. Backup withholding may apply to U.S. Holders of Offered 

Bonds under Section 3406 of the Code. Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules from a payment to a 

beneficial owner, and which constitutes over-withholding, would be allowed as a refund or a credit against such beneficial 

owner’s federal income tax provided the required information is furnished to the Internal Revenue Service.  

U.S. Holders 

The term “U.S. Holder” means a beneficial owner of an Offered Bond that is: (i) a citizen or resident of the United 

States, (ii) a corporation, partnership or other entity created or organized in or under the laws of the United States or of any 

political subdivision thereof, (iii) an estate the income of which is subject to th e federal income taxation regardless of its 

source or (iv) a trust whose administration is subject to the primary jurisdiction of a United States court and which has one  

or more United States fiduciaries who have the authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust.  

Miscellaneous 

Tax legislation, administrative actions taken by tax authorities, or court decisions, whether at the federal or state 

level, may adversely affect the tax-exempt status of interest on the Offered Bonds under state law and could affect tax market 

price or marketability of the Offered Bonds.   

Prospective purchasers of the Offered Bonds should consult their own tax advisors regarding the foregoing  matters. 

State of Tennessee Tax Matters 

In the opinion of Bond Counsel to the Authority, under existing laws of the State, the Offered Bonds and the interest 

thereon are exempt from taxation by the State or any county, municipality or political subdivision of the State, except for 

estate and gift taxes and taxes on transfers, and except to the extent included within the measure of franchise and excise taxes. 

Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regarding any other state or local tax consequences with respect to the Offered 

Bonds.  Bond Counsel renders its opinion under existing statutes and court decisions as of the issue date and assumes no 

obligation to update, revise or supplement its opinion to reflect any action hereafter taken or not taken, or any facts or 

circumstances that may hereafter come to its attention, or changes in law or in interpretations thereof that may hereafter occur, 

or for any other reason. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion on the effect of any action hereafter taken or not taken in reliance 

upon an opinion of other counsel under state and local tax law.   

For the proposed form of opinion of Bond Counsel relating to State tax matters, see Appendix  H. 

FINANCIAL ADVISOR 

PFM Financial Advisors LLC (“PFM”) is employed by the Authority to perform professional services in the capacity 

of financial advisor.  In its role as financial advisor to the Authority, PFM has provided advice on the plan of financing an d 

structure of the Offered Bonds, and reviewed certain legal and disclosure documents, including this Official Statement, for 



 

24 

financial matters.  PFM has not independently verified the factual information contained in this Official Statement, but relied 

on the information supplied by the Authority and other sources and the Authority’s certification as to the Official Statement.  

LEGAL OPINIONS 

The validity of the Offered Bonds is subject to the approval of Hawkins Delafield & Wood LLP, New York, New 

York, Bond Counsel to the Authority.  For the form of proposed Bond Counsel opinion relating to the Offered Bonds, see 

Appendix H.  Certain legal matters will be passed upon by the Attorney General and Reporter of the State of Tennessee, as 

counsel to the Authority.  No representation is made to the holders of the Offered Bonds that such counsel have verified the 

accuracy, completeness or fairness of the statements in this Official Statement, and such counsel assume no responsibility to  

the holders of the Offered Bonds except for the matters that will be set  forth in their respective opinions. 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION; CONTINUING DISCLOSURE 

Additional information relating to the Authority is contained in its audited financial statements.  The audited financial 

statements of the Authority for fiscal years ended June 30, 2020 and 2021 are included herein as Appendix A.  Audited 

financial statements for certain prior years are available on the website of the Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury and 

have been filed with the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board through its Electronic Municipal Market Access (“EMMA”) 

system. 

Additional information relating to the Institutions is included in the audited financial s tatements of the State, 

including component unit reporting of The University of Tennessee system and the Board of Trustees of the University of 

Tennessee, and of the State University and Community College System of the State of Tennessee and the Tennessee Board 

of Regents, showing information of the type described in the Statement of Net Position, and Statement of Revenues, 

Expenditures and Changes in Net Position.  Financial statements of the State for fiscal year 2020-2021 and for certain prior 

years are available on the website of the Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury and have been filed with EMMA.  

The Authority has authorized a Continuing Disclosure Undertaking (the “Undertaking”) with respect to the Offered 

Bonds to assist the Underwriters in complying with U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 15c2 -12(b)(5).  The 

Undertaking is for the benefit of the holders of the Offered Bonds; beneficial owners of the Offered Bonds will be third -party 

beneficiaries of the Undertaking.  In the Undertaking, the Authority will agree to provide certain financial information and 

operating data by specified dates, and to provide notice of certain enumerated events with respect to the Offered Bonds .  The 

specific nature of the information to be provided and the notices of enumerated events, and where they will be filed, is 

described in the summary of certain provisions of the Undertaking, attached hereto as Appendix G.   

Within the preceding five (5) years, certain local government audits required to be filed by the Authority with 

nationally recognized municipal securities repositories pursuant to previous Rule 15c2-12 continuing disclosure undertakings 

were not timely filed on EMMA because they were not available, but were filed on EMMA when available. 

SALE BY COMPETITIVE BIDDING 

The Offered Bonds will be awarded pursuant to electronic competitive bidding to be held via IPREO LLC’s 

BiDCOMPTM/PARITY® Competitive Bidding System on behalf of the Authority on __________ __, 2022, unless postponed 

or cancelled, as set forth in the Notice of Sale contained in Appendix I.  

The Offered Bonds are being offered for sale as provided in the Notice of Sale for the Offered Bonds. The Notice of 

Sale provides that the initial purchaser of each series of the Offe red Bonds (each an “Initial Purchaser”) shall purchase all 

Offered Bonds of that series, if any Offered Bonds of such series are purchased. The obligation to each such purchase is 

subject to certain conditions set forth in the Notice of Sale, the approval of certain legal matters by counsel and certain other 

conditions. 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

The statements contained in this Official Statement, and in any other information provided by the Authority, that are 

not purely historical, are forward-looking statements, including statements regarding the Authority’s expectations, hopes, 

intentions, or strategies regarding the future. 



 

25 

Readers should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements.  All forward-looking statements included in 

this Official Statement are based on information available to the Authority on the date hereof, and the Authority assumes no 

obligation to update any such forward-looking statements. 

The forward-looking statements herein are necessarily based on various assumptions and estimates and are inherently 

subject to various risks and uncertainties, including risks and uncertainties relating to the possible invalidity of the unde rlying 

assumptions and estimates and possible changes or developments in social, economic, business, industry, market, legal and 

regulatory circumstances and conditions and actions taken or omitted to be taken by third parties, including customers, 

suppliers, business partners and competitors, and legislative, judicial and other governmenta l authorities and officials.  

Assumptions related to the foregoing involve judgments with respect to, among other things, future economic, competitive, 

and market conditions and future business decisions, all of which are difficult or impossible to predict  accurately and, 

therefore, there can be no assurance that the forward-looking statements included in this Official Statement would prove to 

be accurate. 

MISCELLANEOUS 

All quotations from, and summaries and explanations of, the Act, the Financing Agreements, the Resolution, and the 

Undertaking contained herein do not purport to be complete and reference is made to each for full and complete statements 

of their provisions.  The Appendices attached hereto are a part of this Official Statement.  Any statements  in this Official 

Statement involving matters of estimate or opinion, whether or not expressly so stated, are intended as such and not as 

representations of fact.  This Official Statement is not to be construed as a contract or agreement between the Author ity and 

the purchasers or holders of any of the Offered Bonds. 

 

TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY 

 

By:     . 

Comptroller of the Treasury; 

Secretary to the Authority 

 



 

 

[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 



 

A - 1 

 

APPENDIX A 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE AUTHORITY 

The Tennessee State School Bond Authority Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (“Authority ACFR”), 

including the audited Basic Financial Statements, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 has been filed with the Municipal 

Securities Rulemaking Board (the “MRSB”) through its Electronic Municipal Market Access (“EMMA”) system (see 

“ADDITIONAL INFORMATION; CONTINUING DISCLOSURE” in the Official Statement) and is obtainable from the 

MSRB in accordance with its procedures.  A printed version is also available upon request to the Tennessee State School 

Bond Authority, 425 Rep. John Lewis Way N, 4th Floor, Nashville, Tennessee 37243, telephone (615) 401-7872, fax (615) 

741-5986.  The 2021 Authority ACFR and certain prior year Authority ACFRs are posted on the Authority’s website at 

https://www.comptroller.tn.gov/boards/tennessee-state-school-bond-authority/investor-information/tssba-financial-

reports.html. 

The following reports, each of which are included in the ACFR and have been posted on the Authority’s website, are 

incorporated herein by reference: 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

Basic Financial Statements: 

 Statements of Net Position 

 Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position 

 Statements of Cash Flows 

 Notes to the Financial Statements 

Supplementary Schedules: 

 Supplementary Schedules of Net Position – Program Level 

 Supplementary Schedules of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position – Program Level 

 Supplementary Schedules of Cash Flows – Program Level 

Other Financial Statements 

The State of Tennessee Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (“State ACFR”), including component unit 

reporting of The University of Tennessee system and the Board of Trustees of the University of Tennessee, and of the State 

University and Community College System of the State of Tennessee and the Tennessee Board of Regents, showing of the 

type described in the Statement of Net Position, Statement of Activities, and Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and 

Changes in Fund Balances, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 has been filed with EMMA and is obtainable from the 

MSRB in accordance with its procedures.  A printed version is also available upon request to the Authority, as described 

above.  The 2021 State ACFR and certain prior year State ACFRs are posted on the website of the Tennessee Department of 

Finance and Administration at https://www.tn.gov/finance/rd-doa/fa-accfin-ar.html.  The State ACFR and such component 

unit reporting is required to be filed annually with EMMA pursuant to the Authority’s continuing dis closure obligations as 

described in this Official Statement under “ADDITIONAL INFORMATION; CONTINUING DISCLOSURE” and in 

APPENDIX G – “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING.” 

The most recent audited financial statements for the schools under the supervision of the Board of Trustees and 

Tennessee Board of Regents are posted on the website of the Comptroller of the Treasury of the State of Tennessee, Division 

of State Audit, at https://www.comptroller.tn.gov/office-functions/state-audit.html.  Universities are audited on an annual 

basis and Community Colleges and CATs are audited on a biennial basis.  Audits are prepared on a rolling basis and are 

published as they become available.  These financial statements are not required to be filed with EMMA as part of the 

Authority’s continuing disclosure obligations as described in this Official Statement under “ADDITIONAL INFORMATION; 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE” and in APPENDIX G – “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE CONTINUING 

DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING.” 

 

 

https://www.comptroller.tn.gov/boards/tennessee-state-school-bond-authority/investor-information/tssba-financial-reports.html
https://www.comptroller.tn.gov/boards/tennessee-state-school-bond-authority/investor-information/tssba-financial-reports.html
https://www.tn.gov/finance/rd-doa/fa-accfin-cafr.html
https://www.comptroller.tn.gov/office-functions/state-audit.html


 

 

 

[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 

 

 



APPENDIX B 

 

B - 1 

 

TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY 

SELECTED STATISTICAL INFORMATION  

The information in this Appendix B includes selected statistical information relating to the Boards, the Institutions 

and their component institutions.  For a discussion of certain impacts of the COVID-19 Pandemic, see “TENNESSEE PUBLIC 

HIGHER EDUCATION – Impact of Covid-19” in this Official Statement.  No assurance can be provided that the results 

included in this Appendix B will be indicative of future results. 

  

Source - TSSBA (Unaudited) 
1  Includes the Offered Bonds and excludes the 2021A Refunded Bonds.  See "THE AUTHORITY - Outstanding Indebtedness of the Authority" for total 

outstanding Bonds. 
2  Admin. expense is a fee imposed by the Authority on the Institutions estimated at the rate of 20 bps on the outstanding indebtedness of the Authority.  
The Authority has the right to change the amount charged based on actual expenses. 

 
  

12 Months 

Ending June 30

Bond Debt 

Service
1

Admin. 

Expense
1,2

Annual Debt 

Service and 

Admin. Exp.
1

2023 142,133 3,164 145,297

2024 135,853 2,980 138,833

2025 134,133 2,803 136,936

2026 132,167 2,623 134,790

2027 124,330 2,440 126,770

2028 119,859 2,267 122,126

2029 113,255 2,097 115,352

2030 110,242 1,933 112,175

2031 95,152 1,771 96,923

2032 94,974 1,635 96,609

2033 88,872 1,496 90,368

2034 86,191 1,366 87,557

2035 81,499 1,237 82,736

2036 81,498 1,115 82,613

2037 75,530 989 76,519

2038 73,385 871 74,256

2039 67,346 754 68,100

2040 65,527 645 66,172

2041 60,317 536 60,853

2042 58,096 433 58,529

2043 44,880 332 45,212

2044 40,392 254 40,646

2045 34,281 182 34,463

2046 26,591 120 26,711

2047 14,383 72 14,455

2048 14,381 46 14,427

2049 4,898 19 4,917

2050 4,900 10 4,9102053

$  2,125,065 $  34,190 $  2,159,255

Authority Second Program Bond Debt Service and Other Requirements

Secured by Financing Agreements

(Excluding Revolving Credit Loans)

(Expressed in Thousands)



 

B - 2 

 

Principal Amount of Debt Outstanding by Institution 

(Unaudited) 

As of June 30, 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Source - TSSBA (Unaudited) 
1 Adjusted to exclude the Offered Bonds.  See "THE AUTHORITY - Outstanding Indebtedness of the Authority" for total 

outstanding Bonds (unaudited). 
2  Outstanding Revolving Credit Loans balance is as of June 30, 2022, which excludes $13,378,864 of Revolving Credit Loans not 

allocated to Institutions   

  

Institutions Bonds
1

Revolving Credit 

Loans
2

Total Debt

University of Tennessee System 945,589,495$           56,653,915$       1,002,243,410$     

Tennessee Board of Regents System 636,580,506                 82,627,911             719,208,417                  

TOTAL 1,582,170,001$        139,281,826$     1,721,451,827$             

Authority Debt



 

B - 3 

 

University and College Funds 

Statement of Fees/Charges, Legislative Appropriations 

And Debt Service for the Last Ten Years  

 

The Total Fees and Charges and Legislative Appropriations (in some cases, as amended by the General Assembly) 

set forth in the following tables are applied to pay the cost of operation and maintenance of the following Institutions as well 

as the Debt Service Requirements2 (excluding Revolving Credit Loans and the Offered Bonds) listed below.  (Fiscal Years 

ended June 30) (Dollar amounts are expressed in thousands).   

 

 

 

 

Source - TSSBA, Institutions, and the Tennessee Department of Finance & Administration (Unaudited) 
1 Appropriations for operation and maintenance, including employer social security and retirement contributions for the 

respective systems (including the respective schools and Boards). 
2 Debt Service Requirements consist only of principal and interest.  Excludes the Offered. 

 

  

UNIVERSITY OF TENNESSEE SYSTEM

Prior and Subordinate Debt Service

Fiscal Total Fees Legislative Debt Service Requirements Requirements
3

Year and Charges
1

Appropriations
2

(Non Authority) (Authority Bonds)

2022 940,588$          690,956$             -$                                        71,606$                   

2021 818,094            643,823               -                                          72,059                     

2020 817,336            636,000               -                                          84,562                     

2019 817,648            612,411               -                                          83,887                     

2018 802,063            572,915               -                                          76,662                     

2017 778,509            532,161               -                                          73,722                     

2016 746,986            503,606               -                                          70,543                     

2015 700,757            479,221               -                                          55,553                     

2014 691,600            471,104               -                                          55,821                     

2013 658,079            435,446               -                                          52,859                     

TENNESSEE BOARD OF REGENTS SYSTEM

Prior and Subordinate Debt Service

Fiscal Total Fees Legislative Debt Service Requirements Requirements
3

Year and Charges
1

Appropriations
2

(Non Authority) (Authority Bonds)

2022 1,567,223$       1,026,416$          -$                                        63,183$                   

2021 1,390,548         916,824               -                                          64,832                     

2020 1,430,945         892,751               -                                          62,355                     

2019 1,467,540         840,812               -                                          57,292                     

2018 1,385,505         784,012               -                                          56,107                     

2017 1,131,352         720,388               -                                          57,511                     

2016 1,102,572         675,048               -                                          56,299                     

2015 1,158,289         644,099               -                                          52,404                     

2014 1,057,701         646,251               -                                          53,350                     

2013 1,035,821         608,454               -                                          49,484                     



 

B - 4 

 

State of Tennessee 

Coverage of Annual Financing Charges and Administrative Fees for 

Long-Term Debt Secured By Financing Agreements1 

College and University Funds 

For the Last Ten Years 

(Expressed in Thousands) 

 

 

 

 

 

Source - TSSBA, Institutions, and the Tennessee Department of Finance & Administration (Unaudited) 
1 Excludes Revolving Credit Loans 
2Appropriations for operation and maintenance, including employer social security and retirement contributions for the 

respective systems (including the respective schools and Boards). 
3 Annual Financing Charges consist of principal, interest and administrative fees.  Excludes the Offered. 

  

UNIVERSITY OF TENNESSEE SYSTEM

Fiscal Year

Total Fees and 

Charges
2

Legislative 

Appropriations
3

Annual Financing 

Charges
4

Fees & 

Charges

Fees, Charges, & 

Appropriations

2022 $  940,588 $  690,956 $  72,882 12.91 X 22.39 X

2021 818,094 643,823 73,384 11.15 X 19.92 X

2020 817,336 636,000 85,929 9.51 X 16.91 X

2019 817,348 612,411 85,606 9.55 X 16.70 X

2018 802,063 573,017 85,031 9.43 X 16.17 X

2017 780,867 527,569 74,793 10.44 X 17.49 X

2016 746,986 499,862 74,965 9.96 X 16.63 X

2015 700,757 475,416 56,855 12.33 X 20.69 X

2014 691,600 467,845 56,764 12.18 X 20.43 X

2013 609,399 432,636 53,855 11.32 X 19.35 X

TENNESSEE BOARD OF REGENTS SYSTEM

Fiscal Year

Total Fees and 

Charges
2

Legislative 

Appropriations
3

Annual Financing 

Charges
4

Fees & 

Charges

Fees, Charges, & 

Appropriations

2022 $  1,567,223 $  1,026,416 $  64,318 24.37 X 40.33 X

2021 1,390,548 916,824 66,005 21.07 X 34.96 X

2020 1,430,945 892,751 63,716 22.46 X 36.47 X

2019 1,467,541 840,812 58,846 24.94 X 39.23 X

2018 1,385,505 687,307 58,271 23.78 X 35.57 X

2017 1,131,352 769,801 58,212 19.44 X 32.66 X

2016 1,102,572 660,789 58,754 18.77 X 30.01 X

2015 1,158,289 578,734 53,707 21.57 X 32.34 X

2014 1,057,701 644,437 54,346 19.46 X 31.32 X

2013 1,035,821 621,841 50,530 20.50 X 32.81 X

Coverage By:

Coverage By:



 

B - 5 

 

University and College 

Per Student Fees and Charges 

(2022-2023 Academic Year) 

Student Fees and Charges are the largest component of total Fees and Charges received by schools.  Other Fees and 

Charges include rental revenue and other charges for use of certain Projects by faculty, administration, the public at large, 

and other users. 

 

Source – Tennessee Higher Education Commission 
1 Debt Service Fees represent an additional charge by certain institutions to cover a portion of such Institution's debt service obligations on certain 

indebtedness, including Bonds.  Institutions which do not impose a separate Debt Service Fee may include similar charges as a portion of a student's 

maintenance fees.  
2 Represents charges paid to domestic, non-resident students. For many institutions, international students pay a different rate. 
3 Beginning in Fall 2019, first-time, full-time students enrolled at UT Chattanooga began to be charged a flat rate for 15 credit hours per semester, 

regardless of how many hours are taken. Returning and part-time students began to be charged a flat rate for 12 credit hours per semester, regardless of 

how many hours are taken. 
4 Beginning in Fall 2020, full-time students admitted at Tennessee Technological University began to be charged a flat rate for 15 credit hours per 

semester, regardless of the number of hours taken. Returning and part-time students began to be charged a per credit hour rate for the first 12 credit hours 

and a discounted rate for additional hours. 
5 Beginning in Fall 2019, the University of Memphis began to offer a "guaranteed tuition" option to undergraduate students. All incoming first-time, full-

time freshmen are eligible to enroll in the guaranteed tuition plan, which guarantees the Fall 2019 tuition rate for eight consecutive regular semesters if 

they take at least 12 student credit hours per semester. 

Institutions

Debt 

Service 

Fees
1

In-State 

Student 

Tuition & 

Mandatory 

Fees

Non-Resident 

Student 

Tuition & 

Mandatory 

Fees
2

Average 

Room 

Charge 
3

Average 

Board 

Charge

Austin Peay $274 $8,761 $14,305 $8,294 $4,332

East Tennessee (Freshman, Sophomores, Transfer) $410 $9,674 $13,484 $5,473 $4,140

East Tennessee (Junior and Senior) $410 $9,674 $28,856 $5,473 $4,140

Middle Tennessee $408 $9,592 $37,288 $5,966 $3,460

Tennessee State $178 $8,335 $21,691 $9,314 $4,584

Tennessee Tech (Admitted prior to Fall 2020) $258 $9,478 $13,678 $6,048 $5,460

Tennessee Tech (Flat Rate Model) 
4 $258 $10,522 $14,722 $6,048 $5,460

University of Memphis $386 $10,056 $15,336 $6,050 $3,304

UT Chattanooga (UG - Soar in Four) 
5 $408 $9,848 $25,966 $6,300 $3,200

UT Chattanooga (UG - Returning) $408 $9,056 $25,174 $6,300 $3,200

UT Knoxville $438 $13,244 $31,664 $7,540 $4,610

UT Martin $380 $9,912 $15,952 $3,260 $3,960

UT Southern $0 $10,200 $10,200 $9,300

Chattanooga State Community College $0 $4,652 $22,436 N/A N/A

Cleveland State Community College $0 $4,632 $22,416 N/A N/A

Columbia State Community College $44 $4,666 $22,450 N/A N/A

Dyersburg State Community College $0 $4,632 $22,416 N/A N/A

Jackson State Community College $0 $4,618 $22,402 N/A N/A

Motlow State Community College $0 $4,638 $22,422 N/A N/A

Nashville State Community College $0 $4,594 $22,378 N/A N/A

Northeast State Technical Community College $0 $4,644 $22,428 N/A N/A

Pellissippi State Technical Community College $30 $4,678 $22,462 N/A N/A

Roane State Community College $0 $4,636 $22,420 N/A N/A

Southwest Tennessee Community College $0 $4,652 $22,436 N/A N/A

Volunteer State Community College $0 $4,626 $22,410 N/A N/A

Walters State Community College $0 $4,621 $22,405 N/A N/A



 

B - 6 

 

 

 

Source - Tennessee Higher Education Commission (Unaudited) 

* ETSU includes the Medical and Pharmacy schools 

**The University of Tennessee, Knoxville includes the Veterinary school and the UT Space Institute 

 
1 LGI = Locally Governed Institutions, APSU = Austin Peay State University, ETSU = East Tennessee State University, MTSU = Middle 

Tennessee State University, TSU = Tennessee State University, TTU = Tennessee Technological University, UM = University of Memphis, UT 

= University of Tennessee 
2 Two Year Schools = State Community Colleges 

 

Percent Change

School 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2020-2021 2016-2021 2019-2021

APSU 8,241 8,180 8,466 8,278 8,856 8,620 8,151 7,487 -8.1% -11.6% -13.1%

ETSU 
2

12,295 12,347 12,310 12,567 12,687 12,525 12,099 11,681 -3.5% -5.1% -6.7%

MTSU 18,787 18,362 18,177 17,957 17,745 17,817 17,954 16,861 -6.1% -7.2% -5.4%

TSU 7,388 7,639 7,342 7,189 6,552 6,417 6,289 6,521 3.7% -11.2% 1.6%

TTU 9,983 9,569 9,208 9,043 8,918 8,841 8,832 8,523 -3.5% -7.4% -3.6%

UM 16,554 16,112 16,744 16,535 16,197 16,479 16,726 16,459 -1.6% -1.7% -0.1%

LGI Total 73,247 72,209 72,247 71,568 70,955 70,700 70,050 67,531 -3.6% -6.5% -4.5%

UT Chattanooga 10,029 9,886 10,029 10,301 10,380 10,514 10,554 10,255 -2.8% 2.3% -2.5%

UT Knoxville 
3

24,107 24,601 24,827 25,212 25,673 26,256 27,181 28,145 3.5% 13.4% 7.2%

UT Martin 6,273 5,989 5,670 5,719 5,582 5,647 5,620 5,209 -7.3% -8.1% -7.7%

UT Health Science 2,977 3,075 3,097 3,200 3,284 3,250 3,185 3,240 1.7% 4.6% -0.3%

UT Southern NA NA NA NA NA NA NA 741 NA NA NA

UT Total 43,386 43,551 43,623 44,431 44,919 45,667 46,539 46,849 0.7% 7.4% 2.6%

Total 4 Year 116,633 115,761 115,870 115,999 115,874 116,367 116,589 114,380 -1.9% -1.3% -1.7%

Chattanooga 5,901 6,190 5,743 5,526 5,630 5,383 4,992 4,523 -9.4% -21.2% -16.0%

Cleveland 2,316 2,413 2,282 2,096 2,201 2,341 2,155 2,012 -6.6% -11.8% -14.1%

Columbia 3,263 3,634 3,816 4,033 4,361 4,465 4,201 3,798 -9.6% -0.5% -14.9%

Dyersburg 1,678 1,690 1,694 1,705 1,747 1,742 1,630 1,729 6.1% 2.1% -0.8%

Jackson 2,825 2,907 2,968 2,931 3,039 3,135 2,655 2,426 -8.6% -18.3% -22.6%

Motlow 2,984 3,654 4,152 4,485 4,557 4,571 4,156 3,771 -9.3% -9.2% -17.5%

Nashville 5,807 6,272 5,588 5,107 5,173 4,984 4,421 4,143 -6.3% -25.9% -16.9%

Northeast 3,888 4,215 4,250 4,261 4,281 4,176 3,712 3,567 -3.9% -16.1% -14.6%

Pellissippi 6,644 6,755 6,645 7,206 7,202 6,972 6,110 5,641 -7.7% -15.1% -19.1%

Roane 3,777 3,891 3,788 3,652 3,925 3,983 3,531 3,158 -10.6% -16.6% -20.7%

Southwest 6,355 6,169 5,624 6,138 6,142 6,049 4,865 4,343 -10.7% -22.8% -28.2%

Volunteer 4,747 5,406 5,869 6,008 6,253 6,148 5,801 4,869 -16.1% -17.0% -20.8%

Walters 4,008 4,074 4,086 4,206 4,203 4,259 3,835 3,626 -5.5% -11.3% -14.9%

Total 2 Year 54,192 57,269 56,505 57,355 58,713 58,207 52,064 47,606 -8.6% -15.7% -18.2%

Grand Total 170,825 173,030 172,375 173,354 174,587 174,575 168,653 161,986 -4.0% -6.0% -7.2%

Five-Year Annual Growth Rate

-1.2%

Tennessee Higher Education Commission

History of Fall Term Full-Time Equivalent Enrollment in Public Higher Education Schools

Four Year Institutions

Two Year Institutions



 

C - 1 

 

APPENDIX C 

GLOSSARY OF CERTAIN TERMS 

The following terms, as used in this Official Statement including the Appendices hereto, have the respective 

meanings provided below.  These summary definitions do not purport to be complete or definitive and are qualified in their 

entirety by reference to the Resolution and Financing Agreements, copies of which are on fi le at the offices of the Authority 

and the Trustee. 

 

Term Definition 

Account or Accounts Each account or all of the accounts established pursuant to the Resolution, as the case may be. 

Accreted Value With respect to any Capital Appreciation Bonds (i) as of any Valuation Date, the amount set forth for such 

date in the Supplemental Resolution authorizing such Capital Appreciation Bonds and (ii) as of any date 

other than a Valuation Date, the sum of (a) the Accreted Value on the preceding Valuation Date and (b) the 

product of (1) a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days having elapsed from the preceding 

Valuation Date and the denominator of which is the number of days from such preceding Valuation Date to 

the next succeeding Valuation Date and (2) the difference between the Accreted Values for such Valuation 

Dates. For purposes of this definition, the number of days having elapsed from the preceding Valuation Date 

and the number of days from the preceding Valuation Date to the next succeeding Valuation Date shall be 

calculated on the basis of a three hundred sixty (360) day year of twelve (12) thirty (30) day months or 

otherwise with respect to any Series of Bonds as may be provided by the Supplemental Resolution 

authorizing the issuance thereof. 

Act The Tennessee State School Bond Authority Act, Sections 49-3-1201 et seq., Tennessee Code Annotated, as 

amended from time to time. 

Administrative 

Expenses 

The Authority's expenses of carrying out and administering its powers, duties and functions in connection 

with the Agreements, the Projects and the Resolution, and shall include, without limiting the generality of 

the foregoing: administrative expenses, legal, accounting and consultant's services and expenses, the fees 

and expenses of the Trustee, Paying Agents and Registrar, payments to pension, retirement, health and 

hospitalization funds, and any other expenses required or permitted to be paid by the Authority under the 

provisions of the Act, the Financing Agreements or the Resolution or otherwise. 

Annual Financing 

Charges 

The amounts payable by the Boards to the Authority under the Financing Agreements for (i) the payment of 

principal of and premium, if any, and interest on Debt for all Projects and all Institutions, (ii) any payments 

to fund or replenish reserves therefor as may be required by the Resolution, regardless of Project or 

Institution, and (iii) any other payments required to be made by or on behalf of the Authority under or 

pursuant to the Resolution with respect to any Project, any Institution or the Board.   

Authenticating Agent An authenticating agent appointed pursuant to the Resolution. 

Authority The Tennessee State School Bond Authority, the corporate governmental agency and instrumentality created 

by the Act, or any body, agency or instrumentality of the State which shall succeed to the powers, duties and 

functions of the Authority. 

Authorized Officer Any member of the Authority, and any other officer or employee of the Authority authorized by law, by 

resolution of the Authority or by a certificate of the Secretary of the Authority to perform the act or sign the 

document in question. 

Bank Bonds Reimbursement Obligations under Credit Facilities represented by Bonds; provided, however, that Bank 

Bonds do not include any Bonds issued to or held by any party providing a Credit Facility or its designee in 

any other capacity. 



 

C - 2 

 

Board or Boards The Board of Regents or the Board of Trustees, or both such Boards, respectively. 

Board of Regents The Tennessee Board of Regents of the State University and Community College System of the State of 

Tennessee, and its successors.  

Board of Trustees The Board of Trustees of The University of Tennessee, and its successors. 

Bond or Bonds  Any Bond or Bonds issued under the Resolution, including but not limited to Variable Interest Rate Bonds, 

Capital Appreciation Bonds and Refunding Bonds.  Bonds shall not include Subordinated Obligations.  

Bond Year The twelve-month period commencing on May 1 of each calendar year and ending on April 30 of the next 

succeeding calendar year except that the first Bond Year shall begin on the date specified in the Supplemental 

Resolution authorizing the first Series of Bonds. 

Business Day Any day other than (i) a Saturday or Sunday, (ii) a day on which banking institutions located in the State or 

in any of the cities in which the principal office of the Trustee, any Paying Agent, the Registrar or the provider 

of a Reserve Fund Credit Facility are required or authorized by law or executive order to close or (iii) a day 

on which the New York Stock Exchange is closed, and (iv) with respect to a particular Series of Bonds, a 

day on which any provider of a Credit Facility for such Series of Bonds is located is required or authorized 

by law or executive order to close or as may otherwise be provided by the Supplemental Resolution 

authorizing such Series of Bonds.  

Capital Appreciation 

Bonds 

Any Bonds as to which interest is payable only at the maturity or prior redemption of such Bonds or which 

bear a stated interest rate of zero.  For the purposes of (i) receiving payment of the Redemption Price if a 

Capital Appreciation Bond is redeemed prior to maturity or upon acceleration as provided in the Resolution, 

or (ii) computing the principal amount of Bonds held by the Owner of a Capital Appreciation Bond in giving 

to the Authority or any Fiduciary any notice, consent, request, or demand pursuant to the Resolution for any 

purpose whatsoever, the principal amount of a Capital Appreciation Bond shall be deemed to be its Accreted 

Value. 

Commercial Paper All Commercial Paper issued under the Commercial Paper Resolution. 

Commercial Paper 

Resolution 

The Commercial Paper Resolution adopted by the Authority on November 18, 1997, as supplemented and 

amended. 

Counsel's Opinion An opinion signed by an attorney or firm of attorneys selected by or satisfactory to the Authority (who may 

be counsel to the Authority) which  attorney or firm of attorneys is of recognized standing in the field of law 

relating to municipal bonds; provided, however, that such Counsel's Opinion may take customary exception 

as to the effect of, or for restrictions or limitations imposed by or resulting from, bankruptcy, insolvency, 

debt adjustment, moratorium, reorganization, laws affecting creditors' rights, the exercise of judicial 

discretion and other matters, and may state that no opinion is being rendered as to the availability of any 

particular remedy or as to the limitation of remedies resulting from sovereign immunity or the partial waiver 

thereof, and may contain such other references and qualifications as are acceptable to the Fiduciary receiving 

the same. 

Credit Facility Any irrevocable letter of credit, standby bond purchase agreement, line of credit, policy of bond insurance, 

surety bond or agreement, guarantee or similar instrument which is obtained by the Authority and is issued 

by a financial, insurance or other institution, the State or any subdivision, department, instrumentality or 

agency thereof, and the Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System or any successor entity thereto then 

managing and investing the State retirement funds, and which provides credit enhancement, security or 

liquidity in respect of the Bonds (and which, with respect to a policy of bond insurance, guarantees the 

payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds), not including any Reserve Fund Credit Facility. 

Debt Any bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness issued by the Authority pursuant to the Act and the 



 

C - 3 

 

Resolution for the purpose of financing or refinancing Project Costs.  Without limiting the generality of the 

foregoing, Debt may include "long-term Debt" (i.e., with a term of more than one year unless issued in 

anticipation of the issuance of Debt with a longer term) or "short-term Debt" (i.e., with a term of one year or 

less or issued in anticipation of the issuance of Debt with a term of more than one year), and may take the 

form of commercial paper. 

Debt Service Reserve 

Requirement 

With respect to each Series of Bonds (other than Bonds as to which the Authority has elected to establish a 

separate account in the Debt Service Reserve Fund solely for such Bonds, as described in “SECURITY AND 

SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS – Debt Service Reserve Fund”), as of any date of 

calculation, (i) an amount equal to the aggregate of the greatest amount of Debt Service on all Outstanding 

Bonds of such Series issued for each Project (calculated separately for each Project and then aggregated) 

payable on any interest or Principal Installment date thereafter (except that for the first such date after the 

date of issuance of such Bonds, interest to accrue for greater than 6 months but less than 12 months shall not 

be taken into account), or (ii) such greater amount, which subsequently may be reduced to an amount not 

less than the amount required by clause (i) above, as may be determined from time to time by the Authority 

by Supplemental Resolution; provided, however, that as a result of the issuance of any Series of Bonds the 

interest on which is generally excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes, the Debt Service 

Reserve Requirement with respect to such Series shall at no time exceed the lesser of (i) the amount that may 

be funded from the proceeds of such Bonds or (ii) the amount that constitutes a reasonably required reserve 

with respect to such Bonds.  Each determination by the Authority of the Debt Service Reserve Requirement 

shall be conclusive.  For purposes of this definition: 

 

(A) "Debt Service" for any date or period means, as of any date of calculation and 

with respect to any Series, an amount equal to the sum of (i) the interest payable 

on such date or accruing during such period on the Outstanding Bonds of such 

Series, and (ii) the Principal Installment for such Series payable on such date or 

accruing during such period on the Outstanding Bonds of such Series; provided, 

however, that in calculating Debt Service on any future date or for any future 

period:  (x) any Variable Interest Rate Bonds shall be deemed to bear interest at 

all times prior to the maturity date thereof for which the interest rate payable 

thereon has not yet been determined at the Debt Service Determination Interest 

Rate applicable thereto and (y) any interest on any Bonds secured by a Credit 

Facility the related Reimbursement Obligation on which is evidenced by a Bank 

Bond shall be calculated at the higher of the actual interest rate or, if applicable, 

the Debt Service Determination Interest Rate applicable to such Bonds or the 

maximum rate of interest permitted for any such Reimbursement Obligation 

(whether or not any Reimbursement Obligation has yet accrued). 

(B) "Debt Service Determination Interest Rate" means, with respect to any 

particular Variable Interest Rate Bonds, any numerical rate or rates of interest 

set forth, or determined as set forth, in the Supplemental Resolution authorizing 

such Bonds; provided, however, that such rate shall not be less than the interest 

rate initially borne by such Bonds.  

(C) "Proceeds" and "reasonably required reserve" shall have the respective 

meanings given such terms, or any comparable terms, for purposes of Section 

148(d) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the applicable 

regulations thereunder. 

Defeasance 

Obligations  

Investment Obligations which are rated at the time of investment in any of the two highest Rating Categories 

by any Rating Agency, and which (i) shall not be subject to redemption prior to their maturity other than at 

the option of the holder thereof and (ii) shall not be subject to redemption prior to their maturity other than 

at the option of the holder thereof or as to which an irrevocable notice of redemption of such securities on a 

specified redemption date has been given and such securities are not otherwise subject to redemption prior 



 

C - 4 

 

to such specified date other than at the option of the holder thereof.   

Direct DTC 

Participant  

Shall have the meaning given to such term in Appendix F - "BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM.” 

 

Fees and Charges With respect to each Board, all revenues, fees, rentals and other charges and moneys received by or on behalf 

of the Board for the Institution, or received by or on behalf of the Institution, for which any Project is 

undertaken which may be available for the purpose of paying Annual Financing Charges. 

Fiduciary or 

Fiduciaries 

The Trustee (including, where appropriate, any co-Trustee or Authenticating Agent), any Paying Agent, the 

Registrar, or any or all of them, as may be appropriate, or any other Person appointed to act as a Fiduciary 

as provided in the Resolution. 

Financing Agreement 

or Financing 

Agreements 

The Second Program Financing Agreement dated as of November 1, 1997, by and between the Authority 

and the Board of Trustees, and the Second Program Financing Agreement dated as of November 1, 1997, by 

and between the Authority and the Board of Regents, as appropriate, in each case as supplemented and 

amended from time to time. 

First Program 

Financing Agreements 

The Amended and Restated Financing Agreement dated as of September 17, 1996, between the Authority 

and the Board of Trustees, and between the Authority and the Board of Regents.  The following terms, when 

identified as related to the First Program, shall have the respective meanings given to them in the First 

Program Financing Agreements:  administrative fees, Annual Financing Charges, Bonds, Fees and Charges, 

General Bond Resolution, Legislative Appropriations and Projects. 

Fiscal Year With respect to the Authority, currently the twelve-month period commencing on July 1 and ending on June 

30 of the following year.  In the event of any change in Fiscal Year resulting in an initial Fiscal Year or 

interim period of more or less than twelve months, Fiscal Year for purposes of the Financing Agreements 

shall mean the last twelve-month Fiscal Year. 

Fitch Fitch Ratings, Inc., or any successor then maintaining a rating on any Bonds at the request of the Authority. 

Fund or Funds Each fund or all of the funds established in the Resolution, as the case may be. 

Indirect DTC 

Participant 

Shall have the meaning given to such term in Appendix F - "BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM.” 

Institution As appropriate, (i) the University of Tennessee system, including all of its branches and divisions wherever 

located, and the services, programs and activities provided therein, and the Board of Trustees, in the 

aggregate, and (ii) the State University and Community College System, including all of its constituent 

institutions wherever located (whether or not conferring degrees), and the services, programs and activities 

provided therein, and the Board of Regents, in the aggregate.  This definition is as amended on May 9, 2013, 

as discussed in “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS – Recent Amendments 

to the Act, the Resolution and the Financing Agreements” in this Official Statement. 

Investment 

Obligations 

Include any instruments, securities, certificates, obligations or the like if and to the extent the same are at the 

time permitted and legal for investment of the Authority's funds pursuant to the Act or in accordance with 

any other law, regulation, guideline or policy, as in effect from time to time, of or applicable to the Authority 

with respect to investments. 

Legislative 

Appropriations 

The amounts payable to the Authority from appropriations by the General Assembly of the State to an 

Institution for its operation and maintenance, under and pursuant to the Act and the Financing Agreements, 

including but not limited to amounts deductible, by Persons other than the Boards, from such appropriations 

for payment directly to the Authority. 



 

C - 5 

 

Moody's Moody's Investors Service, Inc., or any successor then maintaining a rating on any Bonds at the request of 

the Authority. 

 

Outstanding When used with reference to Bonds, other than Bonds held by or for the account of the Authority or either 

of the Boards, means, as of any date, Bonds theretofore or then being delivered under the provisions of the 

Resolution, except:  

(A) Any Bonds cancelled at or prior to such date;  

(B) Any Bonds (or portions of Bonds) the principal or Redemption Price, if any, of, 

and interest on which shall have been paid in accordance with the terms thereof;  

(C) Any Bonds in lieu of or in substitution for which other Bonds shall have been 

authenticated and delivered upon exchange or transfer pursuant to the 

Resolution;   

(D) Bonds deemed to have been paid as provided in the Resolution; and 

(E) Put Bonds deemed tendered in accordance with the provisions of the 

Supplemental Resolution authorizing such Bonds on the applicable tender date, 

if the purchase price thereof and interest thereon shall have been paid or amounts 

are available for such payment as provided in the Resolution, except to the extent 

such tendered Put Bonds thereafter may be resold pursuant to the terms thereof 

and of the Resolution;  

unless a Supplemental Resolution provides that Bonds of a Series having the benefit of a Credit Facility shall 

not thereby be deemed paid if payment is provided by the Credit Facility. If principal of a Bond is paid or 

redeemed by the provider of a Credit Facility, the related Reimbursement Obligation shall be treated as an 

Outstanding Bond (when such related Reimbursement Obligation is not evidenced by Bonds designated as 

Bank Bonds) in lieu of the Bond so paid or redeemed, but only to the extent that principal of the Bond was 

so paid or redeemed, bearing interest at the interest rate provided in the Credit Facility. 

Owner or Bondowner Or any similar term when used with reference to Bonds, means any Person who shall be the registered owner 

of any Outstanding Bond. 

Paying Agent Any paying agent for the Bonds of any Series and its successor or successors and any other Person which 

may at any time be substituted in its place, pursuant to the Resolution. 

Person Any individual, corporation, partnership, limited partnership, joint venture, association, joint-stock company, 

trust, unincorporated association, limited liability corporation or partnership, or government or any agency 

or subdivision thereof, or other legal entity or group of entities. 

Principal Installment As of any date of calculation with respect to any Series, so long as any Bonds thereof are Outstanding, (i) 

the principal amount of Bonds on a certain future date for which no Sinking Fund Installments have been 

established, or (ii) the unsatisfied balance of any Sinking Fund Installments due on a certain future date for 

Bonds of such Series, plus the amount of the sinking fund redemption premiums, if any, which would be 

applicable upon redemption of such Bonds on such future date in a principal amount equal to said unsatisfied 

balance of such Sinking Fund Installments, or (iii) if such future dates coincide as to different Bonds of such 

Series, the sum of such principal amount of Bonds and of such unsatisfied balance of Sinking Fund 

Installments due on such future date plus such applicable redemption premiums, if any. 

Project A Project as such term is defined in the Financing Agreements.  In the Financing Agreement with each 

Board, “Project” is defined as buildings, structures, improvements and equipment of every kind, nature and 

description which may be required by or convenient for the purposes of an Institution or other things which 

the Board is authorized by law (at the relevant time) to undertake or use, in each case if and to the extent (i) 

capitalizable by the Board, including but not limited to a capital lease, and (ii) approved by the Authority 

upon application therefor made by the Board in such form, substance and manner as may be prescribed by 



 

C - 6 

 

the Authority, all subject to any permissible amendment of the Financing Agreement.  See Appendix D – 

“Summary of Certain Provisions of the Financing Agreements – Amendment.”  Pursuant to legislation 

adopted at the 2005 session of the General Assembly, computer software (whether acquired before, at the 

same time as, or after the hardware needed for utilization of the software) to the extent accounted for as a 

capital asset shall constitute equipment for financing purposes, and projects may include agricultural land 

related to educational purposes of an Institution purchased from a governmental entity prior to October 1, 

2005. 

Project Cost All direct capital costs and indirect capital costs of Projects, including but not limited to costs of construction 

and acquisition, costs of issuance of Debt, funded interest on Debt, and amounts to fund or replenish reserves 

as may be required by the Resolution, if and to the extent approved by the Authority upon application therefor 

made by the Board in such form, substance and manner as may be prescribed by the Authority. 

Put Bonds Bonds which by their terms may be tendered by and at the option of the Owner thereof for payment prior to 

the stated maturity or redemption date thereof either (i) by the Authority and by the Person and/or from the 

source specified in a Supplemental Resolution or (ii) without recourse to the Authority by the Person and/or 

from the source specified in a Supplemental Resolution. 

Qualified Swap To the extent from time to time permitted by law, any cap, floor or collar, forward rate, future rate, asset, 

swap or index, price or market linked transaction or agreement, other exchange or rate protection transaction 

or agreement, other similar transaction (however designated) or any combination thereof, or any option with 

respect thereto, executed by the Authority with or guaranteed by a qualified swap counterparty either for 

asset or liability management purposes or otherwise pursuant to the Act or other applicable law.  For purposes 

of this definition, "qualified swap counterparty" means a bank, insurance company or financial institution 

rated, or whose long-term obligations of any nature or claims paying ability are rated, at the time of execution 

in one of the two highest Rating Categories of any Rating Agency. 

Rating Agency At any applicable time, Moody's, S&P, Fitch and any other nationally recognized rating agency, or any of 

them, as appropriate; provided, however, that the same maintains at such time a rating on the Bonds at the 

request of the Authority.  

Rating Category A generic rating category of an applicable Rating Agency without regard to any refinement or gradation of 

such rating by a numerical modifier or otherwise. 

Redemption Price With respect to any Bond, the principal amount thereof, plus the applicable premium, if any, payable upon 

maturity or redemption thereof pursuant to the Resolution and the Supplemental Resolution pursuant to 

which the same was issued. 

Refunding Bonds All Bonds constituting the whole or a part of a Series of Bonds delivered on original issuance pursuant to the 

Resolution. 

Registrar The registrar for the Bonds of any Series, and its successor or successors and any other Person which may at 

any time be substituted in its place pursuant to the Resolution. 

Reimbursement 

Obligation 

Any obligation of the Authority to make payments to a provider of a Credit Facility in reimbursement of or 

as interest on (which interest may be higher than the interest rate on the related Bond) an advance, loan or 

other payment made by such provider for the purpose of paying (i)  the principal, Sinking Fund Installment, 

if any, or Redemption Price of, or interest on, any Bonds, or (ii)  the purchase price, plus accrued interest, if 

any, of any Bonds tendered pursuant to the provisions of the applicable Supplemental Resolution, but only 

to the extent the principal amortization requirements with respect to such reimbursement are equal to the 

amortization requirements for such related Bonds, without acceleration. Reimbursement Obligations shall 

not include (a) any payments of any fees, expenses, or other similar obligations to any such provider, which 

payments shall be Administrative Expenses or (b) any payments pursuant to term-loan or other principal 

amortization requirements in reimbursement of any such advance that are more accelerated than the 

amortization requirements on such related Bonds, which payments shall be Subordinated Obligations.  



 

C - 7 

 

Reimbursement Obligations may be evidenced by Bonds designated as Bank Bonds, which may bear a 

higher interest rate than the rate borne by the Bonds to which they relate. 

Reserve Fund Credit 

Facility 

(i) any irrevocable, unconditional letter of credit issued by a bank, national banking association or savings 

and loan association, (ii) any insurance policy providing substantially equivalent liquidity as an irrevocable, 

unconditional letter of credit, and which is issued by a municipal bond or other insurance company, and (iii) 

any other similar financial arrangement as determined by Supplemental Resolution, and which is used to 

fund all or a portion of the Debt Service Reserve Requirement; provided, however, that at the time of 

acceptance by the Authority, the provider's long term obligations of any nature or claims paying ability are 

rated, by each Rating Agency then rating any Outstanding Bonds, no lower than the same Rating Category 

(for this purpose, taking into account refinements and gradations) as the Bonds are then rated by such Rating 

Agency. 

 

Revolving Credit 

Agreement 

The Revolving Credit Agreement dated March 20, 2014, by and among the Authority, Wells Fargo Bank, 

National Association, as Bank, and U.S. Bank National Association, as Administrative Agent and as Bank, 

as amended. 

Revolving Credit 

Loans 

Loans made from time to time under the Revolving Credit Agreement. 

Resolution The Second Program General Bond Resolution adopted by the Authority on April 27, 1998, as from time to 

time amended or supplemented by Supplemental Resolutions in accordance with the terms and provisions 

thereof. 

S&P S&P Global Ratings or any successor then maintaining a rating on any Bonds at the request of the Authority. 

Serial Bonds The Bonds which mature in annual or semi-annual installments of principal, which need not be equal and 

the first installment of which may be deferred, or Bonds so designated in a Supplemental Resolution. 

Series or 

Series of Bonds or 

Bonds of a Series or 

words of similar 

meaning 

The Series of Bonds authorized by a Supplemental Resolution. 

Series Certificate The certificate of determination of the Authority fixing terms, conditions and other details of a Series of 

Bonds in accordance with the delegation of power to do so under the General Bond Resolution and under an 

applicable Supplemental Resolution. 

Sinking Fund 

Installment 

As of any date of calculation and with respect to any Bonds of a Series, so long as any Bonds thereof are 

Outstanding, the amount of money required by the Resolution or the applicable Supplemental Resolution or 

Series Certificate to be paid on a single future date for the retirement of any Outstanding Bonds of said Series 

that mature after said future date and which is unsatisfied as determined pursuant to the Resolution, but does 

not include any amount payable by the Authority by reason only of the maturity of a Bond. 

Sinking Fund Payment 

Date 

Each date on which a Sinking Fund Installment is payable on the Bonds, provided that such date shall be a 

date on which a Sinking Fund Installment is payable as provided in or pursuant to each Supplemental 

Resolution. 

State The State of Tennessee. 

Subordinated 

Obligations 

Any evidence of indebtedness (including but not limited to commercial paper), other than Bonds or related 

Reimbursement Obligations, issued by the Authority to finance Project Costs of a Project or any other 

indebtedness issued, or other obligations entered into (including but not limited to Qualified Swaps not 

entered into on a parity with Bonds), pursuant to or as permitted by, and complying with, the provisions of 



 

C - 8 

 

the Resolution. 

Supplemental 

Resolution 

Any resolution adopted by the Authority pursuant to and in compliance with the provisions of the Resolution 

providing for the issuance of a Series of Bonds, and shall also mean any other resolution adopted pursuant 

to and in compliance with the provisions of the Resolution amending or supplementing the provisions of the 

Resolution as originally adopted or as theretofore amended or supplemented. 

Term Bonds The Bonds so designated in a Supplemental Resolution and payable in part from Sinking Fund Installments. 

Trustee The bank, trust company or national banking association appointed pursuant to the Resolution to act as trustee 

under the Resolution, and its successor or successors and any other bank, trust company or national banking 

association at any time substituted in its place pursuant to the Resolution. 

Valuation Date With respect to any Capital Appreciation Bonds the date or dates set forth in the Supplemental Resolution 

authorizing such Bonds on which specific Accreted Values are assigned to the Capital Appreciation Bonds. 

 

Variable Interest Rate A variable interest rate or rates (or a multiple of a variable rate or rates of interest) to be borne by any Bond 

within a Series of Bonds.  The method of computing such variable interest rate or rates shall be specified in 

the Supplemental Resolution authorizing such Series of Bonds.  Such Supplemental Resolution shall also 

specify either (i) the particular period or periods of time for which such variable interest rate or rates (or a 

multiple of a variable rate or rates of interest) shall remain in effect or (ii) the time or times upon which any 

change in such variable interest rate or rates (or a multiple of a variable rate or rates of interest) shall become 

effective. 

Variable Interest Rate 

Bonds 

Bonds which bear a Variable Interest Rate but does not include any Bond which, during the remainder of the 

term thereof to maturity, bears interest at a fixed rate. 

 

 



 

D - 1 

 

APPENDIX D 

SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE FINANCING AGREEMENTS 

The following is a brief summary of certain provisions of the Financing Agreements, summaries of certain other 

provisions of which are contained elsewhere in this Official Statement.  This and such other summaries do not purport to be 

complete or definitive and are qualified in their entirety by reference to the Financing Agreements, copies of which are 

available at the offices of the Authority and the Trustee.  For definitions of certain terms used herein, see Appendix C - 

“Glossary of Certain Terms”; provided, however, that for purposes of this summary, the term "Resolution" means, collectively 

or individually as the context may require, the resolutions of the Authority authorizing the is suance of Debt including, without 

limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Higher Educational Facilities Second Program General Bond Resolution and any 

resolutions authorizing the issuance of notes or other obligations (including but not limited to co mmercial paper), in each 

case as amended and supplemented pursuant to the provisions thereof.  

 

Approval of Projects and Project Costs 

Each Project and Project Costs shall be subject to approval by the Authority upon application therefor made by the 

Board in such form, substance and manner as may be prescribed by the Authority.  

A Project for an Institution shall be approved by the Authority only if the aggregate of the Fees and Charges collected 

by the Institution in the preceding Fiscal Year is no less than two times the amount required for the payment of the aggregate 

(without duplication) of (i) the maximum amount of the Annual Financing Charges payable and projected to be payable with 

respect to all Projects (including the Project to be approved) for the  Institution in any succeeding Fiscal Year, plus (ii) the 

maximum amount payable by the Board as First Project Annual Financing Charges with respect to all First Program Projects 

for the Institution in any succeeding Fiscal Year, plus (iii)  the aggregate of all prior charges, pledges, liens and claims on or 

payable from said Fees and Charges with respect to the Institution in any succeeding Fiscal Year, including but not limited 

to all prior charges, pledges, liens and claims on or payable from the First Program Fees and Charges with respect to the 

Institution. 

 

Project Funding 

The Authority will use its best efforts to finance and refinance Project Costs by the issuance of Debt or from other 

available funds of the Authority, in a manner and under terms deemed by the Authority in its sole discretion to be in the best 

interests of the Institution for which the related Project is undertaken or used.   

 

Project Construction Accounts; Reallocation of Balances 

The Authority will establish a separate account (a "Project Construction Account") for each Project prior to or 

simultaneously with the issuance of the first Debt to finance related Project Costs.  All Bond proceeds determined by the 

Authority to be available for the payment of Project Costs, shall be deposited in the respective Project Construction Accounts 

unless and to the extent otherwise provided by the Resolution.   

The Authority may reallocate funds in any Project Construction Account derived from the sale of short -term Debt to 

other Project Construction Accounts as deemed necessary or advisable by the Authority.  If long-term Debt has been sold to 

finance or refinance a Project, and funds in the related Project Construction Account are determined by the Authority in its 

sole discretion to be in excess of the amount needed for completion of the Project, the Authority shall apply such excess funds 

to the payment of the next scheduled debt service on Debt for such Project, to the redemption or defeasance of such Debt, or 

otherwise as permitted by law to the extent permitted by the Resolution. 

 

Payment of Project Costs 

Disbursement of funds on deposit in Project Construction Accounts will be made upon the submission of proper 

documentation from the Board approved by the Authority.  Submission by the Board of a request for disbursement constitutes 

a representation by the Board that the expenses presented for payment constitute proper and valid charges related to the 

Project and constitute Project Costs, and that all covenants and representations made to the Aut hority with respect to the 

Project, whether in the Agreement or otherwise, continue to be true, complete and accurate.  

 



 

D - 2 

 

Covenants and Representations 

The Board covenants and represents with respect to each Project, among other things, that:  (a) all necessary approvals 

or authorizations by the State (or any agency, subdivision or subentity) with respect to the Project have been or will be 

obtained; (b) the Board will neither (i) permit any encumbrance which materially affects the Board's ability to honor it s 

commitments under the Financing Agreement nor (ii)  assign the Financing Agreement or the Board's rights, title or interest 

in or to any Project; (c) the Board will operate, maintain and keep, or cause the operation, maintenance and functioning of, 

the Project in good repair and condition, including the provision of and payment for necessary utilities and insurance coverage 

in accordance with State policy; (d) the Board will comply with all laws, rules and regulations governing the Institution and  

the Project; and (e) the Board will take no action, nor will it fail to take any action, which would cause the Authority to violate 

any tax covenant with respect to any Project. 

 

Annual Financing Charges; Administrative Fees; and Legislative Appropriations 

For a summary of certain provisions of the Financing Agreements relating to the establishment, payment and 

subordination of Annual Financing Charges, Administrative Fees and Legislative Appropriations, see "SECURITY AND 

SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS" in the Official Statement. 

 

Interest of Debtholders 

The Authority and the Board acknowledge that the existence and terms and provisions of the Agreement serve as an 

inducement to Debtholders to purchase, and serve to secure, Debt.  Accordingly, all covenants and agreements of the 

Authority and the Board under the Financing Agreement are declared therein to be for the benefit of such holders.  

Notwithstanding the foregoing, such holders shall have no right under the Financing Agreement to directly enf orce the 

Financing Agreement, but may do so only to the extent permitted and as provided by the related Resolution.  

 

Assignments 

The Board authorizes the Authority to pledge, assign, and transfer its right to receive and collect Annual Financing 

Charges, Administrative Fees, and Legislative Appropriations, together with its rights to enforce the Financing Agreement.  

The Authority has pledged and assigned the Annual Financing Charges and Legislative Appropriations to the Trustee for the 

benefit of the holders of the Bonds and for the application thereof in accordance with the provisions of the Resolution, and 

has granted the Trustee the legal right to enforce such pledge and assignment and the provisions of the Agreements providing 

for the payment thereof.  See "SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTION - Pledge and Assignment 

of Annual Financing Charges and Legislative Appropriations" in the Official Statement.  

 

Amendment 

Any provision of the Financing Agreement may be amended by agreement of the Authority and the Board; provided, 

however, that no such amendment shall adversely affect or impair in any way (i)  the obligation of the Board to pay Annual 

Financing Charges or Administrative Fees, or (ii) the deduction from appropriations, and payment to the Authority, of 

Legislative Appropriations required to pay Annual Financing Charges, in the case of each of clauses  (i) and (ii) at the times, 

in the manner and in the amounts provided in the Agreement, or (iii)  any provision of the Agreement made or provided for 

the purpose of assuring payment of such Annual Financing Charges or Administrative Fees.  

 

Additional Information 

The Board agrees to furnish to the Authority such additional information concerning the financial condition of the 

Board and any Institution as the Authority may from time to time reasonably request including, without limiting the generality 

of the foregoing, as and to the extent that the Authority shall determine that disclosure of such information is necessary in  

order to comply with any undertakings made by the Authority pursuant to Rule 15c2-12 of the Securities and Exchange 

Commission or with any other applicable legal requirements. 

 

 



 

E - 1 

 

APPENDIX E 

SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTION 

The following is a brief summary of certain provisions of the Resolution, summaries of certain other provisions of 

which are contained elsewhere in this Official Statement.  This and such other summaries do not purport to be comple te or 

definitive and are qualified in their entirety by reference to the Resolution, copies of which are available at the offices o f the 

Authority and the Trustee.  For definitions of certain terms used herein, see Appendix C - “Glossary of Certain Terms.” 

 

Authorization 

The Resolution authorizes the issuance of Bonds in Series pursuant to Supplemental Resolutions, for any purpose 

authorized by the Act.  For a summary of the conditions for the issuance of Bonds and their security and sources of payment, 

see "SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS" in the Official Statement.  

 

Pledge and Assignment of Annual Financing Charges and Legislative Appropriations  

The Annual Financing Charges and Legislative Appropriations, and all rights under the Financing Agreements or 

otherwise to receive the same, which are to be transferred to the Funds or Accounts held by the Trustee, if any, are pledged 

and assigned to the Trustee for the benefit of the Owners of the Bonds and for the application thereof in a ccordance with the 

provisions of the Resolution, and the Trustee shall have the legal right to enforce such assignment.  Regardless of such pled ge 

and assignment, the Trustee shall have the legal right to enforce the provisions of the Agreements providing for the payment 

thereof in the manner provided in the Financing Agreements and the Resolution.  

The Authority shall at all times, to the extent permitted by law, defend, preserve and protect the pledge of the Annual 

Financing Charges, Legislative Appropriations, and all rights under the Financing Agreements or otherwise to receive the 

same, the Financing Agreements, and other moneys, securities, funds and property pledged and assigned under the Resolution 

and all the rights of the Bondowners under the Resolution against all claims and demands of all Persons whomsoever.   

 

Certain Provisions Relating to Credit Facilities, Qualified Swaps and Other Arrangements  

The Authority may include such provisions in a Supplemental Resolution authorizing the issuance of a Series of 

Bonds secured by a Credit Facility as the Authority deems appropriate, including but not limited to:  

 

1. So long as the Credit Facility provides security and not merely liquidity, that the providers thereof shall 

have all or any of the rights and remedies of the Owners of the Bonds to which such Credit Facility relates 

and that the related Reimbursement Obligations shall have all or any of the payment, security and other 

rights applicable to the Bonds to which such Reimbursement Obligations relate.  

2. In the event that the principal, Sinking Fund Installments, if any, and Redemption Price of and interest due 

on any Bonds Outstanding shall be paid under the provisions of a Credit Facility, the issuer of such Credit 

Facility shall be subrogated to the rights of such Bondowners in accordance with the terms of such Credit 

Facility. 

3. Interest on any Reimbursement Obligation calculated at any rate, whether or not higher than the interest rate 

on the related Bond, and principal amortization requirements with respect to such Reimbursement 

Obligation, may be secured by a pledge of and a lien on any of the items pledged in the Resolution for the 

security of the Bonds on a parity with the lien created by the Resolution.  A Reimbursement Obligation shall 

not be secured by the Debt Service Reserve Fund unless the Bonds to which it relates are so secured.  

Reimbursement Obligations shall not include any payments of any fees, expenses, indemnification, or other 

obligations to any such provider, which payments shall be Subordinated Obligations payable from the 

General Fund.  All Reimbursement Obligations shall be deemed to be a part of the Series of Bonds to which 

the Credit Facility which gave rise to such Reimbursement Obligations relates.  Reimbursement Obligations 

may be evidenced by Bonds designated as "Bank Bonds." 

In connection with the issuance of a Series of Bonds or at any time thereafter so long as a Series of Bonds remains 

Outstanding, the Authority may, to the extent from time to time permitted pursuant to law, enter into Qualified Swaps relating 

to such Bonds. The Authority's obligation to make any payment under any Qualified Swap may be secured by a pledge of, 



 

E - 2 

 

and a lien on, the items pledged in the Resolution for the security of the Bonds on a parity with the l ien created by the 

Resolution or be payable from or secured by amounts on deposit in the Debt Service Fund or Debt Service Reserve Fund, or 

shall constitute Subordinated Obligations payable from the General Fund, as determined by the Authority; provided, h owever, 

that any optional or mandatory termination payments shall constitute Subordinated Obligations.  If a Qualified Swap is 

payable from and/or secured by the Debt Service Fund and Debt Service Reserve Fund, the Authority may provide by 

Supplemental Resolution for a recalculation of the Debt Service Reserve Requirement for any Bonds to take into account the 

Authority's debt service payment obligations on such Bonds as affected by such Qualified Swap.  

Funds and Accounts 

For a description of the flow of funds under the Resolution and of the application of the Debt Service Fund and Debt 

Service Reserve Fund, see "SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS - Flow of Funds" and “- Debt 

Service Reserve Fund" in the Official Statement. 

 

Construction Fund 

The Authority shall establish in the Construction Fund, to be held by the State Treasurer or, at the direction of the 

State Treasurer, a separate custodian, a separate Account with respect to each Project.  As promptly as practicable after the  

delivery of any Series of Bonds or Subordinated Obligations to pay Project Costs, the Authority shall deposit into each Project 

Construction Account the amount of the proceeds derived from the sale of such Series of Bonds or Subordinated Obligations, 

if any, as shall be directed by or pursuant to the Supplemental Resolution or other resolution or indenture authorizing the 

issuance thereof.  Moneys on deposit in or credited to a Project Construction Account shall be used by the Authority for 

payment of the Project Costs of the Project to which the Project Construction Account relates.  The Authority may transfer 

from a Project Construction Account to the General Fund such amounts as the Authority shall determine is necessary to pay 

Administrative Expenses of the Authority chargeable to the Project to which such Project Construction Account relates.  

Upon completion of a Project the moneys, if any, remaining in the Project Construction Account for such Project, 

after making provision for the payment of allocable Administrative Expenses and Project Costs then unpaid, either shall be 

reallocated by the Authority to other Projects in accordance with the Financing Agreements or shall be applied (or, if the 

Debt Service Fund is then held by the Trustee, transferred by the State Treasurer to the Trustee and applied by the Trustee) 

as directed by the Authority to the payment of principal, Sinking Fund Installments, if any, or Redemption Price of or intere st 

on Bonds issued for the related Project. 

 

Capitalized Interest Accounts 

The Supplemental Resolution authorizing any Series of Bonds may establish a separate Account within the Debt 

Service Fund for each Project.  Moneys in the Capitalized Interest Accounts shall be used, to the extent sufficient therefor,  

for the purpose of paying interest on the Series of Bonds in respect of which such moneys have been set aside, either directly 

therefrom or by transfer to the Debt Service Fund, prior to the payment of such interest from Annual Financing Charges.  

 

Investment of Funds and Accounts 

Moneys in all Funds and Accounts shall be invested in Investment Obligations, except as may be otherwise limited 

by Supplemental Resolution. 

Unexpended Bond proceeds and all Annual Financing Charges, Administrative Fees, and Legislative Appropriations, 

and investment earnings allocable thereto, held in Project Construction Accounts or in other Funds or Accounts, may be 

commingled for investment purposes either as a separate fund or as part of a common fund with other moneys of the Authority 

or the State, or otherwise; provided that (i) such investments and the income or interest earned, profits realized or losses 

suffered thereby shall be allocated and credited to the appropriate Funds or Accounts or otherwise in accordance with 

Authority and State policy, and (ii) all Funds and Accounts so commingled for investment purposes shall nevertheless be 

accounted for separately as required by the Resolution.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, moneys on deposit with the State 

Treasurer (other than in connection with defeasance) may be invested at a rate or return fixed from time to time pursuant to 

State policy, without the necessity of allocating and crediting any particular investment (but only an amount invested) and 

without regard to actual investment, income, interest, profits or losses.   

Except as otherwise provided in the Resolution, the Trustee or the State Treasurer, as the case may be, shall sell at 

the best price obtainable by the Trustee or the State Treasurer, as the case may be, through its ordinary and customary 

practices, or present for redemption or exchange, or as directed in writing by the Authority, any Investment Obligation held 



 

E - 3 

 

by it in any Fund or Account whenever it shall be necessary in order to provide moneys to meet any payment or transfer from 

the Fund or Account for which such investment was made. 

 

Certain Covenants of the Authority 

For a description of the agreement of the Authority on behalf of the State, pursuant to the Act, see "SECURITY AND 

SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS - Statutory Covenant" in the Official Statement. 

Creation of Liens.  Until the pledge created in the Resolution shall be discharged and satisfied as provided therein, 

the Authority shall not issue any bonds or other evidences of indebtedness, other than the Bonds (or any related 

Reimbursement Obligations) secured by a prior or equal pledge of the Annual Financing Charges, Legislative Appropriations, 

and all rights under the Financing Agreements or otherwise to receive the same, the Financing Agreements, or any moneys 

and securities in the Debt Service Fund and Debt Service Reserve Fund, and shall not create or cause to be created any lien 

or charge equal or prior to the Bonds (or any related Reimbursement Obligations) on Annual Financing Charges Legislative 

Appropriations, and all rights under the Financing Agreements or otherwise to receive the same, the Financing Agreements, 

in each such case except as permitted by the Resolution, or on any moneys and securities in the Debt Service Fund and Debt 

Service Reserve Fund. 

Tax Exemption.  The Authority may include in the applicable Supplemental Resolution for any Series of Bonds any 

and all covenants necessary or appropriate to maintain the exclusion from gross income for purposes of federal income 

taxation of interest on such Bonds.  See "TAX MATTERS" in the Official Statement.  The Authority may issue Bonds the 

interest on which is not intended to be excluded from gross income, and therefore may be taxable, for purposes of federal 

income taxation. 

Compliance with and Amendment of Financing Agreements.   The Authority will at all times comply with the 

covenants, terms and conditions of the Financing Agreements and shall take all steps, actions and proceedings as may be 

necessary in order to require compliance by the Boards with the covenants, terms and conditions thereof, the breach of which 

would in any way materially adversely affect or impair the obligation of the Boards to pay Annual Financing Charges and 

Legislative Appropriations at the times and in the manner and amounts provided in the Financing Agr eements. 

The Authority will not amend any Financing Agreement in any manner that would materially adversely affect or 

impair the obligation of the applicable Board to pay Annual Financing Charges or Legislative Appropriations at such times, 

in such manner and in such amounts sufficient, together with other moneys available for the purpose, to pay the principal of 

and Sinking Fund Installments and interest on the Bonds as the same becomes due and payable, but reserves the right to 

amend the Financing Agreements in any other respect without the consent of any Fiduciary or any Bondowner.  

 

Supplemental Resolutions; Amendments 

The Authority may at any time or from time to time adopt Supplemental Resolutions without the consent of 

Bondowners and, except as may be agreed to in or in connection with any Credit Facility or Qualified Swap, the provider of 

any Credit Facility or Qualified Swap, for any one or more of the following purposes: (1) to authorize Bonds of a Series and,  

in connection therewith, specify and determine any matters and things relative to such Bonds which are not contrary to or 

inconsistent with the Resolution as theretofore in effect; (2) to establish for any Series of Bonds a separate Account in the  

Debt Service Reserve Fund which shall be permitted to be applied solely to the payment of Bonds of such Series, provided 

that (i) the Bonds of such Series shall have no claim or lien on nor be payable from any other amounts in the Debt Service 

Reserve Fund, (ii) the Bonds of such Series shall be excluded from the calculation of the Debt Service Reserve Requirement 

for all other Outstanding Bonds, and (iii) the amount required to be on deposit in such separate Accounts shall be specified 

or calculated in a manner specified in the Supplemental Resolution authorizing the Bonds of such Series, but in no event shall 

such amount, after giving effect to any Reserve Fund Credit Facility deposited in any such separate Account in the Debt 

Service Reserve Fund, be in excess of the amount that would otherwise be the Debt Service Reserve Requirement for such 

Series of Bonds assuming that such Series of Bonds were the only Series of Bonds Outstanding under the Resolution; (3) to 

modify, amend or supplement the Resolution in any manner in order to obtain or provide for o r with respect to a Credit 

Facility, Reserve Fund Credit Facility or Qualified Swap with respect to any Series of Bonds, so long as the Authority 

determines that such Supplemental Resolution does not materially adversely affect the rights of the Owners of Outstanding 

Bonds; (4) to add additional covenants and agreements of the Authority for the purpose of further securing the payment of 

the Bonds, provided that such additional covenants and agreements are not contrary to or inconsistent with the covenants a nd 

agreements of the Authority contained in the Resolution as theretofore in effect; (5) to add to the Resolution any provisions  

relating to the application of interest earnings in any Fund or Account required by law to preserve the exclusion from gross 

income for Federal income tax purposes of interest received on any Bonds then Outstanding or to be issued or the exemption 



 

E - 4 

 

of interest received on such Bonds from State income taxation; (6) to modify or eliminate any Debt Service Reserve 

Requirement in excess of the minimum required therefor as provided in the definition thereof; (7) to modify, amend or 

supplement the Resolution in such manner as to permit the qualification hereof under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as 

amended, or any similar Federal statute, or to permit the qualification of any Bonds for sale under the securities laws of any 

of the states of the United States of America, and to add such other terms, conditions and provisions as may be permitted by 

said Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, or similar Federal statute; (8) with the consent of the Trustee, (i) to cure any 

ambiguity, or defect or inconsistent provision in the Resolution, or (ii) to insert such provisions clarifying matters or que stions 

arising under the Resolution as are necessary or desirable in the event any such modifications are not contrary to or 

inconsistent with the Resolution as theretofore in effect; or to make any other modification or amendment of the Resolution 

which the Trustee shall in its sole discretion determine will not have a material adverse effect on the rights of Bondowners, 

provided that in making any such determination, the Trustee may conclusively rely upon a Counsel's Opinion or certificate 

of any Person deemed by the Trustee in its sole discretion to be reliable; (9) to comply with the requirements of any Rating 

Agency in order to maintain or improve a rating on the Bonds by such Rating Agency; or (10) to modify any of the provisions 

of the Resolution in any respect whatsoever, provided that such modification shall be, and be expressed to be, effective only 

after all Bonds Outstanding at the date of the adoption of such Supplemental Resolution either shall cease to be Outstanding 

or the Owners of the requisite percentage of the principal amount of such Bonds shall have consented thereto. 

Any modification or amendment of the Resolution and of the rights and obligations of the Authority and of the 

Owners of the Bonds under the Resolution, in any particular, may be made by a Supplemental Resolution, with the written 

consent (a) of the Owners of at least fifty-one percent (51%) in principal amount of the Bonds Outstanding at the time such 

consent is given, or (b) in case less than all of the several Series of Bonds then Outstanding are affected by the modif ication 

or amendment, of the Owners of at least fifty-one percent (51%) in principal amount of the Bonds of each Series so affected 

and Outstanding at the time such consent is given, or (c) in case the modification or amendment changes the amount or date 

of any Sinking Fund Installment, of the Owners of one hundred percent (100%) in principal amount of the Bonds of the 

particular Series, maturity and interest rate entitled to such Sinking Fund Installment Outstanding at the time such consent is 

given; provided, however, that if such modification or amendment will, by its terms, not take effect so long as any Bonds of 

any specified like Series and maturity remain Outstanding, the consent of the Owners of such Bonds shall not be required and 

such Bonds shall not be deemed to be Outstanding for the purpose of any calculation of Outstanding Bonds.  No such 

modification or amendment shall (a) permit a change in the terms of redemption or maturity of the principal of any 

Outstanding Bond or of any installment of interest thereon or a reduction in the principal amount or the Redemption Price 

thereof or in the rate of interest thereon without the consent of the Owner of such Bond, (b) permit the creation of any pled ge, 

lien, charge or encumbrance of or upon any of the items purported to be pledged pursuant to the Resolution, which pledge, 

lien, charge or encumbrance would be prior to, or of equal rank with, the pledge or source of payment for the Bonds created 

by the Resolution, without the consent of the Owners of all Outstanding Bonds affected by such change, or deprive any Owner 

of any Outstanding Bond of the benefit of such pledge or source of payment for the Bonds, without the consent of such 

Owner, except as permitted by the Resolution, (c) create, with respect to  the pledge of the items set forth in the Resolution, a 

preference or priority of any Bond over any other Bond without the consent of each Owner of a Bond affected by such change, 

or (d) reduce the percentages of the Bonds the consent of the Owners of which is required to waive an Event of Default or 

otherwise effect any such modification or amendment.  For such purposes, a Series shall be deemed to be affected by a 

modification or amendment of the Resolution if the same materially adversely affects the rig hts of the Owners of Bonds of 

such Series. The Trustee may in its discretion determine whether or not, in accordance with the foregoing provisions, Bonds 

of any particular Series or maturity would be affected by any modification or amendment of the Resolut ion and any such 

determination shall be binding and conclusive on the Authority and all Owners of Bonds.  The Trustee may receive an opinion 

of counsel, including a Counsel's Opinion, as conclusive evidence as to whether Bonds of any particular Series or m aturity 

would be so affected by any such modification or amendment of the Resolution.  

Notwithstanding anything in the Resolution to the contrary, the consent of Owners of any Series of additional Bonds 

to be issued under the Resolution shall be deemed given if the underwriters or initial purchasers for resale thereof consent in 

writing to any modification or amendment; provided, however, that such modification, amendment and consent are disclosed 

in the official statement or other offering document pursuant to which such Series of additional Bonds is offered and sold to 

the public. 

For purposes of amendments to the Resolution, but only so long as the Credit Facility provider has not defaulted on 

its obligations under the Credit Facility, (i) the provider of a Credit Facility shall be considered the sole Owner of all Bonds 

to which such Credit Facility relates, except as otherwise provided in an applicable Supplemental Resolution, and (ii) any 

amendment provision of the Resolution may be waived by such provider with respect to its consent to any amendment, by an 

instrument in writing filed with the Authority and the Trustee.  



 

E - 5 

 

The Authority shall furnish written notice to each Rating Agency of any amendment, change or modification of the 

Resolution.   

 

Events of Default 

Each of the following events is an "Event of Default": (1) the Authority shall default in the payment of the principal, 

Sinking Fund Installments, if any, or Redemption Price of or interest on any Bond when and as the same shall become due, 

whether at maturity or upon call for mandatory redemption or otherwise, which default shall continue for a period of thirty 

(30) days; (2) the pledge created in the Resolution shall, at any time and for any reason, cease to be in full force and effe ct or 

a judgment or order of any court of competent jurisdiction, or of any arbitrator or panel of arbitrators, as to which all appeals 

have been exhausted, shall be rendered which shall declare the pledge to be null and void, or shall declare that the pledge 

does not establish in any material respect the lien it purports to establish, or that the pledge is not for the exclusive benefit of 

the Owners of the Bonds, except as provided in or permitted by the Resolution; (3) the Authority shall fail or refuse to comp ly 

with the provisions of the Act as then in effect, or shall default in the performance or observance of any other of the covenants,  

agreements or conditions on its part contained in the Resolution, any Supplemental Resolution, or in the Bonds, and such 

failure, refusal or default shall continue for a period of ninety (90) days after written notice thereof (specifying such default 

and requiring that such notice is a "Notice of Default" under the Resolution) is given to the Authority by the Trustee or to the 

Authority and the Trustee by the Owners of not less than twenty-five percent (25%) in principal amount of the Outstanding 

Bonds; however, in the event that the default be such that it cannot be corrected within such ninety (90) day period, it shal l 

not constitute an Event of Default if corrective action is instituted by the Authority within such period and diligently pursued 

(as determined by the Trustee) until the default is corrected; (4) a court having jurisdiction in the premises shall enter a decree 

or order providing for relief in respect of the Authority or either Board in an involuntary case under any applicable bankruptcy, 

insolvency, reorganization or other similar law now or hereafter in effect, or appointing a receiver, liquidator, assignee, 

custodian, trustee, sequestrator (or similar official) of the Authority or either Board, or for any substantial part of its property, 

or ordering the winding-up or liquidation of its affairs and such decree or order shall remain unstayed and in effect for a 

period of ninety (90) days; or (5) the Authority or either Board shall commence a voluntary case under any applicable 

bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other similar law now or hereafter in effect, shall consent to the entry of an orde r 

for relief in an involuntary case under any such law, or shall consent to the appointment of or taking possession by a receiver, 

liquidator, assignee, trustee, custodian, sequestrator (or similar official) of the Authority or either Board, or for any sub stantial 

part of its property, or shall make any general assignment for the benefit of creditors, or shall fail generally to pay its debts 

as they become due or shall take any action in furtherance of the foregoing.    

Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in the Resolution shall preclude the Authority from seeking and obtaining 

from the General Assembly a change in law, to limit, modify, rescind, repeal or otherwise alter the character of the pledged 

items or to substitute like or different sources of fees, charges, appropriations or other receipts as pledged revenues if and 

when adequate provisions shall be made by law for the protection of the Owners of Outstanding Bonds pursuant to the 

proceedings under which the Bonds are issued, including changing or altering the method of establishing fees, charges and 

appropriations as contemplated by the Act.  The Authority (or the Trustee at the request of the Authority) shall mail to the 

Bondowners notice of any such change or alteration pursuant to such proviso.  The Authority shall  file with the Trustee, or 

the Trustee shall retain on file, proof of their respective mailing of such notice to Bondowners.  Such change or alteration 

shall be deemed conclusively binding upon the Authority, each Fiduciary and the Owners of all Bonds at t he expiration of 

thirty (30) days after the filing with the Trustee of the proof of the mailing of notice referred to above, except in the eve nt of 

a final decree of a court of competent jurisdiction setting aside such change or alteration in a legal actio n or equitable 

proceeding for such purpose commenced within such thirty (30) day period.  

 

Remedies 

Upon the happening and continuance of (i) any Event of Default specified in clause (1), (4) or (5) of the first 

paragraph under "Events of Default" above, the Trustee shall proceed, and (ii) any other Event of Default, the Trustee may 

proceed, and upon the written request of the Owners of not less than twenty -five percent (25%) in principal amount of the 

Outstanding Bonds or if the Event of Default arises from the failure of the Authority to duly and punctually perform the tax 

covenants contained in the Resolution, twenty-five per centum (25%) in principal amount of the Outstanding Bonds of such 

Series affected thereby, shall proceed, in its own name, to protect and enforce its rights and the rights of the Bondowners by 

such of the following remedies, as the Trustee, being advised by counsel, shall deem most effectual to protect and enforce 

such rights:  (1) by suit, action or proceeding at law or in equity in any court of competent jurisdiction, enforce all rights of 

the Bondowners, including the right to require the Authority to enforce the Agreements and collect the Annual Financing 

Charges and Legislative Appropriations payable thereunder, or to carry out any other covenant or agreement with Bondowners 



 

E - 6 

 

under the Resolution and to perform its duties under the Act, the Agreements and the Resolution; (2) bring suit upon the 

Bonds; (3) by action or suit, require the Authority to account as if it were the trustee o f an express trust for the Owners of the 

Bonds; (4) by action or suit, enjoin any acts or things which may be unlawful or in violation of the rights of the Owners of 

the Bonds; or (5) in accordance with the provisions of the Act, declare all Bonds due and payable, and if all defaults shall be 

made good, then, with the written consent of the Owners of not less than twenty-five percentum (25%) in principal amount 

of the Outstanding Bonds, to annul such declaration and consequences, but no such annulment shall  extend to or effect any 

subsequent default or impair or exhaust any right or power consequent thereon.  

All remedies conferred upon or reserved to the Owners of Bonds under the Resolution may be conferred upon and 

reserved in lieu thereof to the provider of a related Credit Facility authorized by a Supplemental Resolution.  Nothing herein 

shall preclude the Authority from providing in an applicable Supplemental Resolution, or in any Credit Facility authorized 

thereby, that the exercise of any remedy under the Resolution or the waiver of any Event of Default under the Resolution by 

the Trustee or the Owner of any such Bond shall be subject to the prior written consent of the provider of any related Credit  

Facility.   

No Owner of any Bond shall have any right to institute any suit, action, or other proceeding under the Resolution, or 

for the protection or enforcement of any right under the Resolution or any right under law unless such Owner shall have given  

to the Trustee written notice of the event of default or breach of duty on account of which such suit, action or proceeding is 

to be taken, and unless the Owners of not less than twenty-five percent (25%) in principal amount of the Bonds then 

Outstanding shall have made written request of the Trustee after the right to exercise such powers or right of action, as the 

case may be, shall have occurred, and shall have afforded the Trustee a reasonable opportunity either to proceed to exercise 

the powers herein granted or granted under the law or to institute such action, suit or proceeding in its name and unless, also, 

there shall have been offered to the Trustee reasonable security and indemnity against the costs, expenses and liabilities to  be 

incurred therein or thereby, and the Trustee shall have refused or neglected to comply with such request within a reasonable 

time. 

In the case of the pendency of any receivership, insolvency, liquidation, bankruptcy, reorganization, arrangement, 

adjustment, composition or other judicial proceeding relating to the Authority, the Board or any Institution, or any property 

of the Authority, the Board or any Institution, the Trustee (whether or not the principal of the Bonds shall then be due and 

payable by acceleration or otherwise, and whether or not the Trustee shall have made any demand upon the Authority for the 

payment of overdue principal and interest) shall be entitled and empowered, by intervention in such proceeding or other 

means (1) to file and prove a claim for the whole amount of the principal, Redemption Price, if an y, and interest owing and 

unpaid in respect of the Bonds then Outstanding and to file such other papers or documents as may be necessary or advisable 

in order to have the claims of the Trustee (including any claim for the reasonable compensation, expenses,  disbursements and 

advances of the Trustee, its agents and counsel) and of the Owners allowed in such proceeding; and (2) to collect and receive  

any moneys or other property payable or deliverable on any such claims and to distribute the same.  

Prior to the declaration of maturity of the Bonds as provided in the Resolution, the Owners of not less than a majority 

in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds at the time Outstanding, or their attorneys-in-fact duly authorized, may on behalf 

of the Owners of all of the Bonds waive any past default under the Resolution and its consequences, except a default in the 

payment of interest on or principal of or premium, if any, on any of the Bonds.  No such waiver shall extend to any subsequen t 

or other default or impair any right consequent thereon. 

The Trustee shall promptly mail to the Bondowners notice of each Event of Default under the Resolution known to 

the Trustee within fifteen (15) Business Days after knowledge of the occurrence thereof, unless such Event of Defa ult shall 

have been remedied or cured before the giving of such notice; provided, however, that, except in the case of default in the 

payment of the principal, Sinking Fund Installment, if any, or Redemption Price, if any, of or interest on any of the Bond s, 

or in the making of any payment required to be made into the Debt Service Fund or the Debt Service Reserve Fund, the 

Trustee shall be protected in withholding such notice if and so long as the board of directors, the executive committee, or a  

trust committee of directors or responsible officers of the Trustee in good faith determines that the withholding of such notice 

is in the interests of the Bondowners. 

 



 

E - 7 

 

Defeasance 

Bonds or interest installments for the payment or redemption of which moneys shall have been set aside and shall be 

held in trust by the Fiduciaries at the maturity or redemption date thereof shall be deemed to have been paid within the 

meaning and with the effect of the Resolution, subject to an election of the Authority to the contrary.  Any Outstanding Bonds 

of any Series shall, prior to the maturity or redemption date thereof, be deemed to have been paid within the meaning and 

with the effect, but subject to such election, of the Resolution if (a) in case any of said Bonds are t o be redeemed on any date 

prior to their maturity, the Authority shall have given to the Registrar instructions accepted in writing by the Registrar to  give 

notice of redemption, as provided in the Resolution, on said date of such Bonds (other than Bonds which have been purchased 

by a Paying Agent at the direction of the Authority or purchased or otherwise acquired by the Authority and delivered to a 

Paying Agent as hereinafter provided prior to the mailing of such notice of redemption), (b) there shall hav e been deposited 

with any Paying Agent either (i) moneys in an amount which shall be sufficient, or (ii) Defeasance Obligations the principal 

of and the interest on which when due will provide moneys which, together with the moneys, if any, deposited with such 

Paying Agent at the same time, shall be sufficient to pay, when due, the principal or Redemption Price, if applicable, and 

interest due and to become due on said Bonds on and prior to the redemption date or maturity date thereof, as the case may 

be, and (c) in the event said Bonds are not by their terms subject to redemption within the next succeeding sixty (60) days, 

the Authority shall have given the Registrar in form satisfactory to it instructions to mail, as soon as practicable, a notic e to 

the Owners of such Bonds, at their last addresses appearing upon the registry books at any time (but not more than fifteen 

(15) days) prior to such mailing, that the deposit required by (b) above has been made with a Paying Agent and that said 

Bonds are deemed to have been paid in accordance with this Section and stating such maturity or redemption date upon which 

moneys are expected to be available for the payment of the principal or Redemption Price, if applicable, of said Bonds (other  

than Bonds which have been purchased by a Paying Agent at the direction of the Authority or purchased or otherwise acquired 

by the Authority and delivered to a Paying Agent prior to the mailing of the notice of redemption referred to in clause (a) 

hereof).  Such Paying Agent shall, as and to the extent necessary, apply moneys held by it pursuant to this Section to the 

retirement of Bonds in amounts equal to the unsatisfied balances (determined as provided in Section 604) of any Sinking 

Fund Installments with respect to such Bonds, all in the manner provided in the Resolution. 

Unclaimed Moneys 

Any moneys held by a Fiduciary in trust for the payment and discharge of the principal or Redemption Price of or 

interest on any of the Bonds which remain unclaimed for three years (or such other period as may at the time be prescribed 

by the laws of the State) after the date when such principal, Redemption Price or interest, respectively, became due and 

payable, either at their stated maturity dates or by call for earlier redemption, if such mo neys were held by the Fiduciary at 

such date, or for three years (or such other period as may be prescribed by the laws of the State) after the date of deposit of 

such moneys if deposited with the Fiduciary after the said date when such principal, Redempti on Price or interest, 

respectively, became due and payable, shall, at the written request of the Authority, be repaid by the Fiduciary to the 

Authority, as its absolute property and free from trust, and the Fiduciary shall thereupon be released and dischar ged with 

respect thereto and the Bondowners shall look only to the Authority for the payment of such Bonds.   

 



 

 

[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 

 

 

 

 

 



 

F - 1 

 

APPENDIX F 

BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM 

The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, New York, will act as securities depository for the Offered 

Bonds.  The Offered Bonds will be issued as fully-registered bonds registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC's partnership 

nominee) or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  One fully -registered bond 

certificate will be issued for each maturity of each series of the Offered Bonds, in the aggregate principal amount of such 

maturity, and will be deposited with DTC. 

DTC, the world’s largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York 

Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve 

System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a “clearing agency” 

registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  DTC holds and provides asset 

servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate and municipal debt issues, and money 

market instruments (from over 100 countries) tha t DTC’s participants (“Direct Participants”) deposit with DTC.  DTC also 

facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other securities transactions in deposited securities , 

through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and pledges between Direct Participants’ accounts. This eliminates the 

need for physical movement of securities certificates.  Direct Participants include both U.S. and non -U.S. securities brokers 

and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations.  DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary 

of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”). DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities 

Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC is owned 

by the users of its regulated subsidiaries. Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non -U.S. 

securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial 

relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect Participants”). DTC has  a Standard & Poor’s 

rating of AA+. 

The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange CommIssion. More 

information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com. 

Purchases of the Offered Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will 

receive a credit for the Offered Bonds on DT’'s records.  The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each Offered 

Bond (“Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participant’' records.  Beneficial Owners will 

not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written 

confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect 

Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction.  Transfers of ownership interests in the Offered 

Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial 

Owners.  Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in the Offered Bonds, except 

in the event that use of the book-entry system for the Offered Bonds is discontinued. 

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Offered Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered in the 

name of DT’'s partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representat ive of 

DTC.  The deposit of the Offered Bonds with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC 

nominee do not effect any change in beneficial ownership.  DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the 

Offered Bonds; DT’'s records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such Offered Bonds are 

credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners.  The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible for 

keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers. 

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to Indirect 

Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed  by arrangements 

among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.  Beneficial Owners of 

the Offered Bonds may wish to take certain steps to augment the transmission to them of notices of significant eve nts with 

respect to the Offered Bonds, such as redemptions, tenders, defaults, and proposed amendments to the Offered Bond 

documents.  For example, Beneficial Owners of the Offered Bonds may wish to ascertain that the nominee holding the Offered 

Bonds for their benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit notices to Beneficial Owners.  In the alternative, Beneficial Owners 

may wish to provide their names and addresses to the registrar and request that copies of notices be provided directly to the m. 

Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC.  If less than all of the Offered Bonds of a maturity of a series are being 

redeemed, DT’'s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such maturity of such 

series to be redeemed. 



 

F - 2 

 

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to the Offered Bonds 

unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s MMI Procedures.  Under its usual procedures, DTC mails 

an Omnibus Proxy to the Authority as soon as possible after the record date.  The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co ’'s 

consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts the Offered Bonds are credited on the record date 

(identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy). 

Principal, interest and redemption premium, if any, payments on the Offered Bonds will be made to Cede & Co., or 

such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  DTC’s practice is to credit Direct 

Participants’ accounts upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from the Authority or any Paying 

Agent, on payable date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC’s records. Payments by Participants to 

Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for 

the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in “street name”, and will be the responsibility of such Participant and 

not of DTC or the Authority or any Paying Agent, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect 

from time to time.  Payment of principal, interest and redemption premium, if any, to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as 

may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility of the Authority or any Paying Agent, 

disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments 

to the Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants. 

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Offered Bonds at any time by giving 

reasonable notice to the Authority or any Paying Agent.  Under such circumstances, in the event that a successor depository 

is not obtained, Offered Bond certificates are required to be printed and delivered. 

The Authority may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry-only transfers through DTC (or a successor 

securities depository).  In that event, Offered Bond certificates will be printed and delivered to DTC. 

THE FOREGOING INFORMATION CONCERNING DTC AND DTC’S BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM HAS 

BEEN OBTAINED FROM SOURCES THAT THE AUTHORITY BELIEVES TO BE RELIABLE, BUT THE AUTHORITY 

TAKES NO RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE ACCURACY THEREOF.  NONE OF THE AUTHORITY, TRUSTEE, 

REGISTRAR, PAYING AGENT OR INITIAL PURCHASERs CAN MAKE ANY ASSURANCE THAT DTC OR THE DTC 

PARTICIPANTS WILL ACT IN A MANNER DESCRIBED HEREIN, NOR WILL THEY HAVE ANY RESPONSIBILITY 

OR OBLIGATION TO THE DTC PARTICIPANTS OR BENEFICIAL OWNERS FOR (1) SENDING TRANSACTION 

STATEMENTS; (2) MAINTAINING, SUPERVISING OR REVIEWING, OR THE ACCURACY OF, ANY RECORDS 

MAINTAINED BY DTC OR ANY DTC PARTICIPANT; (3) PAYMENT OR THE TIMELINESS OF PAYMENT BY DTC 

ANY DIRECT DTC PARTICIPANT, OR BY ANY DIRECT DTC PARTICIPANT OR INDIRECT DTC PARTICIPANT 

TO ANY BENEFICIAL OWNER OF ANY AMOUNT DUE TO ANY BENEFICIAL OWNER IN RESPECT TO THE 

PRINCIPAL OR REDEMPTION PREMIUM IF ANY, OR INTEREST ON OFFERED BONDS; (4) DELIVERY OR 

TIMELY DELIVERY BY DTC OR ANY DTC PARTICIPANT TO ANY BENEFICIAL OWNER OF ANY NOTICE 

(INCLUDING NOTICE OF REDEMPTION) OR OTHER COMMUNICATIONS TO ANY BENEFICIAL OWNER WHICH 

IS REQUIRED OR PERMITTED UNDER THE TERMS OF THE BOND DOCUMENTS TO BE GIVEN TO 

BONDHOLDERS; (5) THE SELECTION OF THE BENEFICIAL OWNERS TO RECEIVE PAYMENT IN THE EVENT 

OF ANY PARTIAL REDEMPTION OF OFFERED BONDS; OR (6) ANY ACTION TAKEN BY DTC OR ITS NOMINEE 

AS THE REGISTERED OWNER OF THE OFFERED BONDS. 

So long as Cede & Co. is the registered owners of the Offered Bonds, as nominee for DTC, references in the Official 

Statement to the Bondholders or registered owners of the Offered Bonds (other than under the caption “Tax Matters” in the 

Official Statement) shall mean Cede & Co. or any other DTC nominee, as aforesaid, and shall not mean the Beneficial Owners 

of the Offered Bonds. 

 

 

 



 

G - 1 

 

APPENDIX G 

SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF  

THE CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING 

The following is a brief summary of certain provisions of the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking.  This summary 

does not purport to be complete or definitive and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Continuing Disclosure 

Undertaking, copies of which are available at the offices of the Authority.  For definitions of certain terms used but not 

defined herein, see Appendix C–-“"GLOSSARY OF CERTAIN TERMS.” 

The Authority has authorized a Continuing Disclosure Undertaking (the“"Undertakin”") with respect to the Offered 

Bonds to assist the Underwriters in complying with U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) Rule 15C2-12 (the 

“Rule”).  In the Undertaking, the Authority will agree to provide the Annual Financial Information described below with 

respect to each fiscal year of the Authority, commencing with the fiscal year ending June 30, 2022, by no later than 7 months 

after the end of the respective fiscal year, to the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board “"MSR”").“"Annual Financial 

Informatio”" means updated versions of the following financial information and operating data contained in the Official 

Statement relating to the Offered Bonds with respect to the Authority, for each fiscal year of the Authority: 

• Outstanding Second Program Bonds (see “The Authority – Outstanding Second Program Bonds of the Authority”) 

• Authorized and Outstanding Revolving Credit Loans (see “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE 

BONDS – Subordinated Obligations; Revolving Credit Loans”) 

• Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System financial information and operating data and Higher Education Employer 

Contributions (see “TENNESSEE PUBLIC HIGHER EDUCATION – Employee Retirement Benefits”) 

• Other Post-Employment Benefits unfunded liabilities and annual required contributions (see “TENNESSEE PUBLIC 

HIGHER EDUCATION – Other Post-Employment Benefits”) 

• Appendix B – Selected Statistical Information 

 

The descriptions contained above are of general categories or types of financial information and operating data.  

When such descriptions include information that no longer can be generated because the operations to which it related have  

been materially changed or discontinued, a statement to that effect will be provided in lieu of such information.  

Annual Financial Information will include the annual financial statements of the Authority, audited by such auditors 

as shall then be required or permitted by State law “"Audited Financial Statement”"), if available, or unaudited financial 

statements.  If not provided as part of Annual Financial Information by the date referred to above because they are not 

available, the Authority will provide Audited Financial Statements, when and if available, to the MSRB.  Audited Financial 

Statements will be prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for governmental units as prescribed 

by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or any successor to the duties 

and responsibilities of either of them “"GAA”"). 

Annual Financial Information also will include the annual financial statements of the State, including component 

unit reporting of The University of Tennessee system and the Board of Trustees of the University of Tennessee, and of the 

State University and Community College System of the State of Tennessee and the Tennessee Board of Regents, in each case 

audited by such auditors as shall then be required or permitted by State law, if available.  If not provided as part of Annual 

Financial Information by the date referred to above because they are not available, the Authority will provide such audited 

financial statements, when and if available, to the MSRB.  Such audited financial statements will be prepared in accordance 

with GAAP. 

In the Undertaking, the Authority also agrees to provide, in a timely manner not in excess of 10 business days after 

the occurrence of the event, notice of each of the following events with respect to the Offered Bonds, to the MSRB: 

 

(i) principal and interest payment delinquencies; 

(ii) non-payment related defaults, if material; 

(iii) unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties; 

(iv) unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties; 



 

G - 2 

 

(v) substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform; 

(vi) adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or final determinations of taxability, 

Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other material notices or determinations with respect to the 

tax status of the Offered Bonds, or other material events affecting the tax status of the Offered Bonds; 

(vii) modifications to rights of Offered Bondholders, if material; 

(viii) bond calls, if material, and tender offers; 

(ix) defeasances; 

(x) release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the Offered Bonds, if material; 

(xi) rating changes; 

(xii) bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the Authority; 

(Note to clause (xii):  For the purposes of the event identified in clause (xii) above, the event is considered to 

occur when any of the following occur:  the appointment of a receiver, fiscal agent or similar officer for the 

Authority in a proceeding under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or in any other proceeding under state or federal law 

in which a court or government authority has assumed jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business 

of the Authority, or if such jurisdiction has been assumed by leaving the existing governing body and officials or 

officers in possession but subject to the supervision and orders of a court or governmental authority, or the entry 

of an order confirming a plan of reorganization, arrangement or liquidation by a court or governmental authority 

having supervision or jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the Authority.) 

(xiii) the consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the Authority or the sale of all or 

substantially all of the assets of the Authority, other than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into a 

definitive agreement to undertake such an action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such 

actions, other than pursuant to its terms, if material; and 

(xiv) appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a trustee, if material 

(xv) incurrence of a Financial Obligation of the Authority or of any Institution, if material, or agreement to covenants, 

events of default, remedies, priority rights, or other similar terms of a Financial Obligation of the Authority or of 

such Institution, as the case may be, any of which affect holders of Offered Bonds, if material; and 

(xvi) default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms, or other similar events under the terms of 

a Financial Obligation of the Authority or of any Institution any of which reflect financial difficulties. 

For the purposes of clauses (xv) and (xvi) above, “Financial Obligation” means:  (A)  debt obligation; (B) derivative 

instrument entered into in connection with, or pledged as security or a source of payment for, an existing or planned debt 

obligation; or (C) guarantee of (A) or (B) above, but does not include municipal securities as to which a final official statement 

has been provided to the MSRB consistent with the Rule.  

The Authority will also provide, in a timely manner,  notice of any failure of the Authority to provide the Annual 

Financial Information by the date specified above to the MSRB. 

Unless otherwise required by the MSRB, all notices, documents and information provided to the MSRB shall be 

provided to the MSRB’s Electronic Municipal Markets Access (EMMA) system, the current Internet Web address of which 

is www.emma.msrb.org. 

All notices, documents and information provided to the MSRB shall be provided in an electronic format as prescribed 

by the MSRB (currently, portable document format (pdf) which must be word-searchable except for non-textual elements) 

and shall be accompanied by identifying information as prescribed by the MSRB. 

The Undertaking will be effective upon the issuance of the Offered Bonds and will terminate upon the legal 

defeasance, prior redemption or payment in full of all of the Offered Bonds.  The Undertaking, or any provision thereof, shal l 



 

G - 3 

 

be null and void in the event that the Authority (i) receives an opinion of counsel to the e ffect that those portions of the Rule 

which require the Undertaking, or such provision, as the case may be, do not or no longer apply to the Offered Bonds, whether  

because such portions of the Rule are invalid, have been repealed, or otherwise, as shall be  specified in such opinion, and (ii) 

delivers copies of such opinion to the MSRB.  The Undertaking may be amended without the consent of the holders of the 

Offered Bonds in connection with a change in circumstances that arises from a change in legal (inclu ding regulatory) 

requirements, a change in law (including rules and regulations) or in interpretations thereof, or a change in the identity, n ature 

or status of the Authority or the type of business conducted thereby, or if an amendment to the Rule is adop ted, or a new or 

modified official interpretation of the Rule is issued, which is applicable to the Undertaking, in each case subject to certa in 

additional requirements, all as described in the Undertaking.  Copies of any such amendment are required to be delivered to 

the MSRB. 

The provisions of the Undertaking shall constitute a contract with and inure solely to the benefit of the holders from 

time to time of the Offered Bonds, except that beneficial owners of Offered Bonds shall be third -party beneficiaries of the 

Undertaking and shall be deemed to be holders of Offered Bonds for purposes of the next sentence.  The obligations of the 

Authority to comply with the provisions of the Undertaking are enforceable by any holder of outstanding Offered Bonds; the 

holder’' rights to enforce the provisions of the Undertaking are limited solely to a right, by action in mandamus or for specific 

performance, to compel performance of the Authorit’'s obligations under the Undertaking.  Any failure by the Authority to 

perform in accordance with the Undertaking will not constitute a default or an event of default under the resolutions 

authorizing the Offered Bonds or State law and shall not result in any acceleration of payment of the Offered Bonds, and the 

rights and remedies provided by such resolutions and applicable State law upon the occurrence of such a default or an event 

of default shall not apply to any such failure. 

The Undertaking shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State, and any suits and actions 

arising out of the Undertaking shall be instituted in a court of competent jurisdiction in the State; provided, however, that  to 

the extent the Undertaking addresses matters of federal securities laws, including the Rule, the Undertaking s hall be construed 

in accordance with such federal securities laws and official interpretations thereof.  

 

 

 



 

 

[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 

 

 

 

 



 

H - 1 
 

APPENDIX H 

FORM OF PROPOSED OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL 

 

[Closing Date] 

Tennessee State School Bond Authority 

Nashville, Tennessee 

 

TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY 

HIGHER EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES SECOND PROGRAM BONDS 

2022 SERIES A, $___________* 

2022 SEREIS B (FEDERALLY TAXABLE), $___________* 

 

 

Dear Sirs: 

 

At your request, we have examined into the validity of $___________* principal amount of Higher Educational 

Facilities Second Program Bonds, 2022 Series A (the “2021A Bonds) and $___________ principal amount of Higher 

Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds, 2022 Series B (Federally Taxable)(the “2022B Bonds” and , collectively with 

the 2022A bonds, the “2022 Bonds”) of the Tennessee State School Bond Authority (the “Authority”), a corporate agency 

and instrumentality of the State of Tennessee (the “State”). 

The 2022 Bonds are issued under and pursuant to the Tennessee State School Bond Authority Act (Section 49-3-

1201 et seq., Tennessee Code Annotated) as amended to date (the “Act”), the Higher Educational Facilities Second Program 

General Bond Resolution adopted by the Authority on April 27, 1998, as amended to date (the “General Resolution”) and a 

Supplemental Resolution of the Authority adopted on September 8, 2022 (the “Supplemental Resolution” and, collectively 

with the General Resolution, the “Resolution”). 

We have examined the Constitution and laws of the State; certified copies of proceedings of the Authority authorizing 

the issuance of the 2022 Bonds, including the Resolution; a certified copy of a Second Program Financing Agreement by and 

between the Authority and the Board of Trustees of The University of Tennessee (the “Board of Trustees”) dated as of 

November 1, 1997, as amended and restated as of May 9, 2013; a certified copy of a Second Program Financing Agreement 

by and between the Authority and the Board of Regents of the State University and Community College System of the State 

of Tennessee (the “Board of Regents” and, together with the Board of Trustees, the “Boards”) dated as of November 1, 1997, 

as amended and restated as of May 9, 2013; certified copies of proceedings of the Authority authorizing the execution and 

delivery of said Second Program Financing Agreements (collectively, the “Second Program Financing Agreements”); such 

other instruments, documents, certificates and proceedings, and applicable law, as we have considered appropriate for 

purposes of this opinion; and a specimen 2021 Bond. 

Based on the foregoing, we are of the opinion that: 

1. The Authority has the right and power under the Act to adopt the Resolution and the Resolution has been 

duly and lawfully adopted by the Authority, is in full force and effect, is valid and binding upon the Authority 

and is enforceable against the Authority in accordance with its terms.  The Resolution creates the valid 

pledge which it purports to create of the Annual Financing Charges and Legislative Appropriations (as each 

is defined in the Resolution), and all rights under the Second Program Financing Agreements or otherwise 

to receive the same, and moneys and securities held or set aside under the Resolution, subject to the 

application thereof to the purposes and on the conditions permitted by the Resolution.  

  

* Preliminary; subject to change 
 

 

 



 

H - 2 
 

2. The 2022 Bonds have been duly and validly authorized and issued in accordance with the laws of the State, 

including the Constitution of the State and the Act, and in accordance with the Resolution, and are entitled 

to the benefits of the Resolution and of the Act.  The 2022 Bonds are valid and binding obligations of the 

Authority as provided in the Resolution, and are enforceable against the Authority in accordance with their 

terms and the terms of the Resolution, payable solely from the Annual Financing Charges, Legislative 

Appropriations and other moneys and securities held or set aside under the Resolution, subject to the 

application thereof to the purpose and on the conditions permitted by the Resolution.  The Authority reserves 

the right to issue additional bonds on the terms and conditions, and for the purposes, provided in the General 

Resolution, on a parity of payment and security with the 2022 Bonds; provided, however, that as permitted 

by the General Resolution, certain series of bonds issued thereunder may not be payable from or secured by 

the Debt Service Reserve Fund on the same basis as others, and may not have any amount made available 

under the Resolution as a debt service reserve therefor (which initially is the case with the 2022 Bonds).  

The Authority has no taxing power, the State is not liable on the 2022 Bonds and the 2022 Bonds are not a 

debt of the State. 

3. The Second Program Financing Agreements have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the 

Authority and, assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by the other parties thereto, constitute 

valid contractual obligations of the Authority.  You have received opinions of counsel to the Board of 

Regents and counsel to the Board of Trustees to the effect that the respective Second Program Financing 

Agreements have been duly executed and delivered by the respective Boards and constitute valid contractual 

obligations thereof, and we express no opinion herein with respect thereto.  The State has not waived the 

immunity of the State (including, for this purpose, the Authority and the Boards) from suit or extended its 

consent to be sued with respect to the Second Program Financing Agreements.  Accordingly, monetary 

actions against the State (including the Authority and the Boards) for breach of  contractual obligations 

relating to the Financing Agreements may be heard and determined under current law exclusively in the 

Tennessee Claims Commission, an administrative tribunal, where liability may be limited to actual damages 

and certain costs. 

4. Under the existing laws of the State, the 2022 Bonds and income therefrom are free from taxation by the 

State or any county, municipality or political subdivision of the State, except for estate and gift taxes and 

taxes on transfers, and except to the extent included within the measure of privilege taxes imposed pursuant 

to the laws of the State. 

5. Under existing statutes and court decisions, (i) interest on the 2022A Bonds is excluded from gross income 

for federal income tax purposes pursuant to Section 103 of the Interal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended 

to the date hereof (the “Code”), and (ii) interest on the 2022A Bonds is not treated as a peference item in 

calculating th alternative minimum tax imposed under the Code, however for tax years beginnng after 

Decmber 21, 2022, interest on the 2022A Bonds is included in the “adjusted financial statemet income” of 

certain corporations that are subject to the alternative minimum tax under Section 55 of the Code.   In 

rendering the opinion in this paragraph 5, we have relied upon and assumed (i) the material accuracy of the 

representations, statements of inention and reasonable expectations, and certification of fact, contained in 

certifications delivered on the date hereof tby the Authority, the Boards and other s with respect to the use 

of proceeds of the 2022A Bonds and the investment of certain funds, and other matters affecting the 

exclusion of interest on the 2022A Bonds from gross inocome for federal incometax purposes under Section 

103 of the Code, and (ii) compliance by the Authority and the Boards with certain ongoing covenants to 

comply with applicable requirements of the Code to assure the exclusion of the interest on the 2022A Bonds 

from gross income under section 103 of the Code.  

6. Interest on the 2022B Bonds is included in gross income for federal income tax purposes. 

The opinions expressed in paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 above are subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, 

reorganization, moratorium and other laws heretofore or hereafter enacted affecting creditors’ rights, and are subject to the 

application of principles of equity relating to or affecting the enforcement of contractual obligations, whether such 

enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law. 

We express no opinion herein as to (i) federal, state or local tax consequences arising with respect to the 2022 Bonds, 

or the ownership or disposition thereof, except as stated in paragraphs 4 and 5 above, (ii) federal, state or local tax matters to 

the extent affected by any action hereafter taken or not taken in reliance upon an opinion of counsel other than ourselves, or 

(iii) the accuracy, adequacy, sufficiency or completeness of the Official Statement (or any update or amendment thereof or 



 

H - 3 
 

supplement thereto) of the Authority relating to the 2022 Bonds, or any other financial or other information which has been 

or may be supplied to purchasers or prospective purchasers of the 2022 Bonds. 

This letter is rendered solely with regard to the matters expressly opined on above and does not consider or extend 

to any documents, agreements, representations or other material of any kind not specifically opined on above.  No other 

opinions are intended nor should they be inferred. 

This letter is issued as of the date hereof, and we assume no obligation to update, revise or supplement this letter to 

reflect any action hereafter taken or not taken, or any facts or circumstances that may hereafter come to our attention, or 

changes in law or in interpretations thereof, that may hereafter occur, or for any other reason. 

 

Very truly yours, 

 

 



  HDW Draft 08/30/2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NOTICE OF SALE 

Dated [October __], 2022 

Tennessee State School Bond Authority 

 

Higher Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds 

 

$AAA,000,000* 2022 Series A 

$BB,000,000* 2022 Series B (Federally Taxable) 

 

Electronic Bids, as Described Herein 

Will Be Accepted Until 

 

[9:30] a.m. Central Time** 

for the 2022 Series A Bonds 

 

and 

 

[10:00] a.m. Central Time** 

for the 2022 Series B Bonds 

 

 

on [October __], 2022** 

 

 

 

 

 

 
* Subject to change both before the sale date and time, and after award, as provided herein. 
** Subject to change before the sale date and time as provided herein. 

 

 



 

 

CONTACTS 

 

Issuer 

Tennessee State School Bond Authority  

Sandra Thompson (615) 747-5369 

Director, Division of State Government Finance Fax : (615) 741-5986 

Cordell Hull State Office Building, 4th Floor  

425 Rep. John Lewis Way North Sandi.thompson@state.tn.us 

Nashville, TN 37243-1402  

  

Jacqueline Felland (615) 747-5373 

Program Accountant, Division of State Government Finance Fax:  (615) 741 5986 

Cordell Hull State Office Building, 4th Floor jacqueline.felland@tn.gov 

425 Rep. John Lewis Way North  

Nashville, TN 37243-1402  

  

Bond Counsel to the Issuer 

Hawkins Delafield & Wood LLP  

Steven I. Turner (212) 820-9462 

7 World Trade Center Fax: (212) 820-9615 

250 Greenwich Street sturner@hawkins.com 

New York, NY 10005  

  

Financial Advisor 

PFM Financial Advisors LLC  

Lauren Lowe (901) 682-8356 

530 Oak Court Drive, Suite 160 Fax: (901) 682-8386 

Memphis, TN  38117-3722 lowel@pfm.com 

  

BiDCOMP™/PARITY® 

Customer Service (212) 849-5021 

  

[i-Deal Prospectus] 

Customer Service [(212) 849-5024] 

  

 



 

1 
 

NOTICE OF SALE 

Dated [October __], 2022 

Tennessee State School Bond Authority 

Higher Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds 

$AAA,000,000* 2022 Series A 

$BB,000,000* 2022 Series B (Federally Taxable) 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that electronic bids will be received at the place, on the date and 

until the respective times specified below for the purchase of all, but not less than all, of (i) the 

$AAA,000,000* Higher Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds, 2022 Series A (the “2022A 

Bonds”), and/or (ii) separately, the $BB,000,000* Higher Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds, 

2022 Series B (Federally Taxable) (the “2022B Bonds” and, together with the 2022A Bonds, the “Offered 

Bonds”), to be issued by the Tennessee State School Bond Authority (the “Authority”). 

DATE: [______]day, [October __], 2022** 

TIME: 2022A Bonds:  [9:30] a.m. Central Time** 

2022B Bonds:  [10:00] a.m. Central Time** 

ELECTRONIC BIDS: May be submitted only through PARITY as described below. 

No other form of bid or provider of electronic bidding services will be 

accepted. 

The Offered Bonds are more particularly described below and in the Preliminary Official 

Statement dated [October __], 2022 relating to the Offered Bonds (the “Preliminary Official Statement”), 

available at the [i-Deal Prospectus website, www.i-dealprospectus.com].  For assistance in obtaining the 

Preliminary Official Statement from this website, contact [i-Deal Prospectus'] customer service or PFM 

Financial Advisors LLC.  See the Contacts page of this Notice of Sale. 

Prior to the sale date and times, the Authority reserves the right to change the aggregate or annual 

principal amounts of the Offered Bonds or the terms of the Offered Bonds, and to postpone the sale to a 

later date or time or to cancel the sale.  Notice of a change, postponement or cancellation will be 

announced via Thomson Municipal News at the website address www.tm3.com not later than 12:00 Noon, 

Central Time, on the day preceding the bid opening or, in the case of a cancellation, at any time prior to 

the receipt of bids.  If the sale is postponed, a later public sale may be held on such date and at such time 

as shall be announced at least forty-eight (48) hours in advance via Thomson Municipal News at the 

website address www.tm3.com.  Consideration of the bids and the award of the Offered Bonds will be 

completed within six (6) hours after the bids are received.  The Authority also reserves the right to adjust 

the principal amount of the Offered Bonds and to cancel the sale of the Offered Bonds after the bids are 

opened as further described herein under “ADJUSTMENTS OF AMOUNTS AND MATURITIES AFTER 

AWARD”. 

[Bidding Parameters Tables follow] 

_____________________ 
*
  Subject to change both before and after award as provided herein. 

** Subject to change before the sale date and time as provided herein. 

http://www.i-dealprospectus.com/


 

2 
 

$AAA,000,000** 2022A BONDS 
BIDDING PARAMETERS TABLE* [TO BE UPDATED] 

Description 
Page 
No. Description 

Page 
No. 

DATES 
Dated Date: Delivery Date 
Delivery Date: On or about October 

__, 2022 

INTEREST 
Interest Payment Dates: May 1 and November 1 
First Interest Payment: May 1, 2023 
Coupon Multiples: 1/8 or 1/20 of 1% 
Maximum Coupon: 5.00% 
Minimum Coupon: 5.00% on and after 

November 1, 20__ 
Maximum TIC: 5.00% 

PRINCIPAL 
Adjustments-Increases:  
   Each Maturity: + 20%  
   Aggregate: + 15% 
Adjustments-Decreases:  
   Each Maturity: - 20%  
   Aggregate: - 15% 
Term Bonds: One or more on or after 

November 1, 20__ 
(sinking fund 
installments must equal 
amortization) 

 
4 
 

11 

 
4 
4 
8 
8 
 
8 

8 
 
 
9 
9 
 
9 
9 
 
 
 
 
4 

REDEMPTION 
Optional: On or after November 1, 

20[32] at 100% 
Mandatory: Each sinking fund 

installment date for term 
bonds at 100% 

PRICING 
Max. Reoffering Price:  
   Each Maturity: N.A. 
   Aggregate: [1.20]% 
Min. Reoffering Price:  
   Each Maturity: [98.5]% 
   Aggregate: [[100.0% 

PROCEDURAL 
Bid Submission: PARITY® only 
All or None?: Yes 
Bid Award Method: Lowest TIC 
Bid Confirmation: Fax signed PARITY® 

screen 
Award of Bid: Within 6 hours 
Good Faith Deposit: $[_____,000] 

 
 

4 
 
 

4 

 
 

8 
8 
 

8 
8 

 
1, 7 
8 
8 
 

7 
1, 8 
9 

PRINCIPAL MATURITIES 

 
Year 

(November 1) 
Principal 
Amount**  

Year 
(November 1) 

Principal 
Amount**  

 2024 NC $,000  2039 T ,000  

 2025 NC ,000  2040 T ,000  

 2026 NC ,000  2041 T ,000  

 2027 NC ,000  2042 T ,000  

 2028 NC ,000  2043 T ,000  

 2029 NC ,000  2044 T ,000  

 2030 NC ,000  2045 T ,000  

 2031 NC ,000  2046 T ,000  

 2032 NC ,000  2047 T ,000  

 2033 T ,000  2048 T ,000  

 2034 T ,000  2049 T ,000  

 2035 T ,000  2050 T ,000  

 2036 T ,000  2051 T ,000  

 2037 T ,000  2052 T ,000  

 2038 T ,000  2053 T ,000  

       
 NC: Non-callable. 

 
T: May be designated as sinking fund installments for term maturity or maturities. 

* If numerical (excluding page numbers) or date references contained in the body of this Notice of Sale conflict with 
the Bidding Parameters Table, the body of this Notice of Sale shall control.  Consult the body of this Notice of Sale 
for a detailed explanation of the items contained on the Bidding Parameters Table, including interpretation of such 
items and methodologies used to determine such items. 

** Subject to change both before the sale date and time, and after award, as provided herein. 



 

3 
 

$BB,000,000** 2022B BONDS 
BIDDING PARAMETERS TABLE* [TO BE UPDATED] 

Description 
Page 
No. Description 

Page 
No. 

DATES 
Dated Date: Delivery Date 
Delivery Date: On or about October 

__, 2022 

INTEREST 
Interest Payment Dates: May 1 and November 1 
First Interest Payment: May 1, 2023 
Coupon Multiples: 1/8 or 1/20 of 1% 
Maximum Coupon: 5.00% 
Minimum Coupon: 5.00% on and after 

November 1, 20__ 
Maximum TIC: 5.00% 

PRINCIPAL 
Adjustments-Increases:  
   Each Maturity: + 20%  
   Aggregate: + 15% 
Adjustments-Decreases:  
   Each Maturity: - 20%  
   Aggregate: - 15% 
Term Bonds: One or more on or after 

November 1, 20__ 
(sinking fund 
installments must equal 
amortization) 

 
4 
 

11 

 
4 
4 
8 
8 
 
8 

8 
 
 
9 
9 
 
9 
9 
 
 
 
 
4 

REDEMPTION 
Optional: On or after November 1, 

20[32] at 100%  
Prior to November 1, 
20[32] at the Make-
Whole Redemption 
Price  

Mandatory: Each sinking fund 
installment date for term 
bonds at 100% 

PRICING 
Max. Reoffering Price:  
   Each Maturity: N.A. 
   Aggregate: [1.20]% 
Min. Reoffering Price:  
   Each Maturity: [98.5]% 
   Aggregate: [99.0%] 

PROCEDURAL 
Bid Submission: PARITY® only 
All or None?: Yes 
Bid Award Method: Lowest TIC 
Bid Confirmation: Fax signed PARITY® 

screen 
Award of Bid: Within 6 hours 
Good Faith Deposit: $[_____,000] 

 
 

4 
 
 
 

4 
 
 

4 
 
 

8 
8 

 
8 
8 
 

1,7 
8 
8 
 

7 
1,8 
9 

PRINCIPAL MATURITIES 

 
Year 

(November 1) 
Principal 
Amount**  

Year 
(November 1) 

Principal 
Amount**  

 2024  ,000  2037 T ,000  

 2025  ,000  2038 T ,000  

 2026  ,000  2039 T ,000  

 2027  ,000  2040 T ,000  

 2028  ,000  2041 T ,000  

 2029  ,000  2042 T ,000  

 2030  ,000  2043 T ,000  

 2031  ,000  2044 T ,000  

 2032  ,000  2045 T ,000  

 2033 T ,000  2046 T ,000  

 2034 T ,000  2047 T ,000  

 2035 T ,000  2048 T ,000  

 2036 T ,000  2049 T ,000  

       
 NC: Non-callable. 

 
T: May be designated as sinking fund installments for term maturity or maturities. 

* If numerical (excluding page numbers) or date references contained in the body of this Notice of Sale conflict with 
the Bidding Parameters Table, the body of this Notice of Sale shall control.  Consult the body of this Notice of Sale 
for a detailed explanation of the items contained on the Bidding Parameters Table, including interpretation of such 
items and methodologies used to determine such items. 

** Subject to change both before the sale date and time, and after award, as provided herein. 



 

4 
 

THE OFFERED BONDS 

General 

The Offered Bonds will be dated as of the Dated Date shown on the respective Bidding 

Parameters Table, will be issued in denominations of $5,000 or integral multiples thereof, and will bear 

interest from their date at the annual rate or rates specified by the winning bidder, subject to the 

limitations specified below, payable as shown on the respective Bidding Parameters Table.  Interest 

payable on the Offered Bonds will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve (12) 30-day 

months.  The Offered Bonds must meet the criteria shown on the respective Bidding Parameters Table on 

a maturity and aggregate basis. 

The Offered Bonds will mature on the month and day, in the years and in the principal amounts 

shown on the respective Bidding Parameters Table as either serial bonds or as term bonds with sinking 

fund installments as described under “Designation of Term Bonds; Mandatory Sinking Fund 

Redemption” below, subject to change before the sale date and time as provided above and after award as 

provided in “ADJUSTMENTS OF AMOUNTS AND MATURITIES AFTER AWARD” below. 

Designation of Term Bonds; Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption 

Bidders for the 2022A Bonds or the 2022B Bonds may, at their option, combine consecutive 

principal amounts payable on or after the date indicated on the respective Bidding Parameters Table as 

maturities that may be designated as sinking fund installments for one or more term bonds bearing interest 

at the same rate.  Each such term bond will be subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption commencing 

on the principal payment date of the first year which has been combined to form such term bond and 

continuing on the principal payment date in each year thereafter until the stated maturity date of such term 

bond, which will be the last year combined to form such term bond.  The amount redeemed in any year 

will be equal to the principal amount for such year as set forth in the amortization schedule for the 

Offered Bonds shown on the respective Bidding Parameters Table, subject to change before the sale date 

and time as provided above and after award as provided in “ADJUSTMENTS OF AMOUNTS AND 

MATURITIES AFTER AWARD” below.  Offered Bonds to be redeemed in any year by mandatory sinking 

fund redemption will be redeemed at par and will be selected from among the Offered Bonds of the same 

series and maturity, by lot in the case of the 2022A Bonds and pro rata in the case of the 2022B Bonds. 

Optional Redemption 

2022A Bonds.  The 2022A Bonds maturing on or before November 1, 20[32] will not be subject 

to optional redemption prior to their respective maturity dates.  The 2022A Bonds maturing on or after 

November 1, 20[33] may be redeemed prior to their respective maturity dates at the option of the 

Authority on and after November 1, 20[32], in whole or in part at any time at the redemption price of 

100% of the principal amount of the 2022A Bonds or portions thereof to be redeemed, together with 

accrued interest thereon to the redemption date.  The 2022A Bonds which are designated to be term bonds 

as described in “Designation of Term Bonds; Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption” above shall be 

subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption as described therein. 

2022B Bonds.  The 2022B Bonds maturing on or after November 1, 20[33] may be redeemed 

prior to their respective maturity dates at the option of the Authority on and after November 1, 20[32], in 

whole or in part at any time at the redemption price of 100% of the principal amount of the 2022B Bonds 

or portions thereof to be redeemed, together with accrued interest thereon to the redemption date.  The 

2022B Bonds which are designated to be term bonds as described in “Designation of Term Bonds; 



 

5 
 

Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption” above shall be subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption as 

described therein. 

Prior to November 1, 20[32], the 2022B Bonds may be redeemed prior to their respective 

maturity dates, at the option of the Authority, in whole or in part at any time at the Make-Whole 

Redemption Price (as defined below).  

The “Make-Whole Redemption Price” of any 2022B Bonds to be redeemed is an amount 

equal to the greater of (i) 100% of the principal amount of such 2022B Bonds or (ii) the sum of the 

present value of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest to the maturity date of 

such 2022B Bonds not including any portion of those payments of interest accrued and unpaid as of 

the date on which such 2022B Bonds are to be redeemed, discounted on a semiannual basis to the 

date on which such 2022B Bonds are to be redeemed, assuming a 360-day year consisting of twelve 

30-day months, at the Treasury Rate (as defined below) plus __ basis points for the 2022B Bonds 

maturing _______ to ______ and ____ basis points for 2022B Bonds maturing ______; plus, in each 

case, accrued and unpaid interest on such 2022B Bonds on such redemption date. 

"Treasury Rate" means, with respect to any redemption date for any particular 2022B  Bond, 

the greater of:  

(i) the yield to maturity as of such redemption date of the United States Treasury 

securities with a constant maturity (as compiled and published in the most recent Federal Reserve 

Statistical Release H.15 (519) that has become publicly available at least two business days prior 

to, but no more than 45 calendar days prior to, the redemption date (excluding inflation indexed 

securities) (or, if such Statistical Release is no longer published, any publicly available source of 

similar market data)) most nearly equal to the period from the redemption date to maturity; 

provided, however, that if the period from the redemption date to maturity is less than one year, 

the weekly average yield on actually traded United States Treasury securities adjusted to a 

constant maturity of one year will be used; or   

 (ii) the rate per annum, expressed as a percentage of the principal amount, equal to 

the semiannual equivalent yield to maturity or interpolated maturity of the Comparable Treasury 

Issue (defined below), assuming that the Comparable Treasury Issue is purchased on the 

redemption date for a price equal to the Comparable Treasury Price (defined below), as calculated 

by the Designated Investment Banker (defined below).  

“Comparable Treasury Issue” means, with respect to any redemption date for a particular 

2022B Bond, the United States Treasury security or securities selected by the Designated Investment 

Banker that has an actual or interpolated maturity comparable to the remaining average life of the 

2022B Bond to be redeemed.  

“Comparable Treasury Price” means, with respect to any redemption date for a particular 

2022B Bond, (i) if the Designated Investment Banker receives at least four Reference Treasury 

Dealer Quotations (defined below), the average of such quotations for such redemption date, after 

excluding the highest and lowest Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations, or (ii) if the Designated 

Investment Banker obtains fewer than four Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations, the average of all 

such quotations.  

"Designated Investment Banker" means one of the Reference Treasury Dealers (as defined 

below) appointed by the Authority.  



 

6 
 

"Reference Treasury Dealer" means each of four firms specified by the Authority from time 

to time, which firms shall be primary United States government securities dealers in the City of New 

York (each a “Primary Treasury Dealer”); provided, however, that if any of them ceases to be a 

Primary Treasury Dealer, the Authority will substitute another Primary Treasury Dealer.  

"Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations" means, with respect to each Reference Treasury Dealer 

and any redemption date for a particular 2022B Bond, the average, as determined by the Designated 

Investment Banker, of the bid and asked prices for the Comparable Treasury Issue (expressed in each case 

as a percentage of its principal amount) quoted in writing to the Designated Investment Banker by such 

Reference Treasury Dealer at 3:30 P.M., New York City time, at least two business days prior to, but no 

more than 45 calendar days prior to, such redemption date.  

The redemption price of such 2022B Bonds to be redeemed will be determined by an independent 

accounting firm, investment banking firm or financial advisor retained by the Authority to calculate such 

redemption price.  The Authority may conclusively rely on the determination of such redemption price by 

such independent accounting firm, investment banking firm or financial advisor and will not be liable for 

such reliance. 

AUTHORITY AND SECURITY 

The Offered Bonds will be issued pursuant to the Tennessee State School Bond Authority Act, as 

amended, Sections 49-3-1201 et seq., Tennessee Code Annotated; the Higher Educational Facilities 

Second Program General Bond Resolution adopted by the Authority on April 27, 1998, as amended July 

26, 2004, and May 9, 2013, and a Supplemental Resolution adopted by the Authority on September 8, 

2022 (such General Bond Resolution as amended and supplemented from time to time, including by such 

Supplemental Resolution, the "Resolution"). 

The Offered Bonds will be special obligations of the Authority payable from and secured by a 

pledge of and a lien on Annual Financing Charges and Legislative Appropriations payable to the 

Authority by the Board of Trustees of The University of Tennessee and the Tennessee Board of Regents 

of the State University and Community College System of the State of Tennessee pursuant to separate 

Second Program Financing Agreements, and other moneys held or set aside under the Resolution, subject 

to the application thereof to the purposes and on the conditions permitted thereby.  The Authority may 

issue additional bonds on a parity of payment and security with the Offered Bonds.  The Authority has 

no taxing power, the State of Tennessee is not liable on the Offered Bonds and the Offered Bonds 

are not a debt of the State of Tennessee.  For a fuller description of the security and sources of payment 

for the Offered Bonds, see the Preliminary Official Statement. 

FORM AND PAYMENT 

The Offered Bonds will be issued in fully registered book-entry only form, and a bond certificate 

for each maturity of each series will be issued to The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), registered in 

the name of its nominee, Cede & Co., and immobilized in its custody.  A book-entry system will be 

employed to evidence ownership of the Offered Bonds, with transfers of ownership effected on the 

records of DTC and its participants pursuant to rules and procedures adopted by DTC and its participants.  

Principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Offered Bonds will be payable by the Authority to DTC 

or its nominee as registered owner of the Offered Bonds.  Transfer of principal, premium, if any, and 

interest payments to the beneficial owners by participants of DTC will be the responsibility of such 

participants and other nominees of beneficial owners.  The Authority will not be responsible or liable for 

payments by DTC to its participants or by DTC participants to beneficial owners or for maintaining, 

supervising or reviewing the records maintained by DTC, its participants or persons acting through such 



 

7 
 

participants.  Beneficial owners will be entitled to receive Offered Bond certificates only under the 

limited circumstances described in the Preliminary Official Statement. 

BIDDING PROCEDURE; CONFIRMATION OF BID 

Only electronic bids submitted via PARITY will be accepted.  No other provider of electronic 

bidding services will be accepted.  No bid delivered in person or by facsimile directly to the Authority 

will be accepted.  Bidders are permitted to submit bids for (i) the 2022A Bonds, and/or (ii) separately, the 

2022B Bonds during the respective bidding time period, provided they are eligible to bid as described 

under “ELIGIBILITY TO BID”. 

Each electronic bid submitted via PARITY for the purchase of Offered Bonds shall be deemed 

an offer to purchase such Offered Bonds in response to this Notice of Sale, and shall be binding upon the 

bidder as if made by a signed, sealed bid delivered to the Authority.  Once the bids are released 

electronically via PARITY to the Authority, each bid will constitute an IRREVOCABLE offer to 

purchase the Offered Bonds on the terms therein provided.  The winning bidder must confirm the details 

of such bid by a signed PARITY Bid Form delivered by fax to (615) 741-5986 no later than one hour 

after being notified by the Authority of being the winning bidder, the original of which must be received 

by the Director of Division of State Government Finance on the following business day at the address 

shown on the Contacts page of this Notice of Sale.  Failure to deliver this confirmation does not relieve 

the winning bidder of its obligation to complete the purchase of the Offered Bonds bid for. 

ELECTRONIC BIDDING  

The use of PARITY electronic bidding shall be at the bidder's risk and expense, and the 

Authority shall have no liability with respect thereto.  The Authority is using electronic bidding as a 

communications medium and PARITY is not acting as the Authority's agent. 

If any provisions of this Notice of Sale conflict with information provided by PARITY, this 

Notice of Sale shall control.  The Authority is not bound by any advice or determination of PARITY as 

to whether any bid complies with the terms of this Notice of Sale.  The time as maintained by PARITY 

shall constitute the official time with respect to all bids submitted. 

By submitting a bid for Offered Bonds, a prospective bidder represents and warrants to the 

Authority that such bidder’s bid for the purchase of such Offered Bonds is submitted for and on behalf of 

such prospective bidder by an officer or agent who is duly authorized to bind the prospective bidder to a 

legal, valid and enforceable contract for the purchase of such Offered Bonds.   

ELIGIBILITY TO BID  

The Authority does not have a registration requirement for prospective bidders.  However, 

bidders submitting electronic bids must be contracted customers of the BiDCOMP™ Competitive 

Bidding System and should promptly contact PARITY directly for information about PARITY and 

BiDCOMP™, including such rules and fees, and becoming a contracted customer (see the Contacts page 

of this Notice of Sale).  By contracting with BiDCOMP™, a prospective bidder is not obligated to submit 

a bid in connection with the sale. 

ESTABLISHED INDUSTRY REPUTATION REQUIRED OF BIDDERS  

By submitting a bid for the Offered Bonds, each bidder certifies it has an established 

industry reputation for underwriting new issuances of municipal bonds.  The Authority will not 



 

8 
 

accept bids for the Offered Bonds from firms without an established industry reputation for underwriting 

new issuances of municipal bonds.  

CONTENTS OF BID, INTEREST RATES, BID PRICES AND REOFFERING PRICES 

Bidders may bid (i) for the 2022A Bonds, and/or (ii) by separate bid, for the 2022B Bonds.  

Bidders must bid for all maturities of any Offered Bonds of a series bid for.  Each bid must specify (1) an 

annual rate of interest for each maturity of the 2022A Bonds or 2022B Bonds bid for, (2) the reoffering 

price or yield of each such maturity and (3) a dollar purchase price for all of the Offered Bonds of a series 

bid for. 

Each bid for a series of the Offered Bonds must meet the criteria shown on the respective Bidding 

Parameters Table.  Any number of interest rates may be named, but Offered Bonds of the same series and 

maturity must bear interest at the same single rate. 

As promptly as reasonably possible after bids for the respective Offered Bonds are received, the 

Authority will notify the winning bidder for such Offered Bonds that it is the apparent winning bidder.  

Upon such notice, such bidder must confirm to the Authority the initial reoffering prices and 

Underwriter’s discounts by maturity for the Offered Bonds bid for.  Reoffering prices must meet the 

criteria shown on the respective Bidding Parameters Table.  The initial reoffering prices and 

Underwriter’s discount for each maturity confirmed to the Authority will be used by the Authority to 

calculate the final annual principal amounts and will be included in the final Official Statement.  See 

“ADJUSTMENTS OF AMOUNTS AND MATURITIES AFTER AWARD” below.  The Authority will not 

include an “NRO” (“not reoffered”) designation with respect to any maturity of the Offered Bonds. 

Reoffering prices of the 2022A Bonds also must be confirmed as described under 

“ESTABLISHMENT OF ISSUE PRICE FOR 2022A BONDS” below. 

Each winning bidder (a “Purchaser”) will be responsible to the Authority in all respects for the 

accuracy and completeness of information provided by such Purchaser with respect to such reoffering.   

AWARD 

The Authority expects to award the 2022A Bonds and the 2022B Bonds to the respective winning 

bidders within six (6) hours of the respective bid opening.  Bids may not be withdrawn prior to the award.  

Unless all bids for the 2022A Bonds or the 2022B Bonds are rejected, the respective Offered Bonds will 

be awarded to the bidder therefor whose bid complies with this Notice of Sale and results in the lowest 

true interest cost (“TIC”) to the Authority.  The TIC (expressed as an annual rate) will be determined for 

each of the 2022A Bonds and the 2022B Bonds as being twice the semi-annual discount rate, 

compounded semi-annually, which, when applied against principal of and interest on the respective 

Offered Bonds as due, will equal the sum of such discounted payments to the aggregate purchase price for 

such Offered Bonds, as provided by the respective bidder on the PARITY® Bid Form.  The TIC shall be 

calculated from the Dated Date of the Offered Bonds, which for this purpose shall be the Delivery Date 

specified on the Bidding Parameters Tables.  If two or more bidders offer to purchase the 2022A Bonds or 

the 2022B Bonds at the same lowest TIC (rounded to six (6) places after the decimal point), such Offered 

Bonds may be apportioned between such bidders if it is agreeable to each of such bidders, and if 

apportionment is not acceptable to such bidders, the Authority reserves the right to award such Offered 

Bonds to one of such bidders.  There will be no auction. 



 

9 
 

ADJUSTMENTS OF AMOUNTS AND MATURITIES AFTER AWARD 

The aggregate principal amount of the Offered Bonds of each series, and the principal amount of 

each maturity thereof, are subject to adjustment by the Authority after the award of such Offered Bonds to 

the respective winning bidder.  Changes to be made after the award will be communicated to the winning 

bidder therefor directly by 10:00 a.m., Central Time, on the day following the sale. 

The Authority may increase or decrease the aggregate principal amount of the 2022A Bonds or 

the 2022B Bonds, or the aggregate principal amount of any maturity thereof, by no more than the 

individual maturity or aggregate principal percentages shown on the respective Bidding Parameters Table 

from the respective amounts bid on.  The Authority will consult with the winning bidder for the 

respective Offered Bonds before adjusting the amount of any maturity of such Offered Bonds; however, 

the Authority reserves the sole right to make adjustments within the limits described above. 

Adjustments within the limits described above will not relieve the Purchasers from their 

obligation to purchase all of the respective Offered Bonds, assuming all other conditions of this Notice of 

Sale have been satisfied by the Authority. 

In the event that the principal amount of any maturity of the 2022A Bonds or the 2022B Bonds is 

revised after the award, the interest rate and reoffering price for each maturity and the Underwriter's 

Discount on the 2022A Bonds or the 2022B Bonds, as the case may be, shall be held constant.  The 

“Underwriter's Discount” for each series of the Offered Bonds shall be the difference between the dollar 

purchase price submitted by the bidder for the purchase of all of the Offered Bonds of such series, and the 

total dollar price at which all of the Offered Bonds of each series will be offered to the public, calculated 

from information provided by the bidder, divided by the number of such Offered Bonds.  (The number of 

Offered Bonds equals the par amount of Offered Bonds divided by 1,000.) 

RIGHT OF REJECTION 

The Authority reserves the right, in its discretion, to reject any and all bids and to waive any 

irregularity or informality in any bid. 

RIGHT OF CANCELLATION 

The winning bidder for any Offered Bonds will have the right, at its option, to cancel its 

obligation to purchase if the Authority fails to deliver such Offered Bonds within 60 days from the date of 

sale, and, in such event, the winning bidder will be entitled to the return of an amount equal to the good 

faith deposit but without any additional liability to the Authority. 

GOOD FAITH DEPOSITS  

The winning bidder for the 2022A Bonds and for the 2022B Bonds is required to submit the good 

faith amount shown on the respective Bidding Parameters Table (the “Good Faith Amount”) to the 

Authority in the form of a wire transfer in federal funds, as instructed by the Authority’s Financial 

Advisor, not later than two hours after the verbal award is made.  If such wire transfer deposit is not 

received by the Authority by that time, the bid of such apparent winning bidder may be rejected and the 

Authority may direct the next lowest bidder(s) for the respective Offered Bonds to submit a good faith 

deposit and thereafter may award the sale of such Offered Bonds to them.  The cover bidder shall hold its 

bid constant until two hours after the initial verbal award is made or, if earlier, the time the apparent 

winning bidder’s good faith deposit is received, as advised by the Authority’s Financial Advisor.   



 

10 
 

In the event that the original apparent winning bidder does not comply with the good faith deposit 

requirements and another bidder complies with the good faith deposit requirements as described herein, or 

in the event no bidder complies with the good faith deposit requirements as described herein, the original 

apparent winning bidder is obligated to promptly pay to the Authority, as liquidated damages for its 

failure to timely comply with the terms of this Notice of Sale and of its bid, an amount equal to the greater 

of (i) the difference between the true interest cost of the original apparent winning bidder and of the 

ultimate winning bidder, or (ii) the Good Faith Amount, plus in each case reasonable attorney’s fees and 

expenses.  Submission of a bid to purchase Offered Bonds shall constitute acknowledgement and 

acceptance of the terms of the good faith deposit requirements, including liquidated damages, as 

provided herein. 

The good faith deposits so wired will be deposited and held by the Authority until the delivery of 

the respective Offered Bonds, at which time each good faith deposit will be applied against the purchase 

price of the respective Offered Bonds or such good faith deposit will be retained by the Authority as 

partial liquidated damages in the event of the failure of the winning bidder to take up and pay for such 

Offered Bonds in compliance with the terms of the Notice of Sale and of its bid.  No interest on the good 

faith deposits will be paid by the Authority.  The balance of the purchase price must be wired in federal 

funds, to the account specified by or on behalf of the Authority, simultaneously with delivery of Offered 

Bonds. 

ESTABLISHMENT OF ISSUE PRICE FOR 2022A BONDS 

If the Authority receives at least three (3) bona fide bids for the 2022A Bonds, the issue price of 

the 2022A Bonds shall be established pursuant to Treasury Regulation Section 1.148-1(f)(2)(iii) based on 

the reasonably expected initial offering price to the public as of the sale date.  The Purchaser of the 2022A 

Bonds agrees to execute the Issue Price Certificate attached hereto as Exhibit A not later than 2:00 P.M., 

Central Time, on the business day prior to the date of delivery of the 2022A Bonds (by delivery of 

manually signed hard copy, or by electronic transmission confirmed with manually signed hard copy 

delivered the following day), with such modifications as may be appropriate or necessary in the 

reasonable judgment of the Authority or Bond Counsel.  The Purchaser of the 2022A Bonds agrees to 

take such actions, both before and after the award of the 2022A Bonds, as shall be necessary to enable it 

to satisfy the requirements of such Issue Price Certificate.  

If the Authority does not receive at least three (3) bona fide bids for the 2022A Bonds, the issue 

price of the 2022A Bonds shall be established pursuant to Treasury Regulation Section 1.148-1(f)(2)(ii) 

(the “hold-the-price” rule).  The Purchaser of the 2022A Bonds agrees to execute the Issue Price 

Certificate attached hereto as Exhibit B not later than 2:00 P.M., Central Time, on the business day prior 

to the date of delivery of the 2022A Bonds (by delivery of manually signed hard copy, or by electronic 

transmission confirmed with manually signed hard copy delivered the following day), with such 

modifications as may be appropriate or necessary in the reasonable judgment of the Authority or Bond 

Counsel.  The Purchaser of the 2022A Bonds agrees to take such actions, both before and after the award 

of the Bonds, as shall be necessary to enable it to satisfy the requirements of such Issue Price Certificate.  

In either event, the Purchaser of the 2022A Bonds also will be required to provide to the 

Authority and Bond Counsel such additional information as may be requested by Bond Counsel.   

ADDITIONAL RESPONSIBILITIES OF PURCHASERS 

Each Purchaser agrees to make a bona fide public offering of all of the Offered Bonds bid for, 

and represents that it shall reoffer such Bonds in compliance with all applicable securities laws of the 

jurisdictions in which such Bonds are offered.  



 

11 
 

PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT AND FINAL OFFICIAL STATEMENT 

The Preliminary Official Statement comprises the “deemed final” Official Statement for purposes 

of Rule 15c2-12 of the Securities and Exchange Commission and, when amended to reflect, among other 

things, the actual amount of the Offered Bonds sold, the interest rates specified by the winning bidders 

and the prices or yields at which the winning bidders will reoffer the Offered Bonds to the public, will 

constitute a “Final Official Statement” (as defined in Rule 15c2-12) with respect to the Offered Bonds.  

No more than seven business days after the date of the sale, the Authority will provide without cost to the 

winning bidder for the Offered Bonds of each series up to [25] copies of the final Official Statement.  If 

any Offered Bonds are awarded to a syndicate, the Authority will deliver final Official Statements only to 

the entity submitting the successful bid, which shall be responsible for distributing copies of the final 

Official Statement among the participating underwriters. 

The Authority will deliver to the Purchasers of the Offered Bonds certificates of the Authority, 

dated the date of delivery of the Offered Bonds, stating that as of the sale date and at the time the Offered 

Bonds are delivered, (i) the information and statements, including financial statements, of or pertaining to 

the Authority contained in the Official Statement were and are correct in all material respects; (ii) insofar 

as the Authority and its affairs, including its financial affairs, are concerned, the Official Statement did 

not and does not contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to 

be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under 

which they were made, not misleading; and (iii) insofar as the descriptions and statements, including 

financial data, of or pertaining to other governmental bodies, nongovernmental bodies, and their 

respective activities contained in the Official Statement are concerned, such descriptions, statements, and 

data have been obtained from sources believed by the Authority to be reliable, and the Authority has no 

reason to believe that they are untrue or incomplete in any material respect. 

DELIVERY AND PAYMENT 

Delivery of the Offered Bonds will be made by the Authority to DTC in book-entry only form on 

or about the Delivery Date shown on the Bidding Parameters Tables, or on such other date agreed upon 

by the Authority and the respective winning bidder.  Payment for Offered Bonds must be made in Federal 

Funds or other funds immediately available to the Authority at the time of delivery of such Offered 

Bonds.  Any expenses incurred in providing immediate funds, whether by transfer of Federal Funds or 

otherwise, will be borne by the Purchaser.  The cost of printing the Offered Bonds, if any, will be borne 

by the Authority. 

CUSIP NUMBERS 

It is anticipated that CUSIP numbers will be printed on the Offered Bonds, but neither failure to 

print such numbers on any Offered Bond nor any error with respect thereto will constitute cause for a 

failure or refusal by the Purchasers thereof to accept delivery of and pay for the respective Offered Bonds.  

The policies of the CUSIP Service Bureau will govern the assignment of specific numbers to the Offered 

Bonds.  The Authority’s Financial Advisor will timely apply for CUSIP numbers with respect to the 

Offered Bonds as required by MSRB Rule G-34 but the respective Purchasers shall be responsible for the 

payment of the CUSIP Service Bureau charge for the assignment of said numbers.  All expenses in 

relation to the printing of CUSIP numbers on the Offered Bonds will be paid for by the Authority. 



 

12 
 

BLUE SKY 

The Authority has not taken any action relating to the requirements of the securities or “blue sky” 

laws of any jurisdiction with respect to the offer and sale of the Offered Bonds.  Certain jurisdictions may 

have filing requirements which must be satisfied prior to any offer or sale of the Offered Bonds. 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE 

In order to assist bidders in complying with Rule 15c2-12, the Authority will execute and deliver 

a written Continuing Disclosure Undertaking to provide annual financial information, operating data and 

notices of certain events.  A description of the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking is set forth in the 

Preliminary Official Statement and will be set forth in the final Official Statement.  Execution and 

delivery of the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking will be a condition precedent to the obligation of the 

winning bidder to take up and pay for the Offered Bonds. 

LEGAL OPINION 

The legal opinion of Hawkins Delafield & Wood LLP, New York, New York, with respect to the 

Offered Bonds will be furnished in reasonable quantity to the winning bidders for the Offered Bonds 

without cost to such winning bidders.  For the proposed form of such opinion, see the Preliminary Official 

Statement. 



 

13 
 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

Additional information may be obtained from either the Division of State Government Finance of 

the State or the Authority’s Financial Advisor.  See the Contacts page of this Notice of Sale. 

 TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND 
AUTHORITY 

  
 
 
By:  Jason E. Mumpower 

 Comptroller of the Treasury of the State of 
Tennessee and Secretary of the Tennessee 
State School Bond Authority 



EXHIBIT A 

 

$___________ 

TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY 

HIGHER EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES SECOND PROGRAM BONDS 

2022 SERIES A 

 

ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATE 

[October __], 2022 

[NAME OF PURCHASER], as the winning bidder (the “Original Purchaser”), in connection 

with the competitive sale by the Tennessee State School Board Authority (the “Authority”) of its 

$________ aggregate principal amount of Higher Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds, 2022 

Series A (the “Bonds”), pursuant to the Notice of Sale dated [October __], 2022, published on [October 

__], 2022, hereby certifies as follows: 

1. The Original Purchaser reasonably expected on the date the sale of the Bonds was 

awarded to it (the “Sale Date”) to reoffer the Bonds to the Public at the prices and/or yields set forth in 

ATTACHMENT I hereto.   

2. Attached hereto as ATTACHMENT II is a copy of the bid provided by the Original 

Purchaser to purchase the Bonds. 

3. The Original Purchaser was not given the opportunity to review other bids prior to 

submitting its bid. 

4. The bid submitted by the Original Purchaser constituted a firm offer to purchase the 

Bonds. 

5. For purposes of this certificate, the following definitions will apply: 

“Public” means any person (including an individual, trust, estate, partnership, association, 

company or corporation) other than an Underwriter or a Related Party, as defined below, to an 

Underwriters;  

“Underwriter” means (i) the Original Purchaser, (ii) any person that agrees pursuant to a written 

contract to participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public, and (iii) any person that agrees 

pursuant to a written contract directly or indirectly with the Original Purchaser or a person 

described in clause (ii) of this definition to participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the 

Public, including a member of a selling group or a party to a retail distribution agreement 

participating in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public;  

 “Related Party” means any entity if an Underwriter and such entity are subject, directly or 

indirectly, to (i) more than 50 percent common ownership of the voting power or the total value 

of their stock, if both entities are corporations (including direct ownership by one corporation of 

another), (ii) more than 50 percent common ownership of their capital interests or profit interests, 

if both entities are partnerships (including direct ownership by one partnership of another), or 

(iii) more than 50 percent common ownership of the value of the outstanding stock of the 

corporation or the capital interests or profit interests of the partnership, as applicable, if one entity 

is a corporation and the other entity is a partnership (including direct ownership of the applicable 

stock or interests by one entity of the other);  



 

2 
 

We understand that the representations contained herein may be relied upon by the Authority in 

making certain of the representations contained in the Tax Certificate, and we further understand that 

Hawkins Delafield & Wood LLP, as bond counsel to the Authority, may rely upon this certificate, among 

other things, in providing an opinion with respect to the exclusion from gross income of interest on the 

Bonds pursuant to Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”).  The 

undersigned is certifying only as to facts in existence on the date hereof.  Nothing herein represents the 

undersigned’s interpretation of any laws; in particular the regulations under the Code, or the application 

of any laws to these facts.  The certifications contained herein are not necessarily based on personal 

knowledge, but may instead be based on either inquiry deemed adequate by the undersigned or 

institutional knowledge (or both) regarding the matters set forth herein.  Although certain information 

furnished in this Certificate has been derived from other Underwriters who may be considered Related 

Parties to the Original Purchaser and cannot be independently verified by us, we have no reason to believe 

it to be untrue in any material respect. 

Very truly yours, 

[NAME OF ORIGINAL PURCHASER] 

By:   

Name:  

Title:  

 



 

 

ATTACHMENT I 

REOFFERING PRICES AND YIELDS OF MATURITIES TO THE PUBLIC 

[List Maturities, Prices and Yields] 



 

F-A-3 
 

ATTACHMENT II 

COPY OF WINNING BID 

 



EXHIBIT B 

 

 

$___________ 

TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY 

HIGHER EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES SECOND PROGRAM BONDS 

2022 SERIES A 

 

ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATE 

[October __], 2022 

 [NAME OF ORIGINAL PURCHASER], as the original purchaser (the “Original 

Purchaser”) of the $________ aggregate principal amount of Higher Educational Facilities Second 

Program Bonds, 2022 Series A (the “Bonds”) issued by the Tennessee State School Bond Authority (the 

“Authority”), hereby certifies that: 

(i) as of [SALE DATE], 20229 (the “Sale Date”), all of each Maturity, as defined 

below, of the Bonds has been the subject of a bona fide offering to the Public, as 

defined below, at the prices (the “Initial Offering Price”) shown on the final 

pricing wire in respect of the Bonds dated (the “Final Pricing Wire”) attached 

hereto as Schedule A; 

(ii) as of the Sale Date, except for the Maturities [PLEASE IDENTIFY 

UNSOLD/UNDERSOLD MATURITIES] (the “Unsold Maturities”), shown 

on Schedule B attached hereto, the price at which the first 10 percent of each 

Maturity of the Bonds was sold by the Underwriters (which includes the Original 

Purchaser) to the Public is set forth on such Schedule B;  

(iii) following the Sale Date, with respect to each Unsold Maturity, the Underwriters, 

as defined below, in compliance with the applicable provisions described in the 

Notice of Sale, dated [October __], 2022, relating to the Bonds (the “Notice of 

Sale”), have neither offered nor sold the Bonds comprising any such Unsold 

Maturity to the Public at a price that is higher or yield lower than the Initial 

Offering Price during the period starting on the Sale Date and ending on the 

earlier of the following: (a) the close of the fifth business day after the Sale Date, 

or (b) the date on which at least 10 percent of the bonds of the Unsold Maturity 

has been sold to the Public at or below the Initial Offering Price.   

For purposes of this certificate the following definitions apply: 

 “Public” means any person (including an individual, trust, estate, partnership, 

association, company or corporation) other than an Underwriter or a Related 

Party, as defined below, to an Underwriter;  

 “Underwriter” means (i) the “Original Purchaser”, (ii) any person that agrees 

pursuant to a written contract to participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the 

Public, and (iii) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract directly or 

indirectly with a person described in clause (ii) of this definition to participate in 

the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public, including a member of a selling group 

or a party to a retail distribution agreement participating in the initial sale of the 

Bonds to the Public; 

“Related Party” means any entity if an Underwriter and such entity are subject, 

directly or indirectly, to (i) more than 50 percent common ownership of the 



 

2 
 

voting power or the total value of their stock, if both entities are corporations 

(including direct ownership by one corporation of another), (ii) more than 50 

percent common ownership of their capital interests or profit interests, if both 

entities are partnerships (including direct ownership by one partnership of 

another), or (iii) more than 50 percent common ownership of the value of the 

outstanding stock of the corporation or the capital interests or profit interests of 

the partnership, as applicable, if one entity is a corporation and the other entity is 

a partnership (including direct ownership of the applicable stock or interests by 

one entity of the other);  

“Maturity” shall refer to Bonds with the same maturity date, interest rate and 

credit terms. 

[Balance of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 



 

3 
 

We understand that the representations contained herein may be relied upon by the 

Authority in making certain of the representations contained in the Tax Certificate, and we further 

understand that Hawkins Delafield & Wood LLP, as bond counsel to the Authority, may rely upon this 

certificate, among other things, in providing an opinion with respect to the exclusion from gross income 

of interest on the Bonds pursuant to Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the 

“Code”).  The undersigned is certifying only as to facts in existence on the date hereof. Nothing herein 

represents the undersigned’s interpretation of any laws; in particular the regulations under the Code, or 

the application of any laws to these facts.  The certifications contained herein are not necessarily based on 

personal knowledge, but may instead be based on either inquiry deemed adequate by the undersigned or 

institutional knowledge (or both) regarding the matters set forth herein.  Although certain information 

furnished in this Certificate has been derived from other Underwriters and cannot be independently 

verified by us, we have no reason to believe it to be untrue in any material respect. 

Very truly yours, 

[NAME OF ORIGINAL PURCHASER] 

By:  

Name:  

Title:  

 

 



 

 

 

SCHEDULE A 

FINAL PRICING WIRE 

 

 



 

2 
 

SCHEDULE B 

MATURITIES ACTUALLY SOLD AS OF THE SALE DATE 

 

[List Maturity and Sale Price] 

 

AND 

 

UNSOLD MATURITIES 

 

[List Maturity] 

 



TENNESSEE STATE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY 
 

HIGHER EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES SECOND PROGRAM BONDS, 
$713,365,000 2021 SERIES A (FEDERALLY TAXABLE) 

 
 
 

BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT 
 
 

February 9, 2021 
 
 
Tennessee State School Bond Authority 
Nashville, Tennessee 
 
Ladies and Gentlemen: 
 

Jefferies LLC (the “Representative”), on behalf of itself and the other underwriters listed in 
Appendix I attached hereto (collectively, the “Underwriters”), hereby offers to enter into this Bond 
Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with the Tennessee State School Bond Authority (the 
“Issuer”) for the purchase by the Underwriters and the sale by the Issuer of the Issuer’s bonds captioned 
above and specified below.  This offer is made subject to acceptance thereof by the Issuer by 11:59 p.m., 
prevailing time in Nashville, Tennessee, on the date hereof, and, upon such acceptance, evidenced by the 
signature of a duly authorized officer of the Issuer in the space provided below, this Purchase Agreement 
shall be in full force and effect in accordance with its terms and shall be binding upon the Issuer and the 
Underwriters. 

Capitalized terms used herein and not defined herein shall have the meanings given them in the 
Higher Educational Facilities Second Program General Bond Resolution adopted by the Issuer on 
April 27, 1998 (the “General Bond Resolution”) authorizing the issuance thereunder from time to time 
of Higher Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds, a Supplemental Resolution Amending General 
Bond Resolution adopted by the Issuer on July 26, 2004 (the “2004 Amending Resolution”), a 
Supplemental Resolution Amending General Bond Resolution and Authorizing Amendment of Financing 
Agreements adopted by the Issuer on May 9, 2013 (the “2013 Amending Resolution”), and a 
Supplemental Resolution adopted by the Issuer on January 25, 2021, including as a part thereof the 2021 
Bonds Series Certificate (the “Supplemental Resolution”, and together with the General Bond 
Resolution, the 2004 Amending Resolution and the 2013 Amending Resolution, as further amended and 
supplemented from time to time, the “Resolution”) authorizing the issuance of the Issuer’s Higher 
Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds, 2021 Series A (Federally Taxable) (the “Bonds”). 

A. Purchase Price. 

1. Upon the terms and conditions and upon the basis of the representations and warranties 
herein set forth, the Underwriters hereby agree to purchase from the Issuer, and the Issuer 
hereby agrees to sell to the Underwriters, all (but not less than all) of the Issuer’s Bonds, 
in the original aggregate principal amount of $713,365,000.00, at an aggregate purchase 
price of $712,891,869.03 (the “Purchase Price”), representing the aggregate principal 
amount of the Bonds, less underwriters’ discount of $473,130.97. The Bonds shall be 
dated the date of delivery (the “Dated Date”) and shall mature on the dates, bear interest 
payable commencing on November 1, 2021, at the rates and be subject to optional and 



2 
 

mandatory redemption prior to maturity all as set forth in the Official Statement 
(hereinafter defined) and in part on Appendix II attached hereto. The Bonds shall be 
payable at the times and in the manner, and shall otherwise have the terms and 
provisions, set forth in the Official Statement. 

2. If the Issuer accepts this offer and if the Underwriters fail (other than for a reason 
permitted hereunder) to accept and pay for all or any of the Bonds upon tender thereof by 
the Issuer at the Closing as herein provided, the parties hereby agree that the damages to 
the Issuer shall be fixed at one percent (1%) of the aggregate principal amount of the 
Bonds, and, upon such failure of the Underwriters to accept and pay for the Bonds, the 
Underwriters shall be obligated to pay to the Issuer such amount as and for full liquidated 
damages for such failure and for any and all defaults hereunder on the part of the 
Underwriters. Upon such payment, the Underwriters shall be fully released and 
discharged of all claims, rights and damages for such failure and for any and all such 
defaults. The Underwriters and the Issuer understand that in such event the actual 
damages of the Issuer may be greater or may be less than the amount fixed for liquidated 
damages.  Accordingly, the Underwriters hereby waive any right to claim that the actual 
damages of the Issuer are less than such sum, and the acceptance of this offer by the 
Issuer shall constitute a waiver of any right the Issuer may have to additional damages 
from the Underwriters.  In no event shall the Issuer be entitled to damages of any nature 
other than the liquidated damages herein specified. 

B. Delivery of and Payment for the Bonds. 

1. At or prior to 11:30 a.m., prevailing time in Nashville, Tennessee on February 24, 2021, 
the date of delivery and payment for the Bonds (the “Closing Date”), or at such other 
time or date as shall have been mutually agreed upon by the Issuer and the 
Representative, the Issuer will deliver or cause to be delivered to the Representative, the 
Bonds, qualified for book-entry delivery through The Depository Trust Company 
(“DTC”) in New York, New York, or at the offices of Regions Bank, Nashville, 
Tennessee (the “Paying Agent” and “Trustee”) pursuant to the DTC “FAST Program” 
in definitive form, duly executed by officers of the Issuer designated in the Resolution 
and authenticated by the Trustee, together with the other documents hereinafter 
mentioned; and, subject to the conditions contained herein, the Representative will accept 
such delivery and pay the Purchase Price by wire transfer of immediately available funds 
payable to the order of the Issuer. 

2. The Issuer and the Representative agree that there shall be a preliminary closing held at 
the Division of State Government Finance of the State of Tennessee, 425 Rep. John 
Lewis Way, N., 4th Floor, Nashville, Tennessee, commencing at least eighteen (18) hours 
prior to the Closing Date, or at such other time or place as the Issuer and the 
Representative shall agree. 

3. Delivery of the definitive Bonds shall be made as aforesaid, or at such other location as 
may be designated by the Representative at least two (2) business days prior to the 
Closing Date.  Payment for the Bonds shall be made as set forth in Section B.1. hereof. 
The delivery of the other documents shall be made at the Division of State Government 
Finance of the State of Tennessee or at the offices of the Attorney General of the State of 
Tennessee ("Counsel to the Issuer"), John Sevier Building, 425 Rep. John Lewis Way, 
N., Nashville, Tennessee. Such payment and the related delivery are herein called the 
“Closing.” The Bonds will be delivered as fully-registered bonds, bearing proper CUSIP 



3 
 

numbers, and registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, which will act 
as securities depository for the Bonds. 

4. After execution by the Issuer, the Bonds shall be held in safe custody by DTC in New 
York, New York or by DTC through the Trustee and the “FAST Program”. The Issuer 
shall release or authorize the release of the Bonds from safe custody at the Closing upon 
receipt of payment for the Bonds as aforesaid. 

C. Official Statement. 

1. The Issuer hereby consents to and confirms the prior use by the Underwriters of the 
Preliminary Official Statement delivered to the Underwriters and made available on the 
Internet at www.munios.com, dated February 1, 2021 (the “Preliminary Official 
Statement”), in connection with the public offering of the Bonds by the Underwriters, 
and further confirms the authority of the Underwriters to use, and consents to the use of, a 
final Official Statement (in printed or electronic form) with respect to the Bonds, to be 
dated the date hereof, and any amendments or supplements thereto that shall be approved 
by the Issuer (as so amended and supplemented, the “Official Statement”) in connection 
with the public offering, and sale of the Bonds. The Issuer hereby represents and warrants 
that (i) the Preliminary Official Statement previously furnished to the Representative was 
“deemed final” by the Issuer as of February 1, 2021 for purposes of Rule 15c2-12 (“Rule 
15c2-12”) promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission of the United States 
(the “SEC”) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange 
Act”), except for the omission of such information as is permitted in Rule 15c2-12 and 
(ii) on and as of the date the Preliminary Official Statement was “deemed final”, the 
information in the Preliminary Official Statement (other than information relating to DTC 
and its book-entry only system, including Appendix F to the Preliminary Official 
Statement, the information under the caption “UNDERWRITING,” and the following 
sentence: “The Underwriters have reviewed the information in this Official Statement in 
accordance with, and as a part of, their respective responsibilities to investors under the 
federal securities laws as applied to the facts and circumstances of this transaction, but 
the Underwriters do not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information,” as 
to which no representation is made) did not contain any untrue statement of a material 
fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the 
statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not 
misleading. 

2. The Issuer shall provide, or cause to be provided, to the Representative within seven (7) 
business days after the date of this Purchase Agreement or three (3) business days prior to 
the Closing, whichever comes first, five (5) executed counterparts of the Official 
Statement, and five (5) conformed copies of a final Official Statement (or such lesser 
amount which the Representative agrees will be sufficient to permit the Underwriters to 
comply with Rule 15c2-12 and other applicable rules of the SEC and the Municipal 
Securities Rulemaking Board (the “MSRB”)). The Issuer shall further cause the Official 
Statement to be posted on www.munios.com for the longer of thirty (30) calendar days or 
until the End of the Underwriting Period as defined herein. 

3. The Issuer hereby authorizes the Representative to file, and the Representative hereby 
agrees to file, the Official Statement with the MSRB through the operation of the 
Electronic Municipal Market Access system (“EMMA”) within one (1) business day 
after receipt from the Issuer, but by no later than the Closing Date, in such manner and 



4 
 

accompanied by such forms as are required by the MSRB, in accordance with applicable 
MSRB Rules, and shall maintain such books and records as required by MSRB Rules 
with respect to filing of the Official Statement. 

D. Amendments to Official Statement. The Issuer covenants with the Underwriters to notify 
promptly the Representative if, during the Update Period (as defined in H.3 herein), any event 
shall occur that would cause the Official Statement to contain, or information shall come to the 
attention of the Issuer that is reasonably likely to cause the Official Statement (whether or not 
previously supplemented or amended) to contain, any untrue statement of a material fact or to 
omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the 
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, and if in the opinion of the 
Representative such event requires the preparation and distribution of a supplement or 
amendment to the Official Statement, to prepare and furnish to the Representative, at the Issuer’s 
expense, such number of copies of the supplement or amendment to the Official Statement, in 
form and substance mutually agreed upon by the Issuer and approved by the Representative, as 
the Representative may reasonably request and if such notification shall be given subsequent to 
the Closing Date, such additional legal opinions, certificates, instruments, and other documents as 
the Representative may reasonably deem necessary to evidence the truth and accuracy of any 
such supplement or amendment to the Official Statement. 

E. Reserved. 

F. End of Underwriting Period. For purposes of this Purchase Agreement, the “End of the 
Underwriting Period” shall mean the later of the Closing Date (which shall constitute the End of 
the Underwriting Period, unless the Issuer has been notified to the contrary by the Representative 
on or prior to the Closing Date) or the date on which the “end of the underwriting period” for the 
Bonds has occurred under Rule 15c2-12.  The Representative shall notify the Issuer when the 
“end of the underwriting period” for the Bonds has occurred under Rule 15c2-12 with respect to 
the unsold balance of Bonds that are held by any Underwriters for sale to the public within the 
meaning of Rule 15c2-12. 

G. Plan of Financing. 

1. The Bonds shall be as described in, and shall be issued under and secured pursuant to the 
provisions of the Resolution substantially in the form delivered to the Representative, 
with only such changes therein as shall be mutually agreed upon between the Issuer and 
the Representative prior to Closing. 

2. The net proceeds from the sale of the Bonds will be used to: (i) finance costs of the 
project identified in the Preliminary Official Statement; (ii) provide funds necessary to 
refund certain maturities of the Issuer’s Higher Educational Facilities Second Program 
Bonds, 2012 Series A, dated August 1, 2012; Higher Educational Facilities Second 
Program Bonds, 2012 Refunding Series C, dated August 1, 2012; Higher Educational 
Facilities Second Program Bonds, 2013 Series A, dated November 21, 2013; Higher 
Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds, 2014 Series A (Federally Taxable), dated 
August 27, 2014; Higher Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds, 2014 Refunding 
Series B, dated August 27, 2014; and Higher Educational Facilities Second Program 
Bonds, 2015 Series B, dated May 7, 2015, as more fully described on Appendix III hereto 
(collectively, the “Refunded Bonds”), and (iii) pay certain costs of issuance of the 
Bonds. 



5 
 

3. In connection with the issuance of the Refunded Bonds, the Issuer will enter into one or 
more Refunding Trust Agreements, dated as of the Closing Date (collectively, the 
“Refunding Trust Agreement”) with the Trustee. 

4. The Bonds will constitute special obligations of the Issuer, the principal, Sinking Fund 
Installments, if any, and Redemption Price of and interest on which shall be payable 
solely from and secured by the Annual Financing Charges and Legislative Appropriations 
derived pursuant to the Second Program Financing Agreement, dated as of November 1, 
1997, as amended as of May 9, 2013, by and between the Issuer and the Board of 
Trustees, and the Second Program Financing Agreement, dated as of November 1, 1997, 
as amended as of May 9, 2013, by and between the Issuer and the Board of Regents, as 
appropriate, in each case, as supplemented and amended from time to time (the 
“Financing Agreements”), and other monies and securities held or set aside under the 
Resolution, subject to the application thereof to the purposes and on the conditions 
permitted by the Resolution.  

5. The Issuer has elected to establish a separate account in the Debt Service Reserve Fund 
for the Bonds with no current funding requirement.  Accordingly, the Bonds currently 
will not be secured by any debt service reserve. 

H. Representations and Warranties of the Issuer. 

The Issuer hereby agrees with, and makes the following representations and warranties to the 
Underwriters, as of the date hereof and as of the Closing Date, which representations and 
warranties shall survive the Closing: 

1. The Issuer is duly organized and existing, created pursuant to the provisions of Title 49, 
Chapter 3, Part 12, Tennessee Code Annotated, as amended (the “Act”) and is a 
corporate governmental agency and instrumentality of the State of Tennessee (the 
“State”). The Issuer is authorized by the provisions of the Act to, among other things, (i) 
issue the Bonds for the purposes set forth herein and in the Resolution, (ii) secure the 
Bonds in the manner contemplated in the Resolution, and (iii) execute, deliver and 
perform its obligations under the Bonds, the Resolution, the Financing Agreements, this 
Purchase Agreement, and the Refunding Trust Agreement. 

2. The Issuer has, and at the Closing Date will have, full legal right, power, and authority 
pursuant to the Resolution to enter into this Purchase Agreement, to execute and deliver 
the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking, dated as of February 24, 2021, in substantially 
the form described in Appendix G to the Official Statement (the “Continuing Disclosure 
Undertaking”), and the Refunding Trust Agreement, to issue, sell, and deliver the Bonds 
as provided herein and to carry out and consummate the transactions contemplated by 
this Purchase Agreement, the Resolution, the Financing Agreements, the Continuing 
Disclosure Undertaking, the Refunding Trust Agreement and the Official Statement. 

3. On and as of the date hereof and, unless an event of the nature described in Section J.2. 
hereof subsequently occurs, at all times during the period from the date hereof to and 
including the date which is twenty-five (25) days following the End of the Underwriting 
Period (the “Update Period”), the information in the Official Statement (other than 
information relating to DTC and its book-entry only system, including Appendix F to the 
Official Statement, the information under the caption “UNDERWRITING,” and the 
following sentence: “The Underwriters have reviewed the information in this Official 



6 
 

Statement in accordance with, and as a part of, their respective responsibilities to 
investors under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and circumstances of 
this transaction, but the Underwriters do not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of 
such information,” as to which no representation is made) does not and will not contain 
any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be 
stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the 
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. 

4. The Issuer has complied, and will at the Closing be in compliance, in all material 
respects, with the Resolution and the Act. 

5. By official action of the Issuer prior to or concurrently with the acceptance hereof, the 
Issuer has duly authorized and approved the distribution of the Preliminary Official 
Statement and the execution, delivery, and distribution of the Official Statement, and has 
duly authorized and approved the issuance and sale of the Bonds upon the terms set forth 
herein and in the Resolution and the Official Statement, and the execution and delivery 
of, and the performance by the Issuer of the obligations on its part contained in, the 
Bonds, the Resolution, the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking, the Financing 
Agreements, the Refunding Trust Agreement, and this Purchase Agreement. 

6. The Issuer is not in breach of or in default under the Act or any applicable law or 
administrative regulation of the State or the United States or any applicable judgment or 
decree or any loan agreement, note, resolution, agreement, or other instrument to which 
the Issuer is a party or is otherwise subject or by which it or its properties may be bound, 
that is material to the issuance, payment or security for the Bonds. The issuance and sale 
of the Bonds upon the terms set forth herein and in the Resolution and the Official 
Statement, and the execution and delivery by the Issuer of the Resolution, the Financing 
Agreements, the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking, the Refunding Trust Agreement, 
and this Purchase Agreement, and its compliance with the provisions of each thereof, will 
not conflict with or constitute a material breach of or default under the Act or any law, 
administrative regulation, judgment, decree, indenture, loan agreement, note, resolution 
agreement, or other instrument to which the Issuer is a party or is otherwise subject. 

7. All approvals, consents, and orders of any governmental authority, board, agency, or 
commission having jurisdiction that would constitute a condition precedent to the 
performance by the Issuer of its obligations hereunder, the issuance of the Bonds and the 
execution and delivery and performance by the Issuer of the Resolution, the Financing 
Agreements, the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking, the Refunding Trust Agreement, 
and this Purchase Agreement, have been obtained or will be obtained prior to the Closing. 

8. The Bonds, when issued, authenticated, and delivered in accordance with the Resolution 
and sold to the Underwriters as provided herein, will be the valid and binding obligations 
of the Issuer as provided in the Resolution, enforceable against the Issuer in accordance 
with their terms and the terms of the Resolution, payable solely from the Annual 
Financing Charges, Legislative Appropriations and other monies and securities held or 
set aside under the Resolution, subject to the application thereof to the purpose and on the 
conditions permitted by the Resolution, issued in conformity with and entitled to the 
benefit and security of the Resolution. 

9. The Resolution has been duly adopted by the Issuer. The terms and provisions of the 
Resolution comply in all material respects with the requirements of the Act.  The 



7 
 

Resolution is valid and binding upon the Issuer and is enforceable against the Issuer in 
accordance with its terms. The Resolution creates the valid pledge which it purports to 
create of the Annual Financing Charges and Legislative Appropriations (as each is 
defined in the Resolution), and all rights under the Second Program Financing 
Agreements or otherwise to receive the same, and moneys and securities held or set aside 
under the Resolution, subject to the application thereof to the purposes and on the 
conditions permitted by the Resolution. 

10. The Financing Agreements constitute, and when executed and delivered by the parties 
thereto, the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking, the Refunding Trust Agreement, and this 
Purchase Agreement will constitute, the valid contractual obligations of the Issuer. The 
Issuer has not waived immunity from suit or extended its consent to be sued (other than 
for the Resolution and the Bonds as described in paragraphs 8 and 9 above), and 
monetary actions against the Issuer for breach of contractual obligations may be heard 
and determined under current law exclusively in the Tennessee Claims Commission, an 
administrative tribunal, where the Issuer may be liable only for actual damages and 
certain costs. 

11. The representations and warranties in paragraphs 8, 9 and 10 above are subject to 
applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other laws heretofore 
or hereafter enacted affecting creditors’ rights, and to the application of principles of 
equity relating to or affecting the enforcement of contractual obligations, whether such 
enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law. 

12. There is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry, or investigation, at law or in equity, before 
or by any court, public board, or body, pending or, to the knowledge of the Issuer, 
threatened against the Issuer, the Board of Trustees or the Board of Regents affecting the 
existence of the Issuer, the Board of Trustees or the Board of Regents or the titles of its 
officers to their respective offices or seeking to prohibit, restrain, or enjoin the issuance, 
sale, or delivery of the Bonds or the Annual Financing Charges or the Legislative 
Appropriations or the collection of the revenues or assets of the Issuer pledged or to be 
pledged to pay the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds, or the pledge 
thereof, or in any way contesting or affecting the validity or enforceability of the Bonds 
or the Resolution, or contesting or affecting the validity of the Financing Agreements, the 
Continuing Disclosure Undertaking, the Refunding Trust Agreement, or this Purchase 
Agreement or contesting in any way the completeness or accuracy of the Preliminary 
Official Statement or the Official Statement, or any amendment or supplement thereto, or 
contesting the power or authority of the Issuer to issue the Bonds or to execute and 
deliver the Resolution, the Financing Agreements, the Continuing Disclosure 
Undertaking, the Refunding Trust Agreement, or this Purchase Agreement, or wherein an 
unfavorable decision, ruling, or finding would materially adversely affect the validity or 
enforceability of the Bonds or the Resolution, or materially adversely affect the validity 
of the Financing Agreements, the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking, the Refunding 
Trust Agreement, or this Purchase Agreement. 

13. The proceeds received from the sale of the Bonds shall be used in accordance with the 
Act and the Resolution and as set forth in the Official Statement. 

14. Any certificate signed by an authorized officer of the Issuer and delivered to the 
Representative shall be deemed a representation and warranty of the Issuer to the 
Underwriters as to the statements made therein. 



8 
 

15. The Issuer has entered or will enter into, in accordance with Rule 15c2-12, the 
Continuing Disclosure Undertaking in substantially the form described in Appendix G to 
the Official Statement for the benefit of bondholders to provide to the MSRB through 
EMMA (a) certain annual financial information, including audited financial statements 
and operating data, as described in Appendix G to the Official Statement, (b) timely 
notice (not in excess of ten business days after the occurrence of the event) of any of the 
sixteen events identified in Rule 15c2-12 with respect to the Bonds, and (c) timely notice 
of any failure of any obligated person to provide the required annual information on or 
before the date specified in the written agreement. 

16. Except as described in the Official Statement, the Issuer has not failed during the 
previous five (5) years to comply in all material respects with any previous undertakings 
in a written continuing disclosure contract or agreement under Rule 15c2-12. 

 
I. Covenants of the Issuer. The Issuer hereby covenants with the Underwriters that: 

1. The Issuer shall not supplement or amend the Official Statement or cause the Official 
Statement to be supplemented or amended prior to the End of the Underwriting Period 
without the prior written consent of the Representative, which will not be unreasonably 
withheld. 

2. The Issuer shall not amend, terminate, or rescind, and will not agree to any amendment, 
termination, or rescission of the Resolution, the Financing Agreements, the Continuing 
Disclosure Undertaking, the Refunding Trust Agreement, or this Purchase Agreement 
without the prior written consent of the Representative prior to the Closing Date, which 
will not be unreasonably withheld. 

3. The Issuer shall promptly advise the Representative by written notice of any matter 
arising or discovered after the date of this Purchase Agreement and prior to the Closing 
Date that if existing or known at the date hereof would render any of the representations 
or warranties set forth herein to be untrue or misleading or might adversely affect the 
correctness or completeness of any statement of material fact regarding the Issuer 
contained in the Official Statement; or any developments that affect the accuracy and 
completeness of the key representations (within the meaning of Rule 15c2-12) regarding 
the Issuer contained in the Official Statement that may occur during the Update Period. 

4. The Issuer shall not voluntarily undertake any course of action inconsistent with 
satisfaction of the requirements applicable to the Issuer as set forth in this Purchase 
Agreement. 

5. The Issuer shall not knowingly take or omit to take any action that, under existing law, 
may adversely affect the exemption from state income taxation of the Bonds and the 
income therefrom. 

6. The Issuer will use the proceeds of the Bonds in accordance with the Resolution and the 
Act. 

J. Certain Conditions to Underwriters’ Obligations. The Underwriters have entered into this 
Purchase Agreement in reliance upon the representations, warranties, and agreements of the 
Issuer contained herein and upon the accuracy of the statements to be contained in the documents 



9 
 

and instruments to be delivered at the Closing. Accordingly, the Underwriters’ obligations under 
this Purchase Agreement to purchase, accept delivery of, and pay for the Bonds are subject to the 
performance by the Issuer of its obligations hereunder required to be performed at or prior to the 
Closing Date, and to the following additional conditions precedent: 

1. On the Closing Date, the representations and warranties of the Issuer contained herein 
shall be true, complete, and correct as if made on and as of the Closing Date; the Official 
Statement shall have been executed and delivered by the Issuer; the Resolution, the 
Financing Agreements, the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking, and the Refunding Trust 
Agreement shall have been duly executed and delivered by the appropriate parties 
thereto, shall be in full force and effect, and shall not have been amended, modified, or 
supplemented, except as may have been agreed to in writing by the Representative or as 
provided herein; the proceeds of the sale of the Bonds shall have been paid to the Issuer 
for deposit for use as described in the Official Statement and in the Resolution; and the 
Issuer shall have adopted and there shall be in full force and effect such resolutions as, in 
the opinion of Hawkins Delafield & Wood LLP, Bond Counsel, and Bass, Berry & Sims 
PLC, counsel for the Underwriters, shall be necessary in connection with the transactions 
contemplated hereby. 

2. The Underwriters shall have the right to cancel their obligation to purchase the Bonds if 
between the date hereof and the Closing: 

a) legislation shall be introduced in, enacted by, reported out of committee, or 
recommended for passage by the legislature of the State of Tennessee, either 
House of the Congress, or recommended to the Congress or otherwise endorsed 
for passage (by press release, other form of notice or otherwise) by the President 
of the United States, the Treasury Department of the United States, the Internal 
Revenue Service or the Chairman or ranking minority member of the Committee 
on Finance of the United States Senate or the Committee on Ways and Means of 
the United States House of Representatives, or legislation is proposed for 
consideration by either such committee by any member thereof or presented as an 
option for consideration by either such committee by the staff or such committee 
or by the staff of the Joint Committee on Taxation of the Congress of the United 
States, or a bill to amend the Code (which, if enacted, would be effective as of a 
date prior to the Closing) shall be filed in either House, or a decision by a court 
of competent jurisdiction shall be rendered, or a regulation or filing shall be 
issued or proposed by or on behalf of the Department of the Treasury or the 
Internal Revenue Service of the United States, or other agency of the federal 
government, or a release or official statement shall be issued by the President, the 
Department of the Treasury or the Internal Revenue Service of the United States, 
in any such case with respect to or affecting (directly or indirectly) the federal or 
state taxation of interest received on obligations of the general character of the 
Bonds which, in the Representative’s reasonable judgment, materially adversely 
affects the market price or marketability of the Bonds or of obligations the 
general character of the Bonds or the ability of the Underwriters to enforce 
contracts for the sale of the Bonds at their contemplated offering prices or yields; 
or 

b) there shall exist any event or circumstance that in the Representative’s reasonable 
judgment causes the Official Statement to contain any untrue statement of a 
material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements 



10 
 

therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not 
misleading; or 

c) there shall have occurred (1) an outbreak or escalation of hostilities involving the 
United States or the declaration by the United States of a national or international 
emergency or war; (2) any other calamity or crisis or any change in the financial, 
political or economic conditions in the United States or elsewhere; (3) a 
downgrade of the sovereign debt rating of the United States by any major credit 
rating agency or payment default on the United States Treasury obligations or (4) 
a default with respect to the debt obligations of, or the institution of proceedings 
under any federal or state bankruptcy laws by or against, any state of the United 
States or any city, county or other political subdivision located in the United 
States having a population over 1,000,000, if the effect of any such event 
specified in clause (1), (2), (3) or (4), in the reasonable judgment of the 
Representative, materially adversely affects the market price or marketability of 
the Bonds or the ability of the Underwriters to enforce contracts for the sale of 
the Bonds at their contemplated offering prices or yields or if any such event 
specified in clause (1), (2), (3) or (4) otherwise makes it impracticable or 
inadvisable to proceed with the offering or the delivery of the Bonds on the terms 
and in the manner contemplated in the Preliminary Official Statement or the 
Official Statement; or 

d) there shall be in force a general suspension of trading on the New York Stock 
Exchange, or minimum or maximum prices for trading shall have been fixed and 
be in force, or maximum ranges for prices for securities shall have been required 
and be in force on the New York Stock Exchange or other national stock 
exchange, whether by virtue of determination by that exchange or by order of the 
SEC or any other governmental authority having jurisdiction, or any national 
securities exchange shall have imposed additional material restrictions not in 
force as of the date hereof with respect to trading in securities generally or the 
Bonds or similar obligations or materially increased restrictions now in force 
with respect to the extension of credit by or the charge to the net capital 
requirements of underwriters or broker-dealers, that, in the Representative’s 
reasonable judgment, materially adversely affects the market price or 
marketability of the Bonds or the ability of the Underwriters to enforce contracts 
for the sale of the Bonds at their contemplated offering prices or yields; or 

e) a general banking moratorium shall have been declared by federal, New York or 
Tennessee authorities or a major financial crisis or a material disruption in 
commercial banking or securities settlement or clearance services shall have 
occurred that, in the Representative’s reasonable judgment, materially adversely 
affects the market price or the marketability for the Bonds or the ability of the 
Underwriters to enforce contracts for the sale of the Bonds at their contemplated 
offering prices or yields; or 

f) legislation shall be enacted (or resolution passed) or be proposed by a committee 
of Congress or an order, decree, injunction or other decision by any court of 
competent jurisdiction shall be rendered, or an order, ruling, regulation (final, 
temporary or proposed), press release, statement or other form of notice issued or 
made by or on behalf of the SEC or other governmental agency having 
jurisdiction of the subject matter shall be made, to the effect that the Bonds or 



11 
 

any comparable securities of the Issuer, any obligations of the general character 
of the Bonds, the Resolution or the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking, are not 
exempt from the registration, qualification or other requirements of the Securities 
Act of 1933, as amended and as then in effect (the “Securities Act”) or of the 
Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended and as then in effect, or otherwise, or 
would be in violation of any provision of the federal securities laws as amended; 
or 

g) there shall have been any material adverse change in the affairs of the Issuer, the 
Board of Regents, the Board of Trustees, the Institutions or the State that in the 
Representative’s reasonable judgment will materially adversely affect the market 
for the Bonds or the ability of the Underwriters to enforce contracts for the sale 
of the Bonds, including a downgrading or suspension of any rating (without 
regard to credit enhancement) by Moody's Investors Service, Inc. (“Moody’s”), 
S&P Global Ratings, a subsidiary of S&P Global Inc. (“S&P”), or Fitch Ratings 
(“Fitch”) of any debt securities issued by the Issuer, or there shall have been any 
official statement as to a possible downgrading (such as being placed on “credit 
watch” or “negative outlook” or any similar qualification) of any rating by 
Moody’s, S&P, or Fitch of any debt securities issued by the Issuer, including the 
Bonds, not reflected in such ratings on the date hereof; or 

h) there shall be established any new restriction on transactions in securities 
materially affecting the free market for securities (including the imposition of 
any limitation on interest rates) established by the New York Stock Exchange, 
the SEC, any other federal or State agency or the Congress of the United States, 
or by Executive Order; or 

i) a stop order, release, regulation (final, temporary or proposed), statement or no-
action letter by or on behalf of the SEC or any other governmental agency having 
jurisdiction of the subject matter shall have been issued or made to the effect that 
the issuance, offering, or sale of the Bonds, including all the underlying 
obligations as contemplated hereby or by the Official Statement, or any 
document relating to the issuance, offering or sale of the Bonds is or would be in 
violation of any provision of the federal securities laws at the Closing Date, 
including the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, and the Trust Indenture Act of 
1939, as amended. 

3. At or prior to the Closing, the Representative shall receive the following: 

a) The unqualified approving opinion of Bond Counsel, addressed to the Issuer, 
dated the Closing Date and in substantially the form attached as Appendix H to 
the Official Statement with only such changes thereto as are satisfactory to the 
Representative, and a letter of such Bond Counsel, dated the date of Closing and 
addressed to the Underwriters, to the effect that Bond Counsel’s opinion 
addressed to the Issuer may be relied upon by the Underwriters to the same 
extent as if such opinion were addressed to them; 

b) A supplementary opinion of Bond Counsel, dated the Closing Date, addressed to 
the Underwriters and the Issuer, to the effect that: this Purchase Agreement has 
been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Issuer, and constitutes the 
valid contractual agreement of the Issuer, subject to sovereign immunity, 



12 
 

applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other laws 
theretofore or thereafter enacted affecting creditors’ rights, and the application of 
principles of equity relating to or affecting the enforcement of contractual 
obligations, whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity 
or at law; no approval or other action is required to be obtained by the Issuer 
from any governmental authority or agency in connection with the issuance and 
sale of the Bonds, the adoption of the Resolution, or the execution by the Issuer 
of this Purchase Agreement, the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking, the 
Refunding Trust Agreement, or the Official Statement that has not already been 
obtained or taken, except that the offer and sale of the Bonds in certain 
jurisdictions may be subject to compliance with the provisions of the securities or 
blue sky laws of such jurisdictions (as to which no opinion need be expressed); 
the statements contained in the Official Statement under the captions 
“Introduction”, “Purposes of the Offered Bonds”, “Description of the Offered 
Bonds” (except Appendix F referred to therein), “Security and Sources of 
Payment for the Bonds”, “Tax Matters”, Appendix C- Glossary of Certain Terms, 
Appendix E - Summary of Certain Provisions of the Resolution, and Appendix G 
– Summary of Certain Provisions of the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking and 
the statements contained in the Official Statement describing the Resolution and 
the Financing Agreements, fairly summarize the provisions of such documents 
(or, in the case of “Tax Matters”, matters of law) purported to be summarized; 
the Bonds are not subject to the registration requirements of the Securities Act; 
and the Resolution is exempt from qualification as an indenture pursuant to the 
Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended; 

c) A certificate of Counsel to the Issuer, dated the Closing Date, and in form and 
substance satisfactory to the Representative, to the effect that: there is no action, 
suit, or proceeding or investigation at law or in equity before or by any court, 
public board, or body pending, or, to the knowledge of such counsel, threatened 
against or affecting the Issuer to restrain or enjoin the issuance or delivery of any 
of the Bonds or the security pledged under the Resolution, or in any way 
contesting or affecting the power of the Issuer relating to the issuance or validity 
of the Bonds or any provision of the Resolution, or the execution, delivery, and 
performance by the Issuer of the Resolution, the Financing Agreements, the 
Continuing Disclosure Undertaking, the Refunding Trust Agreement, or this 
Purchase Agreement; 

d) An opinion or opinions of Counsel to the Issuer addressed to the Issuer that the 
Issuer (i) has full legal right, power, and authority to adopt the Resolution and to 
enter into, the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking, the Financing Agreements, 
the Refunding Trust Agreement, and this Purchase Agreement, and to issue the 
Bonds and apply the proceeds thereof pursuant to the Resolution; (ii) the 
Resolution is valid and binding upon the Issuer and is enforceable against the 
Issuer in accordance with its terms; (iii) the Resolution creates the valid pledge 
which it purports to create of the Annual Financing Charges and Legislative 
Appropriations (as each is defined in the Resolution), and all rights under the 
Second Program Financing Agreements or otherwise to receive the same, and 
moneys and securities held or set aside under the Resolution, subject to the 
application thereof to the purposes and on the conditions permitted by the 
Resolution; (iv) the Bonds are valid and binding upon the Issuer and are 
enforceable against the Issuer in accordance with their terms, payable solely from 



13 
 

the Annual Financing Charges and Legislative Appropriations (as each is defined 
in the Resolution), and other moneys and securities held or set aside under the 
Resolution, subject to the application thereof to the purposes and on the 
conditions permitted by the Resolution; (v) the Issuer has duly authorized, 
executed, and delivered the Financing Agreements, the Continuing Disclosure 
Undertaking, the Refunding Trust Agreement, and this Purchase Agreement and, 
assuming due authorization, execution, and delivery by the other parties thereto, 
each constitutes the valid contractual agreement of the Issuer; (vi) each of the 
opinions in (ii) (iii), (iv) and (v) above is subject to applicable bankruptcy, 
insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other laws heretofore or hereafter 
enacted affecting creditors’ rights, and to the application of principles of equity 
relating to or affecting the enforcement of contractual obligations, whether such 
enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law (the State has not 
waived the immunity of the State (including, for this purpose, the Issuer and the 
Board of Regents and Board of Trustees) from suit or extended its consent to be 
sued with respect to the Financing Agreements, the Continuing Disclosure 
Undertaking, and the Purchase Agreement; accordingly, monetary actions against 
the State (including the Issuer, the Board of Trustees and the Board of Regents) 
for breach of contractual obligations relating to the Financing Agreements, the 
Continuing Disclosure Undertaking, the Refunding Trust Agreement, and the 
Purchase Agreement may be heard and determined under current law exclusively 
in the Tennessee Claims Commission, an administrative tribunal, where liability 
may be limited to actual damages and certain costs); (vii) compliance with the 
provisions of the Bonds, the Resolution, the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking, 
the Financing Agreements, the Refunding Trust Agreement, and this Purchase 
Agreement will not conflict with or constitute a violation or breach of or default 
under any existing law or administrative rule or regulation, or, to the best of the 
knowledge of such counsel, any court order or decree, or any agreement, 
contract, or other instrument to which the Issuer is a party or is otherwise subject 
or bound; (viii) the distribution of the Preliminary Official Statement and the 
execution, delivery, and distribution of the Official Statement have been duly 
authorized by the Issuer, and nothing has come to such counsel’s attention that 
would lead it to believe that the Preliminary Official Statement as of its date and 
the Official Statement as of its date and as of the date of the opinion (except for 
any financial or statistical material included therein and the statements contained 
under the heading “Tax Matters”, as to which such counsel expresses no opinion 
or view) contains any untrue statement of a material fact, omits to state any 
material fact required to be stated therein, or omits to state any material fact 
necessary to make the statements made in the Preliminary Official Statement or 
Official Statement, respectively, in light of the circumstances under which they 
were made, not be misleading; (ix) no approval or other action is required to be 
obtained by the Issuer from any governmental authority or agency in connection 
with the issuance and sale of the Bonds, or the execution by the Issuer of this 
Purchase Agreement, the Financing Agreements, the Continuing Disclosure 
Undertaking, the Refunding Trust Agreement, or the Official Statement which 
has not already been obtained or taken, except that the offer and sale of the 
Bonds in certain jurisdictions may be subject to compliance with the provisions 
of the securities or blue sky laws of such jurisdictions (as to which no opinion 
need be expressed); (x) the Official Statement has been duly executed and 
delivered by the Issuer; (xi) the resolutions of the Issuer approving and 
authorizing the issuance and sale of the Bonds, and the execution and delivery of 



14 
 

this Purchase Agreement, the Financing Agreements, the Continuing Disclosure 
Undertaking, the Refunding Trust Agreement, and the Official Statement were 
duly adopted at one or more meetings of the Issuer that were called and held 
pursuant to all applicable laws and regulations, and with all public notice 
required by all applicable laws and regulations and at which a quorum was 
present and acting throughout; and (xii) the representations and warranties of the 
Issuer as set forth in this Purchase Agreement are, as to all matters of law, true 
and accurate on and as of the Closing Date as if made on the Closing Date; 

e) The opinion of counsel to the Underwriters, dated the Closing Date, to the effect 
that the Bonds are exempt from registration under the Securities Act, and the 
Resolution is exempt from qualification under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, 
as amended; and without having undertaken to determine independently, or to 
assume responsibility for, the accuracy, completeness or fairness thereof, and 
based solely on their participation in meetings and telephone conferences at 
which representatives of the Issuer, Bond Counsel, and the Representative were 
at various times present, nothing has come to their attention that would lead them 
to believe that the information and statements in the Preliminary Official 
Statement, as of its date, and the Official Statement, as of its date and as of the 
date of this opinion (except for the financial statements and statistical data 
included therein and “Appendix F – Book-Entry Only System”, as to which no 
view need be expressed), contained or contain an untrue statement of a material 
fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to 
make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they 
were made, not misleading; and that the form of Continuing Disclosure 
Undertaking meets the requirements of Rule 15c2-l2 as to form; 

f) A certificate dated the Closing Date by the Secretary or Assistant Secretary to the 
Issuer to the effect that: the representations and warranties of the Issuer contained 
herein are true and correct in all material respects on and as of the Closing Date 
(except to the extent the same relate to an earlier date) with the same effect as if 
made on the Closing Date; and the Issuer has complied with all agreements and 
satisfied all the conditions on its part to be performed or satisfied with respect to 
the Bonds at or prior to the Closing; 

g) A certificate dated the Closing Date by the Secretary or Assistant Secretary to the 
Issuer to the effect that: no event affecting the Issuer has occurred since the date 
of the Official Statement that should be disclosed in the Official Statement so 
that it does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a 
material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the 
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; 

h) A certificate of an officer of the Issuer, acceptable to the Representative, dated 
the Closing Date, to the effect that the Bonds have been executed in accordance 
with the Resolution by duly authorized officers or signatories of the Issuer; and 
an incumbency certificate of the Issuer, in form and content acceptable to the 
Representative and Bond Counsel, dated the Closing Date, with respect to the 
officers or other signatories of the Issuer who have executed and delivered the 
Bonds and all other financing documents to be signed by the Issuer; 



15 
 

i) Evidence satisfactory to the Representative that the Bonds have been rated not 
less than “AA+,” “Aa1” and “AA+” respectively, by S&P, Moody’s, and Fitch, 
which ratings remain in effect on the Closing Date; and are not, as of the Closing 
Date, subject to review or watch; 

j) Copies of the Resolution certified by the Secretary or Assistant Secretary as 
having been duly adopted by the Issuer and as being in full force and effect, with 
such changes or amendments as may have been approved by the Representative; 

k) Executed counterparts of the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking, the Financing 
Agreements, the Refunding Trust Agreement, and the Purchase Agreement, 
executed by the parties thereto, or copies thereof certified by the Secretary or 
Assistant Secretary of the Issuer, and specimens of the Bonds; 

l) The Preliminary Official Statement and the Official Statement, together with any 
supplements or amendments thereto in the event either has been supplemented or 
amended, in the case of the Official Statement executed on behalf of the Issuer 
by a duly authorized officer thereof;  

m) Reserved. 

n) A letter from Robert Thomas CPA, LLC verifying the mathematical accuracy of 
certain schedules and computations provided by the Representative with respect 
to the availability of sufficient funds under the Refunding Trust Agreement 
(including investment income) for payment of the Refunded Bonds, as described 
in the Refunding Trust Agreement; 

o) An agreed-upon-procedures letter addressed to the Representative by the Issuer’s 
auditors; and 

p) Such additional legal opinions, signatures, delivery and other certificates, and 
other instruments and documents as the Underwriters may reasonably request to 
evidence the truth, accuracy and completeness, as of the date of the Purchase 
Agreement and as of the date of Closing, of the representations and warranties of 
the Issuer contained in this Purchase Agreement and of the statements and 
information contained in the Official Statement and the due performance or 
satisfaction by the Issuer at or prior to Closing of all agreements then to be 
performed and all conditions then to be satisfied by the Issuer. 

All of the opinions, letters, certificates, instruments and other documents mentioned above or 
elsewhere in this Purchase Agreement shall be deemed to be in compliance with the provisions of this 
Purchase Agreement if, but only if, they are in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the 
Underwriters and their counsel. 

If the Issuer shall be unable to satisfy the conditions to the obligations of the Underwriters 
contained in this Purchase Agreement, or if the obligations of the Underwriters shall be terminated for 
any reason permitted by this Purchase Agreement, this Purchase Agreement shall terminate and neither 
the Underwriters nor the Issuer shall have any further obligations hereunder, except as provided in 
Section K. hereof. However, the Representative may in its discretion waive one or more of the conditions 
imposed by this Purchase Agreement for the protection of the Underwriters and proceed with the Closing. 



16 
 

K. Payment of Expenses. 

1. The Underwriters shall be under no obligation to pay, and the Issuer shall pay from 
available funds or from the proceeds of the Bonds or from other funds of the Issuer, 
certain expenses set forth in this Section that are incidental to the performance of the 
Issuer’s obligations hereunder, including but not limited to: all expenses in connection 
with the printing of the Preliminary Official Statement, the Official Statement, and any 
amendment or supplement to either thereof; all expenses in connection with the printing, 
issuance, and delivery of the Bonds; the fees and disbursement of Bond Counsel, Counsel 
to the Issuer, auditors and verification accountants; the fees and disbursements of the 
Trustee; all expenses in connection with obtaining a rating or ratings for the  Bonds; all 
expenses of the Issuer in connection with the preparation, printing, execution, and 
delivery, and any recording or filing required by Bond Counsel, of the Resolution, the 
Financing Agreements, the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking, and the Refunding Trust 
Agreement; any recording or filing fees required by this Purchase Agreement (excluding 
the costs of qualifying the Bonds for sale in various states); fees relating to the 
verification report; the Issuer’s administrative fees; rating agency fees, and all other 
expenses and costs of the Issuer incident to its obligations in connection with the 
authorization, issuance, sale, and distribution of the Bonds.  In addition to the foregoing, 
the Issuer shall pay for expenses incurred on behalf of Issuer's employees which are 
directly related to the offering of the Bonds, including, but not limited to, meals, 
transportation and lodging of those employees.  

2. Expenses of the Underwriters, including fees and expenses of Underwriters’ counsel and 
the fees of Digital Assurance Certification, L.L.C. for a continuing disclosure 
undertaking compliance review, shall be paid or reimbursed through the expense 
component of the Underwriters’ discount.  The Representative shall pay (from the 
expense component of the Underwriters’ discount) the costs of qualifying the Bonds for 
sale in various states chosen by the Representative, all advertising expenses in connection 
with the public offering of the Bonds, and all other expenses incurred by it or the other 
Underwriters in connection with the public offering and distribution of the Bonds, 
including the fees and disbursements of their counsel and the cost of obtaining CUSIP 
numbers. 

L. Blue Sky Qualification. The Issuer agrees to cooperate with the Underwriters and their counsel in 
any endeavor to qualify the Bonds for offering and sale under the securities or blue sky laws of 
such jurisdictions of the United States as the Representative may request; provided that the Issuer 
shall not be required to qualify as a foreign corporation in, or submit to the jurisdiction of, any 
other state. The Issuer consents to the use of the Preliminary Official Statement and the Official 
Statement by the Representative in obtaining such qualification. 

M. No Advisory or Fiduciary Role. 

1. The Issuer acknowledges and agrees that (i) the purchase and sale of the Bonds pursuant 
to this Purchase Agreement is an arm's-length commercial transaction between the Issuer 
and the Underwriters, (ii) in connection therewith and with the discussions, undertakings 
and procedures leading up to the consummation of such transaction, the Underwriters are 
and have been acting solely as principals and are not acting as the agent, advisor 
(including, without limitation, a Municipal Advisor (as such term is defined in Section 
975(e) of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act)) or 
fiduciary of the Issuer, (iii) the Underwriters have not assumed (individually or 



17 
 

collectively) an advisory or fiduciary responsibility in favor of the Issuer with respect to 
the offering contemplated hereby or the discussions, undertakings and procedures leading 
thereto (irrespective of whether any Underwriter, or any affiliate of an Underwriter, has 
provided other services or are currently providing other services to the Issuer on other 
matters) and the Underwriters have no obligation to the Issuer with respect to the offering 
contemplated hereby other than those arising out of their role as Underwriters pursuant to 
the terms of this Purchase Agreement, (iv) the Issuer has consulted its own legal, 
financial and other advisors to the extent it has deemed appropriate, and (v) the 
Underwriters have financial and other interests that differ from those of the Issuer. 

2. The Issuer and the Underwriters represent and warrant, respectively, that no finder or 
other agent has been employed by either the Issuer or the Underwriters in connection 
with this transaction. 

N. Notices. All notices provided for in this Purchase Agreement shall be made in writing either by 
actual delivery of the notice into the hands of the parties entitled thereto, by confirmed facsimile 
transmission, or by sending the notice by air courier or mailing by certified or registered mail, 
return receipt requested, in the United States mail to the address as stated below (or at such other 
address as may have been designated by written notice) of the party entitled thereto. The notice 
shall be deemed to be received in case of actual delivery on the date of its actual receipt by the 
party entitled thereto, in case of delivery by facsimile, on the date receipt is confirmed, in case of 
delivery by air courier on the date of delivery, and in case of mailing on the date of receipt by 
United States mail, postage prepaid. 

All communications hereunder, except as herein otherwise specifically provided, shall be in 
writing and mailed or delivered to the Issuer and to the Underwriters at the following addresses: 

Tennessee State School Bond Authority 
Cordell Hull Building 
425 Rep. John Lewis Way N., 4th Floor 
Nashville, Tennessee  37243 
Attention:  Director of the Division of State Government Finance 
Facsimile:  615-741-5986 
 
Jefferies LLC 
700 N. St. Mary’s St, Suite 1400 
San Antonio, TX 78205 
Attention: Laura Powell, Managing Director 
Facsimile: 832-218-7349 
 

O. Governing Law. This Purchase Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance 
with the laws of the State, including, without limitation, those laws applicable to contracts made 
and to be performed by the Issuer. 

P. Counterparts.  This Purchase Agreement may be executed in counterparts with the same force and 
effect as if all signatures appeared on a single instrument. 

Q. Miscellaneous. This Purchase Agreement is made solely for the benefit of the signatories hereto 
(including the successors or assigns of the Underwriters) and no other person shall acquire or 
have any right hereunder or by virtue hereof. The term “successor” shall not include any holder of 
any Bonds merely by virtue of such holding. All representations, warranties, agreements, and 



18 
 

indemnities contained in this Purchase Agreement shall remain operative and in full force and 
effect, regardless of (i) any investigations made by or on behalf of the Underwriters, (ii) delivery 
of and payment for the Bonds, and (iii) any termination of this Purchase Agreement. 

[Signatures on Following Page] 







I-1 

APPENDIX I 

To 

Bond Purchase Agreement 

UNDERWRITERS 

Representative and Senior Manager 
 
Jefferies LLC 
 
Co-Managers 
 
FHN Financial Capital Markets 
Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC 
Piper Sandler & Co. 
Raymond James & Associates, Inc. 
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association 



 

II-1 

APPENDIX II 

To 

Bond Purchase Agreement 

 
$713,365,000 

HIGHER EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES SECOND PROGRAM BONDS,  
2021 SERIES A (FEDERALLY TAXABLE) 

  
Maturity 

Date Amount Rate Yield Price   

11/1/2022 
     

$19,595,000  0.167% 0.167% 100.00 

11/1/2023 
     

23,430,000  0.217 0.217 100.00  

11/1/2024 
     

21,260,000  0.339 0.339 100.00  

11/1/2025 
     

21,370,000  0.627 0.627 100.00  

11/1/2026 
     

24,120,000  0.727 0.727 100.00  

11/1/2027 
     

22,950,000  1.026 1.026 100.00  

11/1/2028 
     

18,120,000  1.126 1.126 100.00  

11/1/2029 
     

56,175,000  1.362 1.362 100.00  

11/1/2030 
     

43,410,000  1.462 1.462 100.00  

11/1/2031 
     

43,545,000  1.512 1.512 100.00  

11/1/2032 
     

42,780,000  1.662 1.662 100.00  

11/1/2033 
     

40,800,000  1.712 1.712 100.00  

11/1/2034 
     

38,335,000  1.812 1.812 100.00  

11/1/2035 
     

39,055,000  1.912 1.912 100.00  

11/1/2036 
     

35,700,000  1.962 1.962 100.00  
  
11/1/2041* 156,765,000 2.561 2.561 100.00  
 
11/1/2045* 65,955,000 2.661 2.661 100.00  

      
      

 
*Term Bond 



 

II-2 
 

 
 

Optional Redemption.  Bonds maturing on or after November 1, 2032, are subject to 
redemption prior to their stated maturities from any available moneys, at any time on and after 
November 1, 2031, as a whole, or in part from time to time in any order of maturity determined by 
the Issuer, at a Redemption Price equal to the principal amount of such Bonds or portions thereof to 
be redeemed, together with the interest accrued on such principal amount to the date fixed for 
redemption. 

Prior to November 1, 2031, the Bonds are subject to redemption prior to their stated 
maturities at the option of the Issuer, at any time as a whole, or in part from time to time in any order 
of maturity as determined by the Issuer, at a Redemption Price equal to the Make-Whole Redemption 
Price (as defined, and more particularly described in, the Official Statement for the Bonds). 

  

Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption.  The Bonds maturing on November 1, 2041, and on 
November 1, 2045, are Term Bonds subject to redemption in part on November 1 in each of the years 
and in the respective principal amounts set forth below at a Redemption Price equal to the principal 
amount or portion thereof to be redeemed, together with the interest accrued thereon to the date fixed 
for redemption, from Sinking Fund Installments which are required to be accumulated in the Debt 
Service Fund in amounts sufficient to redeem on November 1 of each year shown below the principal 
amount of such Bonds specified for such year:  

 

      Nov. 1, 2041 Maturity    Nov. 1, 2045 Maturity 

Year Principal Amount Year Principal Amount 

2037      $34,345,000  2042      $19,665,000  
2038      31,335,000  2043      20,195,000  

2039      30,315,000  2044      14,555,000  
2040      31,105,000  2045      11,540,000  
2041 29,665,000   

       
  

 

 



 

III-1 

Appendix III 
  

To 
 

Bond Purchase Agreement 
 

Summary of Refunded Bonds 
 

2012A           

Maturity Date Interest Rate Principal Amount Redemption Date Redemption Price 

TERM 5/1/2030 5.000%  $               7,885,000  5/1/2022 100% 

TERM 5/1/2031 5.000%                   8,285,000  5/1/2022 100% 

TERM 5/1/2032 5.000%                   8,705,000  5/1/2022 100% 

TERM 5/1/2037 3.750%                 40,455,000  5/1/2022 100% 

TERM 5/1/2039 5.000%                 18,610,000  5/1/2022 100% 

TERM 5/1/2042 4.000%                 31,185,000  5/1/2022 100% 

 $           115,125,000  

2012C           

Maturity Date Interest Rate Principal Amount Redemption Date Redemption Price 

TERM 5/1/2023 4.000%  $               8,100,000  5/1/2022 100% 

TERM 5/1/2024 4.000%                   8,435,000  5/1/2022 100% 

TERM 5/1/2025 4.000%                   6,540,000  5/1/2022 100% 

TERM 5/1/2026 4.000%                   6,810,000  5/1/2022 100% 

TERM 5/1/2027 3.000%                   1,635,000  5/1/2022 100% 

TERM 5/1/2028 3.125%                   1,690,000  5/1/2022 100% 

TERM 5/1/2029 3.250%                   1,750,000  5/1/2022 100% 

TERM 5/1/2030 3.250%                   1,810,000  5/1/2022 100% 

TERM 5/1/2031 3.375%                   1,875,000  5/1/2022 100% 

TERM 5/1/2032 3.375%                   1,155,000  5/1/2022 100% 

TERM 5/1/2033 3.500%                   1,200,000  5/1/2022 100% 

TERM 5/1/2034 3.500%                   1,245,000  5/1/2022 100% 

 $             42,245,000  

2013A           

Maturity Date Interest Rate Principal Amount Redemption Date Redemption Price 

SERIAL 11/1/2023 5.000%  $               3,885,000  11/1/2022 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2024 5.000%                   4,085,000  11/1/2022 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2025 5.000%                   4,295,000  11/1/2022 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2029 5.000%                   5,245,000  11/1/2022 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2030 5.000%                   5,515,000  11/1/2022 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2031 5.000%                   5,795,000  11/1/2022 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2032 5.000%                   6,095,000  11/1/2022 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2033 5.000%                   6,405,000  11/1/2022 100% 

TERM 11/1/2038 5.000%                 25,045,000  11/1/2022 100% 



 

III-2 
 

TERM 11/1/2043 5.000%                 32,160,000  11/1/2022 100% 

 $             98,525,000  

2014A           

Maturity Date Interest Rate Principal Amount Redemption Date Redemption Price 

SERIAL 11/1/2029 3.712%                   5,730,000  11/1/2024 100% 

TERM 11/1/2034 4.007%                 11,865,000  11/1/2024 100% 

TERM 11/1/2044 4.207%                 29,650,000  11/1/2024 100% 

 $             47,245,000  

2014B           

Maturity Date Interest Rate Principal Amount Redemption Date Redemption Price 

SERIAL 11/1/2026 5.000%                 12,580,000  11/1/2024 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2027 5.000%                 11,805,000  11/1/2024 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2028 5.000%                   7,200,000  11/1/2024 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2029 5.000%                   4,985,000  11/1/2024 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2030 5.000%                   5,250,000  11/1/2024 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2031 5.000%                   5,720,000  11/1/2024 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2032 5.000%                   6,030,000  11/1/2024 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2033 5.000%                   6,090,000  11/1/2024 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2034 5.000%                   4,325,000  11/1/2024 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2035 5.000%                   4,550,000  11/1/2024 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2036 5.000%                   3,795,000  11/1/2024 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2037 5.000%                   3,995,000  11/1/2024 100% 

 $             76,325,000  

2015B           

Maturity Date Interest Rate Principal Amount Redemption Date Redemption Price 

SERIAL 11/1/2029 5.000%                 22,150,000  11/1/2025 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2030 5.000%                 13,200,000  11/1/2025 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2031 5.000%                 13,885,000  11/1/2025 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2032 5.000%                 14,610,000  11/1/2025 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2033 5.000%                 12,625,000  11/1/2025 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2034 5.000%                 15,225,000  11/1/2025 100% 

SERIAL 11/1/2035 5.000%                 16,010,000  11/1/2025 100% 

TERM 11/1/2040 5.000%                 61,945,000  11/1/2025 100% 

TERM 11/1/2045 5.000%                 56,500,000  11/1/2025 100% 

 $           226,150,000  

Total Refunded Bonds  $           605,615,000  

29611219.9 



 
 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING 

This Continuing Disclosure Undertaking (the “Undertaking”) is dated and made 
as of February 24, 2021, by the Tennessee State School Bond Authority (the “Authority”) in 
connection with the issuance of the Authority’s $713,365,000 aggregate principal amount of 
Higher Educational Facilities Second Program Bonds, 2021 Series A (Federally Taxable) 
(collectively, the “2021 Bonds”).  As authorized by Section 12 of the Supplemental Resolution 
of the Authority authorizing the 2021 Bonds, adopted on January 25, 2021, the Authority agrees 
as follows: 

ARTICLE I 
 

DEFINITIONS 

Section 1.1. Definitions.  The following terms used in this Undertaking shall 
have the following respective meanings: 

(1) “Annual Financial Information” means (i) updated versions of the 
following financial information and operating data contained in the Official Statement with 
respect to the Authority, for each fiscal year of the Authority: 

 Outstanding Second Program Bonds (see “THE AUTHORITY—
Outstanding Indebtedness”) 

 Authorized and Outstanding Revolving Credit Loans (see “SECURITY 
AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS—Subordinated 
Obligations; Revolving Credit Loans”)  

 Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System financial information and 
operating data and Higher Education Employer Contributions (see 
“TENNESSEE PUBLIC HIGHER EDUCATION—Employee Retirement 
Benefits”) 

 Other Post-Employment Benefits unfunded liabilities and annual required 
contributions (see “TENNESSEE PUBLIC HIGHER EDUCATION—
Other Post-Employment Benefits) 

 Appendix B—Selected Statistical Information;  

(ii) the information regarding amendments to this Undertaking required 
pursuant to Sections 4.2(c) and (d) of this Undertaking, (iii) Audited 
Financial Statements (or, if unavailable, Unaudited Financial Statements), 
and (iv) the Supplemental Annual Financial Information. 

The descriptions contained in clause (i) above of financial information and 
operating data constituting Annual Financial Information are of general categories or types of 
financial information and operating data.  When such descriptions include information that no 



 2 
 

longer can be generated because the operations to which it related have been materially changed 
or discontinued, a statement to that effect shall be provided in lieu of such information. 

(2) “Audited Financial Statements” means the annual financial statements of 
the Authority, audited by such auditors as shall then be required or permitted by State law.  
Audited Financial Statements shall be prepared in accordance with GAAP. 

(3) “Board of Trustees” means The Board of Trustees of The University of 
Tennessee. 

(4) “Board of Regents” means the Tennessee Board of Regents of the State 
University and Community College System of the State of Tennessee. 

(5) “Counsel” means Hawkins Delafield & Wood LLP or other nationally 
recognized bond counsel or counsel expert in federal securities laws, in each case acceptable to 
the Authority. 

(6) “EMMA” means the MSRB’s Electronic Municipal Market Access system 
or its successor. 

(7) “Financial Obligation” means:  (A) debt obligation; (B) derivative 
instrument entered into in connection with, or pledged as security or a source of payment for, an 
existing or planned debt obligation; or (C) guarantee of (A) or (B) above, but does not include 
municipal securities as to which a final official statement has been provided to the MSRB 
consistent with the Rule.  

(8) “GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles for 
governmental units as prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, the 
Financial Accounting Standards Board, or any successor to the duties and responsibilities of 
either of them. 

(9) “Institution” means, as appropriate, (i) the University of Tennessee system 
of the State, including all of its branches and divisions wherever located, and the services, 
programs and activities provided therein, and the Board of Trustees, in the aggregate, and (ii) the 
State University and Community College System of the State of Tennessee, including all of its 
constituent institutions wherever located (whether or not conferring degrees), and the services, 
programs and activities provided therein, and the Board of Regents, in the aggregate.   

(10) “MSRB” means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board established 
pursuant to the provisions of Section 15B(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended, or any successor to the MSRB or the functions of the MSRB contemplated by this 
Undertaking. 

(11) “Notice Event” means any of the following events with respect to the 2021 
Bonds: 

(i) principal and interest payment delinquencies; 



 3 
 

(ii) non-payment related defaults, if material; 

(iii) unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial 
difficulties; 

(iv) unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial 
difficulties; 

(v) substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform; 

(vi) adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of 
proposed or final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue 
(IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other material notices or determinations with 
respect to the tax status of the 2021 Bonds, or other material events 
affecting the tax status of the 2021 Bonds; 

(vii) modifications to rights of 2021 Bondholders, if material; 

(viii) bond calls, if material, and tender offers; 

(ix) defeasances; 

(x) release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the 2021 
Bonds, if material;  

(xi) rating changes; 

(xii) bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the Authority; 

(Note to clause (xii):  For the purposes of the event identified in 
clause (xii) above, the event is considered to occur when any of the 
following occur:  the appointment of a receiver, fiscal agent or similar 
officer for the Authority in a proceeding under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code 
or in any other proceeding under state or federal law in which a court or 
government authority has assumed jurisdiction over substantially all of the 
assets or business of the Authority, or if such jurisdiction has been 
assumed by leaving the existing governing body and officials or officers in 
possession but subject to the supervision and orders of a court or 
governmental authority, or the entry of an order confirming a plan of 
reorganization, arrangement or liquidation by a court or governmental 
authority having supervision or jurisdiction over substantially all of the 
assets or business of the Authority.) 

(xiii) the consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the 
Authority or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the 
Authority, other than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into a 
definitive agreement to undertake such an action or the termination of a 



 4 
 

definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other than pursuant to its 
terms, if material;  

(xiv) appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of 
a trustee, if material; 

(xv) incurrence of a Financial Obligation of the Authority or of any Institution, 
if material, or agreement to covenants, events of default, remedies, priority 
rights, or other similar terms of a Financial Obligation of the Authority or 
of such Institution, as the case may be, any of which affect holders of 
Offered Bonds, if material; and 

(xvi) default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms, or 
other similar events under the terms of a Financial Obligation of the 
Authority or of any Institution any of which reflect financial difficulties. 

(12) “Notice Event Notice” means notice of a Notice Event. 

(13) “Official Statement” means the Official Statement dated February __, 
2021, of the Authority relating to the 2021 Bonds. 

(14) “Rule” means Rule 15c2-12 promulgated by the SEC under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934 (17 CFR Part 240, §240.15c2-12), as in effect on the effective date hereof, 
including any official interpretations thereof. 

(15) “SEC” means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission. 

(16) “State” means the State of Tennessee. 

(17) “Supplemental Annual Financial Information” means the annual financial 
statements referred to in Section 2.4 hereof. 

(18) “Unaudited Financial Statements” mean the same as Audited Financial 
Statements, except that they shall not have been audited.   

ARTICLE II 
 

THE UNDERTAKING 

Section 2.1. Purpose.  This Undertaking is being executed, delivered and made 
solely to assist the underwriters of the 2021 Bonds in complying with subsection (b)(5) of the 
Rule. 

Section 2.2. Annual Financial Information.  (a)  The Authority shall provide 
Annual Financial Information with respect to each fiscal year of the Authority, commencing with 
the fiscal year ending June 30, 2021, by no later than 7 months after the end of the respective 
fiscal year, to the MSRB. 



 5 
 

(b) The Authority shall provide, in a timely manner, notice of any failure of 
the Authority to provide the Annual Financial Information by the date specified in 
subsection (a) above to the MSRB. 

Section 2.3. Authority Audited Financial Statements. If not provided as part of 
Annual Financial Information by the date required by Section 2.2(a) hereof because not 
available, the Authority shall provide Audited Financial Statements, when and if available, to the 
MSRB. 

Section 2.4. Supplemental Annual Financial Information.  Notwithstanding 
anything in this Undertaking to the contrary, Annual Financial Information also shall include the 
annual financial statements of the State, including component unit reporting of The University of 
Tennessee system and the Board of Trustees of The University of Tennessee, and of the State 
University and Community College System of the State of Tennessee and the Tennessee Board 
of Regents, in each case audited by such auditors as shall then be required or permitted by State 
law, if available.  If not provided as part of Annual Financial Information by the date required by 
Section 2.2(a) because not available, the Authority shall provide audited financial statements, 
when and if available, to the MSRB.  Such audited financial statements will be prepared in 
accordance with GAAP. 

Section 2.5. Notice Events.  (a)  If a Notice Event occurs, the Authority shall 
provide, in a timely manner not in excess of ten (10) business days after the occurrence of such 
Notice Event, notice of such Notice Event to the MSRB. 

(b) Any such notice of a defeasance of 2021 Bonds shall state whether the 
2021 Bonds have been escrowed to maturity or to an earlier redemption date and the timing of 
such maturity or redemption. 

Section 2.6. Additional Disclosure Obligations.  The Authority acknowledges 
and understands that other State and federal laws, including but not limited to the Securities Act 
of 1933, as amended, and Rule 10b-5 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended, may apply to the Authority and that, under some circumstances, additional disclosures 
or other action in addition to those required by this Undertaking may be required to enable the 
Authority to fully discharge all of its duties and obligations under such laws. 

Section 2.7. Additional Information.  Nothing in this Undertaking shall be 
deemed to prevent the Authority from disseminating any other information, using the means of 
dissemination set forth in this Undertaking or any other means of communication, or including 
any other information in any Annual Financial Information or Notice Event Notice hereunder, in 
addition to that which is required by this Undertaking.  If the Authority chooses to do so, the 
Authority shall have no obligation under this Undertaking to update such additional information 
or include it in any future Annual Financial Information or Notice Event Notice hereunder. 



 6 
 

ARTICLE III 
 

OPERATING RULES 

Section 3.1. Reference to Other Documents.  It shall be sufficient for purposes 
of Section 2.2 hereof if the Authority provides Annual Financial Information by specific 
reference to documents (i) available to the public on the MSRB Internet Web Site (currently, 
www.emma.msrb.org) or (ii) filed with the SEC.  The provisions of this Section shall not apply 
to Notice Event Notices pursuant to Section 2.5 hereof. 

Section 3.2. Submission of Information.  Annual Financial Information may be 
provided in one document or multiple documents, and at one time or in part from time to time. 

Section 3.3. Filing with Certain Dissemination Agents or Conduits.  The 
Authority may from time to time designate an agent to act on its behalf in providing or filing 
notices, documents and information as required of the Authority under this Undertaking, and 
revoke or modify any such designation. 

Section 3.4. Transmission of Notices, Documents and Information  (a) Unless 
otherwise required by the MSRB, all notices, documents and information provided to the MSRB 
shall be provided to EMMA, the current Internet Web address of which is www.emma.msrb.org.  

(b) All notices, documents and information provided to the MSRB shall be 
provided in an electronic format as prescribed by the MSRB (currently, portable document 
format (pdf) which must be word-searchable except for non textual elements) and shall be 
accompanied by identifying information as prescribed by the MSRB. 

Section 3.5. Fiscal Year.  (a)  The Authority’s current fiscal year is 
July 1 - June 30.  The Authority shall promptly notify the MSRB of each change in its fiscal 
year. 

(b) The Authority shall provide Annual Financial Information at least 
annually notwithstanding any fiscal year longer than 12 calendar months. 

ARTICLE IV 
 

EFFECTIVE DATE, TERMINATION, AMENDMENT AND ENFORCEMENT 

Section 4.1. Effective Date; Termination.  (a)  This Undertaking shall be 
effective upon the issuance of the 2021 Bonds. 

(b) The Authority’s obligations under this Undertaking shall terminate with 
respect to each 2021 Bond upon the legal defeasance, prior redemption or payment in full of 
such 2021 Bond. 

(c) This Undertaking, or any provision hereof, shall be null and void in the 
event that the Authority (1) receives an opinion of Counsel to the effect that those portions of the 
Rule which require this Undertaking, or such provision, as the case may be, do not or no longer 



 7 
 

apply to the 2021 Bonds, whether because such portions of the Rule are invalid, have been 
repealed, or otherwise, as shall be specified in such opinion, and (2) delivers copies of such 
opinion to the MSRB. 

Section 4.2. Amendment.  (a)  This Undertaking may be amended without the 
consent of the holders of the 2021 Bonds, if all of the following conditions are satisfied:  (1) such 
amendment is made in connection with a change in circumstances that arises from a change in 
legal (including regulatory) requirements, a change in law (including rules and regulations) or in 
interpretations thereof, or a change in the identity, nature or status of the Authority or the type of 
business conducted thereby, (2) this Undertaking as so amended would have complied with the 
requirements of the Rule as of the date hereof, after taking into account any amendments or 
interpretations of the Rule, as well as any change in circumstances, (3) the Authority shall have 
received an opinion of Counsel to the same effect as set forth in clause (2) above, (4) the 
Authority shall have received either an opinion of Counsel or a determination by a person, in 
each case unaffiliated with the Authority, to the effect that the amendment does not materially 
impair the interests of the holders of the outstanding 2021 Bonds, and (5) the Authority shall 
have delivered copies of such opinion(s) and amendment to the MSRB. 

(b) This Undertaking may be amended without the consent of the holders of 
the 2021 Bonds if all of the following conditions are satisfied:  (1) an amendment to the Rule is 
adopted, or a new or modified official interpretation of the Rule is issued, after the effective date 
hereof which is applicable to this Undertaking, (2) the Authority shall have received an opinion 
of Counsel to the effect that performance by the Authority under this Undertaking as so amended 
will not result in a violation of the Rule as so amended or officially interpreted and (3) the 
Authority shall have delivered copies of such opinion and amendment to the MSRB. 

(c) To the extent any amendment to this Undertaking results in a change in 
the categories or types of financial information or operating data provided pursuant to this 
Undertaking, the first Annual Financial Information provided thereafter shall include a narrative 
explanation of the reasons for the amendment and the impact of the change in the type of 
operating data or financial information being provided. 

(d) If an amendment is made to the accounting principles to be followed by 
the Authority, the State or any Institution in preparing its financial statements, the Annual 
Financial Information for the fiscal year in which the change is made shall present a comparison 
between the financial statements or information prepared on the basis of the new accounting 
principles and those prepared on the basis of the former accounting principles.  Such comparison 
shall include a qualitative and, to the extent reasonably feasible, quantitative discussion of the 
differences in the accounting principles and the impact of the change in the accounting principles 
on the presentation of the financial information. 

Section 4.3. Contract; Benefit; Third-Party Beneficiaries; Enforcement. (a)  The 
provisions of this Undertaking shall constitute a contract with and inure solely to the benefit of 
the holders from time to time of the 2021 Bonds, except that beneficial owners of 2021 Bonds 
shall be third-party beneficiaries of this Undertaking and shall be deemed to be holders of 2021 
Bonds for purposes of Section 4.3(b) hereof.  The provisions of this Undertaking shall create no 
rights in any person or entity except as provided in this subsection (a). 



 8 
 

(b) The obligations of the Authority to comply with the provisions of this 
Undertaking shall be enforceable by any holder of outstanding 2021 Bonds; however, the 
holders’ rights to enforce the provisions of this Undertaking shall be limited solely to a right, by 
action in mandamus or for specific performance, to compel performance of the Authority’s 
obligations under this Undertaking. 

(c) Any failure by the Authority to perform in accordance with this 
Undertaking shall not constitute a default or an event of default under the resolutions authorizing 
the 2021 Bonds or State law and shall not result in any acceleration of payment of the 2021 
Bonds, and the rights and remedies provided by the resolutions authorizing the 2021 Bonds and 
applicable State law upon the occurrence of such a default or an event of default shall not apply 
to any such failure. 

(d) This Undertaking shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with 
the laws of the State, and any suits and actions arising out of this Undertaking shall be instituted 
in a court of competent jurisdiction in the State; provided, however, that to the extent this 
Undertaking addresses matters of federal securities laws, including the Rule, this Undertaking 
shall be construed in accordance with such federal securities laws and official interpretations 
thereof. 

[Signature Page Follows] 



TENNESSEE STA TE SCHOOL BOND AUTHORITY 

By:~1~ 
Sandra Thompson 
Assistant s::: 

[Signature Page to Continuing Disclosure Undertaking] 

9 



 

 

 
 

July 28, 2022 

530 Oak Court Dr. 
Suite 160 
Memphis, TN 38117 
901.682.8356 
 
pfm.com 

 
 
 
 

 

Sandra W. Thompson, CCTS 
Director 
Comptroller of the Treasury 
Division of State Government Finance 
425 Rep. John Lewis Way N. 
Nashville, TN 37243 
 
 
 
Dear Ms. Thompson: 
 
PFM, as Financial Advisor to the Tennessee State School Bond Authority (“TSSBA”), is 
recommending TSSBA execute a competitive sale for its upcoming Higher Educational 
Facilities Second Program bond issue which is tentatively scheduled to price in fourth 
quarter of 2022.  
 
Basis for Recommendation 
Competitive bond sales can offer several advantages over negotiated sales. A 
competitive sale typically assures the lowest interest rates. While underwriting firms may 
attempt to secure the best interest rates for the issuer, different firms have different 
perceptions of the market and cater to various investor requirements. This is evidenced 
by the fact that there are seldom two identical bids submitted at a competitive sale. In 
addition, interest rate differentials more than 1/4% (0.25%) between low and high bidders 
in a competitive sale are not uncommon.  
 
Despite the advantages of competitive sales, some bond structures and certain market 
factors create conditions in which a negotiated sale may be the preferred sale method.  
TSSBA should select a method of sale based on a thorough analysis of the relevant 
rating, security and structure pertaining to the proposed bond issue.  The following table 
outlines the general conditions favoring each method of sale. 

 



 

  

Tennessee State School Bond Authority 
July 28, 2022 

Page 2 

 

 

Attributes Competitive Sale Negotiated Sale Relevance to TSSBA 
Issuer 

Type of 
Organization 

Broad-based, general-
purpose government 

Special-purpose, 
independent authority 

TSSBA’s bonds provide funding 
for public higher education 
revenue projects in TN and are 
securitized by an intercept of 
state appropriations and tend to 
be rated one-notch off the 
State’s credit.  These factors 
imply a Competitive Sale. 

Frequency of 
Issuance 

Regular borrower in 
public market 

New or infrequent issuer of 
debt 

TSSBA is a known borrower in 
the municipal markets. 

Market 
Awareness 

Active secondary 
market with wide 
investor base 

Little or no institutional 
base, but growing dealer 
interest 

TSSBA has received favorable 
investor interest on prior sales. 

Credit Quality 

Rating “A” or better Below single “A” 

TSSBA’s strong credit of 
Aa1/AA+/AA+ is expected to be 
received favorably in the 
competitive market. 

Pledged 
Revenues General obligation Project supported 

revenues 

TSSBA bonds are securitized by 
project revenues and the 
intercept of state appropriations. 

Security Structure 
Conventional resolution 
and cashflow; rate 
covenant and coverage 

Unusual or weak 
covenants; subordinated 
debt 

TSSBA will issue under the 
existing second program general 
bond resolution. 

Trend Stable Improving or under stress TSSBA has stable ratings of 
Aa1/AA+/AA+. 

Market Conditions 

Interest Rates Stable, predictable 
market Volatile or declining market 

Interest rates have risen this 
year, however recent changes 
have been less volatile.  

Demand 
Strong investor 
demand, good liquidity, 
light forward calendar 

Oversold market, heavy 
supply 

TSSBA has a history of strong 
investor demand; limited bond 
market supply to-date should be 
beneficial for TSSBA. 

Debt Structure 
Tax Status Tax-exempt, no 

concerns Taxable The 2022 Bonds will be issued 
tax-exempt and taxable 

Debt Instrument Traditional serial and 
term, full-coupon bonds 

Aggressive use of 
innovative bond 
structuring, derivative 
products, swaps, or 
variable-rate debt 
instruments 

TSSBA plans to sell traditional 
serial and/or term bonds. 



 

  

Tennessee State School Bond Authority 
July 28, 2022 

Page 3 
Market Timing 
Many proponents of negotiated sales argue that a negotiated sale provides greater 
flexibility in timing of the bond’s offering. In either method of sale, the issuer selects a 
tentative pricing date and retains the flexibility to change this date, if needed. In a 
competitive bond sale, TSSBA’s Notice of Sale will allow TSSBA to cancel or change the 
pricing date until noon on the day preceding the competitive sale. Given either sale 
methodology, the process of marketing the bonds should begin one or two weeks prior 
to the pricing date. Should the municipal market become unsettled or volatile, TSSBA 
can postpone the bond pricing until a more favorable market exists.   

PFM will closely monitor the municipal market as it relates to investor demand and 
interest rates to strike a balance between the TSSBA’s financial objectives and investor 
preferences.  

PFM’s Pricing Group 
PFM possesses industry-leading expertise and experience in regard to both competitive 
and negotiated bond sales.  PFM has a dedicated, in-house bond Pricing Group which 
has been consulted through our evaluation and recommendation of a competitive bond 
sale to TSSBA.  PFM will also rely on our Pricing Group to prepare the parameters to be 
included in the Notice of Sale.  

Debt Management Policy Consideration 
A competitive sale process seeks to achieve broad market participation and access and 
is in compliance with the TSSBA’s Debt Management Policy.  

Market Supply 
Through June 2022, municipal supply is down versus 2021 issuance totals in both par 
amount and number of issues (see Appendix A).  Since March 1, 2022 there have been 
7 series of bonds with a par amount over $50 million sold competitively in the State of 
Tennessee (see Appendix B).   

Recommendation 
Considering the above, PFM continues to believe that a competitive sale process is 
optimal for TSSBA’s Higher Educational Facilities Second Program bond issue.  We 
believe that the competitive sale process will encourage the underwriters with whom the 
State of Tennessee (and TSSBA) already works with to offer their best price while also 
providing TSSBA with an indication of other investment banking firms that are interested 
in doing business with the State of Tennessee.  We would also recommend the 
authorizing resolution associated with TSSBA’s 2022 bonds include the flexibility of a 
negotiated sale as well. This will allow TSSBA leadership to adjust the sale methodology 
without seeking additional TSSBA Board authorization.  



 

  

Tennessee State School Bond Authority 
July 28, 2022 

Page 4 

We would be happy to provide additional insight or to discuss further.  Please call if you 
have any questions (901) 682-8356.  

We appreciate the opportunity to serve the Tennessee State School Bond Authority and 
value our relationship.  We look forward to continued successful financings in the future. 

Sincerely,  

 

 

 

Lauren S. Lowe 
Managing Director 
PFM Financial Advisors LLC 
 

Nick Yatsula 
Senior Managing Consultant 
PFM Financial Advisors LLC 
 

 
  



 

  

Tennessee State School Bond Authority 
July 28, 2022 

Page 5 
Appendix A 

 
 
 

 
 

Source: Bond Buyer 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun
2021 28,182,700, 65,234,600, 113,002,600 150,107,500 185,465,000 235,836,100
2022 26,196,000, 56,962,700, 101,577,500 139,869,100 174,585,800 201,556,100

0

50

100

150

200

250

Bi
llio

ns
Cumulative YTD Issuance by Par Amount

2021 2022



Appendix B
Competitive Sales > $50 Million in the State of TN Since March 1, 2022

Issuer:

Series:

Security:
Sale Type:

Underwriter:
Financial Advisor

Par Amount:
Sale Date:

Last Call Date:
Underlying Ratings:

Maturity Year (TSY) Par (M)  Price Coupon Yield MMD Sprd Par (M)  Price Coupon Yield MMD Sprd Par (M)  Price Coupon Yield MMD Sprd Par (M)  Price Coupon Yield MMD Sprd

<1
1    13,995 $101.12 4.000% 1.250% 4 bps    16,215 $101.13 4.000% 1.210% 0 bps     2,530 $102.80 5.000% 1.700% 7 bps     2,575 $102.41 5.000% 2.040% 12 bps
2     9,635 $103.31 4.000% 1.610% 5 bps    10,935 $103.33 4.000% 1.600% 4 bps     2,455 $105.35 5.000% 2.050% 8 bps     2,165 $104.78 5.000% 2.310% 12 bps
3    10,025 $105.14 4.000% 1.810% 8 bps    11,370 $105.09 4.000% 1.830% 10 bps     2,575 $107.57 5.000% 2.250% 12 bps     2,275 $107.03 5.000% 2.410% 12 bps
4    10,425 $106.73 4.000% 1.950% 8 bps    11,825 $106.66 4.000% 1.970% 10 bps     2,705 $109.72 5.000% 2.350% 14 bps     2,385 $109.18 5.000% 2.470% 14 bps
5    10,840 $108.31 4.000% 2.020% 8 bps    12,300 $112.42 5.000% 2.040% 10 bps     2,845 $111.61 5.000% 2.450% 19 bps     2,500 $111.05 5.000% 2.550% 17 bps
6    11,275 $109.24 4.000% 2.180% 11 bps    12,915 $109.13 4.000% 2.200% 13 bps     2,985 $112.84 5.000% 2.620% 21 bps     2,630 $112.55 5.000% 2.660% 22 bps
7    11,725 $109.76 4.000% 2.350% 14 bps    13,430 $109.76 4.000% 2.350% 14 bps     3,135 $113.97 5.000% 2.750% 22 bps     2,760 $113.91 5.000% 2.750% 24 bps
8    12,195 $110.23 4.000% 2.480% 20 bps    13,970 $117.40 5.000% 2.420% 14 bps     3,285 $115.04 5.000% 2.850% 22 bps     2,905 $115.36 5.000% 2.800% 24 bps
9    12,680 $110.43 4.000% 2.610% 25 bps    14,665 $118.77 5.000% 2.510% 15 bps     3,455 $113.98 5.000% 2.990% 29 bps     3,050 $116.58 5.000% 2.860% 25 bps
10    13,190 $110.47 4.000% 2.730% 30 bps    15,400 $111.79 4.000% 2.580% 15 bps     3,625 $113.31 5.000% 3.080% 29 bps     3,195 $117.56 5.000% 2.930% 27 bps
11    13,715 $109.00 4.000% 2.900% 40 bps    16,015 $119.18 5.000% 2.680% 18 bps     3,810 $112.64 5.000% 3.170% 31 bps     3,355 $117.18 5.000% 2.970% 27 bps
12    14,265 $107.46 4.000% 3.080% 50 bps    16,815 $118.45 5.000% 2.760% 18 bps     3,995 $112.05 5.000% 3.250% 33 bps     3,525 $116.91 5.000% 3.000% 27 bps
13    14,835 $106.20 4.000% 3.230% 60 bps    17,655 $104.30 4.000% 3.460% 83 bps     4,200 $111.75 5.000% 3.290% 34 bps     3,695 $116.54 5.000% 3.040% 28 bps
14    15,430 $116.64 5.000% 2.960% 30 bps    18,365 $104.06 4.000% 3.490% 83 bps     4,410 $111.53 5.000% 3.320% 34 bps     3,885 $106.43 4.000% 3.230% 45 bps
15    16,200 $116.29 5.000% 3.000% 32 bps    19,100 $103.89 4.000% 3.510% 83 bps     4,625 $111.39 5.000% 3.340% 34 bps     4,045 $105.92 4.000% 3.290% 49 bps
16    17,010 $103.41 4.000% 3.570% 85 bps    19,860 $103.33 4.000% 3.580% 86 bps     2,240 $107.94 5.000% 3.820% 80 bps     4,205 $105.14 4.000% 3.380% 56 bps
17    17,690 $102.36 4.000% 3.700% 95 bps    20,655 $102.76 4.000% 3.650% 90 bps     2,350 $100.80 4.000% 3.880% 84 bps
18    18,400 $101.88 4.000% 3.760% 97 bps    21,480 $101.88 4.000% 3.760% 97 bps     2,445 $100.60 4.000% 3.910% 84 bps     8,920 $104.55 4.000% 3.450% 60 bps
19    22,340 $101.41 4.000% 3.820% 98 bps     2,545 $100.40 4.000% 3.940% 84 bps     4,730 $104.12 4.000% 3.500% 64 bps
20    39,035 $100.00 4.000% 4.000% 114 bps    23,235 $101.09 4.000% 3.860% 100 bps     2,645 $100.26 4.000% 3.960% 85 bps     4,915 $103.95 4.000% 3.520% 64 bps
21     2,750 $100.00 4.000% 4.000% 87 bps
22     2,860 $99.28 4.000% 4.050% 90 bps
23
24     6,070 $98.50 4.000% 4.100% 91 bps
25
26
27    10,040 $98.00 4.000% 4.120% 90 bps
28
29
30    11,300 $97.00 4.000% 4.180% 93 bps

Aa2/AA/- Aa2/AA/- Aa3/-/- Aa2/-/-
1/1/2032 @ 100 (9.6 Yrs) 1/1/2032 @ 100 (9.6 Yrs) 6/1/2030 @ 100 (8.1 Yrs) 3/1/2032 @ 100 (10 Yrs)

7/20/2022 7/20/2022 6/23/2022 4/21/2022
$282,565,000 $328,545,000 $95,880,000 $67,715,000

Hilltop Securities Hilltop Securities Cumberland Secs PFM Fin Advisors
Barclays Capital Citigroup Hilltop Securities FHN Fin Cap Mkts

Tax Exempt (Competitive) Tax Exempt (Competitive) Tax Exempt (Competitive) Tax Exempt (Competitive) 
Gen Purpose/Pub Impt/Ult G.O. Gen Purpose/Pub Impt/Ult G.O. Gen Purpose/Pub Impt/Ult G.O. Gen Purpose/Pub Impt/Ult G.O.

General Obligation Improvement Bonds, Series 2022B General Obligation Improvement Bonds, Series 2022A General Obligation Bonds, Series 2022 General Obligation Bonds, Series 2022

Metropolitan Government of Nashville and Davidson County 
(TN)

Metropolitan Government of Nashville and Davidson County 
(TN) City of Sevierville (TN) City of Johnson City (TN)

Source: EMMA



Appendix B
Competitive Sales > $50 Million in the State of TN Since March 1, 2022

Issuer:

Series:

Security:
Sale Type:

Underwriter:
Financial Advisor

Par Amount:
Sale Date:

Last Call Date:
Underlying Ratings:

Maturity Year (TSY)

<1
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30

Par (M)  Price Coupon Yield MMD Sprd Par (M)  Price Coupon Yield MMD Sprd Par (M)  Price Coupon Yield MMD Sprd

      800 $102.91 5.000% 1.950% 11 bps     8,960 $103.05 5.000% 1.650% 8 bps     2,065 $104.17 5.000% 1.270% 4 bps
    1,100 $105.28 5.000% 2.240% 15 bps     9,225 $105.88 5.000% 1.870% 10 bps     1,750 $107.35 5.000% 1.480% 5 bps
      950 $107.55 5.000% 2.350% 16 bps     6,910 $108.56 5.000% 1.970% 10 bps     1,750 $110.34 5.000% 1.600% 6 bps

    2,850 $109.58 5.000% 2.450% 23 bps     6,250 $111.06 5.000% 2.050% 11 bps     1,500 $113.19 5.000% 1.680% 6 bps
    3,280 $111.21 5.000% 2.580% 30 bps     6,850 $113.44 5.000% 2.110% 13 bps     1,450 $115.77 5.000% 1.770% 6 bps
    3,285 $112.89 5.000% 2.650% 32 bps     6,275 $115.89 5.000% 2.130% 13 bps     1,750 $118.49 5.000% 1.800% 4 bps
    3,285 $114.24 5.000% 2.740% 34 bps     6,350 $118.03 5.000% 2.180% 14 bps     1,750 $120.95 5.000% 1.850% 4 bps
    3,285 $115.77 5.000% 2.780% 33 bps     4,525 $119.85 5.000% 2.250% 16 bps     5,675 $122.83 5.000% 1.950% 9 bps
    3,285 $117.08 5.000% 2.830% 33 bps     4,525 $121.58 5.000% 2.310% 18 bps     5,675 $124.92 5.000% 2.000% 10 bps
    3,285 $118.44 5.000% 2.860% 31 bps     4,525 $121.31 5.000% 2.340% 16 bps     5,790 $115.71 4.000% 2.100% 14 bps
    3,285 $117.87 5.000% 2.920% 33 bps     4,525 $103.49 3.000% 2.560% 34 bps     5,790 $114.81 4.000% 2.200% 19 bps
    3,285 $117.40 5.000% 2.970% 35 bps     4,525 $102.84 3.000% 2.640% 39 bps     5,790 $104.47 3.000% 2.450% 41 bps
    3,285 $117.12 5.000% 3.000% 35 bps     4,525 $100.08 3.000% 2.990% 71 bps     5,790 $103.64 3.000% 2.550% 48 bps
    3,285 $117.02 5.000% 3.010% 35 bps     4,525 $99.55 3.000% 3.040% 74 bps     5,790 $102.82 3.000% 2.650% 57 bps
    3,280 $105.64 4.000% 3.330% 65 bps     4,525 $99.05 3.000% 3.080% 76 bps     5,790 $102.00 3.000% 2.750% 65 bps
    3,280 $105.47 4.000% 3.350% 65 bps     4,525 $98.50 3.000% 3.120% 78 bps     5,790 $101.20 3.000% 2.850% 73 bps
    3,280 $105.12 4.000% 3.390% 67 bps     4,525 $99.28 3.130% 3.180% 82 bps     5,790 $100.56 3.000% 2.930% 79 bps
    3,280 $104.78 4.000% 3.430% 70 bps     4,525 $98.71 3.130% 3.220% 85 bps     5,785 $100.00 3.000% 3.000% 84 bps
    3,280 $104.69 4.000% 3.440% 70 bps     4,525 $99.86 3.250% 3.260% 88 bps     5,785 $99.56 3.000% 3.030% 85 bps
    3,280 $104.35 4.000% 3.480% 72 bps     4,520 $99.27 3.250% 3.300% 90 bps     5,785 $99.25 3.000% 3.050% 85 bps
    3,280 $103.92 4.000% 3.530% 75 bps     4,520 $98.80 3.250% 3.330% 91 bps
    3,280 $103.75 4.000% 3.550% 75 bps     4,520 $98.30 3.250% 3.360% 92 bps
    3,280 $103.58 4.000% 3.570% 75 bps
    3,280 $103.49 4.000% 3.580% 75 bps

   19,680 $102.90 4.000% 3.650% 76 bps

6/1/2031 @ 100 (9.3 Yrs)
Aa3/AA-/- Aa2/AA/- Aa1/AA+/-

5/1/2032 @ 100 (10.2 Yrs) 4/1/2031 @ 100 (9.1 Yrs)

$87,040,000
4/18/2022 3/31/2022 3/21/2022

$91,025,000 $118,680,000

Baird
Cumberland Secs Cumberland Secs Cumberland Secs

Citigroup Piper Sandler

Gen Purpose/Pub Impt/Ult G.O.
Tax Exempt (Competitive) Tax Exempt (Competitive) Tax Exempt (Competitive) 

Gen Purpose/Pub Impt/Ult G.O. Gen Purpose/Pub Impt/Ult G.O.

Knox County (TN)

General Obligation Bonds, Series 2022 General Obligation Bonds, Series 2022A General Obligation Bonds, Series 2022

Hamblen County (TN) Montgomery County (TN)

Source: EMMA


	1 - 2022.09.08 TSSBA Agenda
	2 - 2022.07.26 TSSBA Minutes
	2 - 2022.08.10 TSSBA Minutes
	4 - Resolution to approve the Borrowing of Money by Another Method by TCAT (Airport Hangar)(1478361.1)
	4 - TCATShelbyville_Lease_420Aviation
	WITNESSETH
	4. TERM:
	5. RENTAL:
	6. TERMINATION:
	b. FOR CAUSE:
	{SIGNATURES OF THE PARTIES FOLLOW ON THE NEXT PAGE}
	LESSOR
	LESSEE

	5 - Resolution to Approve the Borrowing of Money by Another Method by UT (UTK Courtyard by Marriott)(1494071.1)
	5 - UTK Courtyard Lease
	6 - Resolution to approve the Borrwing of Money by Another Method by UT Martin 343 Vann Drive Jackson 09082022 (1)(1494134.2)
	6 - UTM Vann Drive Lease
	7 - UTK A94 - Neyland S Renov. (Revised)
	UTK Neyland S Renov. TSSBA App 9-8-22 revised 8.26.22.pdf
	Tennessee State School Bond Authority
	UTK Neyland Stadium South Renovations REVISED Project Application
	SBC PROJECT #:   540/009-02-2017
	PROJECT BUDGET:



	8a - TSSBA 2022 Supplemental Resolution (New Money)-v4
	8b -2022 POS (v.1)
	8b -2022 POS (v.4)
	8c - TSSBA Notice of Sale 2022A Bonds-v3
	8d -  2021 Bond Purchase Agreement
	8e - 2021A Continuing Disclosure
	8f - TSSBA - PFM Bond Sale Recommendation 7.28.2022



